Diseases of Pregnancy and Fetal Programming: Cell and Molecular Mechanisms

Guest Editors: Luis Sobrevia, Leslie Myatt, and Gregory Rice



Diseases of Pregnancy and Fetal Programming: Cell and Molecular Mechanisms

Diseases of Pregnancy and Fetal Programming: Cell and Molecular Mechanisms

Guest Editors: Luis Sobrevia, Leslie Myatt, and Gregory Rice

Copyright @ 2014 Hindawi Publishing Corporation. All rights reserved.

This is a special issue published in "BioMed Research International." All articles are open access articles distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Contents

Diseases of Pregnancy and Fetal Programming: Cell and Molecular Mechanisms, Luis Sobrevia, Leslie Myatt, and Gregory Rice Volume 2014, Article ID 937050, 3 pages

The Possible Role of Extravillous Trophoblast-Derived Exosomes on the Uterine Spiral Arterial Remodeling under Both Normal and Pathological Conditions, Carlos Salomon, Sarah W. Yee, Murray D. Mitchell, and Gregory E. Rice Volume 2014, Article ID 693157, 10 pages

Early Onset Intrauterine Growth Restriction in a Mouse Model of Gestational Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis, Dolores Busso, Lilian Mascareñ, Francisca Salas, Loni Berkowitz, Nicolás Santander, Alonso Quiroz, Ludwig Amigo, Gloria Valdés, and Attilio Rigotti Volume 2014, Article ID 280497, 11 pages

DNA Damage and Its Cellular Response in Mother and Fetus Exposed to Hyperglycemic Environment, Jusciele Brogin Moreli, Janine Hertzog Santos, Clarissa Ribeiro Rocha, Débora Cristina Damasceno, Glilciane Morceli, Marilza Vieira Rudge, Estela Bevilacqua, and Iracema Mattos Paranhos Calderon Volume 2014, Article ID 676758, 9 pages

Effect of Hypoxia on the Calcium and Magnesium Content, Lipid Peroxidation Level, and Ca²⁺-ATPase Activity of Syncytiotrophoblast Plasma Membranes from Placental Explants, Delia I. Chiarello, Reinaldo Marín, Fulgencio Proverbio, Zully Benzo, Sandy Piñero, Desirée Botana, and Cilia Abad Volume 2014, Article ID 597357, 9 pages

Perinatal Nitric Oxide Therapy Prevents Adverse Effects of Perinatal Hypoxia on the Adult Pulmonary Circulation, Anne-Christine Peyter, Flavien Delhaes, Giacomo Diaceri, Steeve Menétrey, and Jean-François Tolsa Volume 2014, Article ID 949361, 9 pages

Role of Lectin-Like Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein-1 in Fetoplacental Vascular Dysfunction in Preeclampsia, Felipe A. Zuniga, Valeska Ormazabal, Nicolas Gutierrez, Valeria Aguilera, Claudia Radojkovic, Carlos Veas, Carlos Escudero, Liliana Lamperti, and Claudio Aguayo Volume 2014, Article ID 353616, 11 pages

Programming of Fetal Insulin Resistance in Pregnancies with Maternal Obesity by ER Stress and Inflammation, Francisco Westermeier, Pablo J. Sáez, Roberto Villalobos-Labra, Luis Sobrevia, and Marcelo Farías-Jofré Volume 2014, Article ID 917672, 13 pages

Associations of Prenatal Growth with Metabolic Syndrome, Insulin Resistance, and Nutritional Status in Chilean Children, Francisco Mardones, Pilar Arnaiz, Paz Pacheco, Angelica Dominguez, Luis Villarroel, Johan G. Eriksson, Salesa Barja, Marcelo Farías, and Oscar Castillo Volume 2014, Article ID 472017, 9 pages

Docosahexaenoic Acid Supplementation Early in Pregnancy May Prevent Deep Placentation Disorders, Jorge A. Carvajal Volume 2014, Article ID 526895, 10 pages The Influence of Hypoxia during Different Pregnancy Stages on Cardiac Collagen Accumulation in the Adult Offspring, Lingxing Wang, Meimei Li, Ziyang Huang, and Zhenhua Wang Volume 2014, Article ID 419805, 6 pages

Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes Models: Pathophysiological Mechanisms and Fetal Outcomes, D. C. Damasceno, A. O. Netto, I. L. Iessi, F. Q. Gallego, S. B. Corvino, B. Dallaqua, Y. K. Sinzato, A. Bueno, I. M. P. Calderon, and M. V. C. Rudge Volume 2014, Article ID 819065, 11 pages

Maternal Obesity, Inflammation, and Developmental Programming, Stephanie A. Segovia, Mark H. Vickers, Clint Gray, and Clare M. Reynolds Volume 2014, Article ID 418975, 14 pages

Potential Role of A_{2B} **Adenosine Receptors on Proliferation/Migration of Fetal Endothelium Derived from Preeclamptic Pregnancies**, Jesenia Acurio, Felipe Troncoso, Patricio Bertoglia, Carlos Salomon, Claudio Aguayo, Luis Sobrevia, and Carlos Escudero Volume 2014, Article ID 274507, 11 pages

Editorial

Diseases of Pregnancy and Fetal Programming: Cell and Molecular Mechanisms

Luis Sobrevia,^{1,2,3} Leslie Myatt,⁴ and Gregory Rice²

¹ Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory (CMPL), Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, School of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, P.O. Box 114-D, Santiago 8330024, Chile

² University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research (UQCCR), Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences,

³ Department of Physiology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universidad de Sevilla, Seville E-41012, Spain

⁴ Center for Pregnancy and Newborn Research, University of Texas Health Science Center San Antonio, San Antonio, TX 78229-3900, USA

Correspondence should be addressed to Luis Sobrevia; sobrevia@me.com

Received 17 September 2014; Accepted 17 September 2014; Published 10 November 2014

Copyright © 2014 Luis Sobrevia et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

A well-documented and accepted hypothesis of the origins of diseases that occur with a high frequency in adulthood is the causal relationship between an adverse intrauterine environment during fetal life and development of diseases including hypertension, diabetes, obesity, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome [1, 2]. Epidemiological studies provided the impetus for experimental studies to identify cell and molecular mechanisms that may underpin this relationship. The precise mechanisms, however, remain only partially described. It is anticipated that on-going studies will provide data that more rigorously test this hypothesis and provide insights into gestational age-dependent programming effects and the consequences of alterations in intrauterine life on risk profiles for adult diseases. To date, few studies have addressed whether the preconception period is also involved in this phenomenon [3]. Thus, it is clear that on-going investigative effort in this field for a better understanding of the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying fetal programming of adult diseases is required. This special issue includes contributions over a wide area of expertise but particularly studies concerning the vascular physiology/pathophysiology of diseases of pregnancy that could result in programming of the fetus leading to adult diseases.

The articles included in the present issue include both clinical and basic science studies. The alterations caused by

exposure to elevated D-glucose environment are discussed in chapters by J. B. Moreli et al. and D. C. Damasceno et al. These articles reported that hyperglycaemia causes damage to the maternal genetic material without a clear consensus regarding the impact of this adverse environmental condition on fetal cells. Since DNA repair mechanisms may be important to prevent the deleterious effects of hyperglycaemia in both the maternal and fetal DNA, it may be preventive of the development of diseases in adulthood. Studies in animal models support the targeting of the development of new therapeutics that minimise or prevent diabetes-induced DNA damage due to increased oxidative stress.

It is now clearer that maternal obesity is also a condition that impacts on fetal growth and development [4]. The prevalence of obesity, especially in women of childbearing age, and a supraphysiological increase in gestational weight gain during pregnancy is associated with adulthood diseases. This is clearly summarized in the chapter by S. A. Segovia et al. In addition, these authors highlight the fact that the predisposition of offspring to obesity and metabolic and cardiovascular disorders in later life occurs via poorly described mechanisms including programming of metabolic disorders. In this review, the authors discussed the possibility that maternal obesity-related inflammation may program insulin sensitivity of tissues in offspring. Interestingly, in the

University of Queensland, Herston, QLD 4029, Australia

retrospective cohort study of 3290 children (age ~11.5 years) from Chile (South America), F. Mardones et al. identify an association between prenatal growth and nutritional status, metabolic syndrome, and insulin resistance. The authors concluded that intrauterine growth is a factor influencing the manifestation of pathologies such as metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance. This study complements the review by F. Westermeier et al. regarding the same concept; that is, maternal obesity and neonatal insulin resistance associate with long-term development of obesity, diabetes mellitus, and increased global cardiovascular risk in the offspring. The mechanisms at a cellular level, however, are not understood. The authors summarize evidence showing that insulin resistance in the offspring of pregnancies with maternal obesity and/or supraphysiological gestational weight gain (many of these patients ending with obesity) may result from intrauterine activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress response in human pregnancies.

Several articles report the potential effect of insulin as a key factor to sustain human endothelial function via its capacity to stimulate synthesis of nitric oxide and uptake and metabolism of amino acids and other substrates [5]. Moreover, the biological actions of insulin appear to be dependent on the activation of adenosine receptors expressed in the endothelial cells from the human placenta [5, 6]. Indeed, adenosine may be a determinant in pregnancy diseases associated with altered umbilical blood flow, such as preeclampsia [7, 8]. Adenosine also increases human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) proliferation and migration in preeclampsia, as reported by J. Acurio et al. The proposed mechanisms include increased protein abundance of A_{2A} adenosine receptors (A_{2A}AR), but impaired nitric oxide, and vascular endothelial growth factor signalling pathway following activation of these receptors. The involvement of other types of adenosine receptors, however, cannot be ruled out in these studies, as stated by the authors in their discussion. Indeed, $A_{2A}AR$ and $A_{2B}AR$ in endothelial cells from fetoplacental circulation are proteins that could be involved in similar mechanisms such as modulation of membrane transporters of adenosine in HUVECs [9] and in human microvascular endothelial cells [10]. Indeed, involvement of A₁AR in endothelial function has been recently regarded as a potential receptor required for beneficial actions of insulin in restoring functional alterations of HUVEC in gestational diabetes (E. Guzmán-Gutiérrez, L. Sobrevia, unpublished). Other types of membrane receptors are also involved in placental dysfunction in preeclampsia. For example, in the review by F. A. Zúñiga et al., high levels of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 are observed in the human placenta from pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia. How the activation of this type of receptors associates with higher production of reactive oxygen species leading to decreased intracellular NO bioavailability is described. It is in fact a mechanism that could associate with other pathological conditions, such as hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and diabetes. Preeclampsia is a disease described as "deep placentation disorders" in the review by J. A. Carvajal. Since docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during pregnancy appears to prevent deep placentation disorders, the author

proposes that docosahexaenoic acid supplementation early in pregnancy may help to reduce the incidence of deep placentation disorders. Thus, this compound could be a strategy for primary prevention of preeclampsia. More studies are required to confirm or refute this proposal.

D. I. Chiarello et al. report the effects of hypoxia on placental function, in particular, lipid peroxidation state of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes. The authors conclude that increased membrane calcium content interacts with phospholipids leading to exposure of hydrocarbon chains of fatty acids to free radicals, where magnesium might play a protective role. These findings could be key for the understanding of the abnormal function of the human placenta in states of hypoxia such as preeclampsia. In another set of articles in this issue the effect of hypoxia on pregnancy is reviewed by L. Wang et al. and A.-C. Peyter et al. Interestingly, studying rats exposed to hypoxia, L. Wang et al. described maternal hypoxia increased collagen (I and III) expression in the left ventricle of adult offspring. This phenomenon, however, is seen only with exposure during a critical window (days 10th to 14th of gestation) of cardiovascular development that results in pathological cardiac remodelling in the adult rat offspring. Another study regarding hypoxia by A.-C. Peyter et al. reported that inhaled nitric oxide administered simultaneously to perinatal hypoxia in mice has beneficial effects on the adult pulmonary circulation. Since inhaled nitric oxide is the therapy of choice in neonates with pulmonary hypertension, this article shows an interesting set of results documenting that relaxation of adult mouse pulmonary arteries to acetylcholine is restored following inhaled nitric oxide.

This series of articles and reviews identifies putative mechanisms that may impact on intrauterine life and predispose the newborn to adulthood diseases such as obesity, diabetes, preeclampsia, and metabolic syndrome. Further insights in the abnormal function of fetal cells, including endothelium, placenta cells, and circulating blood cells, is required to understand and to correlate these specific mechanisms with adult diseases.

Acknowledgments

Special thanks to the Biomed Research International for encouraging the production of this special issue and to Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico (FONDECYT 1110977, 11110059, 3140516, and 3130583), Chile; Programa de Investigación Interdisciplinario (PIA) from Comisión Nacional de Investigación en Ciencia y Tecnología (CONICYT Anillos ACT-73); and International NETWORK program (CONICYT 130102) for their support are given.

> Luis Sobrevia Leslie Myatt Gregory Rice

References

[1] P. D. Gluckman, M. A. Hanson, C. Cooper, and K. L. Thornburg, "Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 359, no. 1, pp. 61–73, 2008.

- [2] A. Leiva, F. Pardo, M. A. Ramírez, M. Farías, P. Casanello, and L. Sobrevia, "Fetoplacental vascular endothelial dysfunction as an early phenomenon in the programming of human adult diseases in subjects born from gestational diabetes mellitus or obesity in pregnancy," *Experimental Diabetes Research*, vol. 2011, Article ID 349286, 18 pages, 2011.
- [3] J. A. Grieger, L. E. Grzeskowiak, and V. L. Clifton, "Preconception dietary patterns in human pregnancies are associated with preterm delivery," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 144, pp. 1075–1080, 2014.
- [4] E. Forno, O. M. Young, R. Kumar, H. Simhan, and J. C. Celedón, "Maternal obesity in pregnancy, gestational weight gain, and risk of childhood asthma," *Pediatrics*, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. e535– e546, 2014.
- [5] E. Guzmán-Gutiérrez, P. Arroyo, R. Salsoso et al., "Role of insulin and adenosine in the human placenta microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cell dysfunction in GDM," *Microcirculation*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 26–37, 2014.
- [6] E. Guzmán-Gutiérrez, F. Westermeier, C. Salomón et al., "Insulin-increased L-arginine transport requires A_{2A} adenosine receptors activation in human umbilical vein endothelium," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 7, Article ID e41705, 2012.
- [7] J. Espinoza, A. F. Espinoza, and G. G. Power, "High fetal plasma adenosine concentration: a role for the fetus in preeclampsia?" *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 205, no. 5, pp. 485.e24–485.e27, 2011.
- [8] C. Escudero and L. Sobrevia, "Adenosine plasma levels in the fetoplacental circulation in preeclampsia," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 206, no. 4, article e6, 2012.
- [9] F. Westermeier, C. Salomón, M. Farías et al., "Insulin requires normal expression and signalling of insulin receptor a to reverse gestational diabetes-reduced adenosine transport in human umbilical vein endothelium," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 29, 2015.
- [10] C. Salomón, F. Westermeier, C. Puebla et al., "Gestational diabetes reduces adenosine transport in human placental microvascular endothelium, an effect reversed by insulin," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 7, Article ID e40578, 2012.

Review Article

The Possible Role of Extravillous Trophoblast-Derived Exosomes on the Uterine Spiral Arterial Remodeling under Both Normal and Pathological Conditions

Carlos Salomon, Sarah W. Yee, Murray D. Mitchell, and Gregory E. Rice

UQ Centre for Clinical Research, Centre for Clinical Diagnostics, Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital, Herston, Brisbane, QLD 4029, Australia

Correspondence should be addressed to Carlos Salomon; c.salomongallo@uq.edu.au

Received 27 March 2014; Revised 28 May 2014; Accepted 1 July 2014; Published 14 September 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Carlos Salomon et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

A tenet of contemporary obstetrics is that events that compromise placentation increase the risk of complications of pregnancy and contribute to poor pregnancy outcome. In particular, conditions that affect the invasion of placental cells and remodeling of uterine spiral arteries compromise placental function and the subsequent development of the fetus. Extravillous trophoblast cells (EVTs) proliferate and migrate from the cytotrophoblast in the anchoring villi of the placenta and invade the maternal decidua and myometrium. These cells are localised with uterine uterine spiral arteries and are thought to induce vascular remodeling. A newly identified pathway by which EVTs may regulate vascular remodeling within the uterus is via the release of exosomes. Trophoblast cells release exosomes that mediate aspects of cell-to-cell communication. The aim of this brief commentary is to review the putative role of exosomes released from extravillous trophoblast cells in uterine spiral artery remodeling and, in particular, their role in the aetiology of preeclampsia. Placental exosomes may engage in local cell-to-cell communication between the cell constituents of the placenta and contiguous maternal tissues and/or distal interactions, involving the release of placental exosomes into biological fluids and their transport to a remote site of action.

1. Introduction

A successful outcome to pregnancy is critically dependent upon events that affect implantation and early development of the placenta [1]. After implantation, trophoblast cells (CTs) that arise from blastocyst proliferate and differentiate into syncytiotrophoblasts (STs) and EVTs [2]. During first trimester, the placenta develops under low oxygen tension $(\sim 3\% \text{ O}_2)$ that, in part, is maintained by intravascular EVTs occluding uterine spiral arteries and preventing maternal blood from perfusing the placenta intervillous space. Remodeling of the uterine spiral arteries (SpA) into low resistance, high capacity vessels begins as EVTs invade the decidua during first trimester [3]. When EVTs "plugs" are lost between 9 and 11 weeks of gestation, maternal blood flows through the modified vessels to deliver nutrients and oxygen to support fetal growth and development [4]. EVTs continue to invade into the myometrium and remodel the SpA until

mid-second trimester [5–8]. While the mechanisms by which EVTs remodel SpA remain to be fully elucidated, available data are consistent with the hypothesis that EVTs directly interact with vascular smooth muscle cells of uterine spiral arteries and affect their loss.

Over the past five years, our understanding of how cells communicate with each other, in health and disease, has undergone a paradigm shift with the recognition of the role of exosomes in intercellular signalling [9, 10]. Exosomes are small (40–100 nm), very stable [11], and lipid bilayer nanovesicles that are formed by the inward budding of multivesicular bodies. Although we know little about the mechanism by which exosomal packaging occurs, they contain a diverse array of signalling molecules and are released from the parent cell following the exocytotic fusion of multivesicular bodies with the cell membrane [12]. In this brief commentary, we develop the working hypothesis that exosomal signalling plays a critical role in normal

placentation and that disruption of exosomal pathways (and in particular the release of exosomes from EVTs) plays a key role in the pathogenesis of complications of pregnancy, including preeclampsia.

2. EVTs and Uterine Spiral Artery Remodeling

Remodeling of uterine spiral arteries by EVTs is fundamental for effective placentation and perfusion of the intervillous space. Approximately 100–150 uterine spiral arteries are transformed during placental development [13]. The main role of these vessels is to transport maternal blood to the placenta to support the growth and development of the fetus. This is achieved by converting arteries from high resistance low flow to high flow low resistance arteries [14]. The diameter of uterine spiral arteries during early pregnancy is 200 μ m [8]. After remodeling, arteries have an average luminal size of 2 mm [15]. Dysfunctional remodeling of uterine spiral arteries is associated with complications of pregnancy, such as preeclampsia.

The principal placental cell type involved in uterine spiral artery remodeling is the EVT. EVTs invasion occurs through the interstitial pathway and endovascular pathway [16]. Interstitial EVTs migrate through the uterine stroma and endovascular EVTs through the distal end of the uterine spiral arteries [17]. By the eighth week of pregnancy, interstitial EVTs invade the decidua [18].

After week 10, endovascular EVTs cells invade decidua segment of uterine spiral arteries from the cytotrophoblastic shell [19]. Invasion by EVTs causes temporary artery plugging which decreases maternal blood flow that protects the fetus from oxidative stress [20]. When the plug disintegrates, endovascular EVT will further invade into the myometrium from week 14. These trophoblast cells will interact with the endothelium of the vessel and deposit fibrinoid material [5].

The initial steps of uterine spiral artery remodeling consist of vessel dilatation, vascular smooth muscle cell separation, endothelial cell swelling, EVTs infiltration, and fibrinoid deposition [17]. Vascular smooth muscle cells migrate or undergo apoptosis and are replaced by fibrinoid material, in which EVTs cells embed. The precise cellular mechanisms by which vascular smooth muscle cells are lost from the uterine spiral arteries are not known. Possible mechanisms include migration, apoptosis, and inhibition of proliferation and dedifferentiation [16]. Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cell is a process that occurs in normal pregnancy to maintain vessel homeostasis [21]. Vascular smooth muscle cell migration into decidual stroma and into the lumen of vessels is associated with several cytokines, growth factors, and breaking down of extracellular matrix [21].

3. Microenvironmental Factors

The functions of EVTs are affected by intrauterine microenvironmental factors, including oxygen tension and inflammatory mediators. 3.1. Oxygen Tension. Placentation is an oxygen sensitive process. The events that occur from the time of implantation to maternal perfusion of the placenta are influenced and directed by site-specific oxygen tensions [22]. An oxygen gradient exists between the placenta and endometrium during the first trimester. At the time of embryo implantation, the intrauterine oxygen tension is 3% [23] while the decidua and myometrium oxygen tension is 8-12% [24]. This standing oxygen gradient is thought to promote and direct the invasion of EVTs into the decidua and myometrium where they remodel maternal uterine spiral arteries [25]. Intraluminal EVTs occlude uterine spiral arterioles to maintain a low oxygen tension environment that is requisite for normal early placental and fetal development. Towards the end of the first trimester, low resistance, high capacity flow is achieved by the loss of intraluminal trophoblast plugs and the placental intravillous space is perfused with maternal blood, thus establishing effective maternofetal exchange. Dysfunctional placentation is associated with a failure to remodel uterine spiral arteries, abnormal placental perfusion, and oxygenation (similar to ischemia-reperfusion injury). After vascular remodeling of the SpA, the oxygen tension increase in the placenta [26]. These developmental changes in oxygen tension are thought to be an obligate regulator of cell function and phenotype. When perturbed, placentation and the subsequent perfusion of the placenta may be compromised. Activation of HIF-1 α and inflammatory signalling pathways have been implicated in this process.

3.2. Inflammatory Mediators. Inflammation has a main role in supporting tissue homeostasis; indeed normal healthy pregnancy is characterised as a controlled, mild proinflammatory state [27]. The expression of inflammatory mediators is required to achieve a successful pregnancy that involves a series of intercellular interactions, particularly, at the site of implantation and placentation [28]. The inflammatory microenvironment is regulated by a balance between release of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines [29]. These molecules have a critical and essential role in the maternal adaptation to the requirement of the different stages of gestation [30]. Complications of pregnancies such as fetal growth restriction and preeclampsia are frequently related to irregular maternal inflammation.

Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) is a proinflammatory cytokine produced by different cells, such as fibroblast, macrophages, vascular cells, uterine NK cells, and placental cells that can promote trophoblasts growth and invasion [31–34]. It has been demonstrated that TNF- α have a key role in trophoblast migration into maternal decidua and spiral arterial remodeling [35, 36]; however, the mechanisms involving the transformation of uterine spiral arteries by EVTs cells have not been fully understood. TNF- α is a pleiotropic cytokine that has been found to be involved in many activities in preeclampsia [30]. In this instance, we believe that placental hypoxia is a consequence of arterial remodeling failure influenced by proinflammatory conditions in preeclampsia.

TNF- α was first detected in placental supernatants and amniotic fluid [37, 38]. Expression of TNF- α in placenta

changes during pregnancy and is responsive to changes in the extracellular milieu [39] suggesting that TNF- α has a specific function in developmental processes [40]. Expression of TNF- α mRNA in the first trimester of pregnancy has been found in all cell types belonging to the trophoblastic lineage. TNF- α expression, however, decreases in invasive cells at later stages of pregnancy [41]. TNF- α activates proapoptotic factors as well as antiapoptotic factors to maintain a microenvironment for successful arterial remodeling. It has been reported that trophoblast differentiation could be regulated by TNF- α [42].

The aetiological antecedents of preeclampsia are thought to be aberrant maternal-fetal immune tolerance that reduced trophoblast invasion. Recent studies have shown that immune maladaptation and overt activation of maternal immune system may be responsible in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia [43]. In the past decades, serum levels of TNF- α had elevated and increased expressions of TNF- α and TNF receptors were found in leukocytes and placenta of women with preeclampsia [40]. This rise can occur as early as 11-13 weeks of pregnancy, much earlier than detectable clinical manifestations [44]. TNF- α may inhibit EVT migration in first trimester placenta via activated macrophages. In early onset of preeclampsia, findings on TNF- α and interleukin-2 (an anti-inflammatory cytokine) suggested that there is an imbalance of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines ratio [45]. Toll-like receptor which is the main danger signalling pathway involved in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia increases the production of TNF- α [46]. Another study performed by Hamai et al., [47] has shown an increase of TNF- α in early pregnancy of preeclampsia. In asymptomatic patients (patients who later developed preeclampsia in the second trimester), the level of TNF- α in the first trimester was 2-fold higher compared to healthy controls [47]. On the other hand, other authors have demonstrated that level of TNF- α increased significantly in women diagnosed with preeclampsia compared with healthy control [48-50].

Preeclampsia is characterised with reduced uteroplacental perfusion and incomplete uterine spiral arterial remodeling. Moreover, a high level of TNF- α has been found in plasma from patients with preeclampsia; however, the role of TNF- α in the failure of spiral artery remodeling and the mechanisms involved in this phenomenon still are not fully elucidated. In this regard, it has been established recently that small vesicles released by many cell types including human placental cells contain a membrane bound form of TNF- α [51]. Recent studies highlight the putative utility of tissue-specific nanovesicles (e.g., exosomes) in the diagnosis of disease onset and treatment monitoring [9, 52–56]. To date, there is a paucity of data defining changes in the release, role, and diagnostic utility of placenta-derived exosomes in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia.

4. Exosomes: Definition and Characteristics

Exosomes are small (40–100 nm) and very stable membrane vesicles that are released when late endosomal bodies fuse with the cell membrane [57, 58]. Exosomes found in cell

cultures and body fluids indicate that they can be released from different types of cells [59]. Exosomes are characterised by a buoyant density of 1.13-1.19 g/mL, an endosomal origin, and enrichment of late endosomal membrane markers (including Tsg101, CD63, CD9, and CD81), are released into extracellular compartments [60], and are identified in most biological fluids examined [61, 62]. Exosomes are generated by the inward budding of late endosomal structures, the multivesicular bodies (MVB). Moreover, the participation of Rab GTPases in the secretion of exosomes has been proposed [63]. Although we know little about the mechanism by which packaging occurs, exosomes contain a diverse array of signalling molecules and are released from the parent cell following the exocytosis fusion of multivesicular bodies with the cell membrane [12]. Signalling molecules, including miRNA; mRNA; and cytoplasmic proteins, are packaged into exosomes. Exosomal signalling occurs when released exosomes fuse with target cells and deploy their contents to alter cell function. In pathological pregnancies, exosomes secreted from the placenta may be involved in adaptive responses and different biological processes such as metabolism, development, cellular adhesion, and immune response of the mother and fetus. We have isolated and characterised exosomes released from placental cells and have demonstrated that trophoblast cells release exosomes that are bioactive and can regulate the biological function on cell target [58, 64, 65]. A representative standard size distribution graph and electron microscope image of the exosome samples isolated from placental cells are shown in Figure 1.

4.1. Exosomes and Cell-to-Cell Communication. Exosomes interact with target cells via multiple pathways, by directly activating target cell membrane receptors; by modifying the extracellular *milieu* of the target cell; and by fusing with the cell membrane and releasing their molecular cargo into the target cell [66]. Recently, it has been demonstrated that cells internalise exosomes through lipid raft-mediated endocytosis involving caveolin-1 protein and ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling in this process [67]. Their molecular cargo is cell specific [68], regulated by tissue physiology and cellular function, and fundamental to their bioactivity.

Exosomes may be assembled and secreted in response to instructions received from neighbouring cells, from distant tissues, or in response to local environmental factors (e.g., oxygen tension). Their molecular cargos, including mRNA [69], miRNA [68, 69], proteins [65], lipids [70], and membrane receptors, are transferred to adjacent cells and/or distal cells via biofluid transport (e.g., in blood, lymph, saliva, or ascites).

Currently, we have only a limited understanding of the role that exosomal signaling plays in normal physiology and pathophysiology and, in particular, in reproductive biology. This provides us with exciting opportunities to establish the role of exosomes in disease pathology and to advance diagnosis and treatment of clinically significant conditions.

Placental cells release exosomes *in vitro* and *in vivo* and have been identified in maternal blood [64, 71, 72]. They contain placenta-specific protein and miRNA and, as such,



FIGURE 1: Placental exosomes characterisation. Exosomes vesicles were isolated from placental cells by differential and buoyant density centrifugation and purified using a sucrose continuous gradient as previously described [65]. (a) Representative graph size distribution of the exosome samples using a nanoparticle tracking analysis (NanoSight NS500). (b) Representative electron micrograph of enriched exosomes population. In (b), scale bar is 200 nm.

may be differentiated from maternally derived exosomes [53, 73]. The concentration of exosomes has been reported to increase in association with some complications of pregnancy (e.g., preeclampsia [72]). In this regard, complications of pregnancy are associated with a proinflammatory state (e.g., high TNF- α concentrations) and also with failure in the SpA remodeling where EVTs have been demonstrated to have an important role. Our group has isolated and characterised exosomes released from placental cells and has demonstrated that (i) first trimester cytotrophoblast (CT) cells release exosomes^{CD63+,CD9+,CD81+,PLAP+} in vitro [65]; (ii) CT-exosome release and protein content are regulated by oxygen tension; and (iii) CT exosomes induce extravillous cytotrophoblast cell invasion and proliferation in a time- and dose-dependent manner [65]. In addition to direct effects on target cells, exosomes from nongestational tissues have been reported to remodel the extracellular matrix (ECM) surrounding target cells (i.e., cell fusion-independent effects). We have identified serine proteases (e.g., HtrA 4, which is expressed by CTs and syncytiotrophoblast (ST); present in maternal plasma; and increased in association with PE [74]) as well as metalloproteases (e.g., MMP 2, MMP 9, and MMP 12) in CT exosomes [65].

Recently, it has been proposed that MMP 12 secreted by trophoblast cells induces disruption of uterine vascular smooth muscle cell architecture favouring extravillous trophoblast invasion [75, 76]. The activity and capacity of trophoblast-derived exosomes to directly bind and remodel ECM in a cell fusion-independent manner have yet to be established. Exosomal remodeling of ECM may participate not only in cytotrophoblasts-extravillous trophoblasts interactions but also in the extravillous trophoblast-endothelial cells and extravillous trophoblast-vascular smooth muscle cell interactions. As we know that exosomes protect their content, we hypothesised that EVT-derived exosomes interact with vascular cells (i.e., smooth muscle and endothelial cells), delivering their specific cargo (e.g., MMPs) and contributing to the SpA remodeling.

4.2. Oxygen Tension Can Regulate the Effect of Placental Exosomes. Recently, we reported that changes in oxygen tension also regulate placental exosome release, content, and bioactivity [58, 65]. Hypoxia (1% O₂) increases the release of exosomes from CTs incubated in vitro when compared to CTs incubated under 3% or 8% O₂. The protein content of these "hypoxic" exosomes is also altered with increased enrichment of HIF-1 α and IL-8 signalling molecules. In addition, the ability of these exosomes to induce cell migration is significantly enhanced. Oxygen tension also regulates the responsiveness of target cells to exosomes. This phenomenon has been demonstrated in other cell types (e.g., cancer cells), where exosomes content reflects the oxygenation status of cells [84]. These data provide new insights and understanding into how oxygen tension regulates cell function and, in particular, the role of oxygen tension in regulating exosomal signalling in the placenta. Our preliminary studies identify oxygen-dependent changes in the protein content of CT exosomes; however, effects on miRNA mediators remain to be established. Using nongestational tissue cell lines (epithelial ovarian cancer cells), we have also identified cellspecific packaging of miRNA into exosomes [68]. We will use this approach to identify cell- and treatment-specific effects on miRNA packaging into trophoblast exosomes. Human placenta and placental-derived exosomes express the

Vesicles source	les source Isolation methods		Biological function	Effect	References
Cytotrophoblast cells	UT + sucrose continuous gradient	EVT (HTR-8/Svneo)	Invasion and proliferation	Promote	[65]
pMSC	UT + 30% sucrose cushion	hPMEC	Migration and proliferation	Promote	[58]
Maternal plasma	UT + sucrose continuous gradient	HUVEC	Migration	Promote	[64]
Trophoblast (Swan 71)	UT	Monocytes	Migration	Promote	[54]
Chorionic villi explant	UT + sucrose continuous gradient	Jurkat T cells and PBMC	Apoptosis	Promote	[77]
Trophoblast cells	UT + 30% sucrose cushion	HUVEC	Viral infection	Resistance	[78]
Human macrophages	UT + sucrose continuous gradient	Endothelial cell	Migration	Decrease	[79]
CML cells	UT + 30% sucrose cushion	HUVEC	Migration	Promote	[80]
Dendritic cells	UT + 30% sucrose cushion	PBMC	Migration	Promote	[81]
Pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells	UT + sucrose continuous gradient	Endothelial cells	Migration	Promote	[82]
HUVEC	UT	SMCs	miRNAs expression	Transfer miRNAs	[83]

TABLE 1: Effects of exosomes vesicles on cell target.

UT: ultracentrifugation (>100,000 ×g); EVT: extravillous trophoblast; pMSC: placental mesenchymal stem cells; hPMEC: human placental microvascular endothelial cells; HUVEC: human umbilical vein endothelial cells; PBMC: peripheral blood mononuclear cells; CML: chronic myelogenous leukemia; SMCs: smooth muscle cells.

chromosome 19 miRNA cluster (C19MC), which is regulated selectively by hypoxic stress [85]. Moreover, it has also been demonstrated that trophoblast cells utilise exosomes for the transfer of specific and unique miRNA (from cluster C19MC) to other cells (e.g., maternal and fetal cells) and confer them with viral resistance against infections [78]. Placental-derived exosomes under both normal and pathological conditions could perform a main role in the maternal adaptation to pregnancy (e.g., uterine vascular adaptation to pregnancy).

4.3. Exosomes Regulate Cell Migration on Cell Target. Exosomes mediate cell-to-cell communication and induce different effects on target cells depending on the cell origin and exosome content (e.g., miRNA and proteins). The function of placental-derived exosomes during normal or pathological pregnancy remains to be established. Several studies support the hypothesis that placental exosomes (i.e., release from cytotrophoblast, extravillous trophoblasts, and syncytiotrophoblast) are capable of promoting cell migration (Table 1). In addition, this phenomenon not only is restrictive to placental exosomes but also has been demonstrated in nonplacental exosomes [82]. We have previously reported that exosomes released from cytotrophoblast cells primary culture contain biologically active proteins [65] that can interact with the maternal endothelium and regulate their function (e.g., migration and angiogenesis). Furthermore, the release of exosome from placental mesenchymal stem cells and cytotrophoblast cells is regulated by the oxygen tension [58, 65]. Exosomes isolated from Swan 71 cells (trophoblastic cell lines) promote monocytes migration and increased the production of proinflammatory cytokines from these cells [86]. Primary human trophoblast cells are resistant to viral infection (e.g., human cytomegalovirus) and can transfer their viral resistance to nonplacental cells (i.e., endothelial

cells) through exosomes, an effect completely abolished by sonication [78], highlighting that the exosome integrity is critical to mediate their effects on cell target.

We have recently demonstrated that exosomes isolated from peripheral plasma were biologically active, as assessed by their ability to increase endothelial cell migration in vitro. Moreover, the bioactivity of exosomes was greatest during the first trimester and gradually declined with advancing gestational age. These results suggest that, in normal pregnancy, exosomes isolated from plasma of pregnant healthy women in the first trimester may play a role in regulating the endothelium response to maternal adaptation to pregnancy. Exosomes are sensitive to environmental milieu (e.g., oxygen tension), changing their bioactivity and content; we propose that, under physiological conditions (e.g., normal pregnancy), placental exosomes promote vascular cell migration from the uterine spiral arteries; however, under pathological conditions (e.g., proinflammatory state and preeclampsia), the bioactivity of placental exosomes is reduced.

4.4. Preeclampsia Is Associated with Increased Release of Placenta-Derived Vesicles. Preeclampsia (PE) is a leading cause of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality with an incidence rate of 3–5% of all pregnancies [88, 89]. One of the first events associated with development of PE is the failure in remodeling the uterine maternal arteries completely and consequently the inadequate placental blood flow. While the precise etiology of PE remains largely unknown, physiological, environmental, and immunological risk factors have been identified [89]. The hypothesis that trophoblast-derived vesicles and debris shed into maternal circulation promotes an inflammatory vascular response and causes endothelial damage that is correlated with the pathophysiology of PE that has been proposed by Redman



FIGURE 2: A hypothesis on the effect of EVTs-derived exosomes on SpA remodeling. Complications of pregnancy are thought to be clinical manifestations of a common developmental lesion inadequate invasion by extravillous trophoblast cells with a consequent failure to remodel the maternal uterine spiral arteries. EVTs migrate from the cytotrophoblast-anchoring villi ((a) [1]) of the placenta and invade the maternal decidua and myometrium. These cells are localised with uterine spiral arteries (b) and are thought to induce vascular remodeling (i.e., extracellular matrix remodeling [2]); the loss of vascular endothelial [3]; and smooth muscle [4] cells by apoptosis or migration out of the vessel wall. We propose that EVTs-derived exosome has participation on the SpA remodeling, specificity affecting process as migration, proliferation, and apoptosis of VSMC (c). In (b), cartoon is modified from Cartwright et al., 2010 [87].

et al.'s group [90]. The placental syncytiotrophoblast secretes a wide range of vesicles, including micro- and nanovesicles into the maternal circulation during normal pregnancy [64]. Using a flow cytometry approach and syncytiotrophoblastspecific antiplacental alkaline phosphatase (PLAP), significantly greater levels of placental-derived vesicles were found in both peripheral and uterine venous plasma from women with preeclampsia compared to normal pregnant women [91]. Moreover, similar results were observed using a dual placental perfusion system in placentae from preeclampsia pregnancy [92]. In contrast, a recent study using nanoparticles tracking analysis reported high level of placental-derived vesicles in pregnant women compared with nonpregnant women, without difference in the number of syncytiotrophoblast extracellular vesicles between normal pregnant women and plasma from patients with preeclampsia [93]. To our knowledge, wide variation between results can be attributed to methodological differences, while flow cytometer is still inadequate to detect single vesicles with size less 300 nm (without polystyrene beads) and the expression of PLAP is reduced in syncytiotrophoblast-derived vesicles (including micro- and nanovesicles) obtained from perfused placental from preeclamptic pregnancies [92].

The concentration of placenta-derived exosomes vesicles is also increased with the advancing gestational age [64]. The molecular composition and biological effects of these nanovesicles are determined by their cellular origin. Thus, events that impact on early trophoblast cell invasion and their interaction with maternal cells (including oxygen tension and glucose and fatty acid concentrations) may contribute to or predispose to complication of pregnancies [64]. It has been demonstrated that exosomal protein content is different in women with preeclampsia [94]. Moreover, the specific syncytiotrophoblast protein, syncytin-2, is markedly downregulated in exosomes derived from placenta of pregnant women with preeclampsia compared to healthy control (normal pregnancies) [95].

In contrast, high levels of syncytiotrophoblast-derived vesicles were found in plasma from women with early-onset preeclampsia [96]. Since trophoblast invasion and insufficient uterine vascular remodeling occur in early-onset preeclampsia, we, therefore, propose that the release and composition (i.e., exosomal proteins) of placenta-derived exosomes are altered in pregnancies that subsequently develop complications (e.g., preeclampsia) and that placental cell exosomes derived from abnormal pregnancies differentially affect vascular smooth muscle cell function.

5. Summary

Uterine spiral arterial remodeling is an important physiological change during early pregnancy. EVTs migrate into maternal decidua and myometrium and interact with endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells in uterine spiral arteries. Conversion of these arteries is associated with the loss of both endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells from the vessel wall by apoptosis and/or migration out of the vessel. In this regard, communication between EVTs and vascular smooth muscle cells appears to be essential for successful arterial remodeling. The effect of exosomes released from EVTs on endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells has not been established. We propose that in complicated pregnancies (e.g., preeclampsia), proinflammatory microenvironment regulates the release and bioactivity of EVTderived exosomes. In normal pregnancy, EVT-derived exosomes may promote vascular smooth muscle cell migration favoring the spiral uterine arterial remodeling; however, high concentration of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF- α) may inhibit the effect of exosomes on vascular smooth muscle cell migration, triggering failure in arterial remodeling and stimulating the emergence of preeclampsia (Figure 2).

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

Carlos Salomon holds a Postdoctoral Fellowship at the University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Brisbane, Australia. Gregory E. Rice was in receipt of an NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship. The work described herein was partially funded by a CIEF grant (University of Queensland), a Smart Futures Fund grant (Department of Employment, Economic Development and Innovation, Queensland Government), and a Translating Health Discovery into Clinical Applications SuperScience Award (Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education, Australian Government).

References

- M. Lappas and G. E. Rice, "Transcriptional regulation of the processes of human labour and delivery," *Placenta*, vol. 30, pp. S90–S95, 2009.
- [2] N. M. Gude, C. T. Roberts, B. Kalionis, and R. G. King, "Growth and function of the normal human placenta," *Thrombosis Research*, vol. 114, no. 5-6, pp. 397–407, 2004.
- [3] E. P. Y. Kam, L. Gardner, Y. W. Loke, and A. King, "The role of trophoblast in the physiological change in decidual spiral arteries," *Human Reproduction*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 2131–2138, 1999.

- [4] R. Pijnenborg, E. Ball, J. N. Bulmer, M. Hanssens, S. C. Robson, and L. Vercruysse, "In vivo analysis of trophoblast cell invasion in the human," *Methods in molecular medicine.*, vol. 122, pp. 11– 44, 2006.
- [5] R. Pijnenborg, J. M. Bland, W. B. Robertson, and I. Brosens, "Uteroplacental arterial changes related to interstitial trophoblast migration in early human pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 397–413, 1983.
- [6] C. A. Blackburn, J. A. Keelan, R. S. Taylor, and R. A. North, "Maternal serum activin A is not elevated before preeclampsia in women who are at high risk," *American Journal of Obstetrics* and Gynecology, vol. 188, no. 3, pp. 807–811, 2003.
- [7] American Diabetes Association, "Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 35, supplement 1, pp. S64–S71, 2012.
- [8] J. D. Boyd and W. J. Hamilton, *The Human Placenta*, W. Heffer & Sons, Cambridge, UK, 1970.
- [9] R. J. Simpson, S. S. Jensen, and J. W. E. Lim, "Proteomic profiling of exosomes: current perspectives," *Proteomics*, vol. 8, no. 19, pp. 4083–4099, 2008.
- [10] R. J. Simpson, J. W. E. Lim, R. L. Moritz, and S. Mathivanan, "Exosomes: proteomic insights and diagnostic potential," *Expert Review of Proteomics*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 267–283, 2009.
- [11] H. Kalra, C. G. Adda, M. Liem et al., "Comparative proteomics evaluation of plasma exosome isolation techniques and assessment of the stability of exosomes in normal human blood plasma," *Proteomics*, vol. 13, no. 22, pp. 3354–3364, 2013.
- [12] C. V. Harding, J. E. Heuser, and P. D. Stahl, "Exosomes: looking back three decades and into the future," *Journal of Cell Biology*, vol. 200, no. 4, pp. 367–371, 2013.
- [13] F. Lyall, "Priming and remodelling of human placental bed spiral arteries during pregnancy: a Review," *Placenta*, vol. 26, pp. S31–S36, 2005.
- [14] G. J. Burton, A. W. Woods, E. Jauniaux, and J. C. P. Kingdom, "Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 473–482, 2009.
- [15] K. Benirschke and P. Kaufmann, Pathology of the Human Placenta, 2000.
- [16] G. S. J. Whitley and J. E. Cartwright, "Cellular and molecular regulation of spiral artery remodelling: lessons from the cardiovascular field," *Placenta*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 465–474, 2010.
- [17] R. Pijnenborg, L. Vercruysse, and M. Hanssens, "The uterine spiral arteries in human pregnancy: facts and controversies," *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 9-10, pp. 939–958, 2006.
- [18] R. Pijnenborg, J. M. Bland, W. B. Robertson, G. Dixon, and I. Brosens, "The pattern of interstitial trophoblastic invasion of the myometrium in early human pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 303–316, 1981.
- [19] R. Pijnenborg, G. Dixon, W. B. Robertson, and I. Brosens, "Trophoblastic invasion of human decidua from 8 to 18 weeks of pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 3–19, 1980.
- [20] G. J. Burton, E. Jauniaux, and A. L. Watson, "Maternal arterial connections to the placental intervillous space during the first trimester of human pregnancy: the Boyd collection revisited," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 181, no. 3, pp. 718–724, 1999.
- [21] J. N. Bulmer, B. A. Innes, J. Levey, S. C. Robson, and G. E. Lash, "The role of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis and migration during uterine spiral artery remodeling in normal

human pregnancy," The FASEB Journal, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 2975–2985, 2012.

- [22] G. J. Burton, E. Jauniaux, and D. S. Charnock-Jones, "The influence of the intrauterine environment on human placental development," *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, vol. 54, no. 2-3, pp. 303–311, 2010.
- [23] F. Rodesch, P. Simon, C. Donner, and E. Jauniaux, "Oxygen measurements in endometrial and trophoblastic tissues during early pregnancy," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 283–285, 1992.
- [24] E. Jauniaux, B. Gulbis, and G. J. Burton, "Physiological implications of the materno-fetal oxygen gradient in human early pregnancy," *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 250–253, 2003.
- [25] F. Lyall, "Mechanisms regulating cytotrophoblast invasion in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia," *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 266–273, 2006.
- [26] Y. Wang and S. Zhao, Vascular Biology of the Placenta, Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences, San Rafael, Calif, USA, 2010.
- [27] A. M. Borzychowski, I. L. Sargent, and C. W. G. Redman, "Inflammation and pre-eclampsia," *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 309–316, 2006.
- [28] C. W. G. Redman and I. L. Sargent, "Preeclampsia and the systemic inflammatory response," *Seminars in Nephrology*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 565–570, 2004.
- [29] B. D. LaMarca, M. J. Ryan, J. S. Gilbert, S. R. Murphy, and J. P. Granger, "Inflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of hypertension during preeclampsia," *Current Hypertension Reports*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 480–485, 2007.
- [30] R. Raghupathy, "Cytokines as key players in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia," *Medical Principles and Practice*, vol. 22, supplement 1, pp. 8–19, 2013.
- [31] H.-L. Chen, Y. Yang, X. L. Hu, K. K. Yelavarthi, J. L. Fishback, and J. S. Hunt, "Tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA and protein are present in human placental and uterine cells at early and late stages of gestation," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 327–335, 1991.
- [32] G. Vince, S. Shorter, P. Starkey et al., "Localization of tumour necrosis factor production in cells at the materno/fetal interface in human pregnancy," *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 174–180, 1992.
- [33] M.-M. Philippeaux and P. F. Piguet, "Expression of tumor necrosis factor-α and its mRNA in the endometrial mucosa during the menstrual cycle," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 143, no. 2, pp. 480–486, 1993.
- [34] P. P. Jokhi, A. King, A. M. Sharkey, S. K. Smith, and Y. W. Loke, "Screening for cytokine messenger ribonucleic acids in purified human decidual lymphocyte populations by the reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 153, no. 10, pp. 4427–4435, 1994.
- [35] S. Bauer, J. Pollheimer, J. Hartmann, P. Husslein, J. D. Aplin, and M. Knöfler, "Tumor necrosis factor-α inhibits trophoblast migration through elevation of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in first-trimester villous explant cultures," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 812– 822, 2004.
- [36] S. Goetze, X.-P. Xi, Y. Kawano et al., "TNF-α-induced migration of vascular smooth muscle cells is MAPK dependent," *Hypertension*, vol. 33, no. 1, part 2, pp. 183–189, 1999.

- [37] N. Laham, S. P. Brennecke, K. Bendtzen, and G. E. Rice, "Tumour necrosis factor α during human pregnancy and labour: maternal plasma and amniotic fluid concentrations and release from intrauterine tissues," *European Journal of Endocrinology*, vol. 131, no. 6, pp. 607–614, 1994.
- [38] N. Laham, F. Van Dunné, L. J. Abraham et al., "Tumor necrosis factor-β in human pregnancy and labor," *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 53–69, 1997.
- [39] M. T. Coughlan, K. Oliva, H. M. Georgiou, J. M. H. Permezel, and G. E. Rice, "Glucose-induced release of tumour necrosis factor-alpha from human placental and adipose tissues in gestational diabetes mellitus," *Diabetic Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 921–927, 2001.
- [40] S. Haider and M. Knöfler, "Human tumour necrosis factor: physiological and pathological roles in placenta and endometrium," *Placenta*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 111–123, 2009.
- [41] R. Pijnenborg, P. J. McLaughlin, L. Vercruysse et al., "Immunolocalization of tumour necrosis factor-α (TNF-α) in the placental bed of normotensive and hypertensive human pregnancies," *Placenta*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 231–239, 1998.
- [42] M. Knöfler, B. Mösl, S. Bauer, G. Griesinger, and P. Husslein, "TNF -α/TNFRI in primary and immortalized first trimester cytotrophoblasts," *Placenta*, vol. 21, no. 5-6, pp. 525–535, 2000.
- [43] C. Rusterholz, S. Hahn, and W. Holzgreve, "Role of placentally produced inflammatory and regulatory cytokines in pregnancy and the etiology of preeclampsia," *Seminars in Immunopathol*ogy, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 151–162, 2007.
- [44] M. A. Williams, A. Farrand, R. Mittendorf et al., "Maternal second trimester serum tumor necrosis factor-α-soluble receptor p55 (sTNFp55) and subsequent risk of preeclampsia," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 149, no. 4, pp. 323–329, 1999.
- [45] F. Xie, Y. Hu, S. E. Turvey et al., "Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and the cryopyrin inflammasome in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia," *BJOG*, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 99–108, 2010.
- [46] F. Xie, S. E. Turvey, M. A. Williams, G. Mor, and P. von Dadelszen, "Toll-like receptor signaling and pre-eclampsia," *The American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 7–16, 2010.
- [47] Y. Hamai, T. Fujii, T. Yamashita et al., "Evidence for an elevation in serum interleukin-2 and tumor necrosis factor-α levels before the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia," *American Journal* of Reproductive Immunology, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 89–93, 1997.
- [48] F. Kalantar, S. Rajaei, A. B. Heidari et al., "Serum levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-15 and interleukin-10 in patients with pre-eclampsia in comparison with normotensive pregnant women," *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 463–466, 2013.
- [49] S. Y. Lau, S.-J. Guild, C. J. Barrett et al., "Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and interleukin-10 levels are altered in preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *The American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 412–427, 2013.
- [50] C. Xie, M. Z. Yao, J. B. Liu, and L. K. Xiong, "A meta-analysis of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and interleukin-10 in preeclampsia," *Cytokine*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 550–559, 2011.
- [51] H. G. Zhang, C. Liu, K. Su et al., "A membrane form of TNFalpha presented by exosomes delays T cell activation-induced cell death," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 176, no. 12, pp. 7385– 7393, 2006.
- [52] Y. Chen, W. Ge, L. Xu et al., "miR-200b is involved in intestinal fibrosis of Crohn's disease," *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 601–606, 2012.

- [53] S. Atay, C. Gercel-Taylor, M. Kesimer, and D. D. Taylor, "Morphologic and proteomic characterization of exosomes released by cultured extravillous trophoblast cells," *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 317, no. 8, pp. 1192–1202, 2011.
- [54] S. Atay, C. Gercel-Taylor, J. Suttles, G. Mor, and D. D. Taylor, "Trophoblast-derived exosomes mediate monocyte recruitment and differentiation," *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 65–77, 2011.
- [55] J. Armitage, L. Poston, and P. Taylor, "Developmental origins of obesity and the metabolic syndrome: the role of maternal obesity," *Frontiers of Hormone Research*, vol. 36, pp. 73–84, 2007.
- [56] D. D. Taylor and C. Gerçel-Taylor, "Tumour-derived exosomes and their role in cancer-associated T-cell signalling defects," *British Journal of Cancer*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 305–311, 2005.
- [57] C. Théry, "Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications," *F1000 Biology Reports*, vol. 3, no. 1, article 15, 2011.
- [58] C. Salomon, J. Ryan, L. Sobrevia et al., "Exosomal signaling during hypoxia mediates microvascular endothelial cell migration and vasculogenesis," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 7, Article ID e68451, 2013.
- [59] A. V. Vlassov, S. Magdaleno, R. Setterquist, and R. Conrad, "Exosomes: current knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta: General Subjects*, vol. 1820, no. 7, pp. 940– 948, 2012.
- [60] M. Simons and G. Raposo, "Exosomes—vesicular carriers for intercellular communication," *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 575–581, 2009.
- [61] C. Lässer, V. S. Alikhani, K. Ekström et al., "Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages," *Journal of Translational Medicine*, vol. 9, article 9, 2011.
- [62] S. Keller, J. Ridinger, A.-K. Rupp, J. W. G. Janssen, and P. Altevogt, "Body fluid derived exosomes as a novel template for clinical diagnostics," *Journal of Translational Medicine*, vol. 9, article 86, 2011.
- [63] M. Ostrowski, N. B. Carmo, S. Krumeich et al., "Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway," *Nature Cell Biology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 19–30, 2010.
- [64] C. Salomon, M. J. Torres, M. Kobayashi et al., "A gestational profile of placental exosomes in maternal plasma and their effects on endothelial cell migration," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 6, Article ID e98667, 2014.
- [65] C. Salomon, M. Kobayashi, K. Ashman, L. Sobrevia, M. D. Mitchell, and G. E. Rice, "Hypoxia-induced changes in the bioactivity of cytotrophoblast-derived exosomes," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 11, Article ID e79636, 2013.
- [66] D. M. Pegtel, K. Cosmopoulos, D. A. Thorley-Lawson et al., "Functional delivery of viral miRNAs via exosomes," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 107, no. 14, pp. 6328–6333, 2010.
- [67] K. J. Svensson, H. C. Christianson, A. Wittrup et al., "Exosome uptake depends on ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling and lipid raft-mediated endocytosis negatively regulated by caveolin-1," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 288, no. 24, pp. 17713–17724, 2013.
- [68] M. Kobayashi, "Ovarian cancer cell invasiveness is associated with discordant exosomal sequestration of Let-7 miRNA and miR-200," *Journal of Translational Medicine*, vol. 12, article 4, 2014.
- [69] H. Valadi, "Exosomes contain a selective number of mRNA and microRNA," *Allergy*, vol. 62, p. 372, 2007.

- [70] M. Record, K. Carayon, M. Poirot, and S. Silvente-Poirot, "Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cellcell communication and various pathophysiologies," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta—Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, vol. 1841, no. 1, pp. 108–120, 2014.
- [71] A. Sabapatha, C. Gercel-taylor, and D. D. Taylor, "Specific isolation of placenta-derived exosomes from the circulation of pregnant women and their immunoregulatory consequences," *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 56, no. 5-6, pp. 345–355, 2006.
- [72] C. W. G. Redman and I. L. Sargent, "Circulating microparticles in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 29, pp. S73–S77, 2008.
- [73] S.-S. Luo, O. Ishibashi, G. Ishikawa et al., "Human villous trophoblasts express and secrete placenta-specific microRNAs into maternal circulation via exosomes," *Biology of Reproduction*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 717–729, 2009.
- [74] A. Inagaki, H. Nishizawa, S. Ota et al., "Upregulation of HtrA4 in the placentas of patients with severe pre-eclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 919–926, 2012.
- [75] L. K. Harris, S. D. Smith, R. J. Keogh et al., "Trophoblast- and vascular smooth muscle cell-derived MMP-12 mediates elastolysis during uterine spiral artery remodeling," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 177, no. 4, pp. 2103–2115, 2010.
- [76] L. K. Harris, "IFPA Gabor Than Award lecture: transformation of the spiral arteries in human pregnancy: key events in the remodelling timeline," *Placenta*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. S154–S158, 2011.
- [77] A. C. Stenqvist, O. Nagaeva, V. Baranov, and L. Mincheva-Nilsson, "Exosomes secreted by human placenta carry functional Fas ligand and TRAIL molecules and convey apoptosis in activated immune cells, suggesting exosome-mediated immune privilege of the fetus," *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 191, no. 11, pp. 5515–5523, 2013.
- [78] E. Delorme-Axford, R. B. Donker, J. F. Mouillet et al., "Human placental trophoblasts confer viral resistance to recipient cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 110, no. 29, pp. 12048–12053, 2013.
- [79] H. D. Lee, Y. H. Kim, and D. S. Kim, "Exosomes derived from human macrophages suppress endothelial cell migration by controlling integrin trafficking," *European Journal of Immunol*ogy, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1156–1169, 2014.
- [80] S. Taverna, A. Flugy, L. Saieva et al., "Role of exosomes released by chronic myelogenous leukemia cells in angiogenesis," *International Journal of Cancer*, vol. 130, no. 9, pp. 2033–2043, 2012.
- [81] J. Esser, U. Gehrmann, F. L. D'Alexandri et al., "Exosomes from human macrophages and dendritic cells contain enzymes for leukotriene biosynthesis and promote granulocyte migration," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 126, no. 5, pp. 1032.e4–1040.e4, 2010.
- [82] I. Nazarenko, S. Rana, A. Baumann et al., "Cell surface tetraspanin Tspan8 contributes to molecular pathways of exosome-induced endothelial cell activation," *Cancer Research*, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 1668–1678, 2010.
- [83] E. Hergenreider, S. Heydt, K. Tréguer et al., "Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs," *Nature Cell Biology*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 249–256, 2012.
- [84] P. Kucharzewska, H. C. Christianson, J. E. Welch et al., "Exosomes reflect the hypoxic status of glioma cells and mediate hypoxia-dependent activation of vascular cells during tumor

development," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 110, no. 18, pp. 7312–7317, 2013.

- [85] R. B. Donker, J. F. Mouillet, T. Chu et al., "The expression profile of C19MC microRNAs in primary human trophoblast cells and exosomes," *Molecular Human Reproduction*, vol. 18, no. 8, Article ID gas013, pp. 417–424, 2012.
- [86] S. Atay, C. Gercel-Taylor, and D. D. Taylor, "Human trophoblastderived exosomal fibronectin induces pro-inflammatory IL-1β production by macrophages," *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 259–269, 2011.
- [87] J. E. Cartwright, R. Fraser, K. Leslie, A. E. Wallace, and J. L. James, "Remodelling at the maternal-fetal interface: relevance to human pregnancy disorders," *Reproduction*, vol. 140, no. 6, pp. 803–813, 2010.
- [88] E. A. Steegers, P. von Dadelszen, J. J. Duvekot, and R. Pijnenborg, "Pre-eclampsia," *The Lancet*, vol. 376, no. 9741, pp. 631– 644, 2010.
- [89] S. Lorquet, C. Pequeux, C. Munaut, and J.-M. Foidart, "Aetiology and physiopathology of preeclampsia and related forms," *Acta Clinica Belgica*, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 237–241, 2010.
- [90] C. W. G. Redman, D. S. Tannetta, R. A. Dragovic et al., "Review: does size matter? Placental debris and the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 33, supplement, pp. S48–S54, 2012.
- [91] M. Knight, C. W. G. Redman, E. A. Linton, and I. L. Sargent, "Shedding of syncytiotrophoblast microvilli into the maternal circulation in pre-eclamptic pregnancies," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 105, no. 6, pp. 632–640, 1998.
- [92] D. S. Tannetta, R. A. Dragovic, C. Gardiner, C. W. Redman, and I. L. Sargent, "Characterisation of syncytiotrophoblast vesicles in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: expression of Flt-1 and endoglin," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 2, Article ID e56754, 2013.
- [93] R. A. Dragovic, J. H. Southcombe, D. S. Tannetta, C. W. Redman, and I. L. Sargent, "Multicolor flow cytometry and nanoparticle tracking analysis of extracellular vesicles in the plasma of normal pregnant and pre-eclamptic women," *Biology* of *Reproduction*, vol. 89, no. 6, p. 151, 2013.
- [94] C. W. G. Redman, D. S. Tannetta, R. A. Dragovic et al., "Review: does size matter? Placental debris and the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 33, pp. S48–S54, 2012.
- [95] A. Vargas, S. Zhou, M. Ethier-Chiasson et al., "Syncytin proteins incorporated in placenta exosomes are important for cell uptake and show variation in abundance in serum exosomes from patients with preeclampsia," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 3703–3719, 2014.
- [96] D. Goswamia, D. S. Tannetta, L. A. Magee et al., "Excess syncytiotrophoblast microparticle shedding is a feature of earlyonset pre-eclampsia, but not normotensive intrauterine growth restriction," *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 56–61, 2006.

Research Article

Early Onset Intrauterine Growth Restriction in a Mouse Model of Gestational Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis

Dolores Busso,¹ Lilian Mascareño,¹ Francisca Salas,¹ Loni Berkowitz,¹ Nicolás Santander,¹ Alonso Quiroz,¹ Ludwig Amigo,² Gloria Valdés,³ and Attilio Rigotti^{1,4}

¹ Departamento de Nutrición, Diabetes y Metabolismo, Escuela de Medicina, Facultad de Medicina,

² Departamento de Gastroenterología, Escuela de Medicina, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile,

Marcoleta 367/Interior, 4° Piso, 8330024 Santiago, Chile

³ Departamento de Nefrología y Centro de Investigaciones Médicas, Escuela de Medicina, Facultad de Medicina,

Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Lira 44, 2° Piso, 8330024 Santiago, Chile

⁴ Centro de Nutrición Molecular y Enfermedades Crónicas, Escuela de Medicina, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Avenida Bernardo O'Higgins 340, 8331150 Santiago, Chile

Tompleia Oniversitata Calonea de Chile, Aventad Dernardo O Miggins 540, 0551150 Santage

Correspondence should be addressed to Dolores Busso; dbusso@med.puc.cl

Received 31 March 2014; Revised 23 May 2014; Accepted 20 June 2014; Published 10 September 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Dolores Busso et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The susceptibility to develop atherosclerosis is increased by intrauterine growth restriction and prenatal exposure to maternal hypercholesterolemia. Here, we studied whether mouse gestational hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis affected fetal development and growth at different stages of gestation. Female LDLR KO mice fed a proatherogenic, high cholesterol (HC) diet for 3 weeks before conception and during pregnancy exhibited a significant increase in non-HDL cholesterol and developed atherosclerosis. At embryonic days 12.5 (E12.5), E15.5, and E18.5, maternal gestational hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis were associated to a 22–24% reduction in male and female fetal weight without alterations in fetal number/litter or morphology nor placental weight or structure. Feeding the HC diet exclusively at the periconceptional period did not alter fetal growth, suggesting that maternal hypercholesterolemia affected fetal weight only after implantation. Vitamin E supplementation (1,000 UI of α -tocopherol/kg) of HC-fed females did not change the mean weight of E18.5 fetuses but reduced the percentage of fetuses exhibiting body weights below the 10th percentile of weight (HC: 90% vs. HC/VitE: 68%). In conclusion, our results showed that maternal gestational hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in mice were associated to early onset fetal growth restriction and that dietary vitamin E supplementation had a beneficial impact on this condition.

1. Introduction

In the last decades, the influence of the intrauterine development on the susceptibility to cardiovascular disease has been demonstrated both in humans and in experimental animal models. David Barker, pioneer in describing fetal early environmental programming, described how undernutrition *in utero* can alter human fetal growth and induce permanent changes in the body's structure, function, and metabolism that can lead to coronary heart disease later in life [1]. Additional studies showed that, beyond a caloric restriction, other intrauterine suboptimal conditions, such as excessive nutrient availability or exposure to pollutants, alcohol, or nicotine, can also increase the susceptibility of the adult offspring to cardiovascular disease (reviewed in [2]).

Maternal adverse conditions can affect embryos at different stages of gestation, even before implantation. In fact, mammalian preimplantation embryos from different animal models, ranging from mice to sheep, are particularly sensitive to environmental factors during the periconceptional period. Exposure of blastocysts to suboptimal conditions both *in vivo* (i.e., maternal undernutrition) and *in vitro* (i.e., inefficient

Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Marcoleta 367/Interior, 4º Piso, 8330024 Santiago, Chile

culture conditions) is associated with the onset of cardiovascular dysfunction in adult life [3].

The most common underlying cause of ischemic cardiovascular disease is atherosclerosis, a silent and progressive pathologic condition that originates very early in life, even during development in the womb, characterized by the accumulation of lipids, lipoperoxidation products, and macrophages in arterial vessels [4]. During pregnancy, maternal high plasma cholesterol levels may promote fetal atherosclerosis. In humans, fatty streaks and intimal thickening are higher in fetuses from hypercholesterolemic mothers [4, 5]. Although the human term placenta is impermeable to the atherogenic low density lipoproteins (LDL), the existing correlation between maternal and fetal plasma cholesterol levels before the sixth month of gestation suggests that maternal high levels of plasma cholesterol at early to midpregnancy may directly promote lesion formation in the fetus [4]. Hypercholesterolemia during pregnancy increases maternal lipid peroxidation, which is transmitted to the embryo via the placenta, suggesting that abnormal cholesterol metabolism can also have indirect effects on the placenta and fetus, that is, oxidative stress [6]. Indeed, maternal hypercholesterolemia associates with umbilical vein endothelial dysfunction due to arginase and eNOS signaling imbalance [7]. In humans, suboptimal fetal growth is one of the risk factors for atherosclerosis: weighing less than the 10th percentile of the population or being born preterm increases the development of endothelial dysfunction and preclinical atherosclerosis in young adults [8]. Also, fetal growth restriction in rats leads to the early appearance of atherosclerosis in adult offspring [9].

Progress in understanding fetal programming of human atherosclerosis has been slowed by the high genetic and environmental heterogeneity among individuals and by the difficulty of accessing noninvasively images from aortas of developing fetuses. In addition, the requirement of cholesterol to sustain appropriate fetal development [10] has hindered the use of pharmacological treatments to reduce cholesterol in hypercholesterolemic pregnant women due to their possible teratogenic effects. As in many other areas of biomedical research, animals have nevertheless proven valuable experimental models of fetal programming due to their genetic homogeneity, more controlled environment, accessibility to obtain fetuses at different developmental stages, and feasibility for interventions during gestation. A rabbit model established by the group of Napoli and Palinski provided the first straightforward evidence on the pivotal role of maternal hypercholesterolemia in atherosclerosis in the offspring [11]. This study also reported the involvement of oxidative stress in fetal atherosclerosis, as lesions were significantly reduced when pregnant females were fed with vitamin E-supplemented hypercholesterolemic diets. Other studies using rabbits showed that near term fetuses from high-cholesterol-fed dams exhibited 15-25% lower body weight than fetuses from chow-fed controls [12, 13].

LDL receptor deficient (LDLR KO) [14] and apolipoprotein E deficient (ApoE KO) [15] mice have been used to study fetal programming of atherosclerosis. LDLR KO mice fed with regular chow have a twofold increase in LDL cholesterol levels compared with wild-type mice, yet these mice only develop atherosclerosis when fed with a high-cholesterol diet that increases their plasma cholesterol above 300 mg/dl [16]. Recent studies using these mice have contributed to the understanding of some of the mechanisms implicated in the high susceptibility to atherosclerosis observed in the offspring of hypercholesterolemic pregnant females. Fetal exposure to maternal hypercholesterolemia induces changes in gene expression in different tissues (i.e., aorta and liver) that persist into adulthood [14, 17]. Interestingly, LDLR KO females fed with a western-type high fat/carbohydrate/cholesterol diet for 6 weeks before conception and during pregnancy give birth to smaller pups [18]. However, in both studies, using hyperlipidemic rabbits or mice, the onset of fetal growth abnormalities during intrauterine development has not been studied.

This work was aimed at analyzing the impact of periconceptional (until E5.5) versus gestational maternal hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis on fetal development at different stages of intrauterine development. This maternal condition was not associated with miscarriages or severe fetoplacental abnormalities. Fetal growth restriction was detected in mice from both sexes as a consequence of gestational but not periconceptional maternal hypercholesterolemia. Taking into account the low levels of vitamin E detected in mothers and newborns from human growth restricted pregnancies [19, 20] and the reduction of oxidative stress by vitamin E in placenta of hypercholesterolemic rabbits [21], we also analyzed whether dietary supplementation with vitamin E could prevent growth restriction in fetuses from HC-fed females.

2. Results

2.1. LDLR KO Fed with a Proatherogenic Diet Develop Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis in the Absence of Overweight or Infertility. LDLR female mice fed with a proatherogenic, high-cholesterol (HC) diet containing 0.625% cholesterol, fat, and cholic acid diet for 3 weeks were as fertile as females fed with a chow diet containing 0.02% cholesterol, as 4/5 (80%) of these hypercholesterolemic females with a vaginal plug became pregnant versus 5/6 (83%) in the control group. Feeding the HC diet before and during pregnancy induced severe hypercholesterolemia, essentially due to accumulation of non-HDL lipoproteins, in the endogenously hypercholesterolemic LDLR KO females [22] (7- and 8-fold at E15.5 and E18.5, resp.) (Figures 1(a) and 1(b)). This dyslipidemia led to the development of atherosclerotic lesions in the maternal aortic root as shown by immunohistochemical analyses (Figure 1(c)). No additional signs of adverse health conditions or body weight differences were detected in the diet-manipulated compared to the chow-fed LDLR KO group (Figure 1(d)).

2.2. LDLR KO Mice with Gestational Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis Exhibit Fetal Growth Restriction. Neither the litter size nor the mean number of resorptions differed between chow-fed and HC-fed pregnant LDLR KO females (Figure 2(a)). Placental gross morphology and size



FIGURE 1: Gestational hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in LDLR KO females fed with a HC diet. (a) Plasma cholesterol concentration was significantly higher in HC-fed females compared to chow-fed females at both E15.5 (** P < 0.05, n = 2 and n = 4 females, resp., Student's *t*-test) and E18.5 (*** P < 0.001, n = 5 females in each group, Student's *t*-test). (b) Representative FPLC profiles of cholesterol content in lipoproteins in one chow- and one HC-fed pregnant female in E15.5. (c) Fatty streak in the aortic root of a HC-fed pregnant female in E15.5. Note the actin positive smooth cells (brown), the endothelial layer (arrows), and the foam cells in the subendothelial region (arrowheads) (magnification: 40x). (d) Feeding the HC diet did not induce overweight either before pregnancy or during pregnancy (n = 3 females in each group). Mean \pm SEM.

(not shown) and placental weight (Figure 2(b)) were also similar in both groups at E15.5 and E18.5. The distribution of tissues conforming the three different layers of the mouse placenta, decidua, spongiotrophoblast, and labyrinth was normal in females from both groups at E15.5 (Figure 2(c)) and E18.5 (not shown). No defects in the labyrinth organization and the distribution of vascular exchange areas within placenta from hypercholesterolemic and atherosclerotic females were detected in histological sections from E15.5 placenta, as the mean area occupied by maternal sinuses and fetal capillaries was similar in placenta from chow- and HC-fed groups (Figure 2(d)).

Despite the normal placental growth and morphological parameters observed in pregnancies occurring in LDLR KO mice with hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis, the mean body weight of fetuses harvested from these females was lower than that of fetuses from chow-fed mice at the three gestational ages analyzed (Figures 3(a) and 3(b)). Fetal sex discrimination by PCR amplification of *smcx* and *smcy* alleles showed that fetal growth restriction was similar in both sexes in the HC-fed group (Figure 3(c)).

2.3. Periconceptional Exposure to Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis Does Not Affect Fetal Growth. To determine whether exposure to maternal hypercholesterolemia exclusively during the periconceptional period had an effect on fetal growth at later stages of intrauterine development, LDLR KO females were fed with the proatherogenic HC diet from 3 weeks previous to conception until implantation at E5.5 and then fed with regular chow diet. Plasma cholesterol levels from females exposed to the HC diet periconceptionally were already normalized at E15.5 [115 \pm 25 mg/dl in periconceptional HC-fed LDLR KO females (n = 2 females) versus 108 \pm 30 mg/dl in control chow-fed LDLR KO females (n = 2 females), P = 0.88 Student's *t*-test]. E15.5 fetuses retrieved from dams periconceptionally fed with the HC diet weighed





FIGURE 2: LDLR KO females fed with a HC diet have normal placental development. (a) The mean numbers of conceptuses and resorptions per female retrieved at E15.5 and E18.5 were similar in LDLR KO chow- and HC-fed pregnant females (n = 3 litters from each group). (b) Placenta from hypercholesterolemic pregnancies had similar weights compared to those from control pregnancies at E15.5 and E18.5. (c) Histological analyses of E15.5 placenta showed similar tissue organization and distribution of the different placental structures: labyrinth (L), spongiotrophoblast (S), and decidua (D) in control and hypercholesterolemic placenta (n = 3 per group) (magnification: 8x). (d) Analysis of the vascular organization in the labyrinth in control and HC pregnancies (n = 3 placentas from each group). Upper panel: representative immunohistochemistry showing anticytokeratin positive syncytiotrophoblasts marking the interface between maternal and fetal circulations (magnification: 1,000x). Lower panel: quantification of the mean areas per mm² labyrinth occupied by fetal vessels (surrounded by dashed line) containing large, immature red blood cells (arrow) and maternal sinuses (surrounded by dotted line) containing mature, enucleated red blood cells (arrowhead). Mean \pm SEM.



FIGURE 3: Fetal intrauterine growth restriction is observed in LDLR KO mice fed with a HC diet. (a) Fetuses retrieved from hypercholesterolemic pregnant females weighed significantly less than fetuses from control mice at the three stages analysed (***P < 0.001) (E12.5, E15.5, and E18.5, n = 43, 24, and 10 fetuses in control females, and n = 17, 19, and 31 fetuses in HC-fed females, resp.). (b) Representative picture of a normal fetus obtained from a chow-fed female and one growth restricted fetus obtained from a HC-fed female fixed in Bouin. (c) Fetal weight in E18.5 male and female fetuses from control and HC groups (n = 7 to 10 fetuses in each group). Mean ± SEM.

similar to fetuses from chow-fed mice $[382 \pm 22 \text{ mg} (n = 11 \text{ fetuses}) \text{ versus } 393 \pm 22 \text{ mg} (n = 24 \text{ fetuses}), \text{ resp.}, P = 0.58 \text{ Student's } t\text{-test}]$. These results indicated that periconceptional maternal hypercholesterolemia in mice does not impact fetal growth.

2.4. Dietary Vitamin E Supplementation Reduces the Proportion of Growth Restricted Fetuses in Pregnancies with Gestational Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis. LDLR KO females were fed with chow, HC, or vitamin E-supplemented HC (HC/VitE) diets from 3 weeks before conception until E18.5, when fetuses were retrieved. Fetal weights displayed frequency distribution curves with the expected Gaussian distribution (Figure 4(a)) [23]. As observed previously (in Figure 3), maternal HC-feeding of LDLR KO females resulted in a significant reduction in the mean fetal weight (1.01 \pm 0.02 g control (n = 58 fetuses) versus 0.79 ± 0.01 g HC (n = 38 fetuses), P < 0.001 Student's t-test). This defect can be appreciated in Figure 4(a) by the displacement of the frequency distribution curve to the left (see red arrow). In the HC-fed group, 90% of the fetuses exhibited weights that were under the 10th percentile of the control chowfed population (Figure 4(b)). Vitamin E supplementation of HC-fed dams did not affect the mean weight of fetuses

compared to the HC untreated group $[0.82 \pm 0.02 \text{ g HC/VitE}$ (n = 47 fetuses), P = 0.147 Student's *t*-test] (small displacement of curves indicated by blue arrow) (Figure 4(a)). However, the percentage of fetuses weighing less than the 10th percentile of the control group was reduced from 90% in the untreated HC-fed group to 68% in the HC/VitE group (Figure 4(b)). The difference in the proportions of normal versus growth restricted fetuses in the HC-fed untreated (4 versus 34) and vitamin E- supplemented (15 versus 32) groups reached statistical significance (P = 0.0207, Fisher's exact test).

Vitamin E supplementation had an impact on plasma cholesterol levels in HC-fed dams, although this reduction did not reach statistical significance compared to HC-fed females [118 \pm 6 mg/dl chow (n = 3 females), 844 \pm 139 mg/dl HC (n = 4 females), and 527 \pm 147 mg/dl HC/VitE (n = 3 females)] (Figure 4(c), left panel). Neither HC nor HC/VitE diets affected the levels of fetal plasma cholesterol at E18.5 [90 \pm 5 mg/dl control (n = 3), 86 \pm 16 mg/dl HC (n = 4), and 107 \pm 18 mg/dl HC/VitE (n = 3); in this case each n corresponds to a pool of 2 fetuses] (Figure 4(c), right panel), which is consistent with the lack of association between maternal and fetal cholesterol levels in late pregnancy observed in humans [4].



FIGURE 4: Effect of vitamin E supplementation on fetal growth restriction induced by maternal hypercholesterolemia in HC-fed LDLR KO mice. (a) Gauss normal curves for E18.5 fetal weights in females fed with chow (black, n = 58 fetuses, $r^2 = 0.86$), HC (red, n = 47 fetuses, $r^2 = 0.91$), or HC/VitE (blue, n = 38 fetuses, $r^2 = 0.89$) diets. The black continuous line represents the 10th percentile of WT fetal weight (865 mg); dashed lines indicate the mean weight for each group. The difference between weights from the HC- and chow-fed groups and HC- and HC/VitE-fed groups is represented by red and blue arrows, respectively. (b) Percentage of growth restricted fetuses showing an increase in fetuses over the 10th precentile in the HC/VitE group (32%) compared to the HC group (10%). (c) Left panel: high plasma cholesterol in HC-fed females was partially reduced by vitamin E supplementation (different lettering indicates significance at P < 0.05, one-way ANOVA, $n \ge 3$ females). Right panel: fetal plasma cholesterol was similar in females receiving chow, HC, or HC/VitE diets ($n \ge 3$ pools from 2 fetuses).

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Animals. LDLR KO mice (B6.129S7-Ldlrtm1Her/J) were originally purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. Animals were housed in a temperature- and light-controlled room. Protocols were conducted in agreement with the National Research Council (NRC) Publication Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (8th edition, 2011, National Academy of Sciences, USA). These studies were approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Welfare from the School of Medicine of the Pontifical Catholic University of Chile. Six-week-old LDLR KO females were fed with a standard *chow diet* [0.02% cholesterol (Prolab RMH3000, Labdiet)], *high-cholesterol diet* [0.625% cholesterol 1:1 mix of chow diet and 57BB diet atherogenic diet], or a *high-cholesterol and vitamin E-supplemented diet* [containing 0.625% cholesterol

and 1,000 UI of vitamin E/kg (1:1 mix of the 57BB atherogenic diet and Prolab 5P00 diet containing 2,000 IU vitamin E/kg, Labdiet)]. After 3 weeks receiving each diet, two females were housed with one male and the presence of vaginal plug was checked daily within the first hour of the light cycle. When the vaginal plug was detected, embryonic day 0.5 (E0.5) was recorded. All diets used before conception were continued during pregnancy until the collection of the embryos, except in the protocol where the impact of periconceptional maternal hypercholesterolemia was analyzed, in which females were fed with the HC diet until 5.5 and then received standard chow until embryo collection.

At E12.5, E15.5, or E18.5 pregnant dams were deeply anesthetized with a mix of ketamine: xylazine (100:10 mg per kg body weight) and blood was collected from the vena cava with a heparinized syringe. The dams were euthanized and the embryos and extraembryonic tissues were retrieved and kept on ice. Each embryo and placenta were weighed before fixation in Bouin's fixative. Yolk sacs were used for sexing by PCR. At E18.5, fetal blood was collected after decapitation and blood pooled from 3 fetuses was used for cholesterol determinations.

3.2. Fetal Sex Determination by PCR. Individual sexing of embryos was performed by PCR as described elsewhere [24]. The following primers, F: 5'-CCGCTGCCAAATTCTTTGG-3' and R: 5'-TGAAGCTTTTGGCTTTGAG-3', were used to amplify bands of different sizes corresponding to the *smcx/y* gene in X and Y chromosomes. Samples were amplified using the GoTaq (Promega) PCR kit, following manufacturer instructions with the following PCR program: 2 minutes at 95°C, 35 cycles of 30 s at 95°C, 30 s at 58°C, 30 s at 72°C, and a final extension of 10 minutes at 72°C. Amplicons were resolved in a 2% agarose gel and the presence of one or two bands indicated female or male, respectively.

3.3. Cholesterol Determination. Plasma cholesterol concentration was determined using a standard enzymatic method reported previously [25]. Samples were incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C with 0.5 M Tris, pH 7.6, 50 mM phenol, 50 mM 4-chlorophenol, 1% Triton X-100, 0.37% sodium cholate, 0.04% 4-aminoantipyrine, 0.35 U/mL cholesterol esterase, 0.1 U/mL cholesterol oxidase, 1 U/mL peroxidase, and 490 nm absorbance.

3.4. Lipoprotein Chromatographic Separation. Plasma samples were subjected to chromatographic separation using a Superose-6 molecular exclusion column (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) and elution buffer (150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 7.8) at a constant flux of 9 ml/h. Cholesterol content in each fraction was determined as described above.

3.5. Histological and Immunohistochemical Analyses. Bouinfixed tissues were dehydrated and embedded in paraffin. Tissue sections (8 μ m) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin or used for immunohistochemical procedures. For immunolocalization, sections were subjected to antigen retrieval using hot citrate and then incubated with commercial rabbit antibodies against smooth muscle actin (1: 200, Sigma) or cytokeratin (1: 200, Dako). After extensive washing, sections were incubated with appropriate secondary antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase (1: 800, Sigma) and revealed with diaminobenzidine (Sigma). Negative controls included slides where the primary antibody was replaced by nonimmune rabbit serum.

3.6. Identification of Atherosclerotic Lesions. Whole hearts from pregnant dams were fixed and processed for immunohistochemical detection of smooth muscle actin as described above. Only sections that passed through the aortic root were considered, as turbulent flow promotes plaque formation in this part of the aorta. Foam cell infiltrates between the smooth muscle layer and the endothelium and positive staining of the endothelial cells indicated the presence of early atherosclerotic lesions.

3.7. Morphometric Analyses. Transversal sections of whole placenta containing the central arterial canal were immunostained with the anti-cytokeratin antibody to localize syncytiotrophoblast layers and identify maternal sinuses and fetal vessels. Fetal vessels were identified by the presence of an endothelium and enucleated red blood cells, whereas maternal sinuses were surrounded by syncytiotrophoblasts and contained mature, enucleated red blood cells. The area of all the fetal vessels or maternal sinuses in at least 3 different slides was quantified using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda). The occupancy of fetal and maternal areas in placenta was expressed as the mean of area of capillaries or sinuses per mm² in the slide.

3.8. Statistical Analyses. Analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 6 software. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. The significance of the differences between means was evaluated using Student's *t*-test or ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test. The 10th percentile was calculated as R = P * (n + 1)/100, where *P* is 10 and *n* is the number of values in the chow group. The significance of the differences between proportions was analyzed using Fisher's exact test. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

4. Discussion

In the present study we used a mouse model of pregnancy that exhibited high levels of plasma cholesterol and atherosclerosis, independent of overweight. Pregnancies in hypercholesterolemic and atherosclerotic females were characterized by normal numbers of fetuses and occasional resorptions, discarding a gross effect of this pathological metabolic condition on inhibition of implantation or abortion. The analysis of placental weight and morphology at two stages of late pregnancy, E15.5 and E18.5, indicated that the placenta grew and differentiated normally in HC-fed females. The labyrinth developed normally as well, as maternal and fetal vascular areas in this region were unaffected by maternal HC-feeding. Future studies will allow determining whether maternal hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis induce functional changes in placental nutrient and gas exchange.

A significant reduction in body weight was observed in fetuses from midpregnancy to preterm. This fetal growth restriction was already present as early as E12.5, a developmental stage when placenta achieves maturation in mice and when fetuses start growing exponentially. Whereas newborns or term fetuses from hypercholesterolemic rabbits and mice were previously shown to exhibit lower weights than control animals [13, 24], to our knowledge this is the first evidence describing fetal growth restriction associated with high maternal cholesterol levels during early stages of gestation.

As mentioned previously, preimplantation embryos can be susceptible to environmental stressors. Evidence from different experimental animal models showed that the exposure of embryos before implantation to adverse developmental conditions (i.e., undernutrition, overnutrition, and inflammation), both in vitro and in vivo, can not only hinder the embryonic quality and implantation success but also exert more subtle effects that are expressed later during intrauterine development or even during adulthood [26-28]. Programming of disease can occur as early as in oocytes and zygotes, by mechanisms including the aberrant methylation of genes involved in body homeostasis [29, 30], defective mitochondrial function [28, 31], and the inefficient generation of appropriately sized stem-cell lineages due to abnormal proliferation [32]. Our studies showed that exposure to maternal hypercholesterolemia exclusively before implantation was harmless to embryo growth, as LDLR KO females fed with the proatherogenic HC diet periconceptionally did not exhibit fetal growth restriction. However, the existence of possible effects of periconceptional HC-feeding on other embryonic parameters besides embryonic growth cannot be ruled out from our analyses.

Epidemiological studies first described in the late 1990s showed that intrauterine growth is more affected by maternal undernutrition in boys than in girls [33]. It has been hypothesized that male and female human fetuses adopt different strategies to overcome low nutrient availability; for example, male fetuses trade off visceral development *in utero* to protect somatic and brain growth, an adaptive beneficial response which can promote chronic metabolic diseases during adulthood [34]. Several gender-specific differences in fetal responses to other adverse maternal conditions have been reported in animal models [35–37]. However, in our studies fetal growth restriction induced by HC-diet maternal hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis was not genderspecific, as both male and female fetuses were lighter than fetuses from control chow-fed females.

Both maternal hypercholesterolemia and intrauterine growth restriction in humans have been independently linked to the early onset of subclinical atherosclerosis and a higher predisposition to cardiovascular disease in their offspring [21, 38]. However, a direct link between these two conditions is not clear because, on the one hand, women carrying fetuses with intrauterine growth restriction have lower, and not higher, total cholesterol and HDL-cholesterol concentrations [39] and, on the other hand, no significant differences have been found in newborn weights from normal and hypercholesterolemic pregnancies [6, 40].

Oxidative stress is considered one of the potential pathological insults given by maternal hypercholesterolemia on placenta and fetuses. Indeed, plasma from hypercholesterolemic women shows an increase in markers in both placenta and fetus [6]. Interestingly, oxidized LDL particles accumulate within the human term placenta in pregnancies undergoing early onset intrauterine growth restriction [41]. In animal experimental models, maternal antioxidant treatment has shown to enhance fetal growth and/or prevent growth restriction [21, 42]. In our studies, vitamin E antioxidant supplementation was not sufficient to increase the mean fetal weight in HC-fed females. However, the fact that this vitamin significantly reduced the proportion of growth restricted fetuses in HC-fed dams suggested that oxidative stress could be one of the mechanisms implicated in the pathogeny of fetal growth restriction in this model. Nonantioxidant vitamin E activities may also be implicated in the beneficial effect of this vitamin on fetal growth in HC-fed females. The beneficial effect of vitamin E on fetal growth could be mediated by the lowering of cholesterol. It has been shown recently that vitamin E can reduce cholesterol biosynthesis in vitro [43]. As well, vitamin E supplementation of rats and hamsters fed with atherogenic diets can reduce their plasma cholesterol levels [44, 45]. Given the trend in lowering plasma cholesterol observed in vitamin E-supplemented HC-fed LDLR KO females, further studies will be pursued to determine the possible beneficial effects of this vitamin on the maternal cholesterol metabolism in hypercholesterolemic mouse pregnancies. On the other hand, vitamin E has been shown to regulate molecular pathways controlling cell proliferation and viability [46] and could promote fetal growth in pregnant mice with hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis. Vitamin E can also enhance the release of vasodilator prostanoids from human endothelial cells from the aorta [47] and umbilical cord [48] and could favor placenta-fetal blood flow, increasing nutrient absorption. Although vitamin E has not been successful in reducing the risk of major cardiovascular events in humans [49], its supplementation could still be useful to prevent the fetal programming of atherosclerosis, as observed in the offspring of HC-fed rabbits [21]. Our future studies will determine whether vitamin E maternal supplementation has an impact on fetal programming of atherosclerosis in mouse offspring from HC-fed LDLR KO.

The detection of low birth weight in rabbit and mouse newborns from hypercholesterolemic pregnancies [12, 24], together with the results of this work where early fetal growth was observed in HC-fed LDLR KO dams, is in contrast to studies showing that fetuses from human mothers with high-cholesterol levels exhibit normal birth weights [6, 40]. Species-specific differences in the response of fetal growth to maternal hypercholesterolemia could explain the divergent results in animals and humans. In this regard, although the mice have been a useful experimental model of fetal programming due to the high genetic homogeneity and the possibility to test dietary and pharmacological interventions during pregnancy, their lipoprotein metabolism has fundamental differences with humans [50]. In humans, cholesterol is mainly transported in LDLs whereas in mice cholesterol is carried almost exclusively in HDLs, mainly due to the fact that mice lack cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP), which transfers cholesterol from HDLs to LDLs. Among the various genetically modified mice that have contributed greatly to progress in the field of dyslipidemia [51], the LDLR KO mice exhibit a lipoprotein profile that is very similar to the human normal profile [52]. However, due to the rapid clearance of LDL cholesterol through the apoE receptor, which is present in mouse and not in human livers, the accumulation of LDL in plasma in LDLR KO mice is mild, and high-cholesterol diets need to be used to induce significant hypercholesterolemia [53]. These differences need to be considered when trying to interpret the results obtained using mice as models of human dyslipidemia.

One limitation of this study is that the atherogenic diet used in the study contains cholic acid, a component commonly added to cholesterol-enriched mouse diets in order to increase cholesterol absorption and induce atherosclerosis. In a recent publication, mice fed with a chow diet supplemented with cholic acid were used to establish a model of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy [54]. Strikingly, in that study cholic acid supplementation was shown to affect lipid biosynthesis and transport in the fetoplacental unit and increase the susceptibility of the offspring to metabolic disease. Thus, the fact that high-cholesterol diets containing cholic acid can induce more than one pathogenic condition in pregnant female mice (e.g., hypercholesterolemia and intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy) needs to be kept in mind when interpreting the results in this model, particularly when analyzing fetal programming. Regarding fetal weight, this parameter was not affected by maternal cholic acid supplementation [54], suggesting that the main effect on fetal growth in our study is not due to cholic acid itself.

In summary, this study shows that, in LDL KO mice, dietinduced maternal hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis during pregnancy can negatively impact fetal growth. Fetal growth restriction associated with this maternal condition is characterized by an early onset and similar prevalence in both sexes. Vitamin E dietary supplementation has a beneficial effect, preventing growth restriction in a significant proportion of fetuses from HC-fed mice. Further studies in this mouse model will allow understanding the mechanisms explaining fetal growth restriction and the possible prevention of atherosclerosis in the offspring by maternal vitamin E supplementation. This knowledge could be useful in designing strategies aimed at preventing or reducing cardiovascular disease prenatally.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Chilean National Council for Scientific and Technological Research (CONICYT) Programs Inserción de Investigadores Jóvenes en Academia [79090028 to Dolores Busso], Fondo Nacional del Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico (FONDECYT) [11090064 to Dolores Busso and 1110712 to Attilio Rigotti], and Ph.D. Fellowship (PCHA) [21130444 to Nicolás Santander and 21120903 to Francisca Salas] and by the Summer Research Program for Medical Students from the School of Medicine, Pontifical Catholic University of Chile [to Lilian Mascareño]. The authors would like to acknowledge Jenny Corthorn for her invaluable support in histological procedures and Dr. Pablo Olmos Coelho for his expert advice in statistical analyses.

References

 D. J. P. Barker and P. M. Clark, "Fetal undernutrition and disease in later life," *Reviews of Reproduction*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 105–112, 1997.

- [2] C. E. Aiken and S. E. Ozanne, "Sex differences in developmental programming models," *Reproduction*, vol. 145, no. 1, pp. R1–R13, 2013.
- [3] A. J. Watkins and T. P. Fleming, "Blastocyst environment and its influence on offspring cardiovascular health: the heart of the matter," *Journal of Anatomy*, vol. 215, no. 1, pp. 52–59, 2009.
- [4] C. Napoli, F. P. D'Armiento, F. P. Mancini et al., "Fatty streak formation occurs in human fetal aortas and is greatly enhanced maternal, hypercholesterolemia. Intimal accumulation of low density lipoprotein and its oxidation precede monocyte recruitment into early atheroeclerotic lesions," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 100, no. 11, pp. 2680–2690, 1997.
- [5] Y. Ikari, B. M. McManus, J. Kenyon, and S. M. Schwartz, "Neonatal intima formation in the human coronary artery," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 2036–2040, 1999.
- [6] A. Liguori, F. P. D'Armiento, A. Palagiano et al., "Effect of gestational hypercholesterolaemia on omental vasoreactivity, placental enzyme activity and transplacental passage of normal and oxidised fatty acids," *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 114, no. 12, pp. 1547–1556, 2007.
- [7] A. Leiva, C. Diez de Medina, R. Salsoso et al., "Maternal hypercholesterolemia in pregnancy associates with umbilical vein endothelial dysfunction: role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and arginase II," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 2444–2453, 2013.
- [8] M. R. Skilton, J. S. A. Viikari, M. Juonala et al., "Fetal growth and preterm birth influence cardiovascular risk factors and arterial health in young adults: the cardiovascular risk in young finns study," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 2975–2981, 2011.
- [9] Z. Wang, Z. Huang, G. Lu, L. Lin, and M. Ferrari, "Hypoxia during pregnancy in rats leads to early morphological changes of atherosclerosis in adult offspring," *American Journal of Physiology—Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 296, no. 5, pp. H1321–H1328, 2009.
- [10] V. A. Cortes, D. Busso, P. Mardones et al., "Advances in the physiological and pathological implications of cholesterol," *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 825–843, 2013.
- [11] C. Napoli, J. L. Witztum, F. Calara, F. de Nigris, and W. Palinski, "Maternal hypercholesterolemia enhances atherogenesis in normocholesterolemic rabbits, which is inhibited by antioxidant or lipid-lowering intervention during pregnancy: an experimental model of atherogenic mechanisms in human fetuses," *Circulation Research*, vol. 87, no. 10, pp. 946–952, 2000.
- [12] A. Montoudis, L. Simoneau, L. Brissette, J. Forest, R. Savard, and J. Lafond, "Impact of a cholesterol enriched diet on maternal and fetal plasma lipids and fetal deposition in pregnant rabbits," *Life Sciences*, vol. 64, no. 26, pp. 2439–2450, 1999.
- [13] O. Picone, P. Laigre, L. Fortun-Lamothe et al., "Hyperlipidic hypercholesterolemic diet in prepubertal rabbits affects gene expression in the embryo, restricts fetal growth and increases offspring susceptibility to obesity," *Theriogenology*, vol. 75, no. 2, pp. 287–299, 2011.
- [14] C. Napoli, F. de Nigris, J. S. Welch et al., "Maternal hypercholesterolemia during pregnancy promotes early atherogenesis in LDL receptor-deficient mice and alters aortic gene expression determined by microarray," *Circulation*, vol. 105, no. 11, pp. 1360–1367, 2002.
- [15] N. Goharkhay, E. Sbrana, P. K. Gamble et al., "Characterization of a murine model of fetal programming of atherosclerosis,"

American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, vol. 197, no. 4, pp. 416.e1–416.e5, 2007.

- [16] G. S. Getz and C. A. Reardon, "Diet and murine atherosclerosis," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 242–249, 2006.
- [17] N. Goharkhay, E. H. Tamayo, H. Yin, G. D. V. Hankins, G. R. Saade, and M. Longo, "Maternal hypercholesterolemia leads to activation of endogenous cholesterol synthesis in the offspring," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 199, no. 3, pp. 273.e1–273.e6, 2008.
- [18] K. K. S. Bhasin, A. van Nas, L. J. Martin, R. C. Davis, S. U. Devaskar, and A. J. Lusis, "Maternal low-protein diet or hypercholesterolemia reduces circulating essential amino acids and leads to intrauterine growth restriction," *Diabetes*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 559–566, 2009.
- [19] T. O. Scholl, X. Chen, M. Sims, and T. P. Stein, "Vitamin E: maternal concentrations are associated with fetal growth," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 1442– 1448, 2006.
- [20] M. Saker, N. Soulimane Mokhtari, S. A. Merzouk, H. Merzouk, B. Belarbi, and M. Narce, "Oxidant and antioxidant status in mothers and their newborns according to birthweight," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 141, no. 2, pp. 95–99, 2008.
- [21] W. Palinski and C. Napoli, "The fetal origins of atherosclerosis: Maternal hypercholesterolemia, and cholesterol-lowering or antioxidant treatment during pregnancy influence in utero programming and postnatal susceptibility to atherogenesis," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 1348–1360, 2002.
- [22] K. Hartvigsen, C. J. Binder, L. F. Hansen et al., "A diet-induced hypercholesterolemic murine model to study atherogenesis without obesity and metabolic syndrome," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 878–885, 2007.
- [23] M. R. Dilworth, L. C. Kusinski, B. C. Baker et al., "Defining fetal growth restriction in mice: a standardized and clinically relevant approach," *Placenta*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 914–916, 2011.
- [24] A. Jiménez, R. Fernández, N. Madrid-Bury et al., "Experimental demonstration that pre- and post-conceptional mechanisms influence sex ratio in mouse embryos," *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 162–165, 2003.
- [25] C. C. Allain, L. S. Poon, C. S. G. Chan, W. Richmond, and P. C. Fu, "Enzymatic determination of total serum cholesterol," *Clinical Chemistry*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 470–475, 1974.
- [26] C. L. Williams, J. L. Teeling, V. H. Perry, and T. P. Fleming, "Mouse maternal systemic inflammation at the zygote stage causes blunted cytokine responsiveness in lipopolysaccharidechallenged adult offspring," *BMC Biology*, vol. 9, article 49, 2011.
- [27] J. J. Eckert, R. Porter, A. J. Watkins et al., "Metabolic induction and early responses of mouse blastocyst developmental programming following maternal low protein diet affecting lifelong health," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 12, Article ID e52791, 2012.
- [28] K. M. Luzzo, Q. Wang, S. H. Purcell et al., "High fat diet induced developmental defects in the mouse: oocyte meiotic aneuploidy and fetal growth retardation/brain defects," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 11, Article ID e49217, 2012.
- [29] A. J. Watkins, E. S. Lucas, A. Wilkins, F. R. A. Cagampang, and T. P. Fleming, "Maternal periconceptional and gestational low protein diet affects mouse offspring growth, cardiovascular and adipose phenotype at 1 year of age," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 6, no. 12, Article ID e28745, 2011.

- [30] W. Y. Kwong, D. J. Miller, A. P. Wilkins et al., "Maternal low protein diet restricted to the preimplantation period induces a gender-specific change on hepatic gene expression in rat fetuses," *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 48–56, 2007.
- [31] N. Igosheva, A. Y. Abramov, L. Poston et al., "Maternal dietinduced obesity alters mitochondrial activity and redox status in mouse oocytes and zygotes," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 5, no. 4, Article ID e10074, 2010.
- [32] W. Y. Kwong, A. E. Wild, P. Roberts, A. C. Willis, and T. P. Fleming, "Maternal undernutrition during the preimplantation period of rat development causes blastocyst abnormalities and programming of postnatal hypertension," *Development*, vol. 127, no. 19, pp. 4195–4202, 2000.
- [33] T. Forsén, J. G. Eriksson, J. Tuomilehto, C. Osmond, and D. J. P. Barker, "Growth in utero and during childhood among women who develop coronary heart disease: longitudinal study," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 319, no. 7222, pp. 1403–1407, 1999.
- [34] J. G. Eriksson, E. Kajantie, C. Osmond, K. Thornburg, and D. J. P. Barker, "Boys live dangerously in the womb," *The American Journal of Human Biology*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 330–335, 2010.
- [35] F. Lu, E. Bytautiene, E. Tamayo et al., "Gender-specific effect of overexpression of sFlt-1 in pregnant mice on fetal programming of blood pressure in the offspring later in life," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 197, no. 4, pp. 418.e1– 418.e5, 2007.
- [36] J. S. Gilbert, S. P. Ford, A. L. Lang et al., "Nutrient restriction impairs nephrogenesis in a gender-specific manner in the ovine fetus," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 42–47, 2007.
- [37] D. O'Regan, C. J. Kenyon, J. R. Seckl, and M. C. Holmes, "Glucocorticoid exposure in late gestation in the rat permanently programs gender-specific differences in adult cardiovascular and metabolic physiology," *The American Journal of Physiology— Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 287, no. 5, pp. E863–E870, 2004.
- [38] L. E. Vos, A. Oren, M. L. Bots, W. H. M. Gorissen, D. E. Grobbee, and C. S. P. M. Uiterwaal, "Birth size and coronary heart disease risk score in young adulthood. The atherosclerosis risk in young adults (ARYA) study," *European Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 33–38, 2006.
- [39] U. Pecks, M. Brieger, B. Schiessl et al., "Maternal and fetal cord blood lipids in intrauterine growth restriction," *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 287–296, 2012.
- [40] C. Napoli, C. K. Glass, J. L. Witztum, R. Deutsch, F. P. D'Armiento, and W. Palinski, "Influence of maternal hypercholesterolaemia during pregnancy on progression of early atherosclerotic lesions in childhood: Fate of Early Lesions in Children (FELIC) study," *The Lancet*, vol. 354, no. 9186, pp. 1234–1241, 1999.
- [41] U. Pecks, W. Rath, R. Caspers et al., "Oxidatively modified LDL particles in the human placenta in early and late onset intrauterine growth restriction," *Placenta*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 1142–1149, 2013.
- [42] J. L. Stanley, I. J. Andersson, C. J. Hirt et al., "Effect of the antioxidant tempol on fetal growth in a mouse model of fetal growth restriction," *Biology of Reproduction*, vol. 87, no. 1, article 25, pp. 1–8, 2012.
- [43] S. Valastyan, V. Thakur, A. Johnson, K. Kumar, and D. Manor, "Novel transcriptional activities of vitamin E: inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis," *Biochemistry*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 744– 752, 2008.

- [44] T. Watkins, P. Lenz, A. Gapor, M. Struck, A. Tomeo, and M. Bierenbaum, "γ-Tocotrienol as a hypocholesterolemic and antioxidant agent in rats fed atherogenic diets," *Lipids*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 1113–1118, 1993.
- [45] R. J. Nicolosi, C. W. Lawton, and T. A. Wilson, "Vitamin E reduces plasma low density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL oxidation, and early aortic atherosclerosis compared with black tea in hypercholesterolemic hamsters," *Nutrition Research*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1201–1214, 1999.
- [46] J. Zingg and A. Azzi, "Non-antioxidant activities of vitamin E," *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 1113–1133, 2004.
- [47] D. Wu, L. Liu, M. Meydani, and S. N. Meydani, "Vitamin E increases production of vasodilator prostanoids in human aortic endothelial cells through opposing effects on cyclooxygenase-2 and phospholipase A2," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 135, no. 8, pp. 1847–1853, 2005.
- [48] K. Tran and A. C. Chan, "R,R,R-α-tocopherol potentiates prostacyclin release in human endothelial cells. Evidence for structural specificity of the tocopherol molecule," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta—Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, vol. 1043, no. 2, pp. 189–197, 1990.
- [49] H. D. Sesso, J. E. Buring, W. G. Christen et al., "Vitamins E and C in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in men: the physicians' health study II randomized controlled trial," *Journal* of the American Medical Association, vol. 300, no. 18, pp. 2123– 2133, 2008.
- [50] M. Shiomi, T. Koike, and T. Ishida, "Genetically modified animal models for lipoprotein research," in *Lipoproteins—Role in Health and Diseases*, S. Frank and G. Kostner, Eds., chapter 22, InTech, 2012.
- [51] J. L. Goldstein, T. Kita, and M. S. Brown, "Defective lipoprotein receptors and atherosclerosis. Lessons from an animal counterpart of familial hypercholesterolemia," *The New England Journal* of *Medicine*, vol. 309, no. 5, pp. 288–296, 1983.
- [52] S. Ishibashi, M. S. Brown, J. L. Goldstein, R. D. Gerard, R. E. Hammer, and J. Herz, "Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 883–893, 1993.
- [53] A. H. Lichtman, S. K. Clinton, K. Iiyama, P. W. Connelly, P. Libby, and M. I. Cybulsky, "Hyperlipidemia and atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor- deficient mice fed defined semipurified diets with and without cholate," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1938–1944, 1999.
- [54] G. Papacleovoulou, S. Abu-Hayyeh, E. Nikolopoulou et al., "Maternal cholestasis during pregnancy programs metabolic disease in offspring," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 123, no. 7, pp. 3172–3181, 2013.

Review Article

DNA Damage and Its Cellular Response in Mother and Fetus Exposed to Hyperglycemic Environment

Jusciele Brogin Moreli,¹ Janine Hertzog Santos,² Clarissa Ribeiro Rocha,³ Débora Cristina Damasceno,¹ Glilciane Morceli,¹ Marilza Vieira Rudge,¹ Estela Bevilacqua,⁴ and Iracema Mattos Paranhos Calderon^{1,5}

¹ Graduate Program in Gynecology, Obstetrics and Mastology, Botucatu Medical School, São Paulo State University (UNESP), SP, Brazil

² Laboratory of Molecular Carcinogenesis, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS), NC, USA

³ Department of Microbiology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, University of São Paulo (USP), SP, Brazil

⁴ Department of Cell and Developmental Biology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, USP, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

⁵ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Botucatu Medical School, São Paulo State University (UNESP), Distrito de Rubião Jr. s/n, 18618-000 Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Correspondence should be addressed to Iracema Mattos Paranhos Calderon; calderon@fmb.unesp.br

Received 14 March 2014; Revised 16 July 2014; Accepted 16 July 2014; Published 14 August 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Jusciele Brogin Moreli et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) plays a key role in pathogenesis of diabetic complications. ROS are generated by exogenous and endogenous factors such as during hyperglycemia. When ROS production exceeds the detoxification and scavenging capacity of the cell, oxidative stress ensues. Oxidative stress induces DNA damage and when DNA damage exceeds the cellular capacity to repair it, the accumulation of errors can overwhelm the cell resulting in cell death or fixation of genome mutations that can be transmitted to future cell generations. These mutations can lead to and/or play a role in cancer development. This review aims at (i) understanding the types and consequences of DNA damage during hyperglycemic pregnancy; (ii) identifying the biological role of DNA repair during pregnancy, and (iii) proposing clinical interventions to maintain genome integrity. While hyperglycemia can damage the maternal genetic material, the impact of hyperglycemia on fetal cells is still unclear. DNA repair mechanisms may be important to prevent the deleterious effects of hyperglycemia both in mother and in fetus DNA and, as such, prevent the development of diseases in adulthood. Hence, in clinical practice, maternal glycemic control may represent an important point of intervention to prevent the deleterious effects of maternal hyperglycemia to DNA.

1. Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a metabolic disease characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from a defect in insulin action and/or production [1]. In pregnancy, hyperglycemia poses a risk to maternal, fetal, and perinatal health [2–4]. Perinatal complications of a diabetic pregnancy include malformations, macrosomia, hypoxia, hypoglycemia, cardiomyopathy, hyperbilirubinemia, and hyperinsulinemia [3, 5–9]. The current literature acknowledges this adverse environment as associated with increased long-term risk for the development of diabetes, obesity, cardiovascular, and malignant diseases (Figure 1) [9–14]. Previous findings by our group have shown that maternal hyperglycemia is also adversely involved in fetal development by changing the placental production of proinflammatory cytokines, that is, TNF- α (tumor necrosis factor alpha) [15, 16]. The cellular redox status may be an important connection between inflammation and adverse perinatal outcomes in hyperglycemic pregnancies [17]. There is considerable evidence that hyperglycemia and inflammation results in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), ultimately leading to increased oxidative stress. In the absence of an appropriate antioxidant response, the system becomes overwhelmed leading to production of reactive molecules that can cause cellular damage and are responsible for the



FIGURE 1: Schematic representation of outcomes classically associated with hyperglycemic pregnancies. The representation does not show all possible relationships between the characteristics that are depicted. Adapted from Metzger et al. [75], Negrato et al. [11], and Fraser and Lawlor [52].

late complications of diabetes [17, 18]. During pregnancy the placenta is an additional source of ROS generation, contributing to oxidative stress even in normal pregnancies. This is increased in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia, intrauterine growth restriction, and pregestational diabetes where oxidative and nitrative stress have been clearly documented [19, 20].

Oxidative stress induces protein oxidation, lipid peroxidation, and DNA damage both in mitochondrial and nuclear DNA. Degradation processes can remove lipids and proteins but not DNA, which needs conversely to be repaired. When DNA damage exceeds the cellular capacity to repair it, the accumulation of errors can overwhelm the cell and result in cell death or the incorporation of genome mutations that can be transmitted to future cell generations if they occur in germ cells (Figure 2). In addition, mutations in somatic cells can promote genome instability and directly lead to various human diseases including cancer, neurological abnormalities, immunodeficiency, and premature aging [21–25].

Considering that hyperglycemia may alter genomic integrity and the consequences of this relationship to maternal and fetus genome is unclear, this review aims at (i) assessing the types and consequences of DNA damage during hyperglycemic pregnancy and lifelong risks, (ii) identifying the biological role of DNA repair during pregnancy, and (iii) proposing clinical interventions to maintain genome integrity.

2. Hyperglycemia-Induced Oxidative Stress and Its Effects on DNA Structure

Hyperglycemia causes many of the major complications of diabetes including nephropathy, retinopathy, neuropathy, and macro- and microvascular damage [1]. To date, there is emerging evidence that oxidative stress significantly contributes to the progression of diabetes and its complications and induces alterations in embryonic and fetal development during pregnancy [18, 26]. Li and collaborators [27] found that mothers with GDM and their newborns had higher levels of 8-Isoprostaglandin F2 α (an oxidative stress marker) than control group. Hyperglycemia induces ROS production during such processes as nonenzymatic glycosylation, increased generation of superoxide anion radical by the mitochondrial respiratory chain and the overactivation of NADPH oxidase (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase) [28, 29].

Overproduction of ROS is capable of altering the structure and function of all types of molecules including proteins, membrane lipids, and nucleic acids with serious consequences to cell viability [21, 30]. Different degradation processes can remove oxidized lipids and proteins. DNA, however, has to be repaired or in the case of mitochondrial DNA may even be removed. The latter is intrinsic to the various copies of mitochondrial genome present in each mitochondrion and the fact that many mitochondria populate a cell [21, 31]. ROS are able to induce DNA lesions as abasic sites (AP sites), single strand breaks, and double strand breaks and oxidize DNA bases. All four bases are susceptible to oxidative damage by ROS. However, due to the lower redox potential of guanine this base is more susceptible to oxidation [23, 30, 32]. The oxidized guanine (8-oxodG) has great biological importance as this is a mutagenic lesion that induces G-T transversions. It may also impair DNA replication and transcription and may be an intermediate for other types of lesions in DNA [23, 33].

Substantial evidence suggests that mitochondrial DNA may be more vulnerable than nuclear DNA to certain kinds of damage, in particular, ROS-mediated lesions [31, 34, 35].



FIGURE 2: Hyperglycemia and inflammation are able to increased ROS production. When ROS production exceeds the detoxification and scavenging capacity of the cell, oxidative stress ensues. Oxidative stress induces DNA damage and when DNA damage exceeds the cellular capacity to repair it, the accumulation of errors can overwhelm the cell resulting in apoptosis, cell senescence, or fixation of genome mutations that will be transmitted to future cell generations. These mutations can lead to and/or play a role in cancer development.

Several reasons may underline this affirmation, including the immediate proximity of mitochondrial DNA to the electron transport chain in the inner mitochondrial membrane, which is the main source of endogenous ROS production. In addition, the repair of mitochondrial DNA lesions occurs only via base excision repair and unlike the nuclear genome, the mitochondrial DNA is not protected by histones [31, 34, 35].

It is important to remember that the genomes of all organisms are constantly being modified by reactive molecules that are produced endogenously, primarily via mitochondrial respiration or by environmental/exogenous physical, chemical, and biological agents including ultraviolet light, ionizing radiation, heavy metals, air pollutants, chemotherapeutic drugs, and inflammatory responses [25, 36].

3. Hyperglycemia, DNA Damage, and Pregnancy: Results of Experimental and Clinical Studies

In nonpregnant context, the relationship between type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM),

and DNA damage is well established [42–48]. Little is known about DNA damage in pregnancy, especially in pregnancy complicated by pregestational (T1DM or T2DM) or gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) [7, 37–39, 41, 49].

Experimental studies conducted in our laboratory with streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats showed that the levels of basal DNA damage in leukocyte of mothers with severe diabetes (blood glucose $\geq 300 \text{ mg/dL}$) and their respective fetus was higher when compared with the control group [37, 38]. Subsequently, Lima et al. [7] demonstrated that rats with severe diabetes and their offspring showed higher oxidatively generated DNA damage in leukocyte detected by Fpg (formamidopyrimidine-DNA glycosylase) and endonuclease III-sensitive sites when compared to mild diabetes group (blood glucose levels between 120 and 299 mg/dL). Taken together, these experimental results suggest that the intensity of diabetes is related to the levels of oxidative DNA damage. Thus, hyperglycemia may have repercussions at the DNA level that go beyond the pregnant mother.

In a pilot study, Qiu and collaborators [39] evaluated, in early pregnancy, levels of urinary 8-oxodG trying to determine an association with the risk of GDM development. They observed that the risk for GDM was higher in overweight women with urine 8-oxodG concentrations \geq 8.01 ng/creatinine mg (OR = 5.36; 95% Cl 1.33–21.55) when compared with lean women who had 8-oxodG concentrations <8.01 ng/creatinine mg. Interestingly, levels of 8-oxodG in umbilical vein plasma in pregestational and control groups were reported to be similar [40].

Evaluation of telomere length is another way to estimate the stability of the genetic material. Telomeric length and telomerase activity (a reverse transcriptase that limits telomere attrition) were studied in mononuclear cells isolated from umbilical cord blood of pregnant women with pregestational diabetes (T1DM and T2DM) and GDM. No difference was found in cord blood telomere length in pregnancies of women with diabetes compared with control subjects, but higher telomerase activity was observed in Type 1 and GDM groups. The upregulation of telomerase may be a compensatory response to *in utero* oxidatively generated DNA and telomere damage [41].

Previous study demonstrated that telomerase is found in nuclei and mitochondria. Telomerase is able to decrease mitochondrial levels of ROS, especially in mitochondria [34, 50]. Recently, Li and collaborators [27] evaluated the mitochondrial translocation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) in mononuclear cells isolated from umbilical cord blood during pregnancies complicated by GDM with confirmed oxidative stress. They found that the ratio of mitochondrial/nuclei hTERT was increased significantly in the newborn of GDM mothers, suggesting that mitochondrial hTERT in cord blood mononuclear cells may have a protective effect on neonatal mitochondrial DNA in GDM pregnancies. The authors concluded that this dynamic translocation could be an in utero adaptive response of a fetus that is suffering from elevated oxidative stress and could help our understanding of the roles of oxidative stress in fetal programming.

Reference	Study type	Type of diabetes	Sample	Evaluation	Main results
[37]	Experimental	Severe	Maternal leukocytes	Comet assay	Basal DNA damage in severe diabetes
[38]	Experimental	Severe	Fetal leukocytes	Comet assay	Basal DNA damage in severe diabetes
[7]	Experimental	Mild and severe	Maternal and fetal leukocytes	Comet Assay with Fpg and Endo III enzymes*	Oxidative DNA damage in severe diabetes
[39]	Clinical	GDM	Maternal urine	8-oxodG levels	Elevated in early pregnancy that results in GDM
[40]	Clinical	Pregestational	Umbilical vein plasma	8-oxodG levels	No difference
[41]	Clinical	Pregestational and GDM	Cord blood mononuclear cell	Telomere length and telomerase activity	Telomerase activity higher in cord blood from T1DM and GDM
[27]	Clinical	GDM	Cord blood mononuclear cells	Mitochondrial translocation of hTERT	Increased mitochondrial hTERT levels in GDM

TABLE 1: Maternal and fetal DNA integrity in hyperglycemic environment.

GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus; hTERT: human telomerase reverse transcriptase. *The endonuclease III (Endo III) and formamidopyrimidine-DNA glycosylase (FPG) are enzymes used to detect oxidative DNA damage.

A few years ago, epigenetic processes have been suggested as a link between maternal pregnancy diabetes and longterm offspring outcomes. Epigenetic modifications, such as DNA methylation, regulate gene expression without altering the DNA sequence. These alterations occur in response to environmental stimuli [51–54]. Recent studies compared the levels of global methylation in the placenta and umbilical cord blood among women with and without gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, and obesity. They found that the mother's metabolic problems during pregnancy may influence the epigenome in the offspring [51]. del Rosario et al. [54] found that epigenetic changes (DNA methylation) may increase the risk of type 2 diabetes; studies support this association but research in this area is still inconclusive [52].

In summary, the results found in the literature indicate that maternal and fetal cells, especially mononuclear cells of blood, respond differently to the hyperglycemic environment (Table 1). While it is clear that hyperglycemia can damage the maternal genetic material, the results in umbilical cord blood (fetal cells) remain unclear. It seems that umbilical cord blood cells have more efficient mechanisms working to protect the genome. Future investigations on the mechanisms involved in genome protection in fetal cells as well as the role of epigenetic changes may shed new light on the outcome on offspring born from women with gestational diabetes.

4. DNA Repair Mechanisms Are Important to Maintain the Genetic Stability

To maintain genetic stability organisms possess cellular mechanisms collectively termed the DNA damage response (DDR) to detect DNA lesions and signal their presence and promote their repair. Cells with DDR defects display higher sensitivity toward DNA damaging agents and many such defects lead to mutagenesis, cytotoxicity, cell death, and disease. In fact, genomic instability and defects in DDR are known to play a role in disease processes such as carcinogenesis, neurodegenerative disorders, immune deficiencies, infertility, aging, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic syndrome [30, 55]. In this session we will focus on DNA repair.

To repair different types of DNA lesions the cell counts on a variety of proteins that presumably undergo crosstalk to form a network for protection of the cellular genome. [25, 56– 59].

Nucleotide excision repair (NER), mismatch repair (MMR), and base excision repair (BER) have been implicated in the repair of ROS-induced lesions in DNA. However, BER is the main mechanism involved in the removal of these lesions in nuclear DNA and is the unique mechanism demonstrated for mitochondria damaged DNA [31, 34, 35, 60]. BER predominantly repairs oxidized bases, AP sites, and single strand breaks. In general, BER initiates with the action of a DNA glycosylase that is able to remove the damaged base resulting in an AP site. The AP site is then cleaved by the AP-endonuclease, allowing the DNA polymerase (β in the nucleus or gamma in the mitochondria) to synthesize the repair patch. The latter is relegated based on DNA ligase III activity [60].

5. The Possible Role of DNA Repair during Pregnancy and Diabetes Disease

Studies have demonstrated the importance of DNA repair genes in pregnancy and perinatal development. Patients with mutations in XPD (Xeroderma pigmentosum D) and GTF2H5 (general transcription factor IIH, polypeptide 5), genes involved in the NER pathway and in transcriptioncouple repair, have the DNA repair diseases: trichothiodystrophy (TTD), xeroderma pigmentosum (XP), Cockayne syndrome (CS), cerebro-ocular facial syndrome (COFS), or a combination [24, 61, 62]. The pregnancies in which the fetus had TTD were at significantly increased risk of preeclampsia, HELLP (hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelet count) syndrome, and elevated mid-trimester maternal serum human chorionic gonadotropin levels. The affected fetus had decreased fetal movement and preterm delivery with higher index of small for gestational age fetus [63]. The authors hypothesized that mutations observed in TTD patients affect placental development. Two years later, the same group revealed that only a specific subset of XPD mutations, which lead to TTD but are unrelated to XP, results in higher risk to develop preeclampsia and other gestational complications [64]. A functional polymorphism (199 Arg-399Gln) in XRCC1 (X-ray repair complementing defective repair in Chinese hamster cells 1), a gene involved in the BER pathway, showed higher frequency among patients with preeclampsia (OR 1.65; 95% CI 1.23–2.19) in an Iranian population [65]. However, this polymorphism was not associated with T2DM in a Polish population [66].

DNA repair was evaluated in lymphocytes of nonpregnant patients with T1DM and T2DM [45, 46]. The results of Blasiak et al. [45] suggest that T2DM may be associated not only with elevated levels of oxidative DNA damage but also with decreased efficacy of DNA repair. In an elegant study Pácal et al. [46] compared DNA damage and repair in lymphocytes of T1DM children, T1DM adults, and T2DM adults. The T2DM diabetics exhibited a significant increase in DNA damage and decreased DNA repair capacity when compared with T1DM (both children and adults). T1DM children displayed a significant decrease of DNA damage and increase in DNA repair when compared with diabetic adults (both T2DM and T1DM). These findings indicate significant age- and DM type-related changes of DNA damage and repair capacity in diabetic subjects.

In summary, the data available suggest that DNA repair mechanisms are involved in the long-term consequences of diabetes in T1DM and T2DM subjects. In pregnancy, DNA repair genes may affect the harmony of maternal-fetal interface resulting in adverse perinatal results.

6. Diabetes and Cancer

Epidemiologic evidence suggests that diabetic patients are at significantly higher risk for many types of cancer. T2DM, GDM, and cancer share many risks factors but potential biological links between the two diseases are unclear [67, 68]. Meta-analyses have reported an increased risk of liver, pancreatic, renal, endometrial, colorectal, bladder, and breast cancer as well as an increase in the incidence of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in T2DM subjects [68]. For those with T2DM compared with those without diabetes, the greatest increase in risk is for hepatocellular carcinoma (RR 2.5; 95% CI 1.8-3.5), with the relative risk for cancer at other sites being between 1.18 (95% CI 1.05-1.32) for breast cancer and 2.22 (95% CI 1.8-2.74) for endometrial cancer in those with diabetes [68, 69]. A prospective cohort study with 37.926 women in Jerusalem observed no cases of pancreatic cancer in the women with T1DM; however, women with a history of GDM showed a relative risk of pancreatic cancer of 7.1 (95% confidence interval 2.8-18.0) [70]. Similar results were observed with a late cohort in Israel [71]. In addition to the relationship between GDM and pancreatic cancer, the authors observed an increased risk of hematologic malignancies like non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma,

and acute myeloid leukemia in the same population [71]. A relationship between GDM and breast cancer was found in a New Zealand population, but when studying the U.S. population this association was not observed [72, 73].

Experts assembled jointly by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the American Cancer Society (ACS) reviewed the possible biological links between diabetes and cancer risk. They suggested that diabetes may influence the neoplastic process by several mechanisms, including hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia, or chronic inflammation without reference to DNA damage and repair [67]. However, the increase in DNA damage and decrease in DNA repair observed in T2DM subjects may provide a new link between diabetes and cancer [45, 60, 74].

7. Proposed Clinical Intervention Strategy for Maintenance of Genomic Integrity

7.1. Control of Maternal Hyperglycemia. Maternal hyperglycemia is able to induce fetal hyperglycemia [1, 4] (Figure 1), increase the release of proinflammatory cytokines [15, 16], and ROS production [17, 18] (Figure 2). Thus, it appears that maternal glycemic control during hyperglycemic pregnancies is an old and safe strategy to assure maintenance of genomic integrity. Clinical studies have already demonstrated the benefits of maternal glycemic control during pregnancy and how to maintain optimal glucose levels without gestational risk [75, 76].

Nonpregnant adults with diabetes and pregnant women with GDM or pregestational diabetes (T1DM or T2DM) presented different glycemic recommendations [1]. During pregnancy, the glycemic limits are stricter than in nonpregnant state to prevent alteration in both maternal and fetal health [1, 75, 76]. Based on recommendations from the Fifth International Workshop-Conference on Gestational Diabetes Mellitus [77] and ADA's statement [1] it is important to maintain maternal capillary glucose concentrations at <95 mg/dL (<5.3 mmol/L) in the fasting state, <140 mg/dL (<7.8 mmol/L) at 1 h, and <120 mg/dL (<6.7 mmol/L) 2 h after starting the meal. For women with overt diabetes who become pregnant, the optimal glycemic goals are premeal, bedtime, and overnight glucose between 60 and 99 mg/dL (3.3–5.4 mmol/L) and peak postprandial glucose between 100 and 129 mg/dL (5.4-7.1 mmol/L) and HbA1C of 6.0% [78].

Diet therapy, control of weight gain, and increasing physical activity are the standard treatment of GDM [77]. Insulin administration is only performed for pregnant women who fail to maintain glycemic goals as well as to the ones who show signs of excessive fetal growth or overt diabetes. It is recommended that insulin administration be individualized to achieve the glycemic goals stated [77]. During the last decade, there was an increased interest in the use of oral antihyperglycemic agents as an alternative to insulin in achieving good glycemic control. However, the results are inconclusive [79, 80].

7.2. Antioxidant Supplementation during Pregnancy. Antioxidant supplementation is a questionable strategy during pregnancy. The effects of vitamin C supplementation, alone or in combination with other supplements, have been evaluated on pregnancy outcomes. No difference was seen in the risk of stillbirth, perinatal death, birth weight, or intrauterine growth restriction between women supplemented with vitamin C alone or in combination with other supplements and placebo. In fact, women supplemented with vitamin C alone or combined with other supplements were at increased risk of giving preterm birth [81]. The same researchers also determined the effectiveness and safety of any vitamin supplementation on the risk of spontaneous miscarriage, maternal adverse outcomes, and fetal and infant adverse outcomes. The results indicated that vitamin supplements, alone or in combination, prior to pregnancy or in early pregnancy, did not prevent miscarriage or stillbirth. However, it was found that women taking vitamin supplements were less likely to develop preeclampsia while more likely to have multiple pregnancies [82, 83]. Mothers that have taken antioxidant supplementation during pregnancy had decreased frequency of micronucleus (a test used to quantify chromosomal damage) in peripheral blood mononuclear cells prior to and after hydrogen peroxide exposure. The additional antioxidants intake during pregnancy was also beneficial to reduce the frequency of micronucleus after hydrogen peroxide exposure in cord blood cells. The data demonstrated a positive effect of antioxidant supplementation on micronucleus frequency [84]. Experimental results in a model of diabetic pregnancy indicate that high doses of dietary antioxidants were need to normalize the development of offspring. However, treatment with such high doses may also have adverse effects in nondiabetic pregnancy [85].

It is clear based on the above findings that results about antioxidant supplementation during pregnancy are still inconclusive, and little is known about their impact at the DNA level. Despite this fact, taken together the data support the notion that maternal glycemic control is a good and safe plan to reduce the factors associated to genomic instability in hyperglycemic pregnancy.

8. Conclusions

Although it is clear that hyperglycemia can damage the maternal genetic material, the results obtained for cord blood are not yet clear. The data seem to support the hypothesis that umbilical cord blood cells have more efficient mechanisms to protect the genome than the mother's cells. DNA repair may be thus considered an important mechanism to prevent the deleterious effects of hyperglycemia in the genetic material. However, functional studies demonstrating the ability of DNA repair mechanisms in dealing with insults resulting from hyperglycemia during pregnancy need to be developed. For the time being, the control of maternal hyperglycemia seems a safe and important strategy to prevent the deleterious effects of hyperglycemia on maternal and potentially fetal DNA.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Authors' Contribution

All authors equally participated in the development of this paper. All authors also read and approved the final paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) (Grant no. 2011/18240-2, 2011/13562-1, and 2012/23296-0). The authors would like to thank Carlos Frederico Martins Menck for scientific support.

References

- American Diabetes Association (ADA), "Standards of medical care in Diabetes," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 37, pp. S14–S80, 2014.
- [2] U. J. Eriksson, "Congenital anomalies in diabetic pregnancy," Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 85– 93, 2009.
- [3] M. V. C. Rudge, I. M. P. Calderon, M. D. Ramos et al., "Hiperglicemia materna diária diagnosticada pelo perfil glicêmico: um problema de saúde pública materno e perinatal," *Revista Brasileira de Ginecologia e Obstetrícia*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 691– 697, 2005.
- [4] J. Yang, E. A. Cummings, C. O'Connell, and K. Jangaard, "Fetal and neonatal outcomes of diabetic pregnancies," *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 108, no. 3, part 1, pp. 644–650, 2006.
- [5] J. G. Eriksson, T. J. Forsen, C. Osmond, and D. J. P. Barker, "Pathways of infant and childhood growth that lead to type 2 diabetes," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 26, no. 11, pp. 3006–3010, 2003.
- [6] I. M. P. Calderon, L. T. R. L. Kerche, D. C. Damasceno, and M. V. C. Rudge, "Diabetes and pregnancy: an update of the problem," *Annual Review of Biomedical Sciences*, vol. 9, pp. 1–11, 2007.
- [7] P. H. O. Lima, Y. K. Sinzato, R. B. Gelaleti, I. M. P. Calderon, M. V. C. Rudge, and D. C. Damasceno, "Genotoxicity evaluation in severe or mild diabetic pregnancy in laboratory animals," *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes*, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 303–307, 2012.
- [8] E. M. Wendland, M. R. Torloni, M. Falavigna et al., "Gestational diabetes and pregnancy outcomes—a systematic review of the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Association of Diabetes in Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) diagnostic criteria," *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, vol. 12, article 23, 2012.
- [9] H. Lehnen, U. Zechner, and T. Haaf, "Epigenetics of gestational diabetes mellitus and offspring health: the time for action is in early stages of life," *Molecular Human Reproduction*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 415–422, 2013.
- [10] A. Ornoy, "Prenatal origin of obesity and their complications: gestational diabetes, maternal overweight and the paradoxical effects of fetal growth restriction and macrosomia," *Reproductive Toxicology*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 205–212, 2011.
- [11] C. A. Negrato, R. Mattar, and M. B. Gomes, "Adverse pregnancy outcomes in women with diabetes," *Diabetology and Metabolic Syndrome*, vol. 4, article 41, 2012.
- [12] C. S. Wu, E. A. Nohr, B. H. Bech, M. Vestergaard, and J. Olsen, "Long-term health outcomes in children born to mothers with diabetes: a population-based cohort study," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 5, Article ID e36727, 2012.
- [13] S. Brewster, B. Zinman, R. Retnakaran, and J. S. Floras, "Cardiometabolic consequences of gestational dysglycemia," *Journal*
of the American College of Cardiology, vol. 62, no. 8, pp. 677–684, 2013.

- [14] N. A. West, K. Kechris, and D. Dabelea, "Exposure to maternal diabetes in Utero and DNA methylation patterns in the offspring," *Immunometabolism*, vol. 1, pp. 1–9, 2013.
- [15] J. B. Moreli, G. Morceli, A. K. C. De Luca et al., "Influence of maternal hyperglycemia on IL-10 and TNF-α production: the relationship with perinatal outcomes," *Journal of Clinical Immunology*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 604–610, 2012.
- [16] J. B. Moreli, S. Corrêa-Silva, D. C. Damasceno et al., "Dynamics changes in the TNF-alpha/IL-10 ratio in hyperglycemicassociated pregnancies," Under review.
- [17] J. L. Evans, I. D. Goldfine, B. A. Maddux, and G. M. Grodsky, "Oxidative stress and stress-activated signaling pathways: a unifying hypothesis of type 2 diabetes," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 599–622, 2002.
- [18] D. C. Damasceno, G. T. Volpato, I. de Mattos Paranhos Calderon, and M. V. Cunha Rudge, "Oxidative stress and diabetes in pregnant rats," *Animal Reproduction Science*, vol. 72, no. 3-4, pp. 235–244, 2002.
- [19] A. Agarwal, S. Gupta, and S. Sikka, "The role of free radicals and antioxidants in reproduction," *Current Opinion in Obstetrics* and Gynecology, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 325–332, 2006.
- [20] L. Myatt, "Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and functional adaptation of the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 31, pp. S66–S69, 2010.
- [21] C. M. Berra, C. F. M. Menck, and P. Di Mascio, "Oxidative stress, genome lesions and signaling pathways in cell cycle control," *Quimica Nova*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 1340–1344, 2006.
- [22] S. Lagerwerf, M. G. Vrouwe, R. M. Overmeer, M. I. Fousteri, and L. H. F. Mullenders, "DNA damage response and transcription," *DNA Repair*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 743–750, 2011.
- [23] L. F. Agnez-Lima, J. T. A. Melo, A. E. Silva et al., "DNA damage by singlet oxygen and cellular protective mechanisms," *Mutation Research*, vol. 751, no. 1, pp. 15–28, 2012.
- [24] M. C. S. Moraes, J. B. C. Neto, and C. F. M. Menck, "DNA repair mechanisms protect our genome from carcinogenesis," *Frontiers in Bioscience*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 1362–1388, 2012.
- [25] T. Iyama and D. M. Wilson III, "DNA repair mechanisms in dividing and non-dividing cells," *DNA Repair*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 620–636, 2013.
- [26] P. Rösen, P. P. Nawroth, G. King, W. Möller, H. J. Tritschler, and L. Packer, "The role of oxidative stress in the onset and progression of diabetes and its complications: a summary of a congress series sponsored by UNESCO-MCBN, the American diabetes association and the German diabetes society," *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 189– 212, 2001.
- [27] P. Li, Y. Tong, H. Yang et al., "Mitochondrial translocation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase in cord blood mononuclear cells of newborns with gestational diabetes mellitus mothers," *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, vol. 103, pp. 310– 318, 2014.
- [28] M. Brownlee, "Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications," *Nature*, vol. 414, no. 6865, pp. 813–820, 2001.
- [29] D. H. Endemann and E. L. Schiffrin, "Nitric oxide, oxidative excess, and vascular complications of diabetes mellitus," *Current Hypertension Reports*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 85–89, 2004.
- [30] S. P. Jackson and J. Bartek, "The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease," *Nature*, vol. 461, no. 7267, pp. 1071– 1078, 2009.

- [31] O. A. Kovalenko and J. H. Santos, "Analysis of oxidative damage by gene-specific quantitative PCR," in *Current Protocols in Human Genetics*, chapter 19, unit 19.1, 2009.
- [32] S. Steenken, "Electron transfer in DNA? Competition by ultrafast proton transfer?" *Biological Chemistry*, vol. 378, no. 11, pp. 1293–1297, 1997.
- [33] M. Dizdaroglu, "Oxidatively induced DNA damage: mechanisms, repair and disease," *Cancer Letters*, vol. 327, no. 1-2, pp. 26–47, 2012.
- [34] J. H. Santos, J. N. Meyer, B. S. Mandavilli, and B. van Houten, "Quantitative PCR-based measurement of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA damage and repair in mammalian cells," *Methods in Molecular Biology*, vol. 314, pp. 183–199, 2006.
- [35] B. van Houten, V. Woshner, and J. H. Santos, "Role of mitochondrial DNA in toxic responses to oxidative stress," *DNA Repair*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 145–152, 2006.
- [36] T. Lindahl, "Instability and decay of the primary structure of DNA," *Nature*, vol. 362, no. 6422, pp. 709–715, 1993.
- [37] P. H. O. Lima, Y. K. Sinzato, M. D. S. S. de Souza, M. G. Braz, M. V. C. Rudge, and D. C. Damasceno, "Evaluation of level of DNA damage in blood leukocytes of non-diabetic and diabetic rat exposed to cigarette smoke," *Mutation Research*, vol. 628, no. 2, pp. 117–122, 2007.
- [38] P. H. O. Lima, D. C. Damasceno, Y. K. Sinzato et al., "Levels of DNA damage in blood leukocyte samples from non-diabetic and diabetic female rats and their fetuses exposed to air or cigarette smoke," *Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis*, vol. 653, no. 1-2, pp. 44–49, 2008.
- [39] C. Qiu, K. Hevner, D. Abetew, D. A. Enquobahrie, and M. A. Williams, "Oxidative DNA damage in early pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a pilot study," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 44, no. 10-11, pp. 804–808, 2011.
- [40] J. Verhaeghe, R. van Bree, and E. van Herck, "Oxidant balance markers at birth in relation to glycemicand acid-base parameters," *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 71–77, 2011.
- [41] J. A. Cross, R. C. Temple, J. C. Hughes et al., "Cord blood telomere length, telomerase activity and inflammatory markers in pregnancies in women with diabetes or gestational diabetes," *Diabetic Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 1264–1270, 2010.
- [42] A. R. Collins, K. Raslová, M. Somorovská et al., "DNA damage in diabetes: correlations with a clinical marker," *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 373–377, 1998.
- [43] Y. Dinçer, T. Akçay, H. Ilkova, Z. Alademir, and G. Özbay, "DNA damage and antioxidant defense in peripheral leukocytes of patients with Type I diabetes mellitus," *Mutation Research*, vol. 527, no. 1-2, pp. 49–55, 2003.
- [44] V. Pitozzi, L. Giovannelli, G. Bardini, C. M. Rotella, and P. Dolara, "Oxidative DNA damage in peripheral blood cells in type 2 diabetes mellitus: higher vulnerability of polymorphonuclear leukocytes," *Mutation Research*, vol. 529, no. 1-2, pp. 129–133, 2003.
- [45] J. Blasiak, M. Arabski, R. Krupa et al., "DNA damage and repair in type 2 diabetes mellitus," *Mutation Research*, vol. 554, no. 1-2, pp. 297–304, 2004.
- [46] L. Pácal, J. Varvařovská, Z. Rušavý et al., "Parameters of oxidative stress, DNA damage and DNA repair in type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus," *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry*, vol. 117, pp. 222–230, 2011.
- [47] E. Tatsch, G. V. Bochi, S. J. Piva et al., "Association between DNA strand breakage and oxidative, inflammatory and endothelial

biomarkers in type 2 diabetes," *Mutation Research*, vol. 732, no. 1-2, pp. 16–20, 2012.

- [48] M. Witczak, T. Ferenc, E. Gulczynska, D. Nowakowska, D. Lopaczynska, and J. Wilczynski, "Elevated frequencies of micronuclei in pregnant women with type 1 diabetes mellitus and in their newborns," *Mutat Res*, pp. S1383–5718, 2014.
- [49] M. T. Goodarzi, A. A. Navidi, M. Rezaei, and H. Babahmadi-Rezaei, "Oxidative damage to DNA and lipids: correlation with protein glycation in patients with type 1 diabetes," *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 72–76, 2010.
- [50] N. K. Sharma, M. Lebedeva, T. Thomas et al., "Intrinsic mitochondrial DNA repair defects in Ataxia Telangiectasia," *DNA Repair*, vol. 13, pp. 22–31, 2014.
- [51] Y. Nomura, L. Lambertini, A. Rialdi et al., "Global methylation in the placenta and umbilical cord blood from pregnancies with maternal gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, and obesity," *Reproductive Sciences*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 131–137, 2014.
- [52] A. Fraser and D. A. Lawlor, "Long-term health outcomes in offspring born to women with diabetes in pregnancy," *Current Diabetes Reports*, vol. 14, article 489, 2014.
- [53] S. M. Ruchat, M. F. Hivert, and L. Bouchard, "Epigenetic programming of obesity and diabetes by in utero exposure to gestational diabetes mellitus," *Nutrition Reviews*, vol. 71, supplement 1, pp. S88–S94, 2013.
- [54] M. C. del Rosario, V. Ossowski, W. C. Knowler, C. Bogardus, L. J. Baier, and R. L. Hanson, "Potential epigenetic dysregulation of genes associated with MODY and type 2 diabetes in humans exposed to a diabetic intrauterine environment: an analysis of genome-wide DNA methylation," *Metabolism*, vol. 63, pp. 654–660, 2014.
- [55] J. W. Harper and S. J. Elledge, "The DNA damage response: ten years after," *Molecular Cell*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 739–745, 2007.
- [56] C. R. R. Rocha, L. K. Lerner, O. K. Okamoto, M. C. Marchetto, and C. F. M. Menck, "The role of DNA repair in the pluripotency and differentiation of human stem cells," *Mutation Research*, vol. 752, no. 1, pp. 25–35, 2013.
- [57] J. H. Hoeijmakers, "Genome maintenance mechanisms for preventing cancer," *Nature*, vol. 411, no. 6835, pp. 366–374, 2001.
- [58] E. C. Friedberg, "A brief history of the DNA repair field," *Cell Research*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 3–7, 2008.
- [59] E. C. Friedberg, "DNA damage and repair," *Nature*, vol. 421, no. 6921, pp. 436–440, 2003.
- [60] S. Mitra, I. Boldogh, T. Izumi, and T. K. Hazra, "Complexities of the DNA base excision repair pathway for repair of oxidative DNA damage," *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, vol. 38, pp. 180–190, 2001.
- [61] J. M. Graham Jr., K. Anyane-Yeboa, A. Raams et al., "Cerebrooculo-facio-skeletal syndrome with a nucleotide excisionrepair defect and a mutated XPD gene, with prenatal diagnosis in a triplet pregnancy," *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 291–300, 2001.
- [62] A. R. Lehmann, "DNA repair-deficient diseases, xeroderma pigmentosum, Cockayne syndrome and trichothiodystrophy," *Biochimie*, vol. 85, no. 11, pp. 1101–1111, 2003.
- [63] R. Moslehi, C. Signore, D. Tamura et al., "Adverse effects of trichothiodystrophy DNA repair and transcription gene disorder on human fetal development," *Clinical Genetics*, vol. 77, no. 4, pp. 365–373, 2010.
- [64] R. Moslehi, A. Kumar, J. L. Mills, X. Ambroggio, C. Signore, and A. Dzutsev, "Phenotype-specific adverse effects of XPD mutations on human prenatal development implicate impairment

of TFIIH-mediated functions in placenta," *European Journal of Human Genetics*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 626–631, 2012.

- [65] I. Saadat, Z. Beyzaei, F. Aghaei, S. Kamrani, and M. Saadat, "Association between polymorphisms in DNA repair genes (XRCC1 and XRCC7) and risk of preeclampsia.," *Archives of* gynecology and obstetrics, vol. 286, no. 6, pp. 1459–1462, 2012.
- [66] J. Kasznicki, R. Krupa, J. Błasiak, and J. Drzewoski, "Association between polymorphisms of the DNA repair genes XRCC1 and hOGG1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus in the polish population," *Polskie Archiwum Medycyny Wewnetrznej*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 122–128, 2009.
- [67] E. Giovannucci, D. M. Harlan, M. C. Archer et al., "Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 1674–1685, 2010.
- [68] Z. Zelenko and E. J. Gallagher, "Diabetes and cancer," *Endocrinology Metabolism Clinics of North America*, vol. 43, pp. 167–185, 2014.
- [69] P. Vigneri, F. Frasca, L. Sciacca, G. Pandini, and R. Vigneri, "Diabetes and cancer," *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 1103–1123, 2009.
- [70] M. C. Perrin, M. B. Terry, K. Kleinhaus et al., "Gestational diabetes as a risk factor for pancreatic cancer: a prospective cohort study," *BMC Medicine*, vol. 5, article 25, 2007.
- [71] T. Sella, G. Chodick, M. Barchana et al., "Gestational diabetes and risk of incident primary cancer: a large historical cohort study in israel," *Cancer Causes and Control*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 1513–1520, 2011.
- [72] R. Troisi, H. A. Weiss, R. N. Hoover et al., "Pregnancy characteristics and maternal risk of breast cancer," *Epidemiology*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 641–647, 1998.
- [73] S. I. Dawson, "Long-term risk of malignant neoplasm associated with gestational glucose intolerance," *Cancer*, vol. 100, no. 1, pp. 149–155, 2004.
- [74] T. B. Kryston, A. B. Georgiev, P. Pissis, and A. G. Georgakilas, "Role of oxidative stress and DNA damage in human carcinogenesis," *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, vol. 711, no. 1-2, pp. 193–201, 2011.
- [75] B. E. Metzger, L. P. Lowe, A. R. Dyer et al., "Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. The HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 358, pp. 1991–2002, 2008.
- [76] American Diabetes Association (ADA), "International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy (consensus panel)," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 676–682, 2010.
- [77] B. E. Metzger, T. A. Buchanan, D. R. Coustan et al., "Summary and recommendations of the Fifth international workshop conference on gestational diabetes mellitus," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 30, supplement 2, pp. S251–S260, 2007.
- [78] J. L. Kitzmiller, J. M. Block, F. M. Brown et al., "Managing preexisting diabetes for pregnancy: summary of evidence and consensus recommendations for care," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 1060–1079, 2008.
- [79] P. Merlob, O. Levitt, and B. Stahl, "Oral antihyperglycemic agents during pregnancy and lactation: a review," *Pediatric Drugs*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 755–760, 2002.
- [80] K. Castorino and L. Jovanovič, "Pregnancy and diabetes management: advances and controversies," *Clinical Chemistry*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 221–230, 2011.

- [81] A. Rumbold and C. A. Crowther, "Vitamin C supplementation in pregnancy," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Article ID CD004072, 2005.
- [82] A. R. Rumbold, F. H. E. Maats, and C. A. Crowther, "Dietary intake of vitamin C and vitamin E and the development of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 67–71, 2005.
- [83] J. A. Spinnato II, S. Freire, J. L. Pinto E Silva et al., "Antioxidant therapy to prevent preeclampsia: a randomized controlled trial," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 110, no. 6, pp. 1311–1318, 2007.
- [84] I. Decordier, K. de Bont, K. de Bock et al., "Genetic susceptibility of newborn daughters to oxidative stress," *Toxicology Letters*, vol. 172, no. 1-2, pp. 68–84, 2007.
- [85] J. Cederberg and U. J. Eriksson, "Antioxidative treatment of pregnant diabetic rats diminishes embryonic dysmorphogenesis," *Birth Defects Research A: Clinical and Molecular Teratology*, vol. 73, no. 7, pp. 498–505, 2005.

Research Article

Effect of Hypoxia on the Calcium and Magnesium Content, Lipid Peroxidation Level, and Ca²⁺-ATPase Activity of Syncytiotrophoblast Plasma Membranes from Placental Explants

Delia I. Chiarello,¹ Reinaldo Marín,¹ Fulgencio Proverbio,¹ Zully Benzo,² Sandy Piñero,¹ Desirée Botana,¹ and Cilia Abad¹

¹ Laboratorio de Bioenergética Celular, Centro de Biofísica y Bioquímica, Instituto Venezolano de Investigaciones Científicas (IVIC), IVIC-CBB, Apartado Postal 21827, Caracas 1020A, Venezuela

² Laboratorio de Química Analítica, Centro de Química, Instituto Venezolano de Investigaciones Científicas (IVIC), Apartado Postal 21827, Caracas 1020A, Venezuela

Correspondence should be addressed to Cilia Abad; cabad@ivic.gob.ve

Received 27 March 2014; Revised 22 July 2014; Accepted 23 July 2014; Published 7 August 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Delia I. Chiarello et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

In the current study the possible relationship between the Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} ratio of human syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes and their lipid peroxidation and Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity was determined. Syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes of placental explants cultured under hypoxia increased their lipid peroxidation and Ca^{2+} content, diminished their Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity, and kept their Mg^{2+} content unchanged. Membranes preincubated with different concentrations of Ca^{2+} increased their Ca^{2+} content without changes in their Mg^{2+} content. There is a direct relationship between Ca^{2+} content and lipid peroxidation of the membranes, as well as an inverse relationship between their Ca^{2+} content without changing their lipid peroxidation and Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity. Explants cultured under hypoxia in the presence of 4 mM MgSO₄ showed similar values of lipid peroxidation and Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity of their membranes compared to those of explants cultured under normoxia. Increased Ca^{2+} content of the membranes by interacting with negatively charged phospholipids could result in destabilizing effects of the membrane structure, exposing hydrocarbon chains of fatty acids to the action of free radicals. Mg^{2+} might exert a stabilizing effect of the membranes, avoiding their exposure to free radicals.

1. Introduction

Preeclampsia is a clinical syndrome characterized by vascular endothelial damage, hypertension, proteinuria, edema, generalized arteriolar vasospasm, and a state of oxidative stress [1]. One of the primary events in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia is reduced trophoblast invasion, which results in deficient conversion of the uterine spiral arteries during placentation [2]. This event, widely accepted as a key feature in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia, leads to a reduced placental perfusion and therefore to hypoxia, which has been linked to oxidative stress [3], a condition occurring when the body's antioxidant defenses are overwhelmed by the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS can promote lipid peroxidation and vascular endothelial damage, which are commonly seen with preeclampsia [4, 5]. The placenta is considered to be the principal source of ROS in preeclamptic women, but maternal leukocytes and endothelium are also likely contributors [6].

Interaction of ROS with lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates of the plasma membranes can increase their level of lipid peroxidation, thus decreasing their fluidity and the activity of membrane enzymes [7]. Particularly, the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase (PMCA) is dependent upon lipid-protein interactions, and its activity is greatly affected by the level of lipid peroxidation in its environment [8–12]. Incubation of placental tissue under hypoxic conditions, which occurs with preeclampsia, induces oxidative stress, the release of proinflammatory cytokines, and trophoblast cell death [13–16]. Consequently, incubation of placental villous fragments in hypoxia has been used as placental model of preeclampsia and also serves as a good source of placental lipid peroxides [17].

Interestingly, tissues maintained under periods of hypoxia increase their intracellular calcium [18], an effect that is worsened when the activity of the PMCA is decreased [17]. Higher intracellular calcium concentrations could increase the calcium content of the cell membranes, and then the ion, acting as an amplifier, could enhance their mechanisms of lipid peroxidation. It has been reported that calcium is able to alter the stability of macrophage plasma membranes, making them more sensitive to photoperoxidation by UV light [19].

Kisters and collaborators [20] observed a lower content of Mg^{2+} and a higher content of Ca^{2+} in membranes of red blood cells from preeclamptic pregnant women, as compared with the red blood cells of uncomplicated pregnant women. These alterations could lead to interactions of these ions with membrane components, resulting in modifications of the lipid microenvironment that interacts with membrane transporters. It is well known that the interaction of metal cations and lipids has a significant impact on membrane properties, such as the area per lipid or chain ordering [21].

In the current study, we incubated syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes with different concentrations of $CaCl_2$ and MgSO₄, in order to modify their Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} ratio. In addition, syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes were prepared from placental explants cultured under either normoxic or hypoxic conditions, in order to evaluate possible changes in the Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} ratio of their cell membranes. The results were used to try to establish a relationship between the Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} ratio, the lipid peroxidation, and the PMCA activity of the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Placenta Collection. Term placentas obtained from uncomplicated (normal) pregnant women were collected immediately after delivery from the "Concepción Palacios" Maternity Hospital, Caracas, Venezuela, and transported to our laboratory on ice. All the women participated in this study in accordance with the ethical standards established by the Declaration of Helsinki. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of "Concepción Palacios" Maternity and the Bioethics Committee of IVIC and all women gave signed informed consent. Patients were followed from the time of admission and then before and after delivery. All of the pregnant women enrolled in the study were nulliparous, gave birth by vaginal delivery, belonged to urban population of Caracas, and had similar demographic backgrounds. They had no history of hypertension or proteinuria during the pregnancy and gestational age was estimated from the date of the last menstrual period and confirmed by ultrasonography. The characteristic averages of the participating pregnant women are shown in Table 1.

TABLE 1: Clinical data from uncomplicated pregnant women.

	Averages
Number of pregnant women	10
Maternal age (yr)	21.6 ± 3.7
Percent nulliparous	100
Mean blood pressure at delivery (mmHg)	83.5 ± 3.3
Gestational weeks at delivery	39.9 ± 0.7
Birth weight (g)	2973 ± 156
Placental weight (g)	522 ± 37
Vaginal delivery (%)	100

Data are shown as mean \pm S.E. Dichotomous variables are given as a percentage.

Criteria for exclusion from the study were a history of hypertension, diabetes, Ca^{2+} metabolism disorders or any other chronic medical illness, or over 1 g of supplemental Ca^{2+} per day during the pregnancy.

2.2. Explant Culture. After removal of the chorionic plate and about 0.25 cm of decidua, explants were prepared using only tissue from the intermediate region of the placenta. In brief, randomly sampled villous tissue fragments, of roughly 0.5 cm × 0.5 cm, were cleaned of large vessels and blood clots, rinsed 5 times in cold sterile saline, placed in 12-well plates (Nunclon TM Surface) containing 2 mL of DMEM-F12 medium and 10% fetal calf serum as culture medium, and enriched by addition of crystalline penicillin 100,000 UI/mL, gentamicin 48 μ g/mL, and amphotericin B 3 μ g/mL. The preparation of placental explants was carried out on ice at 4°C and completed in approximately 30 min. The explants prepared in this way, without further incubations, were identified as freshly prepared placental explants.

The tissue explants were incubated for 4 h at 37°C in 4 mL medium (DMEM-F12 with 10% FCS) in a sterile CO₂ incubator (Shel Lab Model IR2424) with a gas mixture that composed of 8 percent O₂, +87 percent N₂+5 percent CO₂ (normoxia), with constant gas pressure. The culture medium was then removed and replaced with new culture medium. The explants were divided in two groups: one group was kept under normoxia for 18 h at 37°C and the other group was cultured under hypoxia (2 percent O₂, +93 percent N₂+5 percent CO₂) for 18 h at 37°C. At the end of the culture period, the explants were carefully removed and rinsed 5 times in cold sterile saline. The explants were then used for the isolation of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes.

2.3. Preparation of Syncytiotrophoblast Plasma Membranes. The membranes were prepared from placental explants following a method previously described [22, 23]. In brief, the maternal decidua was removed, and the central portion between the maternal and fetal surfaces was used for the preparation. Placental villous tissue (80–100 g) was chopped into small pieces, washed with 0.9% NaCl to remove blood, and filtered through gauze. The purification method involved different steps: differential centrifugation, precipitation of nonmicrovillus membranes with magnesium ions, and a sucrose gradient step. All solutions were buffered with 20 mM Tris-maleate, pH 7.4. Sucrose gradient preparation: a portion (2-3 mL) of the microvillus-enriched preparation and the basal membrane-enriched preparation was overlaid on the sucrose gradient. The band at the sucrose interface concentrations 37/45% (w/v) corresponds to the microvillus membrane fraction (MVM) and the band at the sucrose interface concentrations 47/52% (w/v) corresponds to the basal membrane fraction (BM). The two fractions were collected, diluted 10-fold with the buffer 20 mM Tris-maleate, pH 7.4, and centrifuged at 110,000 ×g for 30 min. The plasma membranes were resuspended in 300 mM sucrose, 20 mM Tris-Maleate, pH 7.4, and stored at -70° C (freezer). The purity and enrichment of the membrane fractions were determined routinely by assaying for adenylate cyclase/ β -adrenergic receptor (by measuring ³H-dihydroalprenolol binding), as well as cytochrome-c oxidase/succinate dehydrogenase and glucose-6-phosphatase and alkaline phosphatase activities [23, 24].

2.4. Preincubation of Syncytiotrophoblast Plasma Membranes with Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} . Aliquots of BM and MVM (1 mL of a 1 mg protein/mL suspension) were preincubated for 24 h at 0–4°C with a solution of 150 mM NaCl and, according to the experimental design, different concentrations of Ca^{2+} (as $CaCl_2$) and Mg^{2+} (as MgSO₄), in order to modify their Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content. At the end of the preincubation period, the suspension was diluted with a solution containing 250 mM sucrose and 10 mM Tris-Hepes (pH 7.2) and washed 6 times by centrifugation-suspension at 47,500 ×g in order to remove traces of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} . The membranes were resuspended with the same washing solution (0.8 mg protein/mL, final concentration) and kept at -70° C until use. The membranes were used to determine their PMCA activity, TBARS, and Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content.

2.5. Determination of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} Contents of Syncytiotrophoblast Plasma Membranes. Red blood cell ghosts were prepared with a modification of a previously described method [25]. Aliquots of BM and MVM were washed three times by centrifugation-resuspension at $47,500 \times g$ for $45 \min$. The membrane pellet was resuspended with a solution containing 250 mM sucrose and 10 mM Tris-Hepes (pH 7.2) and the protein concentration was adjusted to 1.5 mg/mL. A 200 μ L aliquot of the membrane suspension was mixed with 500 μ L of 70% nitric acid and placed in a heating block (Fisher Scientific Dry Bath incubator) at 80°C for 24 h. After 24 h digestion, 200 μ L of 60% perchloric acid was added, and the digestion was continued for 24 h at 80°C. Finally, the whole mixture was suspended with 2 mL of MQ water. The Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ contents of the sample were measured by inductively coupled plasma spectroscopy (Perkin Elmer Optima 3000 DV ICP system).

2.6. *PMCA Activity.* The ATPase activity was determined by measuring the quantity of inorganic phosphate liberated from the hydrolysis of ATP, following a modification of the method described elsewhere [26]. Briefly, 180 μ L of the incubation

medium was preincubated for 2 min at 37°C, and the reaction was started by the addition of 20 μ L of membrane suspension. After 10 min of incubation, the reaction was stopped by the addition of 300 μ L of a cold solution containing 2.85% ascorbic acid, 1.76% HCl, 0.48% ammonium molybdate, and 2.85% SDS. The samples were shaken and kept at 0°C for 10 min. Then, 500 μ L of a solution of 2% sodium citrate, 2% sodium arsenite, and 2% glacial acetic acid was added to each tube. The tubes were shaken and then incubated for 10 min at 37°C. The absorbance of each tube was determined in a Sunrise (Tecan) spectrophotometer at 705 nm. The PMCA activity was calculated as the difference in the phosphate liberated in a medium containing 250 mM sucrose, 5 mM ATP, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM ouabain, 2 mM EGTA, 2 mM EDTA, 30 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.2 at 37° C), 55 mM KCl, 2 μ g/mL calmodulin, 1 mM thapsigargin, and $2 \mu M$ free calcium, minus the one liberated in the same medium, but in the absence of calcium. A blank control was run in parallel under the same conditions, except for the fact that the membrane suspension was added only after the inclusion of ascorbic acid solution. The ATPase activity was expressed as nmol Pi/mg protein per min, after subtraction of the value obtained with the blank. The protein concentrations were determined using the Bio-Rad microassay [27]. In order to avoid the presence of membrane vesicles, membrane fractions were pretreated with SDS before the assays, as previously described [28]. The optimal SDS/protein ratio was $\sim 0.2 \,\mu g \,$ SDS/ $\mu g \,$ protein.

2.7. Lipid Peroxidation Measurements. The amount of lipid peroxidation of the plasma membranes was estimated by measuring the thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS). The TBARS was determined according to the method described by Feix et al. [29]. The values are expressed as nmoles of malondialdehyde per mg of protein.

2.8. Statistical Analysis. Comparisons between the different conditions were assessed by one-way ANOVA with the post hoc analysis with the Student-Newman-Keuls test. All results are expressed as means \pm standard error (S.E.) and n represents the number of experiments performed with different preparations. ATPase activities were calculated from paired data. A P value < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

3. Results

Level of lipid peroxidation (determined as TBARS), PMCA activity, and Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (BM and MVM) from freshly prepared placental explants are shown in Table 2, and those from placental explants cultured under either normoxic or hypoxic conditions are shown in Table 3. While the values of all the analyzed parameters for both BM and MVM from explants cultured in normoxic conditions are quite similar to those shown in Table 2 (freshly prepared explants), the membranes prepared from explants cultured under hypoxic conditions showed an increase in lipid peroxidation and Ca^{2+} content, as well as an important diminution in PMCA activity. Hypoxia did not produce any change in the Mg^{2+} content of either BM

Measured parameters	BM	n	MVM	п
TBARS (nmol malondialdehyde/mg prot)	0.46 ± 0.11	(5)	0.61 ± 0.17	(5)
PMCA activity (nmol Pi/mg prot·min)	61 ± 4	(5)	110 ± 5	(5)
Membrane Ca^{2+} content (μ mol/g prot)	67 ± 4	(5)	75 ± 5	(8)
Membrane Mg^{2+} content (μ mol/g prot)	50 ± 3	(4)	55 ± 3	(8)

TABLE 2: Lipid peroxidation (as TBARS), PMCA, and Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes from freshly prepared placental explants.

Values are expressed as the means \pm S.E. for the indicated *n* between parentheses.

TABLE 3: Lipid peroxidation (as TBARS), PMCA, and Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes from placental explants cultured under either normoxia or hypoxia conditions.

Measured parameters	В	М	MV	ИМ
	Normoxia	Hypoxia	Normoxia	Hypoxia
TBARS nmol malondialdehyde/mg prot	0.72 ± 0.04 (4)	$\begin{array}{c} 1.42 \pm 0.09 \\ (4)^{**} \end{array}$	0.63 ± 0.03 (4)	1.48 ± 0.18 (4)**
PMCA activity nmol Pi/mg prot·min	51.0 ± 6.9 (5)	13.7 ± 1.9 (5) ^{**}	93 ± 5.6 (5)	34 ± 2.9 (5)**
Membrane Ca ²⁺ content μ mol/g prot	56 ± 3 (5)	82 ± 4 (6)**	66 ± 5 (6)	101 ± 8 (6)*
Membrane Mg^{2+} content μ mol/g prot	54 ± 4 (6)	51 ± 2 (6)	57 ± 3 (6)	58 ± 4 (6)

Preincubations were carried out for 18 h at 37° C. Values are expressed as the means \pm S.E. for the indicated *n* between parentheses.

* P < 0.01 versus normoxia.

**P < 0.001 versus normoxia.

or MVM. These results suggest that hypoxia, by increasing the Ca²⁺ content of the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes, stimulates lipid peroxidation, which in turn inhibits PMCA activity.

These effects of hypoxia were produced on plasma membranes prepared from placental explants cultured under hypoxic conditions with intact chorionic villi. However, the integrity of the cells might not be necessary to achieve these results. In order to rule out this possibility, BM and MVM were prepared from freshly obtained placental explants and then incubated with different concentrations of CaCl₂, in order to try to alter their Ca²⁺ content. The membranes were then analyzed for Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ content, level of lipid peroxidation, and PMCA activity. The results in Figures I(a) and 1(b) show that incubation of both BM and MVM with different concentrations of CaCl₂ increased their Ca²⁺ content, without affecting their Mg²⁺ content. In addition, the level of lipid peroxidation of the membranes increased (Figure 1(c)) while the PMCA activity decreased (Figure 1(d)).

The variations shown in Figure 1 can be explained as the effect of increased Ca^{2+} on the membranes. However, as there were no changes in the Mg^{2+} content of the membranes, it is possible that the effects were due to an alteration of their Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} ratio, rather than to just their Ca^{2+} content. In order to study this possibility, syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes were preincubated in the presence of different concentrations of Mg^{2+} (as $MgSO_4$) and then analyzed for Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content, level of lipid peroxidation, and PMCA activity. The results of this experiment are shown in Figure 2.

Figures 2(a) and 2(b) indicate that while lower concentrations of MgSO₄ in the preincubation medium had a minimal effect on the Mg²⁺ content of the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes, a concentration of 4 mM MgSO₄ was able to significantly increase their Mg²⁺ content. None of the tested concentrations of MgSO₄ altered the Ca²⁺ content of the membranes (Figures 2(a) and 2(b)), the TBARS (Figure 2(c)), or the PMCA activity (Figure 2(d)).

If the molecular events occurring during culture of the placental explants under hypoxic conditions are similar to the response when the placental plasma membranes are incubated with Ca^{2+} , then it should be possible to circumvent the rise of the Ca^{2+} content of the membranes by adding Mg²⁺ to the preincubation medium. Therefore the hypoxia experiments were repeated but with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle culture medium (1.8 mM CaCl₂ and 0.8 mM MgSO₄) used for incubation of the placental explants adjusted to a final concentration of MgSO₄. The results of these experiments showed that the presence of 4 mM MgSO₄ prevented both the lipid peroxidation of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (Figures 3(a) and 3(b)) and the decrease in the PMCA activity (Figures 3(c) and 3(d)).

4. Discussion

In this study it was found that syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (BM and MVM) of placental explants cultured under hypoxic conditions showed a significant increase in Ca^{2+} content and lipid peroxidation, as well as an important diminution in PMCA activity, when compared to plasma



FIGURE 1: Panels (a) and (b). Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} content of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (BM and MVM, resp.) prepared from freshly prepared placental explants and then incubated with different concentrations of Ca^{2+} . Values expressed as means \pm S.E., for n = 4. Panels (c) and (d). Level of lipid peroxidation, determined as TBARS, and PMCA activity, respectively, of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (BM and MVM) prepared from freshly prepared placental explants and then incubated with different concentrations of Ca^{2+} . Values expressed as means \pm S.E., for n = 4. *P < 0.001 versus 0 CaCl₂.

membranes either from freshly prepared placental explants or from placental explants cultured under normoxic conditions. In these experiments, the membrane Mg^{2+} content remained constant (Tables 2 and 3). Similar results were obtained by preincubating syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes with different concentrations of Ca^{2+} (Figure 1). The Mg^{2+} content of the membranes increased when the preincubation media contained 4 mM MgSO₄, but it remained unchanged after preincubations with lower magnesium concentrations. However, varying the concentration of Mg^{2+} in the preincubation medium did not change the membrane Ca^{2+} content, level of lipid peroxidation, or PMCA activity.

These results may suggest that hypoxia, by increasing the Ca²⁺ content of the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes, stimulates their level of lipid peroxidation which, in turn,

inhibits their PMCA activity. How can changes in the membrane Ca^{2+} content modify the degree of lipid peroxidation? Cations have been proposed to penetrate deeply into the head group region of the membrane, probably binding between the carbonyl oxygen and the phosphate group [30]. Consequently, there is the possibility of a direct interaction of calcium with negatively charged phospholipids of the cell membrane. This interaction could result in a destabilizing effect on the structure of the membrane, producing changes in the orientation of their phospholipids that expose hydrocarbon chains of fatty acids to the action of free radicals, thus making them more susceptible to peroxidation. It is widely accepted that Ca^{2+} ions interact with plasma membranes to produce important changes in their lipid profile; that is, phospholipid scrambling in the human erythrocyte membrane



FIGURE 2: Panels (a) and (b). Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ content of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (BM and MVM, resp.) prepared from freshly prepared placental explants and then incubated with different concentrations of Mg²⁺. Values expressed as means \pm S.E., for n = 3. Panels (c) and (d). Level of lipid peroxidation, determined as TBARS, and PMCA activity, respectively, of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (BM and MVM) prepared from freshly prepared placental explants and then incubated with different concentrations of Mg²⁺. Values expressed as means \pm S.E., for n = 3. * P < 0.001 versus 0 MgSO₄.

involves the synergistic action of phosphatidylinositol 4,5bisphosphate and Ca^{2+} [31].

A relationship between lipid peroxidation and PMCA activity has been established for different cell membranes [9–12, 32]. Membrane ATPases have a strong dependence on lipid-protein interactions and consequently their activities are greatly affected by the degree of lipid peroxidation in the surrounding microenvironment [33]. Consistent with this, we found that with the increased level of lipid peroxidation there was diminution of the PMCA activity of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes (Table 3 and Figure 1). These results could be relevant for understanding the molecular basis of preeclampsia, as it has been found that red blood cell ghosts from preeclamptic women show high levels of membrane Ca²⁺ and low levels of membrane Mg²⁺ [20] and also high levels of lipid peroxidation and low PMCA activity [34].

Parenteral MgSO₄ administration is the medical treatment for preeclamptic women to prevent the recurrent seizures of eclampsia and for tocolysis in preterm labor [35]. In previous experiments, we have found that, twentyfour hours after the onset of MgSO4 therapy, both the level of lipid peroxidation and PMCA activity of red blood cell membranes from preeclamptic women show values similar to those of normotensive pregnant women [34]. A similar effect was also seen when red blood cells from untreated preeclamptic women were incubated in vitro with 4 mM MgSO₄ for 24 h at 0°C [34]. In addition, the results shown in Figures 2(a) and 2(b) indicate that incubation of syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes with sufficient $MgSO_4$ increases their Mg^{2+} content. Taken together, it may be concluded that the MgSO₄ treatment raises the Mg²⁺ content of the red cell ghosts and thereby reduces the level



FIGURE 3: Panels (a) and (b). Lipid peroxidation (as TBARS) of basal (BM) and microvillus plasma membranes (MVM) prepared from normal human term placental explants, previously cultured under either normoxia, hypoxia, or hypoxia + 4 mM MgSO₄. Values expressed as means \pm S.E., for n = 5. Panels (c) and (d). PMCA activity of basal (BM) and microvillus plasma membranes (MVM) prepared from normal human term placental explants, previously cultured under either normoxia, hypoxia, or hypoxia + 4 mM MgSO₄. Values expressed as means \pm S.E., for n = 5. (II) versus (I) P < 0.001. (III) versus (I) n.s. (III) versus (II) P < 0.001.

of lipid peroxidation and increases the PMCA activity of these membranes. Furthermore, the results presented in Table 3 indicate that BM and MVM prepared from explants cultured under hypoxia in 1.8 mM CaCl₂ and 0.8 mM MgSO₄ (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium) show a significant increase in their Ca²⁺ content, as compared to results from explants cultured under normoxia, with no variations in their Mg²⁺ content. However, increasing the concentration of the culture medium to 4 mM MgSO₄ protected the membranes against the effects of hypoxia (Figure 3). These results might be an indication that a minimum concentration of Mg²⁺ is required to protect the membranes and to circumvent the rise of lipid peroxidation and the inhibition of the PMCA activity of the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes seen during preeclampsia [34].

The exact molecular mechanisms explaining the interactions of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} within the plasma membranes of preeclamptic women remain to be determined. However, our study points out the importance of these interactions for the control of the level of lipid peroxidation of the plasma membranes and for the activity of transporting proteins such as the PMCA during preeclampsia.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Authors' Contribution

Reinaldo Marín and Fulgencio Proverbio are cosenior authors of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Manuelita Quintal, B.Sc. holder, for her technical assistance in the use of inductively coupled plasma spectroscopy and Dr. Howard Takiff for help in editing the paper. The study was part of the Ph.D. thesis dissertation of Dr. Chiarello, which was supported in part by FONACIT Grant F-2005000708. This research was also supported by Grant H9/181/R427, Project 96350, from the World Health Organization, and by FONACIT Grant F-2005000222.

References

- S. Gupta, A. Agarwal, and R. K. Sharma, "The role of placental oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation in preeclampsia," *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 807–816, 2005.
- [2] C. A. Hubel, "Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia," *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, vol. 222, no. 3, pp. 222–235, 1999.
- [3] C. W. Redman, I. L. Sargent, and A. C. Staff, "IFPA senior award lecture: making sense of pre-eclampsia—two placental causes of preeclampsia?" *Placenta*, vol. 35, supplement, pp. S20–S25, 2014.
- [4] S. T. Davidge, C. A. Hubel, R. D. Brayden, E. C. Capeless, and M. K. McLaughlin, "Sera antioxidant activity in uncomplicated and preeclamptic pregnancies," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 79, no. 6, pp. 897–901, 1992.
- [5] G. G. Zeeman, G. A. Dekker, H. P. Van Geijn, and A. A. Kraayenbrink, "Endothelial function in normal and preeclamptic pregnancy: a hypothesis," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 113– 122, 1992.
- [6] M. T. M. Raijmakers, R. Dechend, and L. Poston, "Oxidative stress and preeclampsia: rationale for antioxidant clinical trials," *Hypertension*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 374–380, 2004.
- [7] B. Halliwell and J. M. C. Gutteridge, Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK, 1989.
- [8] Y. C. Casart, T. Proverbio, R. Marín, and F. Proverbio, "Ca-ATPase of human syncytiotrophoblast basal plasma membranes," *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry*, vol. 108, no. 4, pp. 380–384, 2000.
- [9] T. T. López, F. Limongi, T. Proverbio, N. J. Oviedo, F. Proverbio, and R. Marín, "Calcium-ATPase activity of red blood cell ghosts from preeclamptic women, antepartum and postpartum," *Hypertension in Pregnancy*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 247–256, 2003.
- [10] R. Matteo, T. Proverbio, K. Cordova, F. Proverbio, and R. Marín, "Preeclampsia, lipid peroxidation, and calcium adenosine triphosphatase activity of red blood cell ghosts," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 178, no. 2, pp. 402–408, 1998.
- [11] A. Ohta, T. Mohri, and T. Ohyashiki, "Effect of lipid peroxidation on membrane-bound Ca²⁺-ATPase activity of the intestinal brush-border membranes," *Biochim Biophys Acta*, vol. 984, no. 2, pp. 151–157, 1989.

- [12] A. Teppa-Garrán, T. Proverbio, R. Marín, and F. Proverbio, "Lipid peroxidation and active calcium transport in insideout vesicles of red blood cells from preeclamptic women," *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 806–813, 2004.
- [13] D. F. Benyo, T. M. Miles, and K. P. Conrad, "Hypoxia stimulates cytokine production by villous explants from the human placenta," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 82, no. 5, pp. 1582–1588, 1997.
- [14] D. F. Benyo, A. Smarason, C. W. G. Redman, C. Sims, and K. P. Conrad, "Expression of inflammatory cytokines in placentas from women with preeclampsia," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 86, no. 6, pp. 2505–2512, 2001.
- [15] T. Hung, D. S. Charnock-Jones, J. N. Skepper, and G. J. Burton, "Secretion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha from human placental tissues induced by hypoxia-reoxygenation causes endothelial cell activation in vitro: a potential mediator of the inflammatory response in preeclampsia," *The American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 164, no. 3, pp. 1049–1061, 2004.
- [16] T. Hung and G. J. Burton, "Hypoxia and reoxygenation: a possible mechanism for placental oxidative stress in preeclampsia," *Taiwanese Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 189–200, 2006.
- [17] E. Borrego-Díaz, J. C. Rosales, T. Proverbio et al., "Effect of placental hypoxia on the Plasma Membrane Ca-ATPase (PMCA) activity and the level of lipid peroxidation of syncytiotrophoblast and red blood cell ghosts," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 44–50, 2008.
- [18] N. Montalbetti, M. R. Cantero, M. G. Dalghi, and H. F. Cantiello, "Reactive oxygen species inhibit polycystin-2 (TRPP2) cation channel activity in term human syncytiotrophoblast," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 510–518, 2008.
- [19] S. K. Pirutin, V. B. Turovetskii, and I. B. Kudriashov, "Alteration of UV-sensitivity of mice peritoneal macrophage plasma membranes by calcium ions," *Radiatsionnaia Biologiia, Radioecologiia*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 419–424, 2011.
- [20] K. Kisters, M. Barenbrock, F. Louwen, M. Hausberg, K. H. Rahn, and M. Kosch, "Membrane, intracellular, and plasma magnesium and calcium concentrations in preeclampsia," *The American Journal of Hypertension*, vol. 13, no. 7, pp. 765–769, 2000.
- [21] L. Redondo-Morata, M. I. Giannotti, and F. Sanz, "Structural impact of cations on lipid bilayer models: nanomechanical properties by AFM-force spectroscopy," *Molecular Membrane Biology*, vol. 31, pp. 17–28, 2014.
- [22] N. P. Illsley, Z. Wang, A. Gray, M. C. Sellers, and M. M. Jacobs, "Simultaneous preparation of paired, syncytial, microvillous and basal membranes from human placenta," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 1029, no. 2, pp. 218–226, 1990.
- [23] V. Jimenez, M. Henriquez, P. Llanos, and G. Riquelme, "Isolation and purification of human placental plasma membranes from normal and pre-eclamptic pregnancies. A comparative study," *Placenta*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 422–437, 2004.
- [24] G. J. Fisher, L. K. Kelley, and C. H. Smith, "ATP-dependent calcium transport across basal plasma membranes of human placental trophoblast," *The American Journal of Physiology— Cell Physiology*, vol. 252, no. 1, pp. C38–C46, 1987.
- [25] K. Kisters, J. Körner, F. Louwen et al., "Plasma and membrane Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ concentrations in normal pregnancy and in preeclampsia," *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 158–163, 1998.

- [26] G. Nardulli, F. Proverbio, F. G. Limongi, R. Marín, and T. Proverbio, "Preeclampsia and calcium adenosine triphosphatase activity of red blood cell ghosts," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 171, no. 5, pp. 1361–1365, 1994.
- [27] M. M. Bradford, "A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein dye binding," *Analytical Biochemistry*, vol. 72, no. 1-2, pp. 248–254, 1976.
- [28] F. Proverbio, T. Proverbio, and R. Marín, "Na⁺-ATPase is a different entity from the (Na⁺ + K⁺)-ATPase in rat kidney basolateral plasma membranes," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, vol. 858, no. 1, pp. 202–205, 1986.
- [29] J. B. Feix, G. J. Bachowski, and A. W. Girotti, "Photodynamic action of merocyanine 540 on erythrocyte membranes: structural perturbation of lipid and protein constituents," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta—General Subjects*, vol. 1075, no. 1, pp. 28–35, 1991.
- [30] M. L. Berkowitz, D. L. Bostick, and S. Pandit, "Aqueous solutions next to phospholipid membrane surfaces: insights from simulations," *Chemical Reviews*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 1527– 1539, 2006.
- [31] J. Sulpice, A. Zachowski, P. F. Devaux, and F. Giraud, "Requirement for Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-Bisphosphate in the Ca2+induced Phospholipid Redistribution in the Human Erythrocyte Membrane," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 269, no. 9, pp. 6347–6354, 1994.
- [32] Y. Casart, T. Proverbio, R. Marín, and F. Proverbio, "Comparative study of the calcium adenosine triphosphatase of basal membranes of human placental trophoblasts from normotensive and preeclamptic pregnant women," *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 28–31, 2001.
- [33] G. Stark, "Functional consequences of oxidative membrane damage," *Journal of Membrane Biology*, vol. 205, no. 1, pp. 1–16, 2005.
- [34] C. Abad, A. Teppa-Garrán, T. Proverbio, S. Piñero, F. Proverbio, and R. Marín, "Effect of magnesium sulfate on the calciumstimulated adenosine triphosphatase activity and lipid peroxidation of red blood cell membranes from preeclamptic women," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 1634–1641, 2005.
- [35] B. M. Sibai, "Magnesium sulfate prophylaxis in preeclampsia: evidence from randomized trials," *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 478–488, 2005.

Research Article

Perinatal Nitric Oxide Therapy Prevents Adverse Effects of Perinatal Hypoxia on the Adult Pulmonary Circulation

Anne-Christine Peyter, Flavien Delhaes, Giacomo Diaceri, Steeve Menétrey, and Jean-François Tolsa

Neonatal Research Laboratory, Clinic of Neonatology, Department of Pediatrics, Lausanne University Hospital, 1011 Lausanne, Switzerland

Correspondence should be addressed to Anne-Christine Peyter; anne-christine.peyter@chuv.ch

Received 14 March 2014; Revised 22 May 2014; Accepted 20 June 2014; Published 8 July 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Anne-Christine Peyter et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Adverse events in utero are associated with the occurrence of chronic diseases in adulthood. We previously demonstrated in mice that perinatal hypoxia resulted in altered pulmonary circulation in adulthood, with a decreased endothelium-dependent relaxation of pulmonary arteries, associated with long-term alterations in the nitric oxide (NO)/cyclic GMP pathway. The present study investigated whether inhaled NO (iNO) administered simultaneously to perinatal hypoxia could have potential beneficial effects on the adult pulmonary circulation. Indeed, iNO is the therapy of choice in humans presenting neonatal pulmonary hypertension. Long-term effects of neonatal iNO therapy on adult pulmonary circulation have not yet been investigated. Pregnant mice were placed in hypoxia ($13\% O_2$) with simultaneous administration of iNO 5 days before delivery until 5 days after birth. Pups were then raised in normoxia until adulthood. Perinatal iNO administration completely restored acetylcholine-induced relaxation, as well as endothelial nitric oxide synthase protein content, in isolated pulmonary arteries of adult mice born in hypoxia. Right ventricular hypertrophy observed in old mice born in hypoxia compared to controls was also prevented by perinatal iNO treatment. Therefore, simultaneous administration of iNO during perinatal hypoxic exposure seems able to prevent adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia on the adult pulmonary circulation.

1. Introduction

Numerous epidemiological studies have associated adverse events occurring in utero, like limitation of nutrients or oxygen supply, with an increased risk to develop chronic diseases in adulthood, including coronary artery disease, systemic hypertension, stroke, and noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus [1]. Therefore, an insult occurring in the perinatal period, namely, during late gestation and the first days of extrauterine life, may result in a definitive imprint predisposing to a pathological response later in life, leading to "programmed" diseases. However, cellular and molecular mechanisms of the programming process are not yet elucidated [2, 3]. In particular, chronic pulmonary vascular diseases and abnormal pulmonary vascular reactivity in adulthood may be associated with a hypoxic insult occurring around birth [4–8]. Humans and animals born in hypoxic conditions, or presenting neonatal pulmonary hypertension, show later in life an exaggerated pulmonary hypertensive response following a reexposure to hypoxia [7, 9–13]. The cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the dysregulation of adult pulmonary vasomotor tone secondary to a transient perinatal insult remain incompletely understood.

The fetal pulmonary circulation is characterized by low perfusion and high vascular resistances, which need to rapidly fall at birth to allow pulmonary blood flow to increase nearly 10-fold [14, 15]. Pulmonary vascular tone is regulated by a complex and intricate group of mechanisms [16, 17], including the nitric oxide/cyclic guanosine monophosphate (NO/cGMP) signaling pathway, which plays a key role in establishing relaxation of the pulmonary vessels during neonatal transition as well as later in life [18, 19]. Sometimes, the normal decrease in pulmonary vascular resistances and increase in pulmonary blood flow do not occur, resulting in persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn (PPHN). PPHN is a severe neonatal complication, associated with a high mortality and morbidity. Prevalence of PPHN is estimated at 1.9 per 1000 live births and mortality ranges from 4 to 33% [20]. This pathology represents 1 to 4% of the admissions in a neonatal intensive care unit [21, 22] and requires intensive therapy including supplemental oxygen and pulmonary vasodilators [23]. Inhaled NO (iNO) has been proposed as a "selective" pulmonary vasodilator since it acts directly on pulmonary vascular cells and is then inactivated in the bloodstream. Inhaled NO is now recognized as the therapy of choice for term newborns with a PPHN [24]. Most neonates who respond to this treatment will recover within a week and then develop normally. However, long-term effects of neonatal iNO therapy on adult lung vascular reactivity have not yet been investigated.

Adult pulmonary hypertension is also a severe disease of various origins, affecting life expectancy and quality of life [25], whose treatment is still a challenge and prognosis remains poor [26]. Pulmonary hypertension is related to an abnormal reactivity of the pulmonary vasculature resulting in lower perfusion of the lung and hypoxemia. Abnormal development of regulatory mechanisms of the pulmonary circulation in the perinatal period could be associated with an altered regulation of the adult pulmonary circulation.

We have previously established a murine experimental model in order to study the long-lasting effects of a transient exposure to hypoxia in the perinatal period [13, 27-29]. Pregnant mice were placed in hypoxic conditions $(13\% O_2)$ 5 days before delivery and left with their litter for 5 days after birth. Pups were then bred in normoxia until adulthood when studied. We first demonstrated that the relaxation induced by the endothelium-dependent agent acetylcholine (ACh) in the adult main pulmonary artery (PA) was completely mediated by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) [28]. Our further studies showed that a transient hypoxic insult in the perinatal period resulted in altered regulation of pulmonary vascular tone in adulthood [13, 27, 29]. Adults born in hypoxia displayed an increase in right ventricular pressure, suggesting a higher resistance state in the pulmonary circulation, and an increased sensitivity to acute hypoxia compared to controls [13]. Moreover, perinatal hypoxia dramatically decreased endothelium-dependent relaxation induced by ACh in adult female pulmonary arteries [13]. This alteration of adult pulmonary circulation was associated with long-term alterations in the NO/cGMP signaling pathway, in particular muscarinic receptors and phosphodiesterases, and with a marked reduction in eNOS protein content in isolated pulmonary arteries from adult females born in hypoxic conditions compared to mice born in normoxia [13]. This could contribute to the observed decrease in ACh-mediated relaxation following perinatal hypoxia.

As iNO is actually the therapy of choice in humans presenting neonatal pulmonary hypertension, we decided to investigate in our murine experimental model whether iNO administered simultaneously to perinatal hypoxia could have potential beneficial effects on the adult pulmonary circulation.



FIGURE 1: Experimental design. C57BL/6 pregnant mice were exposed from 5 days before delivery until 5 days after birth either to normoxia, hypoxia, or hypoxia with simultaneous administration of inhaled NO (iNO). Pups were then raised in normoxia until adulthood. Mice were studied as young adults (5-6 months) or old adults (12–15 months).

Effects of concomitant perinatal exposure to iNO and hypoxia were compared to those of perinatal hypoxia alone by investigation of ACh-induced relaxation and eNOS protein content in isolated pulmonary arteries, completed by anatomical data in young and old adult females.

In our murine experimental model, perinatal hypoxia triggered greater alterations in endothelium-dependent relaxation and the NO/cGMP pathway in adult females than adult males (unpublished data). Our previous manuscript [13] was therefore focused on alterations occurring in the pulmonary circulation of adult females. The present report was consequently also limited to the effects of iNO in females. The results obtained in mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia and iNO were directly compared to the corresponding data we previously published for mice born in normoxia or hypoxia alone [13], in particular for ACh-induced relaxation and anatomical data. Indeed, the present study was the direct continuation of our previous work in which we used exactly the same experimental model [13]. As all procedures were similar between both studies, we did not repeat the experiments performed in mice born in normoxia or hypoxia alone and therefore some data of the referred article [13] are shown in the present paper to better highlight the beneficial effects of iNO therapy compared to hypoxia alone.

2. Methods

2.1. Murine Model of Perinatal Hypoxia. All experimental procedures were approved and carried out in accordance with the Swiss Veterinarian Animal Care Office. C57BL/6 pregnant mice were purchased from Harlan (Horst, The Netherlands). They were all fed *ad libitum* and exposed to day-night cycles. Perinatal hypoxia was induced as previously described [13, 27] (Figure 1). Pregnant mice were placed in hypoxic conditions (13% O_2) 5 days before delivery and left under hypoxia with their litter for 5 days after birth. Pups were then raised in normoxia (21% O_2) until adulthood. Pups born and grown in normoxic conditions were used as

controls. Female mice were studied as adults before week 25 (young females) or after week 50 (old females).

2.2. Perinatal Exposure to iNO. Pregnant mice were placed in an atmosphere containing 13% O_2 and 10 ppm gaseous NO for 10 days, more exactly for 5 days before delivery and 5 days after birth (Figure 1). Pups were then raised in normoxia (21% O_2) until adulthood when studied.

Inhaled NO was administered using the SONIMIX apparatus (LNIndustries, Geneva, Switzerland), which has been adapted to allow injection of gaseous mixtures containing oxygen, nitrogen, and NO according to the preset relative concentrations. The applied concentration of gaseous NO was half the concentration currently used in clinical practice to treat human newborns with pulmonary hypertension. NO concentration in the box was monitored using a NO sensor (SensorNox, SensorMedics).

2.3. Anatomical Data. Body weight was measured 5 days after birth. Number of alive pups was recorded at the end of the perinatal exposure to normoxia, hypoxia, or hypoxia plus iNO.

In adults, the heart was dissected with removal of the auricles and separation of the right ventricle (RV) and the left ventricle plus septum (LV + S). The RV/(LV + S) ratio was calculated and used as an index of right ventricular hypertrophy, which is a direct consequence of increased pulmonary vascular resistances present in pulmonary vascular pathologies.

2.4. Vascular Reactivity Studies. The vascular reactivity of pulmonary arteries was investigated by isolated vessel tension studies, as previously described [13]. Briefly, adult mice were administered a lethal dose of pentobarbital (1g/kg intraperitoneal) and the main pulmonary artery was immediately harvested. The vessel ring was suspended in organ chamber filled with 10 mL of modified Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate solution (mM: 118.3 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgSO₄, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 25.0 NaHCO₃, and 11.1 glucose) maintained at 37°C and aerated with 95% O₂-5% CO₂ (pH 7.4) [13, 27]. Vessels were brought to their optimal resting tension after 2 stretches of 0.5 g. After equilibration, indomethacin (10^{-5} M) was added in order to exclude possible interference of endogenous prostanoids. The vessels were then contracted with phenylephrine (10^{-5} M) and pharmacological response of isolated pulmonary arteries was evaluated in the presence of increasing concentrations of the endothelium-dependent relaxing agent ACh. Change in tension induced by the vasodilator was expressed as percent of the initial contraction induced by phenylephrine.

2.5. Western Blotting Analysis of Protein Expression. Specific protein content in pulmonary arteries was investigated by western blotting analysis as previously described [13]. Briefly, each flash-frozen main PA was crushed in a cryogenic mortar and homogenized in $26 \,\mu$ L of lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 10% glycerol, 1 mM DTT, $5 \,\mu$ g/mL pepstatin, $3 \,\mu$ g/mL aprotinin, $10 \,\mu$ g/mL leupeptin, 0.1 mM

4-(2-aminoethyl)benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 1mM sodium vanadate, 50mM NaF, and 20mM 3-[(3cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate). After a 45 min incubation on ice, the homogenates were centrifuged for 10 min at 3000 ×g at 4°C. Five μ L of each supernatant was diluted in Laemmli buffer and heated for 5 min at 95°C before loading on a 7.5% polyacrylamide gel. Proteins were fractioned by SDS-PAGE (35 min at 200 V) and transferred to PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) during 2 h at 100V. Blots were blocked overnight at 4°C in Tris-buffered saline plus 0.05% Tween 20 (TBS-T) containing 5% nonfat dry milk. All washing steps were performed using TBS-T. Membranes were immunoblotted for 1 h at room temperature using specific antibodies targeted against eNOS (BD Transduction Laboratories, Franklin Lake, NJ, USA), or β -actin (Sigma), diluted 1:200 (for eNOS), or 1:250 (for β -actin) in TBS-T containing 5% nonfat dry milk. Blots were then incubated with ECL horseradish peroxidase-linked anti-mouse antibody (for eNOS detection) or anti-rabbit antibody (for β -actin) (Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, UK), diluted 1:10,000 in TBS-T. Finally, specific proteins were detected by chemiluminescence using the SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce) and exposition to X-ray film. Expression of eNOS was quantified using the UN-SCAN-IT gel software (Silk Scientific, Orem, UT, USA) and normalized to β -actin content. Relative protein content in homogenates of mice born in hypoxia was reported to the content measured in controls.

2.6. Drugs. Unless otherwise specified, all drugs were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Indomethacin was prepared in equal molar Na_2CO_3 [30]. The other drugs were prepared using distilled water.

2.7. Data Analyses. Statistical analyses were performed using InStat 3.0 or Prism 4.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, and *n* represents the number of animals per group. Unless otherwise mentioned, the influence of perinatal exposure to hypoxia and/or iNO on the studied parameters was analyzed using the Mann-Whitney test. Two-way ANOVA was performed to compare the dose-response curves in isolated vessel tension studies. The difference was considered statistically significant when P < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Neonatal Data. Table 1 summarizes body weight and number of pups per litter recorded at the end of the 10day exposure to normoxia, hypoxia, or hypoxia plus iNO. Body weight was significantly reduced in 5-day-old pups born in hypoxia, with or without iNO, compared to controls. The number of alive pups per litter was also significantly lower after perinatal exposure to hypoxia, in the absence or presence of iNO, compared to normoxia. Although the number of alive pups appeared to be higher in litters exposed

TABLE 1: Body weight and number of alive pups per litter at 5 days after birth.

5-day-old mice	Control $n = 119$	Perinatal hypoxia n = 46	Perinatal hypoxia + iNO n = 98
Body weight (g)	2.90 ± 0.03	$2.60 \pm 0.07^{*}$	$2.72 \pm 0.04^{*}$
Pups per litter	7.0 (4–10)	4.5 (3-7)*	6.0 (3-7)*

Body weight and number of alive pups per litter were recorded at the end of the perinatal exposure to normoxia (control), hypoxia, or hypoxia and inhaled NO (iNO). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM for body weight and median (range) for the number of pups per litter; *n* corresponds to the number of animals studied in each group. *Significant difference compared to controls (P < 0.05, using the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test).

TABLE 2: Anatomical data.			
5-6-month-old mice	Control $n = 25$	Perinatal hypoxia $n = 20$	Perinatal hypoxia + iNO n = 13
Body weight (g)	22.83 ± 0.39	22.63 ± 0.36	23.68 ± 0.41
Heart weight (g)	0.100 ± 0.002	0.097 ± 0.001	$0.093 \pm 0.002^{*\dagger}$
Heart/body ratio	0.0044 ± 0.0001	0.0043 ± 0.0001	$0.0039 \pm 0.0001^{*\dagger}$
RV weight (g)	0.0230 ± 0.0005	0.0227 ± 0.0006	$0.0205 \pm 0.0006^{*\dagger}$
(LV + S) weight (g)	0.0771 ± 0.0015	0.0745 ± 0.0009	$0.0721 \pm 0.0013^*$
Ratio RV/(LV + S)	0.300 ± 0.006	0.304 ± 0.008	0.285 ± 0.010
12–15-month-old mice	Control $n = 11$	Perinatal hypoxia $n = 15$	Perinatal hypoxia + iNO n = 17
Body weight (g)	26.84 ± 1.10	28.15 ± 0.92	27.32 ± 0.64
Heart weight (g)	0.107 ± 0.003	0.107 ± 0.002	0.109 ± 0.002
Heart/body ratio	0.0040 ± 0.0002	0.0038 ± 0.0001	0.0040 ± 0.0001
RV weight (g)	0.0231 ± 0.0010	0.0252 ± 0.0004	$0.0231 \pm 0.0005^{\dagger}$
(LV + S) weight (g)	0.0835 ± 0.0023	0.0821 ± 0.0018	0.0855 ± 0.0015
Ratio RV/(LV + S)	0.276 ± 0.009	$0.309 \pm 0.008^{*}$	$0.271\pm0.004^\dagger$

Body weight was measured after sacrifice of adult mice. Heart weight corresponds to the sum of the wet weights of the right ventricle (RV) and of the left ventricle plus septum (LV + S). The RV/(LV + S) ratio is the ratio between the weights of RV and LV + S, used as an index of right ventricular hypertrophy. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *n* corresponds to the number of animals in each group. *Significant difference compared to controls and [†] significant difference between mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia plus iNO and mice with perinatal hypoxia alone (*P* < 0.05, using the Mann-Whitney test). Data related to 5-6-month-old mice born in normoxia (Ctr) or in hypoxia (PH) were previously published [13].

to perinatal hypoxia and iNO than in those with perinatal hypoxia alone, the difference was not statistically significant.

3.2. Anatomical Data in Adults. Table 2 summarizes anatomical data measured in adult females after sacrifice.

In young females (5-6-month-old mice), perinatal hypoxia did not influence the studied parameters, as previously published [13]. Simultaneous exposure to perinatal hypoxia and iNO, however, significantly reduced heart weight, the heart to body ratio, and RV weight compared to mice born in normoxia or hypoxia alone. The LV + S weight was also decreased in mice exposed to hypoxia plus iNO compared to controls. Finally, the RV/(LV + S) ratio seemed lower in mice exposed to hypoxia and iNO than in controls or mice with perinatal hypoxia, but the difference was not quite significant between mice born in hypoxia in the presence or absence of iNO (P = 0.0677, using the Mann-Whitney test), as well as between mice born in hypoxia plus iNO and controls (P = 0.0967, using the Mann-Whitney test).

In old females (12–15-month-old mice), anatomical data were similar between mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia

and controls, except for the RV/(LV + S) ratio, which was significantly higher in mice born in hypoxia than in controls. Old females submitted to simultaneous exposure to perinatal hypoxia and iNO displayed similar anatomical data to controls. However, RV weight and the RV/(LV + S)ratio were significantly reduced compared to mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia alone.

3.3. Isolated Pulmonary Artery Reactivity. Pharmacological response to cumulative doses of the endothelium-dependent relaxing agent acetylcholine (ACh) was tested in isolated PA preconstricted with phenylephrine (Figure 2). We previously showed that ACh-induced relaxation was dramatically reduced in isolated PA from adult females born in hypoxia compared to controls [13]. In contrast, isolated PA from adult mice exposed simultaneously to hypoxia and iNO in the perinatal period displayed a dose-dependent relaxant response to ACh, which was similar to controls. Therefore, ACh-induced relaxation was significantly increased in mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia plus iNO compared to perinatal hypoxia alone (Figure 2).



FIGURE 2: Pharmacological response of isolated pulmonary arteries to the endothelium-dependent agent acetylcholine. Dose-response to acetylcholine (ACh) was tested in pulmonary arteries preconstricted with phenylephrine (10^{-5} M), isolated from adult mice born in normoxia (Ctr), in hypoxia (PH), or in hypoxia with simultaneous administration of iNO (PH + NO). Results are expressed as mean ± SEM of percentage of change in tension induced by the vasodilator (n = 6-9 mice). *Significant difference compared to controls and †significant difference between mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia and iNO and mice with perinatal hypoxia alone (P < 0.05, two-way ANOVA). Results obtained with pulmonary arteries of mice born in normoxia (Ctr) or in hypoxia (PH) were previously published [13].

3.4. eNOS Protein Content. We previously showed that the eNOS protein relative content was significantly reduced in the main PA of adult females born in hypoxia compared to controls [13] (Figure 3(a)). In contrast, the eNOS protein relative content in PA of adult females exposed simultaneously to perinatal hypoxia and iNO was similar to controls (Figure 3(b)).

4. Discussion

We previously demonstrated, in a murine model of perinatal hypoxia, that a transient exposure to hypoxia during a critical period of development induced long-term adverse effects on the adult pulmonary circulation [13, 27, 29].

In the present study, we investigated in the same experimental model whether iNO administration during the whole exposure to perinatal hypoxia could have beneficial effects on the adult pulmonary circulation. Potential protective effects of iNO were tested by measurement of several parameters which were found to be altered in adult females exposed to perinatal hypoxia [13].

In our previous report [13], we demonstrated that perinatal hypoxia induced a marked decrease in endotheliumdependent ACh-induced relaxation of PA, whereas no difference was found in the relaxation induced by gaseous NO or NO donors. As the present study aimed to investigate potential protective effects of iNO against adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia, the functional experiments were therefore limited to the pharmacological response of isolated PA to ACh, which was altered in adult mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia alone compared to controls, whereas relaxation induced by the NO donor 2-(N,N-diethylamino)diazenolate-2-oxide (DEA/NO) was similar in mice born in hypoxia and controls.

Vascular reactivity studies showed that although AChinduced relaxation was significantly reduced in isolated PA from adult females exposed to perinatal hypoxia compared to controls, simultaneous administration of iNO during perinatal hypoxic exposure completely restored the vasorelaxant response to ACh.

Similarly, perinatal exposure to hypoxia with concomitant iNO treatment allowed a total recovery in eNOS protein content in the main PA of adult females, whereas eNOS protein expression was shown to be reduced by almost 40% in adult females born in hypoxia compared to controls [13].

Anatomical data recorded in young adult mice (5-6 months) were similar between females born in hypoxic conditions and controls. Although previous hemodynamic studies showed a higher right ventricular pressure in 5month-old mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia compared to controls [13], strongly suggesting a higher resistance state in the pulmonary circulation, the RV/(LV + S) ratio was not significantly increased in young adult females. The RV/(LV + S) ratio was used as an index of right ventricular hypertrophy, which is a direct consequence of increased pulmonary vascular resistances accompanying pulmonary hypertension. Here we showed that, in old females (12-15 months), the RV/(LV + S) ratio was significantly higher in mice born in hypoxia than in controls, suggesting that perinatal hypoxia resulted in right ventricular hypertrophy later in life, probably as a result of increased pulmonary vascular resistances following perinatal exposure to hypoxia. Inhaled NO treatment during perinatal hypoxia significantly reduced RV weight compared to mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia alone, both in young and old females. In old females exposed to perinatal hypoxia and iNO, the RV/(LV + S) ratio was also significantly decreased compared to mice born in hypoxia alone and thus became similar to the RV/(LV + S) ratio observed in controls.

Taken together our results suggest that concomitant administration of iNO during the whole exposure to perinatal hypoxia exerts a protective effect on the pulmonary circulation. Such results argue in favor of a potential longterm beneficial effect of neonatal iNO therapy. It will be nevertheless necessary to investigate whether neonatal (instead of perinatal) treatment would confer the same protection and whether this protective effect could also be observed on additional parameters, like right ventricular pressure, sensitivity to acute hypoxia, and molecular components of the NO/cGMP pathway, such as muscarinic receptors and phosphodiesterases, which were found to be altered in adult females exposed to perinatal hypoxia [13].



FIGURE 3: Western blotting analysis of eNOS protein expression in pulmonary arteries. (a) Western blotting analysis of eNOS protein relative content was performed in pulmonary arteries extracts (n = 3 pools of 10 PA) of adult females born in normoxia (Ctr) or in hypoxia (PH). These data were previously published in [13]. *Significant difference between Ctr and PH groups (P < 0.05 using unpaired *t*-test). (b) Relative eNOS protein content was analyzed in pulmonary arteries extracts of adult mice born in normoxia (Ctr) or exposed simultaneously to hypoxia and iNO in the perinatal period (PH + NO) (n = 4 mice). Results are expressed as mean ± SEM of the relative eNOS protein content after normalization by β -actin protein content.

Beneficial effects of iNO were also shown in other experimental models. For example, a 10-day treatment with iNO (10 ppm) during recovery from a 10-day exposure to neonatal hypoxia restored lung structure in eNOS-deficient mice, by stimulation of alveolar and vascular growth [31]. Similarly, concomitant exposure of 9-day-old rat pups to iNO (20 ppm) and hypoxia during 14 days attenuated pulmonary vascular structural changes, right ventricular hypertrophy, and growth retardation induced by exposure to neonatal hypoxia alone [32]. In a model of bleomycin-induced bronchopulmonary dysplasia in neonatal rats, iNO treatment improved lung structure and prevented right ventricular hypertrophy and pulmonary vascular remodeling [33]. In adult rats, continuous inhalation of NO (10 ppm) during a 2-week chronic exposure to hypoxia also reduced pulmonary vascular remodeling and right ventricular hypertrophy compared to rats exposed to hypoxia alone [34]. These reports pointed however mainly to protective effects of iNO against structural pulmonary alterations resulting from hypoxic exposure. More recently, inhalation of NO was found to have cardioprotective effects in murine models of cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury [35] and to improve outcomes after cardiac arrest and successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation in adult mice [36], even in eNOS-deficient mice [37]. The latter protective effects required the presence of soluble guanylyl cyclase [35, 36]. However, all these studies showed short-term protective effects of iNO administration, whereas our data demonstrate long-lasting beneficial effects of perinatal iNO therapy on the pulmonary circulation throughout life. Indeed, in our experimental model, perinatal iNO administration was able to prevent not only the impairment of endotheliumdependent relaxation in young adults secondary to a perinatal exposure to hypoxia, but also progressive development of right ventricular hypertension in old mice.

The mechanisms implicated in the observed protective effects of iNO treatment during the whole exposure to perinatal hypoxia remain to be elucidated. It will be first necessary to distinguish whether protective effects are mainly due to prenatal or postnatal treatment with iNO.

Prenatal treatment with iNO probably mainly acts through reduction of pulmonary vascular resistances in pregnant mice. Indeed, closed-chest hemodynamic studies showed that acute exposure to iNO in hypoxic conditions was able to reverse hypoxia-induced increase in right ventricular pressure in anaesthetized adult mice (unpublished data). Due to the short half-life of gaseous NO, maternal exposure to iNO during hypoxia may not directly influence the fetal circulation, although there was recent evidence that extrapulmonary effects of iNO could be mediated, in addition to diffusion, by conversion of iNO into S-nitrosothiols further exported into the circulation by the type L amino acid transporter [38]. However, improvement of maternal pulmonary circulation, by reversing hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction, could enhance fetal oxygen delivery and perhaps also improve fetal growth. Indeed, placental insufficiency, a pathology associated with decreased nutrients and oxygen supply to the fetus, results in intrauterine growth restriction.

In our murine model of perinatal hypoxia, body weight measured in 5-day-old pups was decreased by about 10% after perinatal hypoxia compared to normoxia. Body weight in pups exposed to perinatal hypoxia plus iNO was also significantly reduced compared to controls and did not significantly differ from pups with perinatal hypoxia alone. This suggests that maternal exposure to iNO did not prevent growth restriction resulting from perinatal hypoxia. Therefore neonatal exposure to iNO during perinatal hypoxia probably contributes largely to the protective effects of iNO against adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia on the adult pulmonary circulation.

Beneficial effects of neonatal iNO therapy could be explained by direct effect on the pulmonary circulation of pups exposed to hypoxia, thanks to the vasorelaxant properties of iNO allowing the counteraction of pulmonary vasoconstriction induced by hypoxia. Moreover, if prenatal exposure to hypoxia induced altered eNOS protein expression, exogenous NO could also act by compensation for endogenous NO production deficiency, allowing recovery of NO-mediated relaxation in pups, thus preventing further alterations in pulmonary vascular tone regulation. Such protective effects could be due to prevention of epigenetic modifications in pulmonary vessels leading to long-term alterations in the regulation of pulmonary circulation. In this line, it would be particularly of interest to investigate whether iNO could prevent the imbalance in the NO/cGMP pathway in adult pulmonary vasculature following perinatal hypoxia, with particular attention to muscarinic receptors and phosphodiesterases. Such a result would suggest that an appropriate intervention to counteract adverse effects of a hypoxic insult at a critical period of development could prevent long-term adverse effects of hypoxia on adult pulmonary circulation.

It remains therefore to test whether a neonatal iNO treatment, introduced from birth to the end of the 10day perinatal exposure to hypoxia, will be able to exert similar protective effects against adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia on the adult pulmonary circulation in our murine experimental model.

It will be also necessary to confirm such observations in humans. Indeed, iNO therapy was introduced about 15 years ago to treat neonates with PPHN. However there is no data on the long-term effects of iNO on the regulation of adult pulmonary circulation in humans. For example, it was shown that young adults having recovered from PPHN before introduction of the iNO therapy (children admitted to the neonatal-care unit of the Lausanne University Hospital for Children between 1972 and 1979) displayed exaggerated pulmonary vasoconstrictive response following reexposure to hypoxia, namely, during high-altitude exposure [7]. It will be therefore interesting to investigate whether such augmented pulmonary hypertensive response to hypoxia could be prevented in young adults having suffered from PPHN treated with iNO in the neonatal period. Potential longterm beneficial effects, besides the short-term prognostic improvement, will be useful indications for neonatologists to assess the safety of the applied therapy.

In terms of basic research, our data may contribute to a better understanding of the regulatory mechanisms of the pulmonary circulation in the adult following a perinatal hypoxic exposure with or without iNO therapy. In terms of clinical implications, our studies may help to devise novel therapeutic strategies to prevent and treat adult pulmonary vascular disorders secondary to perinatal hypoxic events. More generally, such results should stimulate researchers to further investigate cellular and molecular mechanisms implicated in fetal programming of adult diseases in order

It should be noted that most results of the present study are related to the main PA. The overall reactivity differs between the large conduit PA and the more distal resistant pulmonary vessels. The total pulmonary vascular resistance depends on the combination of the reactivity of all these vessels, among which large pulmonary arteries have also been shown to play a role [39, 40]. However, the modifications observed in the main PA of mice born in hypoxia compared to controls were already significant. Therefore other alterations could be expected in more distal vessels. In our previous study [13], we displayed that alterations secondary to perinatal hypoxia were found both in the main PA and at the level of more distal vessels: molecular assays were performed in total lung homogenates as well as in PA extracts, to assess whether molecular changes observed in the main PA were consistent with changes occurring in total lung. Similarly, hemodynamic studies indirectly showed the influence of perinatal hypoxia on distal vessels, which contribute to the resulting pulmonary arterial pressure, as estimated by measurement of the right ventricular pressure. In the present paper, some data, like the prevention of right ventricular hypertrophy in old mice exposed to perinatal hypoxia, also suggest that iNO exerts a protective effect against alterations not only of the main pulmonary artery but also of more distal vessels.

Moreover, our experimental model was complex, because it combined pre- and postnatal stimuli. In our previous studies, the timing of exposure to hypoxia was chosen to cover the period of lung vasculogenesis, during which the functional units of gas exchange develop [41]. Further comparison between effects of prenatal or postnatal hypoxic insult would be of interest to better determine the susceptibility window of the lung vasculature. Moreover, although chronic hypoxia was found to modulate maternal milk composition [42], a postnatal exposure to hypoxia will mainly impact directly the pups, whereas the effects of a prenatal insult will also depend on the maternal metabolic environment and body composition. Exposure of pregnant rats or mice to chronic hypoxia is an established model of intrauterine growth restriction [43], although the effects vary depending on oxygen concentration and timing of exposure. Such experimental models led to reduced pups' body weight, with [44] or without [45-47] decrease in litter size compared to controls. In our murine model or perinatal hypoxia, we observed a significant reduction in both pups' body weight and litter size compared to controls. However, these data were recorded at the end of the perinatal exposure (at postnatal day 5), thus resulting from combined pre- and postnatal insult. Moreover, as food intake is sometimes [45, 47], but not always [46], reduced in pregnant animals exposed to hypoxia, such experimental models could introduce a component of undernutrition. Whether some malnutrition occurs in our murine model of perinatal hypoxia remains to be investigated, because maternal weight changes were not recorded.

Regarding the timing of iNO treatment, we aimed in the present study to show whether iNO administration during the whole exposure to hypoxia could reverse adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia on adult pulmonary circulation. Further investigation of potential beneficial effects of separate prenatal or postnatal treatment would be useful to determine the therapeutic window in which iNO administration could provide the greater protective effect. Such information could help to devise novel targeted therapeutic interventions. Particular attention will be paid to the postnatal treatment, which is closer to the current clinical practice.

However, despite several limitations, the present paper points to beneficial effects of perinatal iNO administration against some adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia on the adult pulmonary circulation. Further investigations will of course be necessary to better understand the involved mechanisms. However, although several studies displayed shortterm protective effects of iNO administration, our data are the first, to our knowledge, to demonstrate long-lasting beneficial effects of perinatal iNO therapy on the pulmonary circulation throughout the life.

5. Conclusions

In the present report, we demonstrated that although a 10day exposure to hypoxia in the perinatal period resulted in alterations of the adult pulmonary circulation, simultaneous administration of iNO during the whole exposure to perinatal hypoxia completely restored ACh-induced relaxation, as well as eNOS protein content, in isolated PA of adult females. Right ventricular hypertrophy observed in old mice born in hypoxia compared to controls was also prevented by perinatal iNO treatment. Therefore, concomitant administration of iNO during perinatal hypoxic exposure seems able to prevent adverse effects of perinatal hypoxia on the adult pulmonary circulation.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Swiss National Foundation (Grant number 3200-067046), the Eagle Foundation, the Emma Muschamp Foundation, and the Fern Moffat Foundation.

References

- D. J. P. Barker, "In utero programming of cardiovascular disease," *Theriogenology*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 555–574, 2000.
- [2] P. D. Gluckman and M. A. Hanson, "Living with the past: evolution, development, and patterns of disease," *Science*, vol. 305, no. 5691, pp. 1733–1736, 2004.
- [3] A. L. Fowden, D. A. Giussani, and A. J. Forhead, "Intrauterine programming of physiological systems: causes and consequences," *Physiology*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 29–37, 2006.

- [4] R. F. Grover, J. H. K. Vogel, G. C. Voigt, and S. G. Blount Jr., "Reversal of high altitude pulmonary hypertension," *The American Journal of Cardiology*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 928–932, 1966.
- [5] A. W. Himmelmann, R. Speich, F. Real, and E. W. Russi, "Unusual course of pulmonary hypertension of vascular origin," *Respiration*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 292–294, 1993.
- [6] D. O'Neill, R. Morton, and J. A. Kennedy, "Progressive primary pulmonary hypertension in a patient born at high altitude," *British Heart Journal*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 725–728, 1981.
- [7] C. Sartori, Y. Allemann, L. Trueb, A. Delabays, P. Nicod, and U. Scherrer, "Augmented vasoreactivity in adult life associated with perinatal vascular insult," *The Lancet*, vol. 353, no. 9171, pp. 2205–2207, 1999.
- [8] F. Sime, D. Peñaloza, and L. Ruiz, "Bradycardia, increased cardiac output, and reversal of pulmonary hypertension in altitude natives living at sea level," *British Heart Journal*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 647–657, 1971.
- [9] A. Caslin, D. Heath, and P. Smith, "Influence of hypobaric hypoxia in infancy on the subsequent development of vasoconstrictive pulmonary vascular disease in the Wistar albino rat," *The Journal of Pathology*, vol. 163, no. 2, pp. 133–141, 1991.
- [10] T. S. Hakim and J. P. Mortola, "Pulmonary vascular resistance in adult rats exposed to hypoxia in the neonatal period," *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 419– 424, 1990.
- [11] V. Hampl and J. Herget, "Perinatal hypoxia increases hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction in adult rats recovering from chronic exposure to hypoxia," *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, vol. 142, no. 3, pp. 619–624, 1990.
- [12] J. Herget and V. Kuklík, "Perinatal lung injury extends in adults the site of hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction upstream.," *Physiological Research*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 25–30, 1995.
- [13] A. Peyter, V. Muehlethaler, L. Liaudet et al., "Muscarinic receptor M1 and phosphodiesterase 1 are key determinants in pulmonary vascular dysfunction following perinatal hypoxia in mice," *The American Journal of Physiology—Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, vol. 295, no. 1, pp. L201–L213, 2008.
- [14] M. A. Heymann, "Control of the pulmonary circulation in the fetus and during the transitional period to air breathing," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 84, no. 2, pp. 127–132, 1999.
- [15] J. F. Tolsa, "[Physiologic aspects of lung circulation in adjustment to extra-uterine life]," *Archives of Pediatrics*, vol. 7, supplement 2, pp. 269s–270s, 2000.
- [16] P. J. Barnes and S. F. Liu, "Regulation of pulmonary vascular tone," *Pharmacological Reviews*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 87–131, 1995.
- [17] D. Merkus, V. J. de Beer, B. Houweling, and D. J. Duncker, "Control of pulmonary vascular tone during exercise in health and pulmonary hypertension," *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 242–263, 2008.
- [18] S. H. Abman, J. P. Kinsella, T. A. Parker, L. Storme, and T. D. Le Cras, "Physiologic roles of nitric oxide in the perinatal pulmonary circulation," in *The Fetal and Neonatal Pulmonary Circulation*, E. K. Weir, S. L. Archer, and J. T. Reeves, Eds., pp. 239–260, Futura Publishing Company, Armonk, NY, USA, 2000.
- [19] M. P. Coggins and K. D. Bloch, "Nitric oxide in the pulmonary vasculature," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 27, no. 9, pp. 1877–1885, 2007.
- [20] M. C. Walsh-Sukys, J. E. Tyson, L. L. Wright et al., "Persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn in the era before nitric

oxide: practice variation and outcomes," *Pediatrics*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 14–20, 2000.

- [21] J. Smith and G. F. Kirsten, "Persistent pulmonary hypertension of the neonate in a developing country—does extracorporeal membrane oxygenation have a role to play?" *South African Medical Journal*, vol. 83, no. 10, pp. 742–745, 1993.
- [22] T. J. Weigel and J. R. Hageman, "National survey of diagnosis and management of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn," *Journal of Perinatology*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 369–375, 1990.
- [23] N. F. M. Porta and R. H. Steinhorn, "Pulmonary vasodilator therapy in the NICU: inhaled nitric oxide, sildenafil, and other pulmonary vasodilating agents," *Clinics in Perinatology*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 149–164, 2012.
- [24] J. P. Kinsella and S. H. Abman, "Inhaled nitric oxide: current and future uses in neonates," *Seminars in Perinatology*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 387–395, 2000.
- [25] O. Okada, N. Tanabe, J. Yasuda et al., "Prediction of life expectancy in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. A retrospective nationwide survey from 1980–1990," *Internal Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 12–16, 1999.
- [26] W. D. Rosenblum, "Pulmonary arterial hypertension: pathobiology, diagnosis, treatment, and emerging therapies," *Cardiol*ogy in Review, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 58–63, 2010.
- [27] M. Marino, J. L. Bény, A. C. Peyter, R. Bychkov, G. Diaceri, and J. F. Tolsa, "Perinatal hypoxia triggers alterations in K+ channels of adult pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells," *The American Journal of Physiology: Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, vol. 293, no. 5, pp. L1171–L1182, 2007.
- [28] J. Tolsa, M. Marino, A. Peyter, and J. Beny, "Role of membrane potential in endothelium-dependent relaxation of isolated mouse main pulmonary artery," *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 501–507, 2006.
- [29] M. Marino, J. Bény, A. Peyter, G. Diaceri, and J. Tolsa, "Perinatal hypoxia enhances cyclic adenosine monophosphate-mediated BKCa channel activation in adult murine pulmonary artery," *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 154– 165, 2011.
- [30] J. Tolsa, Y. Gao, F. C. Sander, A. Souici, A. Moessinger, and J. Usha Raj, "Differential responses of newborn pulmonary arteries and veins to atrial and C-type natriuretic peptides," *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 282, no. 1, pp. H273–H280, 2002.
- [31] V. Balasubramaniam, A. M. Maxey, D. B. Morgan, N. E. Markham, and S. H. Abman, "Inhaled NO restores lung structure in eNOS-deficient mice recovering from neonatal hypoxia," *American Journal of Physiology: Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, vol. 291, no. 1, pp. L119–L127, 2006.
- [32] J. D. Roberts Jr., C. T. Roberts, R. C. Jones, W. M. Zapol, and K. D. Bloch, "Continuous nitric oxide inhalation reduces pulmonary arterial structural changes, right ventricular hypertrophy, and growth retardation in the hypoxic newborn rat," *Circulation Research*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 215–222, 1995.
- [33] P. Tourneux, N. Markham, G. Seedorf, V. Balasubramaniam, and S. H. Abman, "Inhaled nitric oxide improves lung structure and pulmonary hypertension in a model of bleomycin-induced bronchopulmonary dysplasia in neonatal rats," *American Journal of Physiology—Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, vol. 297, no. 6, pp. L1103–L1111, 2009.
- [34] C. Kouyoumdjian, S. Adnot, M. Levame, S. Eddahibi, H. Bousbaa, and B. Raffestin, "Continuous inhalation of nitric

oxide protects against development of pulmonary hypertension in chronically hypoxic rats," *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 94, no. 2, pp. 578–584, 1994.

- [35] Y. Nagasaka, E. S. Buys, E. Spagnolli et al., "Soluble guanylate cyclase-α1 is required for the cardioprotective effects of inhaled nitric oxide," *The American Journal of Physiology: Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 300, no. 4, pp. H1477–H1483, 2011.
- [36] S. Minamishima, K. Kida, K. Tokuda et al., "Inhaled nitric oxide improves outcomes after successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation in mice," *Circulation*, vol. 124, no. 15, pp. 1645– 1653, 2011.
- [37] K. Kida, K. Shirozu, B. Yu, J. B. Mandeville, K. D. Bloch, and F. Ichinose, "Beneficial effects of nitric oxide on outcomes after cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation in hypothermia-treated mice," *Anesthesiology*, vol. 120, no. 4, pp. 880–889, 2014.
- [38] J. A. Torok, M. V. Brahmajothi, H. Zhu, B. T. Tinch, R. L. Auten, and T. J. McMahon, "Transpulmonary flux of S-nitrosothiols and pulmonary vasodilation during nitric oxide inhalation role of transport," *The American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 37–43, 2012.
- [39] J. Belik, "Large pulmonary arteries and the control of pulmonary vascular resistance in the newborn," *Canadian Journal* of *Physiology and Pharmacology*, vol. 72, no. 11, pp. 1464–1468, 1994.
- [40] J. Belik, "Myogenic response in large pulmonary arteries and its ontogenesis," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 36, no. 1, part 1, pp. 34–40, 1994.
- [41] D. Warburton, M. Schwarz, D. Tefft, G. Flores-Delgado, K. D. Anderson, and W. V. Cardoso, "The molecular basis of lung morphogenesis," *Mechanisms of Development*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 55–81, 2000.
- [42] E. D. Bruder, J. van Hoof, J. B. Young, and H. Raff, "Epidermal growth factor and parathyroid hormone-related peptide mRNA in the mammary gland and their concentrations in milk: Effects of postpartum hypoxia in lactating rats," *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 446–453, 2008.
- [43] P. M. Vuguin, "Animal models for small for gestational age and fetal programing of adult disease," *Hormone Research*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 113–123, 2007.
- [44] S.-T. J. Huang, K. C. T. Vo, D. J. Lyell et al., "Developmental response to hypoxia," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 1348–1365, 2004.
- [45] E. J. Camm, J. A. Hansell, A. D. Kane et al., "Partial contributions of developmental hypoxia and undernutrition to prenatal alterations in somatic growth and cardiovascular structure and function," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 203, no. 5, pp. 495.e24–495.e34, 2010.
- [46] P. J. Tapanainen, P. Bang, K. Wilson, T. G. Unterman, H. J. Vreman, and R. G. Rosenfeld, "Maternal hypoxia as a model for intrauterine growth retardation: effects on insulin-like growth factors and their binding proteins," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 152–158, 1994.
- [47] T. M. Tomlinson, J. R. Garbow, J. R. Anderson, J. A. Engelbach, D. M. Nelson, and Y. Sadovsky, "Magnetic resonance imaging of hypoxic injury to the murine placenta," *The American Journal of Physiology—Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 298, no. 2, pp. R312–R319, 2010.

Review Article

Role of Lectin-Like Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein-1 in Fetoplacental Vascular Dysfunction in Preeclampsia

Felipe A. Zuniga,¹ Valeska Ormazabal,² Nicolas Gutierrez,¹ Valeria Aguilera,¹ Claudia Radojkovic,¹ Carlos Veas,¹ Carlos Escudero,³ Liliana Lamperti,¹ and Claudio Aguayo¹

¹ Department of Clinical Biochemistry and Immunology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Concepción, 4070386 Concepcion, Chile

² Department of Basic Science, Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Católica de la Santísima Concepción, 4090541 Concepcion, Chile

³ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT), Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Department of Basic Sciences, Faculty of Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, 4081112 Chillán, Chile

Correspondence should be addressed to Claudio Aguayo; caguayo@udec.cl

Received 19 March 2014; Accepted 24 April 2014; Published 6 July 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Felipe A. Zuniga et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The bioavailability of nitric oxide (NO) represents a key marker in vascular health. A decrease in NO induces a pathological condition denominated endothelial dysfunction, syndrome observed in different pathologies, such as obesity, diabetes, kidney disease, cardiovascular disease, and preeclampsia (PE). PE is one of the major risks for maternal death and fetal loss. Recent studies suggest that the placenta of pregnant women with PE express high levels of lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1), which induces endothelial dysfunction by increasing reactive oxygen species (ROS) and decreasing intracellular NO. Besides LOX-1 activation induces changes in migration and apoptosis of syncytiotrophoblast cells. However, the role of this receptor in placental tissue is still unknown. In this review we will describes the physiological roles of LOX-1 in normal placenta development and the potential involvement of this receptor in the pathophysiology of PE.

1. Introduction

Preeclampsia is a leading cause of maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality. Despite the fact that this disease has been studied for more than hundreds of years, pathophysiology is still unclear. However, there is no doubt that one of the underling mechanisms associated with occurrence of preeclampsia is the alteration in the endothelial function, a phenomenon described as endothelial dysfunction. In turn, endothelial dysfunction is associated with unbalance between generation and activity of free radicals, including nitric oxide (NO) and superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) , in favor of generation of nitrative and/or oxidative stress. Among several mechanisms related to generation of oxidative stress during preeclampsia, recent evidences suggest that expression of LOX-1, a scavenger receptor for oxidized low density lipoprotein (oxLDL), may be a keystone receptor that needs to be investigated, since it is involved in many processes related to pathophysiology

of preeclampsia. Thus, the aim of this review is to describe the physiological and pathophysiological roles of LOX-1 in normal and preeclamptic pregnancies.

2. Vascular Endothelial Function and Nitric Oxide Generation

The endothelium is a monolayer of cells located in the inner wall of blood vessels and is the first physical and metabolic barrier between blood and tissues. The endothelium is involved in the regulation of hemodynamic function in physiological state, a phenomenon associated with synthesis and release of vasoactive molecules including nitric oxide (NO), prostaglandins, and thromboxanes [1]. In physiological conditions there is a tight balance between the generation of these different agents, and any disturbance in this equilibrium generates a pathological condition denominated endothelial dysfunction. In general, endothelial dysfunction is a syndrome characterized by loss in antithrombotic, angiogenic, and inflammatory and vasodilator function. This syndrome has been observed in different pathologies, such as obesity, diabetes, kidney disease, cardiovascular disease, and preeclampsia [2–6]. Endothelial dysfunction is generally related to low bioactivity or bioavailability of NO, which in turn is associated with reduced vasodilator capacity and loss of vascular protection against harmful agents [7–9].

Nitric oxide is a potent vasodilator agent, inhibits platelet aggregation and leukocyte adhesion to the vascular wall, prevents proliferation of muscle cell, and reduces the expression of adhesion molecules and chemokines involved in monocyte infiltration [10]. Nitric oxide is derived from the conversion of L-arginine into L-citrulline (i.e., L-arginine/NO pathway) through a reaction catalyzed by NO synthase (NOS). There are at least three NOS isoenzymes coded by independent genes: neuronal (nNOS or NOS I, 12q24.2), inducible (iNOS or NOS II, 17cen-g11.2), and endothelial (eNOS or NOS III, 7q35-36) [11-13]. Bioavailability of NO is regulated by several mechanisms including reaction with reactive oxygen species (ROS) [14]. The interaction between NO and the superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) produces the relatively long-lived potent prooxidant peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻), which is highly toxic, initiates lipid peroxidation, and nitrates tyrosine residues on proteins, thus inhibiting or promoting signal transduction pathways [15]. NO also modulates mitochondrial respiration and the redox state of mammalian cells [16]; it could react with sulfide-containing molecules (such as albumin) to form nitrosothiol compounds [17] and promotes vascular endothelial insulin transport [18]. These evidences show us the important role of NO in regulating vascular function and that is why abnormalities in their synthesis lead to alterations in vasodilation and changes in vascular function.

In 1997, Sawamura et al. [19] successfully identified the major endothelial receptor for oxidized LOX (oxLDL), a lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1). LOX-1 is a key molecule in the generation of endothelial dysfunction [20, 21]. LOX-1 activation is associated with cell proliferation, apoptosis, and cell migration [22, 23]. Binding of oxLDL to LOX-1 rapidly activates NADPH oxidase, resulting in rapid increase of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS), including O_2^- and H_2O_2 [24], with concomitant decreased intracellular NO [25], and decline cytochrome P450 activity resulting in decrease of endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor [26] and endothelial cells dysfunction [27].

2.1. Receptor LOX-1. LOX-1 is an endothelial receptor for circulating oxLDL that has been studied extensively in pathological states, such as atherosclerosis, diabetes, coronary arterial heart disease, and hypertension [22, 23, 28]. LOX-1 is highly expressed in blood-vessel-abundant tissues such as placenta, lung, marrow, and spinal cord, is moderately expressed in hippocampi, testicle, and large arteries, and is slightly expressed in heart, skeleton muscle, and ovary [19]. At the cellular level, LOX-1 is expressed in macrophages, vascular smooth muscle cells, monocytes, and endothelial

cells [27]. In vitro, the basal expression of LOX-1 is low, but the expression is highly induced by proinflammatory and prooxidative stimuli in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and macrophages. The stimuli include TNF- α [29, 30], heparin-binding-EGF [31], oxLDL [32], oxidative stress [33], remnant-like lipoprotein particles (RLPs) [34], angiotensin II [35], D-glucose [36], and lysophosphatidylcholine [32].

Vascular LOX-1 gene expression is markedly enhanced in hypertensive rats [37–39], hyperlipidemic rabbits [40], and diabetic rats [28]. Ischemia reperfusion also increases the LOX-1 expression in myocardium and kidney [41–44]. Several clinical drugs can inhibit the expression of vascular LOX-1. These include antihypertensive (angiotensin II receptor agonist, calcium channel blockers, and angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors), antihyperlipidemics (statins) [45], antidiabetic (sulfonylurea, biguanide, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ /PPAR γ agonist) [46], antithrombotic (aspirin) agents [47], and dihydrotestosterone [48].

Although LOX-1 was initially characterized as a receptor for oxidized LDL, just like other scavenger receptors, LOX-1 exhibits binding activity for multiple ligands. The precise oxLDL epitope recognized by LOX-1 is not known but is thought to be peptide based [49]. Several studies have shown that LOX-1 can recognize other modified lipoproteins including hypochlorite modified high-density lipoprotein [45], but not native LDL. LOX-1 also binds anionic polymers such as polyinosinic acid and carrageenan [49], anionic phospholipids including phosphatidylserine [50], apoptotic bodies [51], activated platelets [52], AGEs (advanced glycation endproducts) [53], and both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria [54].

The human LOX-1 gene (OLR1; low density lipoprotein oxidized receptor 1, OMIM no. 602601) localizes within natural killer-gene complex (NKC) as a single-copy gene and is assigned to the p12.3-p13.2 region on the short arm of human chromosome 12 [55]. OLR1 gene has more than 7000 bp and is composed of 6 exons separated by 5 introns; introns 1 to 5 have a length that is in the range of 102–246 bp while exon 6 is longer extending up to 1722 bp. Exon 1 encodes the 5'-UTR region and the cytoplasmic domain of LOX-1; exon 2 encodes the remaining portion of the cytoplasmic domain and the transmembrane domain; exon 3 encodes the neck domain; exons 4, 5, and 6 encode the C-type lectin domain and the 3'-UTR region of the protein [56]. The LOX-1 promoter is constitutively active only at low levels but may rise in different pathological conditions, including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, and atherosclerosis [22], and its expression can be induced by different ligands or activators, including oxLDL, shear stress, phorbol 12myristate 13-acetate (PMA), advanced glycation end products (AGEs), and others [32, 56, 57]. LOX-1 protein has a molecular weight of 50 kDa and belongs to the family of the C-type lectin [19]. It is synthesized as a precursor protein of 40 kDa, which undergoes subsequent four glycosylation sites found in the extracellular domain C-terminus, being finally processed to the mature form of 48 kDa [58, 59].

The existence of certain SNP gene OLR1 is associated with an increased risk in developing acute infarction (AMI).

For instance, patients with allele T/T or C/T in the 3'-UTR region are at increased risk (OR 3.74) of developing AMI [60]. Another SNP related to cardiovascular disease is G501C polymorphism, which is found inversely proportional to the degree of stenosis and severity of coronary artery disease [61]. Furthermore, a polymorphism located in exon 4, which produces an amino acid change at position 167 (K167N) of the C-type lectin domain of the protein, causes a reduction in the binding and internalization of oxLDL [62, 63]. A total of 7 SNP in the OLR1 gene have been identified, six of them, located within introns 4, 5 and 3'-UTR, comprised a complete linkage disequilibrium block associated with the elevated risk for myocardial infarction [60]. Since SNPs are located in noncoding regions they do not produce changes in receptor expression; however, modulate the relative abundance of two transcripts generated by alternative splicing. One of these products corresponds to the entire shape of the receptor, while the other is a truncated version, called LOXIN.

LOXIN represents a variable isoform as a consequence of alternative splicing of LOX-1 receptor, which confers protection against proatherogenic effects, contributing to the formation of an inactive heterodimer with LOX-1 [64, 65]. LOXIN, lack of exon 5, lost 2/3 of the lectin-like domain and therefore is unable to bind oxLDL [64]. Interestingly, expression of LOXIN in COS-7 cells [64], endothelial cells, human endothelial progenitor cells (unpublished data), and mononuclear cells of peripheral blood [63, 65] results in a decrease in apoptosis mediated by oxLDL, revealing a potential cardioprotective effect of LOXIN. Currently, there are no studies that demonstrate the role of LOXIN in preeclampsia.

Through ROS generation, LOX-1 stimulates gene expression by activating two signal transduction pathways involving either p38MAPK or ERK1/2 and PI3K, both causing NF- κ B activation [22, 23]. NF- κ B regulates expression of vascular genes including P-selectin, VCAM-1, ICAM-1, MCP-1, and M-CFS, involved in the attachment and activation of monocytes [66-68]. Decrease of eNOS and Bcl-2 and increase of matrix metalloproteases (MMP1, 3, 9) and Fas expression cause cells injury and apoptosis of endothelial cells [69]. LOX-1 activation can also lead to cell proliferation that is blocked with anti-LOX-1 neutralizing antibody. Recent evidence has shown that a complex formed by LOX-1 and membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) plays a crucial role in RhoA and Rac1 activation signaling pathways in Ox-LDL stimulation. Blockade of LOX-1 or MT1-MMP inhibits cell invasion, endothelial NO synthase protein downregulation, RhoA-dependent and NADPH oxidase activity, and reactive oxygen species generation, mediated by Rac-1 [70]. All these evidences suggest the close relationship between NO bioavailability and ROS generation during LOX-1 activation in human endothelial cells (Figure 1).

2.2. LOX-1 and Placenta. The placenta is the regulator of nutrient composition and supply from mother to fetus and the source of hormonal signals that affect maternal and fetal metabolism; appropriate development of the placenta is crucial to normal fetal development [71]. During pregnancy, cholesterol is an essential component for placental and fetal

development, used by the placenta for the synthesis of steroid hormones [72]. Physiological adaptations of maternal lipoprotein metabolism occur throughout pregnancy, leading to an increase in lipoprotein concentrations from second trimester to term in preparation for the catabolic phase of late pregnancy, a period of rapid fetal growth.

The placenta exhibits a high expression of LOX-1 mRNA [19] and the maternal lipid profile is associated with placental protein expression of OLR1 [73] which suggest a crucial role of this receptor in the placental function. For instance, it has been suggested that LOX-1 might be involved in trophoblast invasion in early pregnancy [74, 75] and accelerated trophoblast apoptosis and endothelial dysfunction preeclampsia [76]. In addition, using a trophoblastic cell line, the choriocarcinoma JAR, it has been reported that LOX-1 is responsible for 40-50% of oxLDL uptake [77]. Developmental studies looking for expression of LOX-1 in murine and human placentas have described higher expression of LOX-1 during early to midgestational stages than late gestation [78]. In murine placenta, LOX-1-expressing cells were fibroblast-like stromal cells in metrial glands and decidua basalis and trophoblast cells in the junctional and labyrinth zones. In the human placenta, LOX-1 was detected in villous cytotrophoblasts in first trimester and term placentas. Other studies show that LOX-1 is localized in extravillous trophoblasts of first trimester placentas [74, 79] and in syncytiotrophoblast of normal and preeclamptic term placentas, the latter being higher than normal [76].

Despite the fact that LOX-1 is present in placenta, it is intriguing what would be its functions. From studies using LOX-1 deficient mice it is known that LOX-1 is not a lethal gene, since animals are fertile [80] and had no detectable abnormalities during pregnancy. However, cells that express LOX-1 in the placental or in the maternal-placental interphase may be involved in management and evolution of oxidative stress or inflammatory response during pregnancy. In this regard, studies of Satoh et al. [78] demonstrated that LOX-1 is localized in fibroblast-like cells, a cell type that is closely associated with uterine NK cells; then this receptor might be involved in regulation of trophoblast invasion and maternal vascular remodeling during implantation.

3. Preeclampsia Overview

Preeclampsia is a major cause of maternal and infant morbidity and mortality worldwide [81–83]. Stillbirth is more common in preeclamptic pregnancies while one-third of infants of preeclamptic women are growth restricted [84, 85]. The incidence of preeclampsia is variable, affects 7 to 10% of all pregnancies [81, 85–88], and depends on the demographic and sociocultural characteristics of the population, as well as the criteria used for diagnosis of the disease. According to the criteria of the International Society of the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy, the pregnancy-induced hypertension is defined as "diastolic blood pressure >90 mm Hg occurring after week 20 of gestation with proteinuria (either 300 mg protein per day or a urinary protein/creatinine ratio 30 mg/mmol)" [89]. However, proteinuria is no longer an absolute requirement



FIGURE 1: Structure and LOX-1 signaling. LOX-1 has four domains: cytosolic domain (1–34 amino acids), transmembrane domain (amino acids 35–61), neck domain (amino acids 62–143), and CTLD (amino acids 144–263). The LOX-1 activation by different ligand increases phosphorylation of p42/44MAPK and p38MAPK and the expression of gp91phox subunit of NADPH oxidase, causing an increase in reactive oxygen species and a decrease in NO and hence endothelial dysfunction manifested by cell apoptosis, thrombosis, inflammation, and vasoconstriction.

for the diagnosis of preeclampsia according to the 2013 guide of The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists [90]. The removal of proteinuria as a diagnostic requirement for preeclampsia/eclampsia reflects the recognition that many women (14%) with preeclampsia do not have proteinuria [91], and such women have historically experienced delays in diagnosis and treatment as a result. Alternatively, the diagnosis may be established by the presence of hypertension associated with thrombocytopenia (platelet count less than 100.000/ μ L), impaired liver functions (elevated blood concentrations of liver transaminases to twice the normal concentration), development of renal insufficiency (serum creatinine concentration greater than 1.1 mg/dL or a doubling of the serum creatinine concentration in the absence of other renal diseases), pulmonary edema, or new-onset cerebral or visual disturbances [92, 93].

The risk factor of developing preeclampsia is higher in women with diabetes, thrombophilia, and obesity with either preexisting vascular disease or conditions associated with increased cardiovascular risk, including renal disease, hypertension, and with previous preeclampsia [94]. Clinical manifestations are highly variable and may occur antepartum, intrapartum, or postpartum [95]. The preeclampsia can lead to problems in the liver, kidneys, brain, and the clotting system. Moreover, as stated above, preeclampsia is associated with low birthweight and perinatal deaths due to premature birth and intrauterine growth restriction [81, 96].

Although etiology of preeclampsia is still unknown, there is no doubt that this condition is associated with endothelial dysfunction, which leads to occurrence of classical clinical syndrome of hypertension, proteinuria, and edema [83, 97– 100]. It is believed that the placenta has a key role in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia since the symptoms and complication of preeclampsia disappear after delivery of placenta [100, 101]. On the other hand, the uterus or fetus is probably not necessary for the development of this pathology, since there have been reports of preeclampsia with abdominal pregnancies [102] or hydatidiform moles [103].

Although endothelial dysfunction is well described in preeclampsia, the underling mechanism behind this alteration is not completely understood. Several studies have described the release of harmful molecules that may cause endothelial damage from the placenta toward maternal circulation during this disease [104–110]. For instance, the release of soluble receptor type 1 of vascular endothelial growth factor (sFlt-1) [88, 111], soluble endoglin [112], and lipid peroxides [113] has been described. Nowadays, many groups believe that trophoblastic microparticles/nanoparticles shedding toward maternal circulation are a keystone event in the generation of preeclampsia. The investigation is focused



FIGURE 2: Preeclampsia and LOX-1. In a normal pregnancy adequate trophoblast invasion produces spiral arteries in saccular without a muscular layer, whereby the placental bed is a set of high flow and low resistance. However, in preeclampsia the uteroplacental blood flow was reduced due to an incomplete trophoblast invasion that generates a high strength and low blood flow. Under this condition, placentation arterial lesions were subsequently produced inducing an inflammatory condition, thus increasing perfusion deficit and oxidative stress. In normal pregnancy, lower levels of LOX-1 were found expressed in cells that are part of the trophoblast and syncytiotrophoblast. On the other hand, in preeclampsia LOX-1 levels increase significantly, which may be responsible for the generation of high levels of ROS and decreased levels of NO.

on trying to understand how these particles are generated, what would be their content, and what they are doing in the maternal physiology. Actual beliefs explain that incomplete or absent trophoblastic invasion to the uterine spiral arteries is related to reduced uteroplacental blood flow and placental ischemia [83, 105, 114, 115] (see Figure 2). In this scenario, hypoxia/reoxygenation of placental tissue leads to synthesis of free radicals [116] and in particular synthesis and release of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as superoxide anion, which easily reach the maternal circulation directly or via modification of macromolecules where it can react with NO leading to reduction of NO bioavailability and impaired vascular response [117].

On the other hand, early placental development is characterised by rapid cell differentiation and migration, matrix remodelling, and angiogenesis. The enzyme NADPH oxidase is a major source of superoxide anions implicated in signalling pathways regulating these processes [118]. Normal pregnancy has an increased oxygen requirement by different organs, including the fetoplacental unit [119]; therefore it is necessary to maintain a tight control of the levels of oxidants and antioxidants during pregnancy. Diverse studies comparing biomarkers of oxidative stress in normal pregnant women and nonpregnant control subjects have shown that lipid peroxidation is enhanced during the second trimester of pregnancy as well as late in gestation [120], which is associated with decreased activity levels of SOD and GPX and decreased glutathione [121, 122]. The placenta is an important generator of lipid peroxides [120] but is also rich in antioxidant defense elements such as SOD, catalase, GPx, glutathione, and vitamins C and E [123]. ROS play important roles in normal placental development and may also play a role in influencing the growth trajectory of the placenta, and its component cell types, in contrast to the oxidative stress considered responsible for the pathophysiology of many diseases pathologies of pregnancy [124].

Growing evidence suggests that placental oxidative stress is involved in the etiopathogenesis of preeclampsia. Besides this, preeclampsia is characterized by a diminished antioxidant capacity [125]. Women with preeclampsia show increased biomarkers of oxygen radical damage and impairment of antioxidant defence. Placental tissue shows higher level of markers of lipid peroxidation such as F2-isoprostanes [126], nitrotyrosine and 4-hydroxynonenal [127]. Moreover, the activities of SOD and GPX and the tissue levels of vitamin E were significantly lower in preeclamptic placentas compared to normal placentas, whereas the activity of catalase was significantly higher in preeclampsia. When analyzed at the mRNA level, expression of SOD and GPX was found significantly lower in preeclamptic versus normal placentas, but there was no change in the catalase expression [128]. In other studies, the tissue levels of endogenous antioxidant proteins such as superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, thioredoxin reductase, and thioredoxin were all reduced in preeclamptic tissue compared with normal tissue [129]. Glutathione is a major endogenous water-soluble antioxidant, and women with preeclampsia had lower glutathione concentrations in plasma [130] and in erythrocytes compared with normotensive control women [131]. Moreover, significantly lowered levels of vitamins E and C were observed in preeclamptic women as compared with controls [132]. Overall, the evidence suggests that increased oxidative stress and reduction in antioxidant defense mechanisms may contribute to the disease process in preeclampsia.

3.1. LOX-1 and Preeclampsia. Maternal hyperlipidemia is one of the striking changes to take place in lipid metabolism during even normal pregnancy [133]; however elevated maternal circulating cholesterol is a risk factor leading to fetal endothelial dysfunction, which could have serious consequences to the growing fetus [134]. There are several indirect evidences that suggest the participation of LOX-1 in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. Thus, small dense LDL is also increased in the plasma of women with preeclampsia and LDL particles are more susceptible to oxidation, resulting in the generation of oxLDL [135]. Also it has been reported that levels of antibodies to oxLDL are elevated in women with established preeclampsia and in pregnant women with a history of repeated abortion [76]. Human placental cells express many lipoprotein receptors such as the LDL receptor (LDLR; [136]), the LDL receptor-related protein (LRP; [137]), the VLDL receptor (VLDL receptor; [138]), the scavenger receptors [139-141], and the LOX-1 [142].

More direct evidences have described high levels of LOX-1 in rat model of preeclampsia [143]. Moreover, the inhibition of LOX-1 prevents endothelial dysfunction in an in vitro model of preeclampsia [144]. On the other hand, it was found that upregulation of LOX-1 in HUVECs is exposed (24 h) to plasma from women with preeclampsia [135], a phenomenon that was also observed when plasma from preeclampsia was used in a rat model [145]. Indeed, in this animal model it has been demonstrated that exposure of plasma from women with preeclampsia with high content of oxLDL increased blood brain barrier permeability after acute exposition [145], suggesting that LOX-1 might be involved in occurrence of brain alterations associated with eclampsia. Other authors previously demonstrated an increase in the LOX-1 and arginase expressions in the maternal vasculature of women with preeclampsia when compared with normotensive pregnant women [135]. Contrasting to these results, but using placental tissue, Chigusa et al. [77] reported a decreased LOX-1 expression in preeclampsia.

Recently, Morton et al. [143] demonstrated in a rat model of preeclampsia a significant increase in the expression of both LOX-1 receptor and eNOS in the thoracic aorta, which was associated with increased superoxide anion generation and subsequent decreased endothelial function. LOX-1 activation has been shown to induce several intracellular signaling pathways, including increased expression of chemokines and adhesion molecules, triggering the CD40/CD40L pathway that activates the inflammatory cascade and increased generation of reactive oxygen species, such as superoxide anion in endothelial cells [146, 147]. Studying the soluble isoform of LOX-1 (sLOX-1), other groups have found no significant differences in sLOX-1 concentration in the plasma of patients with preeclampsia compared with matched control plasma [144].

Lee et al. [76] demonstrated that in vivo localization and the upregulated expression of LOX-1 are associated with reduced placental SOD-1 activity in preeclampsia, which fit perfectly in the well-described phenomenon of increased oxidative stress and reduced antioxidative defense in the preeclamptic placenta. Similar evidence suggests that oxLDL and LOX-1 could activate the NADPH oxidase enzyme system to generate superoxide anion. Sankaralingam et al. [135] demonstrated increased NADPH oxidase activity in cultured endothelial cells in response only to plasma from women with preeclampsia, which was significantly reduced by blocking with anti-LOX-1 or siRNA to LOX-1. Then, all these results suggest that LOX-1 is involved in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia.

4. Concluding Remark

LOX-1 is an important scavenger receptor of Ox-LDL and plays an important role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Ox-LDL causes endothelial dysfunction and its accumulation is the first step in the development of cardiovascular disease. LOX-1 activation via Ox-LDL is thought to be involved in the initiation and the development of other different pathological conditions, including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, and preeclampsia.

The underlying participation in the initial development of normal placenta and the pathophysiology of preeclampsia seem far more complex than originally thought as LOX-1 plays a fundamental role in the process of trophoblast differentiation and syncytiotrophoblast formation. The activation of LOX-1 in early pregnancy contributes to inducing migration and invasion of the trophoblast and cell apoptosis, where this phenomenon seems to depend on the formation of reactive oxygen species. However, during preeclampsia there is an increased expression of LOX-1 receptor, suggesting that this receptor may contribute to the endothelial dysfunction observed in this pathology. The increased expression and activity of LOX-1 in preeclampsia would favor the formation of free radicals that alter cellular function. Free radicals have opposite effects depending on their concentration; high expression of LOX-1 in preeclampsia may be associated with high levels of ROS and endothelial dysfunction, whereas low levels of ROS promote cell proliferation and migration.

The evidence shown in this review suggests the important role of LOX-1 in normal and pathological conditions, and their identification could be useful for understanding the development of preeclampsia. However, more information is needed in order to better understand the role of LOX-1 in the development of the placenta and in some pregnancy complications, such as preeclampsia.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

References

- C. Michiels, "Endothelial cell functions," *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, vol. 196, no. 3, pp. 430–443, 2003.
- [2] B. Messner and C. Demougeot, "Smoking and cardiovascular disease: mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction and early atherogenesis," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biol*ogy, vol. 34, pp. 509–515, 2014.
- [3] P. Totoson, K. Maguin-Gate, C. Prati, D. Wendling, and C. Demougeot, "Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in rheumatoid arthritis: lessons from animal studies," *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, vol. 16, no. 1, article R22, 2014.
- [4] E. Gutierrez, A. J. Flammer, L. O. Lerman, J. Elizaga, A. Lerman, and F. Fernandez-Aviles, "Endothelial dysfunction over the course of coronary artery disease," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 34, no. 41, pp. 3175–3181, 2013.
- [5] A. C. Roberts and K. E. Porter, "Cellular and molecular mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes," *Diabetes* and Vascular Disease, vol. 10, pp. 472–482, 2013.
- [6] L. J. Brennan, J. S. Morton, and S. T. Davidge, "Vascular dysfunction in preeclampsia," *Microcirculation*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 4–14, 2014.
- [7] J.-F. Arnal, A.-T. Dinh-Xuan, M. Pueyo, B. Darblade, and J. Rami, "Endothelium-derived nitric oxide and vascular physiology and pathology," *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, vol. 55, no. 8-9, pp. 1078–1087, 1999.
- [8] G. Yetik-Anacak and J. D. Catravas, "Nitric oxide and the endothelium: history and impact on cardiovascular disease," *Vascular Pharmacology*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 268–276, 2006.
- [9] I. Fleming and R. Busse, "Molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase," *The American Journal of Physiology—Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 284, no. 1, pp. R1–R12, 2003.
- [10] D. Tousoulis, A. M. Kampoli, C. Papageorgiou, and C. Stefanadis, "The role of nitric oxide on endothelial function," *Current Vascular Pharmacology*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 4–18, 2012.
- [11] L. J. Ignarro, "Nitric oxide as a unique signaling molecule in the vascular system: a historical overview," *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, vol. 53, no. 4 I, pp. 503–514, 2002.
- [12] R. San Martín and L. Sobrevia, "Gestational diabetes and the adenosine/L-arginine/nitric oxide (ALANO) pathway in human umbilical vein endothelium," *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2006.
- [13] S. Moncada and E. A. Higgs, "Nitric oxide and the vascular endothelium," *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, no. 176, pp. 213–254, 2006.

- [14] D. Tousoulis, A. Briasoulis, N. Papageorgiou et al., "Oxidative stress and endothelial function: therapeutic interventions," *Recent Patents on Cardiovascular Drug Discovery*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 103–114, 2011.
- [15] L. Myatt, "Review: reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and functional adaptation of the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 31, pp. S66– S69, 2010.
- [16] P. Sarti, M. Arese, E. Forte, A. Giuffrè, and D. Mastronicola, "Mitochondria and nitric oxide: chemistry and pathophysiology," *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, vol. 942, pp. 75–92, 2012.
- [17] N. Hogg, "The biochemistry and physiology of S-nitrosothiols," Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology, vol. 42, pp. 585–600, 2002.
- [18] H. Wang, A. X. Wang, K. Aylor, and E. J. Barrett, "Nitric oxide directly promotes vascular endothelial insulin transport," *Diabetes*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 4030–4042, 2013.
- [19] T. Sawamura, N. Kume, T. Aoyama et al., "An endothelial receptor for oxidized low-density lipoprotein," *Nature*, vol. 386, no. 6620, pp. 73–77, 1997.
- [20] M. Chen, T. Masaki, and T. Sawamura, "LOX-1, the receptor for oxidized low-density lipoprotein identified from endothelial cells: implications in endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis," *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 89–100, 2002.
- [21] M. Honjo, K. Nakamura, K. Yamashiro et al., "Lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 is a cell-adhesion molecule involved in endotoxin-induced inflammation," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 100, no. 3, pp. 1274–1279, 2003.
- [22] S. Dunn, R. S. Vohra, J. E. Murphy, S. Homer-Vanniasinkam, J. H. Walker, and S. Ponnambalam, "The lectin-like oxidized low-density-lipoprotein receptor: a pro-inflammatory factor in vascular disease," *Biochemical Journal*, vol. 409, no. 2, pp. 349– 355, 2008.
- [23] S. Mitra, T. Goyal, and J. L. Mehta, "Oxidized LDL, LOX-1 and atherosclerosis," *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 419–429, 2011.
- [24] L. Cominacini, A. Rigoni, A. F. Pasini et al., "The binding of oxidized low density lipoprotein (ox-LDL) to ox-LDL receptor-1 reduces the intracellular concentration of nitric oxide in endothelial cells through an increased production of superoxide," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 17, pp. 13750–13755, 2001.
- [25] L. Cominacini, A. F. Pasini, U. Garbin et al., "Oxidized low density lipoprotein (ox-LDL) binding to ox-LDL receptor-1 in endothelial cells induces the activation of NF-κB through an increased production of intracellular reactive oxygen species," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 275, no. 17, pp. 12633– 12638, 2000.
- [26] T. Thum and J. Borlak, "Mechanistic role of cytochrome P450 monooxygenases in oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced vascular injury: therapy through LOX-1 receptor antagonism?" *Circulation Research*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. e1–e13, 2004.
- [27] X. P. Chen and G. H. Du, "Lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1: protein, ligands, expression and pathophysiological significance," *Chinese Medical Journal*, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 421–426, 2007.
- [28] M. Chen, M. Nagase, T. Fujita, S. Narumiya, T. Masaki, and T. Sawamura, "Diabetes enhances lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) expression in the vascular endothelium:

possible role of LOX-1 ligand and AGE," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 287, no. 4, pp. 962–968, 2001.

- [29] G. Song, H. Tian, J. Liu, H. Zhang, X. Sun, and S. Qin, "H2 inhibits TNF-α-induced lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 expression by inhibiting nuclear factor κB activation in endothelial cells," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 1715– 1722, 2011.
- [30] M. Hashizume and M. Mihara, "Atherogenic effects of TNF-α and IL-6 via up-regulation of scavenger receptors," *Cytokine*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 424–430, 2012.
- [31] E. Mukai, N. Kume, K. Hayashida et al., "Heparin-binding EGFlike growth factor induces expression of lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 in vascular smooth muscle cells," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 176, no. 2, pp. 289–296, 2004.
- [32] T. Aoyama, H. Fujiwara, T. Masaki, and T. Sawamura, "Induction of lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor by oxidized LDL and lysophosphatidylcholine in cultured endothelial cells," *Journal* of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 2101– 2114, 1999.
- [33] T. Murase, N. Kume, R. Korenaga et al., "Fluid shear stress transcriptionally induces lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 in vascular endothelial cells," *Circulation Research*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 328–333, 1998.
- [34] Y. Aramaki, H. Mitsuoka, M. Toyohara et al., "Lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) acts as a receptor for remnantlike lipoprotein particles (RLPs) and mediates RLP-induced migration of vascular smooth muscle cells," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 198, no. 2, pp. 272–279, 2008.
- [35] D. Y. Li, Y. C. Zhang, M. I. Philips, T. Sawamura, and J. L. Mehta, "Upregulation of endothelial receptor for oxidized lowdensity lipoprotein (LOX-1) in cultured human coronary artery endothelial cells by angiotensin II type 1 receptor activation," *Circulation Research*, vol. 84, no. 9, pp. 1043–1049, 1999.
- [36] L. Li, T. Sawamura, and G. Renier, "Glucose enhances endothelial LOX-1 expression: role for LOX-1 in glucose-induced human monocyte adhesion to endothelium," *Diabetes*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 1843–1850, 2003.
- [37] M. Nagase, J. Abe, K. Takahashi, J. Ando, S. Hirose, and T. Fujita, "Genomic organization and regulation of expression of the lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor (LOX-1) gene," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 273, no. 50, pp. 33702–33707, 1998.
- [38] M. Nagase, S. Hirose, T. Sawamura, T. Masaki, and T. Fujita, "Enhanced expression of endothelial oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor (LOX-1) in hypertensive rats," *Biochemical* and Biophysical Research Communications, vol. 237, no. 3, pp. 496–498, 1997.
- [39] A. Nakano, N. Inoue, Y. Sato et al., "LOX-1 mediates vascular lipid retention under hypertensive state," *Journal of Hypertension*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1273–1280, 2010.
- [40] Y. Kuge, N. Kume, S. Ishino et al., "Prominent lectin-like oxidized low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor-1 (LOX-1) expression in atherosclerotic lesions is associated with tissue factor expression and apoptosis in hypercholesterolemic rabbits," *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, vol. 31, no. 8, pp. 1475–1482, 2008.
- [41] K. Kataoka, K. Hasegawa, T. Sawamura et al., "LOX-1 pathway affects the extent of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 300, no. 3, pp. 656–660, 2003.

- [42] H. Kosaka, H. Yoneyama, L. Zhang, S. Fujii, A. Yamamoto, and J. Igarashi, "Induction of LOX-1 and iNOS expressions by ischemia-reperfusion of rat kidney and the opposing effect of L-arginine," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 636–643, 2003.
- [43] D. Li, V. Williams, L. Liu et al., "LOX-1 inhibition in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury: modulation of MMP-1 and inflammation," *The American Journal of Physiology—Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 283, no. 5, pp. H1795–H1801, 2002.
- [44] D. Li, V. Williams, L. Liu et al., "Expression of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptors during ischemiareperfusion and its role in determination of apoptosis and left ventricular dysfunction," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 1048–1055, 2003.
- [45] O. Hofnagel, B. Luechtenborg, H. Eschert, G. Weissen-Plenz, N. J. Severs, and H. Robenek, "Pravastatin Inhibits expression of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) in Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits: a new pleiotropic effect of statins," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 604–610, 2006.
- [46] J. L. Mehta, B. Hu, J. Chen, and D. Li, "Pioglitazone inhibits LOX-1 expression in human coronary artery endothelial cells by reducing intracellular superoxide radical generation," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 23, no. 12, pp. 2203–2208, 2003.
- [47] J. L. Mehta, J. Chen, F. Yu, and D. Y. Li, "Aspirin inhibits ox-LDLmediated LOX-1 expression and metalloproteinase-1 in human coronary endothelial cells," *Cardiovascular Research*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 243–249, 2004.
- [48] Y. Qiu, T. Tanaka, H. Nawata, and T. Yanase, "Dihydrotestosterone inhibits lectin-like oxidized-LDL receptor-1 expression in aortic endothelial cells via a NF-κB/AP-1-mediated mechanism," *Endocrinology*, vol. 153, no. 7, pp. 3405–3415, 2012.
- [49] H. Moriwaki, N. Kume, T. Sawamura et al., "Ligand specificity of LOX-1, a novel endothelial receptor for oxidized low density lipoprotein," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 1541–1547, 1998.
- [50] J. E. Murphy, D. Tacon, P. R. Tedbury et al., "LOX-1 scavenger receptor mediates calcium-dependent recognition of phosphatidylserine and apoptotic cells," *Biochemical Journal*, vol. 393, no. 1, pp. 107–115, 2006.
- [51] K. Oka, T. Sawamura, K. Kikuta et al., "Lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor 1 mediates phagocytosis of aged/apoptotic cells in endothelial cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 95, no. 16, pp. 9535–9540, 1998.
- [52] M. Kakutani, T. Masaki, and T. Sawamura, "A plateletendothelium interaction mediated by lectin-like oxidized lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-1," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 360–364, 2000.
- [53] T. Jono, A. Miyazaki, R. Nagai, T. Sawamura, T. Kitamura, and S. Horiuchi, "Lectin-like oxidized low density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) serves as an endothelial receptor for advanced glycation end products (AGE)," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 511, no. 1–3, pp. 170–174, 2002.
- [54] T. Shimaoka, N. Kume, M. Minami et al., "LOX-1 supports adhesion of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 166, no. 8, pp. 5108–5114, 2001.
- [55] S. Yamanaka, X. Y. Zhang, K. Miura, S. Kim, and H. Iwao, "The human gene encoding the lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor (OLR1) is a novel member of the natural killer gene complex

with a unique expression profile," *Genomics*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 191–199, 1998.

- [56] T. Navarra, S. Del Turco, S. Berti, and G. Basta, "The lectinlike oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 and its soluble form: cardiovascular implications," *Journal of Atherosclerosis* and Thrombosis, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 317–331, 2010.
- [57] K. C. Tan, S. W. M. Shiu, Y. Wong, L. Leng, and R. Bucala, "Soluble lectin-like oxidized low density lipoprotein receptor-1 in type 2 diabetes mellitus," *Journal of Lipid Research*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 1438–1444, 2008.
- [58] H. Kataoka, N. Kume, S. Miyamoto et al., "Biosynthesis and post-translational processing of lectin-like oxidized low density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1). N-linked glycosylation affects cell-surface expression and ligand binding," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 275, no. 9, pp. 6573–6579, 2000.
- [59] P. L. Hermonat, H. Zhu, M. Cao, and J. L. Mehta, "LOX-1 transcription," *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 393–400, 2011.
- [60] R. Mango, F. Clementi, P. Borgiani et al., "Association of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the oxidised LDL receptor 1 (OLR1) gene in patients with acute myocardial infarction," *Journal of Medical Genetics*, vol. 40, no. 12, pp. 933–936, 2003.
- [61] R. Ohmori, Y. Momiyama, M. Nagano et al., "An oxidized lowdensity lipoprotein receptor gene variant is inversely associated with the severity of coronary artery disease," *Clinical Cardiology*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 641–644, 2004.
- [62] M. Chen, K. Inoue, S. Narumiya, T. Masaki, and T. Sawamura, "Requirements of basic amino acid residues within the lectinlike domain of LOX-1 for the binding of oxidized low-density lipoprotein," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 499, no. 3, pp. 215–219, 2001.
- [63] S. Biocca, M. Falconi, I. Filesi et al., "Functional analysis and molecular dynamics simulation of LOX-1 K167N polymorphism reveal alteration of receptor activity," *PLoS One*, vol. 4, no. 2, Article ID e4648, 2009.
- [64] R. Mango, S. Biocca, F. del Vecchio et al., "In vivo and in vitro studies support that a new splicing isoform of OLRI gene is protective against acute myocardial infarction," *Circulation Research*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 152–158, 2005.
- [65] S. Biocca, I. Filesi, R. Mango et al., "The splice variant LOXIN inhibits LOX-1 receptor function through heterooligomerization," *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 561–570, 2008.
- [66] N. Sakamoto, T. Ishibashi, K. Sugimoto et al., "Role of LOX-1 in monocyte adhesion-triggered redox, Akt/eNOS and Ca 2+ signaling pathways in endothelial cells," *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, vol. 220, no. 3, pp. 706–715, 2009.
- [67] O. Quehenberger, "Thematic review series: the immune system and atherogenesis. Molecular mechanisms regulating monocyte recruitment in atherosclerosis," *Journal of Lipid Research*, vol. 46, no. 8, pp. 1582–1590, 2005.
- [68] T. Goyal, S. Mitra, M. Khaidakov et al., "Current concepts of the role of oxidized LDL receptors in atherosclerosis," *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 150–159, 2012.
- [69] D. Li, L. Liu, H. Chen, T. Sawamura, S. Ranganathan, and J. L. Mehta, "LOX-1 mediates oxidized low-density lipoproteininduced expression of matrix metalloproteinases in human coronary artery endothelial cells," *Circulation*, vol. 107, no. 4, pp. 612–617, 2003.
- [70] K. Sugimoto, T. Ishibashi, T. Sawamura et al., "LOX-1-MT1-MMP axis is crucial for RhoA and Rac1 activation induced by oxidized low-density lipoprotein in endothelial cells," *Cardio*vascular Research, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 127–136, 2009.

- [71] L. Myatt, "Placental adaptive responses and fetal programming," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 572, no. 1, pp. 25–30, 2006.
- [72] G. Di Cianni, R. Miccoli, L. Volpe, C. Lencioni, and S. Del Prato, "Intermediate metabolism in normal pregnancy and in gestational diabetes," *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 259–270, 2003.
- [73] M. Ethier-Chiasson, J. C. Forest, Y. Giguère et al., "Modulation of placental protein expression of OLR1: implication in pregnancy-related disorders or pathologies," *Reproduction*, vol. 136, no. 4, pp. 491–502, 2008.
- [74] L. Pavan, A. Hermouet, V. Tsatsaris et al., "Lipids from oxidized low-density lipoprotein modulate human trophoblast invasion: involvement of nuclear liver X receptors," *Endocrinology*, vol. 145, no. 10, pp. 4583–4591, 2004.
- [75] T. Fournier, K. Handschuh, V. Tsatsaris, J. Guibourdenche, and D. Evain-Brion, "Role of nuclear receptors and their ligands in human trophoblast invasion," *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 161–170, 2008.
- [76] H. Lee, H. Park, Y. J. Kim et al., "Expression of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) in human preeclamptic placenta: possible implications in the process of trophoblast apoptosis," *Placenta*, vol. 26, no. 2-3, pp. 226–233, 2005.
- [77] Y. Chigusa, K. Tatsumi, E. Kondoh et al., "Decreased lectinlike oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1) and low Nrf2 activation in placenta are involved in preeclampsia," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 97, no. 10, pp. E1862–E1870, 2012.
- [78] H. Satoh, E. Kiyota, Y. Terasaki et al., "Expression and localization of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) in murine and human placentas," *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 773–784, 2008.
- [79] T. Fournier, K. Handschuh, V. Tsatsaris, and D. Evain-Brion, "Involvement of PPARγ in human trophoblast invasion," *Placenta A*, vol. 28, pp. S76–S81, 2007.
- [80] J. L. Mehta, N. Sanada, C. P. Hu et al., "Deletion of LOX-1 reduces atherogenesis in LDLR knockout mice fed high cholesterol diet," *Circulation Research*, vol. 100, no. 11, pp. 1634– 1642, 2007.
- [81] L. Duley, "The global impact of Pre-eclampsia and eclampsia," Seminars in Perinatology, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 130–137, 2009.
- [82] X. Xiong, N. N. Demianczuk, L. D. Saunders, F. L. Wang, and W. D. Fraser, "Impact of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension on birth weight by gestational age," *The American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 155, no. 3, pp. 203–209, 2002.
- [83] C. Escudero and L. Sobrevia, "A hypothesis for preeclampsia: adenosine and inducible nitric oxide synthase in human placental microvascular endothelium," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 469–483, 2008.
- [84] J. Villar, G. Carroli, D. Wojdyla et al., "Preeclampsia, gestational hypertension and intrauterine growth restriction, related or independent conditions?" *The American Journal of Obstetrics* and Gynecology, vol. 194, no. 4, pp. 921–931, 2006.
- [85] B. Sibai, G. Dekker, and M. Kupferminc, "Pre-eclampsia," *The Lancet*, vol. 365, no. 9461, pp. 785–799, 2005.
- [86] F. G. Cunningham and M. D. Lindheimer, "Current concepts: hypertension in pregnancy," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 326, no. 14, pp. 927–932, 1992.
- [87] D. B. Carr, G. B. McDonald, D. Brateng, M. Desai, C. T. Thach, and T. R. Easterling, "The relationship between hemodynamics and inflammatory activation in women at risk for preeclampsia," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 1109–1116, 2001.

- [88] S. Ahmad and A. Ahmed, "Elevated placental soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 inhibits angiogenesis in preeclampsia," *Circulation Research*, vol. 95, no. 9, pp. 884–891, 2004.
- [89] M. A. Brown, M. D. Lindheimer, M. de Swiet, A. Van Assche, and J. M. Moutquin, "The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: statement from the international society for the study of hypertension in pregnancy (ISSHP)," *Hypertension in Pregnancy*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 9–14, 2001.
- [90] American College of Obstetricians Gynecologists, "Hypertension in pregnancy," 2013, http://www.acog.org/Resources_ And_Publications/Task_Force_and_Work_Group_Reports/ Hypertension_in_Pregnancy.
- [91] F. Mattar and B. M. Sibai, "Eclampsia. VIII. Risk factors for maternal morbidity," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 182, no. 2, pp. 307–312, 2000.
- [92] S. D. Keiser, K. W. Boyd, J. F. Rehberg et al., "A high LDH to AST ratio helps to differentiate pregnancy-associated thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) from HELLP syndrome," *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1059–1063, 2012.
- [93] C. S. Homer, M. A. Brown, G. Mangos, and G. K. Davis, "Nonproteinuric pre-eclampsia: a novel risk indicator in women with gestational hypertension," *Journal of Hypertension*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 295–302, 2008.
- [94] M. T. Raijmakers, R. Dechend, and L. Poston, "Oxidative stress and preeclampsia: rationale for antioxidant clinical trials," *Hypertension*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 374–380, 2004.
- [95] M. L. Rosser and N. T. Katz, "Preeclampsia: an obstetrician's perspective," *Advances in Chronic Kidney Disease*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 287–296, 2013.
- [96] K. S. Khan, D. Wojdyla, L. Say, A. M. Gülmezoglu, and P. F. van Look, "WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review," *The Lancet*, vol. 367, no. 9516, pp. 1066–1074, 2006.
- [97] M. K. Sandvik, E. Leirgul, O. Nygård et al., "Preeclampsia in healthy women and endothelial dysfunction 10 years later," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 209, no. 6, pp. 569.e1–569.e10, 2013.
- [98] A. Szpera-Gozdziewicz and G. H. Breborowicz, "Endothelial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia," *Frontiers in Bioscience*, vol. 19, pp. 734–746, 2014.
- [99] A. C. Henriques, F. H. Carvalho, H. N. Feitosa, R. H. Macena, R. M. Mota, and J. C. Alencar, "Endothelial dysfunction after pregnancy-induced hypertension," *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, vol. 124, no. 3, pp. 230–234, 2014.
- [100] J. M. Roberts and C. Escudero, "The placenta in preeclampsia," *Pregnancy Hypertension*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 72–83, 2012.
- [101] C. W. G. Redman, "Pre-eclampsia and the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 301–308, 1991.
- [102] W. F. Piering, J. G. Garancis, C. G. Becker, J. A. Beres, and J. Lemann Jr., "Preeclampsia related to a functioning extrauterine placenta report of a case and 25-year follow-up," *The American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 310–313, 1993.
- [103] D. Chun, C. Braga, C. Chow, and L. Lok, "Clinical observations on some aspects of hydatidiform moles," *The Journal of obstetrics and gynaecology of the British Commonwealth*, vol. 71, pp. 180– 184, 1964.
- [104] A. P. Cockell, J. G. Learmont, A. K. Smarason, C. W. Redman, I. L. Sargent, and L. Poston, "Human placental syncytiotrophoblast microvillous membranes impair maternal vascular

endothelial function," *The British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 104, no. 2, pp. 235–240, 1997.

- [105] C. W. Redman and I. L. Sargent, "Placental debris, oxidative stress and pre-eclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 597–602, 2000.
- [106] J. M. Roberts, "Preeclampsia: is there value in assessing before clinically evident disease?" *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 98, no. 4, pp. 596–599, 2001.
- [107] C. W. Redman and I. L. Sargent, "Latest advances in understanding preeclampsia," *Science*, vol. 308, no. 5728, pp. 1592–1594, 2005.
- [108] D. Goswamia, D. S. Tannetta, L. A. Magee et al., "Excess syncytiotrophoblast microparticle shedding is a feature of earlyonset pre-eclampsia, but not normotensive intrauterine growth restriction," *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 56–61, 2006.
- [109] D. J. Roberts and M. D. Post, "The placenta in pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction," *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 1254–1260, 2008.
- [110] J. M. Roberts, "Preeclampsia: new approaches but the same old problems," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 199, no. 5, pp. 443–444, 2008.
- [111] R. J. Levine, S. E. Maynard, C. Qian et al., "Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 350, no. 7, pp. 672–683, 2004.
- [112] A. L. Gregory, G. Xu, V. Sotov, and M. Letarte, "Review: the enigmatic role of endoglin in the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 35, supplement, pp. S93–S99, 2014.
- [113] Y. Atamer, Y. Koçyigit, B. Yokus, A. Atamer, and A. C. Erden, "Lipid peroxidation, antioxidant defense, status of trace metals and leptin levels in preeclampsia," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 60– 66, 2005.
- [114] J. M. Davison, V. Homuth, A. Jeyabalan et al., "New aspects in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia," *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 2440–2448, 2004.
- [115] J. C. Beker, "Etiology of puerperal eclampsia," Nederlandsch Tijdschrift voor Verloskunde en Gynaecologie, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 99–107, 1950.
- [116] S. Tadesse, D. Kidane, S. Guller et al., "In vivo and in vitro evidence for placental DNA damage in preeclampsia," PLoS One, vol. 9, Article ID e86791, 2014.
- [117] A. M. Pimentel, N. R. Pereira, C. A. Costa et al., "L-argininenitric oxide pathway and oxidative stress in plasma and platelets of patients with pre-eclampsia," *Hypertension Research*, vol. 36, pp. 783–788, 2013.
- [118] M. T. Raijmakers, G. J. Burton, E. Jauniaux et al., "Placental NAD(P)H oxidase mediated superoxide generation in early pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 2-3, pp. 158–163, 2006.
- [119] E. Casanueva and F. E. Viteri, "Iron and oxidative stress in pregnancy," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 133, no. 5, supplement 2, pp. 1700S–1708S, 2003.
- [120] M. Klingler, H. Demmelmair, E. Larque, and B. Koletzko, "Analysis of FA contents in individual lipid fractions from human placental tissue," *Lipids*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 561–566, 2003.
- [121] M. Mihailović, M. Cvetković, A. Ljubić et al., "Selenium and malondialdehyde content and glutathione peroxidase activity in maternal and umbilical cord blood and amniotic fluid," *Biological Trace Element Research*, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 47–54, 2000.
- [122] S. Arikan, D. Konukoğlu, Ç. Arikan, T. Akçay, and I. Davas, "Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant status in maternal and cord blood," *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 145–149, 2001.

- [123] A. Mueller, C. Koebnick, H. Binder et al., "Placental defence is considered sufficient to control lipid peroxidation in pregnancy," *Medical Hypotheses*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 553–557, 2005.
- [124] C. Burdon, C. Mann, T. Cindrova-Davies, A. C. Ferguson-Smith, and G. J. Burton, "Oxidative stress and the induction of cyclooxygenase enzymes and apoptosis in the murine placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 724–733, 2007.
- [125] S. Gupta, A. Agarwal, and R. K. Sharma, "The role of placental oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation in preeclampsia," *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 807–816, 2005.
- [126] S. W. Walsh, J. E. Vaughan, Y. Wang, and L. J. Roberts II, "Placental isoprostane is significantly increased in preeclampsia," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1289–1296, 2000.
- [127] M. Noris, M. Todeschini, P. Cassis et al., "L-arginine depletion in preeclampsia orients nitric oxide synthase toward oxidant species," *Hypertension*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 614–622, 2004.
- [128] Y. Wang and S. W. Walsh, "Antioxidant activities and mRNA expression of superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase in normal and preeclamptic placentas," *Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 179–184, 1996.
- [129] J. Vanderlelie, K. Venardos, V. L. Clifton, N. M. Gude, F. M. Clarke, and A. V. Perkins, "Increased biological oxidation and reduced anti-oxidant enzyme activity in pre-eclamptic placentae," *Placenta*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 53–58, 2005.
- [130] S. Kharb, "Low whole blood glutathione levels in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia and diabetes," *Clinica Chimica Acta*, vol. 294, no. 1-2, pp. 179–183, 2000.
- [131] G. Chen, R. Wilson, G. Cumming, J. J. Walker, W. E. Smith, and J. H. McKillop, "Intracellular and extracellular antioxidant buffering levels in erythrocytes from pregnancy-induced hypertension," *Journal of Human Hypertension*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 37–42, 1994.
- [132] S. Kharb, "Vitamin E and C in preeclampsia," *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 37–39, 2000.
- [133] A. Ghio, A. Bertolotto, V. Resi, L. Volpe, and G. Di Cianni, "Triglyceride metabolism in pregnancy," *Advances in Clinical Chemistry*, vol. 55, pp. 133–153, 2011.
- [134] A. Leiva, C. D. de Medina, R. Salsoso et al., "Maternal hypercholesterolemia in pregnancy associates with umbilical vein endothelial dysfunction: role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and arginase II," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 33, pp. 2444–2453, 2013.
- [135] S. Sankaralingam, Y. Xu, T. Sawamura, and S. T. Davidge, "Increased lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 expression in the maternal vasculature of women with preeclampsia role for peroxynitrite," *Hypertension*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 270–277, 2009.
- [136] S. W. Cummings, W. Hatley, E. R. Simpson, and M. Ohashi, "The binding of high and low density lipoproteins to human placental membrane fractions," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 903–908, 1982.
- [137] M. E. Gåfvels, G. Coukos, R. Sayegh, C. Coutifaris, D. K. Strickland, and J. F. Strauss III, "Regulated expression of the trophoblast α2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein: Differentiation and cAMP modulate protein and mRNA levels," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 267, no. 29, pp. 21230–21234, 1992.
- [138] F. M. Wittmaack, M. E. Gåfvels, M. Bronner et al., "Localization and regulation of the human very low density

lipoprotein/apolipoprotein-E receptor: trophoblast expression predicts a role for the receptor in placental lipid transport," *Endocrinology*, vol. 136, no. 1, pp. 340–348, 1995.

- [139] B. Bonet, A. Chait, A. M. Gown, and R. H. Knopp, "Metabolism of modified LDL by cultured human placental cells," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 112, no. 2, pp. 125–136, 1995.
- [140] G. Cao, C. K. Garcia, K. L. Wyne, R. A. Schultz, K. L. Parker, and H. H. Hobbs, "Structure and localization of the human gene encoding SR-BI/CLA-1. Evidence for transcriptional control by steroidogenic factor 1," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 272, no. 52, pp. 33068–33076, 1997.
- [141] J. Lafond, M.-C. Charest, J. F. Alain et al., "Presence of CLA-1 and HDL binding sites on syncytiotrophoblast brush border and basal plasma membranes of human placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 583–590, 1999.
- [142] H. Yoshida, N. Kondratenko, S. Green, D. Steinberg, and O. Quehenberger, "Identification of the lectin-like receptor for oxidized low-density lipoprotein in human macrophages and its potential role as a scavenger receptor," *Biochemical Journal*, vol. 334, part 1, pp. 9–13, 1998.
- [143] J. S. Morton, A. Abdalvand, Y. Jiang, T. Sawamura, R. R. E. Uwiera, and S. T. Davidge, "Lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein 1 receptor in a reduced uteroplacental perfusion pressure rat model of preeclampsia," *Hypertension*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 1014–1020, 2012.
- [144] F. A. English, F. P. McCarthy, C. L. McSweeney et al., "Inhibition of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein-1 receptor protects against plasma-mediated vascular dysfunction associated with pre-eclampsia," *The American Journal of Hypertension*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 279–286, 2013.
- [145] M. P. H. Schreurs, C. A. Hubel, I. M. Bernstein, A. Jeyabalan, and M. J. Cipolla, "Increased oxidized low-density lipoprotein causes blood-brain barrier disruption in early-onset preeclampsia through LOX-1," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 1254– 1263, 2013.
- [146] D. Q. Jiang, L. X. Chu, Z. Y. Liu, and S. B. Zhang, "Pioglitazone decreased CD40/CD40L expression on human umbilical vein endothelial cells induced by oxidized low-density lipoprotein," *Clinica Chimica Acta*, vol. 370, no. 1-2, pp. 94–99, 2006.
- [147] D. Li, L. Liu, H. Chen, T. Sawamura, and J. L. Mehta, "LOX-1, an oxidized LDL endothelial receptor, induces CD40/CD40L signaling in human coronary artery endothelial cells," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 816–821, 2003.

Review Article

Programming of Fetal Insulin Resistance in Pregnancies with Maternal Obesity by ER Stress and Inflammation

Francisco Westermeier,^{1,2,3} Pablo J. Sáez,^{1,4} Roberto Villalobos-Labra,¹ Luis Sobrevia,^{1,5} and Marcelo Farías-Jofré¹

¹ Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory (CMPL), Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine,

Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, P.O. Box 114-D, 8330024 Santiago, Chile

³ Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Faculty of Chemical & Pharmaceutical Sciences & Faculty of Medicine, University of Chile, 8380492 Santiago, Chile

⁴ Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad San Sebastián, 7510157 Santiago, Chile

⁵ University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research (UQCCR), Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Queensland, Herston, 4006 QLD, Australia

Correspondence should be addressed to Marcelo Farías-Jofré; mfarias@med.puc.cl

Received 13 April 2014; Accepted 4 June 2014; Published 30 June 2014

Academic Editor: Leslie Myatt

Copyright © 2014 Francisco Westermeier et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The global epidemics of obesity during pregnancy and excessive gestational weight gain (GWG) are major public health problems worldwide. Obesity and excessive GWG are related to several maternal and fetal complications, including diabetes (pregestational and gestational diabetes) and intrauterine programming of insulin resistance (IR). Maternal obesity (MO) and neonatal IR are associated with long-term development of obesity, diabetes mellitus, and increased global cardiovascular risk in the offspring. Multiple mechanisms of insulin signaling pathway impairment have been described in obese individuals, involving complex interactions of chronically elevated inflammatory mediators, adipokines, and the critical role of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-dependent unfolded protein response (UPR). However, the underlying cellular processes linking MO and IR in the offspring have not been fully elucidated. Here, we summarize the state-of-the-art evidence supporting the possibility that adverse metabolic postnatal outcomes such as IR in the offspring of pregnancies with MO and/or excessive GWG may be related to intrauterine activation of ER stress response.

1. Introduction

The global epidemic of overweight and obesity is defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as abnormal or excessive body fat accumulation that presents a risk to health. WHO defines normal weight, overweight, and obesity as a body mass index (BMI, calculated as ratio of weight in kg/height in m²) of 18.5–24.9, 25–29.9, and 30 or greater, respectively. Obesity is further categorized by BMI into class I (30–34.9), class II (35–39.9), and class III or extreme obesity (≥40) [1]. BMI data from the WHO show that 43% of countries with recent nutritional information reported that half or more of their adult population has a BMI ≥ 25 [2]. The increasing prevalence of this nutritional problem is associated with many diet-related chronic diseases, including diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, stroke, hypertension, and certain cancers. In pregnancy, obesity is associated with various perinatal morbidities [3], including diabetes (pregestational and gestational), cesarean delivery, gestational hypertension and preeclampsia, congenital anomalies, macrosomia (birthweight > 4000 g), and maternal or fetal mortality [4, 5].

In addition to the perinatal complications of obesity during pregnancy, increasing epidemiological evidence suggests persistent and deleterious effects of maternal obesity (MO) on the offspring and through intrauterine programming [6, 7]. However, the underlying mechanisms that could explain a

² Facultad de Ciencia, Universidad San Sebastián, 7510157 Santiago, Chile

potential link between MO and risk of problems such as insulin resistance (IR) in the offspring remain unclear. In overweight and obese individuals, nutrient excess is associated with a chronic inflammatory [8, 9] and cellular stress [10] signaling network involved in the adaptive response to persistent overload of glucose, amino acids, and free fatty acids (FFA) [11]. Adipose tissue produces circulating bioactive substances named adipokines (such as leptin, adiponectin, and resistin) and inflammatory markers (such as interleukin (IL) 6 and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) [12]). These molecules are also implicated in the etiology of obesity-induced IR, based on common activation of stressresponsive proteins including c-Jun-NH2-terminal kinase (JNK), the inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B (IKK), protein kinases C (PKC), and R (PKR) [12-14]. Growing evidence indicates that the cellular stress linking obesity and increased circulating and subcellular markers of IR implies a crucial role of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response [15–22]. The present review summarizes the findings supporting the hypothesis that adverse metabolic postnatal outcomes such as IR in the offspring of pregnancies with obesity and/or excessive gestational weight gain (GWG) are related to intrauterine programming and activation of the ER stress response.

2. Postnatal Effect of Maternal Obesity on the Offspring

Obesity and excessive GWG are recognized as independent risk factors for maternal and fetal complications [4, 5, 23]. Since the first publication by the Institute of Medicine in 1990 of GWG recommendations [24], there has been a 70% increase in the prevalence of prepregnancy obesity in the USA [4]. A large percentage of obese individuals will experience comorbidities during their life span, including the fertile age. Among the major general medical comorbidities are hypertension, cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, metabolic syndrome (a clinical condition associated with central obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and IR), thromboembolic events, and cancer. In pregnancy, obesity is associated with various perinatal morbidities, including diabetes (pregestational and gestational), cesarean delivery, gestational hypertension and preeclampsia, congenital anomalies, macrosomia (birthweight > 4000 g), and maternal or fetal mortality [4, 5]. Prepregnancy obesity and excessive GWG have been implicated in an intergenerational "vicious cycle" of obesity [25]. Overweight or obese pregnant women have an increased probability of delivering macrosomic daughters, who are more likely to become obese themselves and deliver large neonates [26, 27]. In fact, GWG and birthweight are directly associated with BMI and risk of obesity in adolescence [28-30]. Based on these results, Oken et al. proposed that GWG guidelines should account for these influences of maternal nutrition on child weight [31]. The reported relationship was independent of other parental characteristics, potentially mediating peripartum factors, and abnormal dietary behaviors in the child, suggesting a role for the intrauterine environment in long-term offspring weight regulation. Interestingly, the association between maternal

GWG and increased risk of adiposity in the offspring has been shown to emerge as early as 3 [31] or 7 years of age [32].

Considering the high prevalence of obesity in pregnancy and its association with gestational diabetes, there is an increasing interest in exploring the potentially negative influence of maternal overnutrition and elevated birthweight on the risk of disease in childhood and adulthood [25, 26, 41, 42]. Thus, it has been reported that children of obese women are more likely to develop IR later in life [43, 44]. Fraser et al. showed a detailed association of GWG and prepregnancy weight with offspring cardiovascular risk factors at the age of 9, in a large cohort of mother-offspring pairs from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) [33]. In these studies, women who gained excessive weight during gestation were more likely to have offspring with greater BMI, waist size, fat mass, leptin, systolic blood pressure, C-reactive protein, and IL-6 levels and lower high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and apolipoprotein A levels (Table 1). Additional analysis demonstrated that excessive prepregnancy weight was also independently associated with greater offspring adiposity and adverse cardiovascular risk factors (Table 1) [34-38, 45, 46]. Epidemiological studies revealed that MO increases the incidence of metabolic syndrome in children [41, 47]. Moreover, the effect of MO on the susceptibility to obesity in offspring seems to be independent of gestational diabetes, as obese women with normal blood glucose have neonates with increased adiposity [39]. Interestingly, the same group has shown that MO is related to metabolic compromise already apparent at birth, characterized by reduced insulin sensitivity and increased serum inflammatory markers [26, 40]. Hence, maternal prepregnancy obesity and excessive GWG are independently related to an increased risk of obesity, IR, and very early markers of cardiovascular disease in the offspring. This evidence shifted our attention towards the gestational period as an extremely important intervention target in prevention of the obesity epidemic and its associated consequences such as IR and cardiovascular risk.

Ample evidence has indicated differential contributions of genetic and environmental factors in the development of noncommunicable diseases, such as obesity, diabetes mellitus, or cardiovascular diseases. In the case of obesity, the demographic shift of populations towards a fatty phenotype over a relatively short period of one or two generations argues against a major genetic contribution in favor of environmental or epigenetic mechanisms. In line with the concept of greater relevance of environmental factors, recent reports suggest that the prevention of childhood and adult obesity may need to begin even before conception [48–51]. Since pregnancy is a critical period of life, ethical considerations limit our ability to perform detailed mechanistic studies in humans. Therefore, animal models have been developed to address multiple questions in reproductive medicine.

Several animal models are used to study the mechanisms linking the altered prenatal environment in MO with the increased risk of obesity and other metabolic consequences in the developing offspring [52, 53]. Feeding animals a high fat diet (HFD) is a common model of overnutrition in pregnancy. Pups from rats on HFD during pregnancy and

TABLE 1: Cardiovascular risk factors in offspring of pregnancies with maternal obesity.

Parameters	Effect	Maternal obesity	Offspring age (years)	Reference
Blood pressure	Increased	eGWG	9, 21	[33, 34]
	mereaseu	ePPW	Neonates, 6, 17	[35-38]
Body fat	Increased	eGWG	9	[33]
	Increased	ePPW	Neonates, 6	[37-40]
BMI	In anonad	eGWG	9, 21	[33, 34]
	mcreased	ePPW	6, 17	[36, 37]
IL-6	Increased	eGWG	9	[33]
	Increased	ePPW	Neonates	[40]
CRP	Increased	eGWG	9	[33]
Abdominal fat	Increased	eGWG	9	[33]
	mercased	ePPW	6	[37]
Leptin	Increased	eGWG	9	[33]
	Increased	ePPW	Neonates	[40]
HDL	Decreased	eGWG	9	[33]
	Decreased	ePPW	6	[37]
ApoA1	Decreased	eGWG	9	[33]
Insulin	Increased	ePPW	6	[37]
HOMA-IR	Increased	ePPW	Neonates	[40]

ePPW, excessive prepregnancy weight; eGWG, excessive gestational weight gain; BMI, body mass index; IL-6, interleukin 6; CRP; c-reactive protein; HDL: high-density lipoprotein; ApoAl: apolipoprotein A-I; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance.

lactation, for instance, were shown to be heavier, fatter, and more hyperglycemic and moreover had higher hepatic lipid content at weaning than pups from rats fed a control diet [54]. In a similar mouse model, chronic maternal overnutrition was associated with hyperphagic behavior, reduced locomotion, increased adiposity, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and IR in the offspring at 3 and 6 months of age [55, 56].

Rodent models genetically predisposed to obesity are also used to evaluate the effects of MO. Genetically normal offspring of obese Agouti mouse dams, for example, were heavier than offspring from controls [57]. Interestingly, although adult weight did not differ between groups, female offspring of obese Agouti mothers had reduced β -pancreatic cell function and altered glycemic homeostasis [57]. Another transgenic model of maternal obesity is the heterozygous leptin receptor-deficient mouse (Lepr $(db/^+)$) [58]. The pregnant Lepr $(db/^+)$ female is characterized by overeating, increased weight gain during pregnancy, and spontaneous development of gestational diabetes. Moreover, wild-type offspring show increased fetal growth and postnatal markers of hepatic insulin resistance, suggesting the occurrence of fetal programming [58]. Several research groups have been working to understand the mechanisms by which intrauterine metabolic alterations lead to particular phenotypes and influence susceptibility to obesity and metabolic diseases. The molecular mediators and signaling pathways that could be related to offspring metabolic phenotype (such as obesity and IR) are not fully elucidated. However, multiple inflammatory cytokines, hormones such as leptin or adiponectin, and nutrients such as glucose, free fatty acids (FFA), and triglycerides

could be implicated in a mechanistic explanation of the increased metabolic risk in the offspring of MO [6, 14].

During normal intrauterine life, maternal insulin [59] and human insulin analog lispro (Humalog) [60, 61] are unable to cross the placenta, whereas maternal glucose is actively transferred to the fetus [62]. The developing human fetal pancreas responds to a glucose load by producing insulin, which acts as a fetal growth hormone in addition to its hypoglycemic effects. This is the basic concept of the "Pedersen's hyperglycemia-hyperinsulinism hypothesis" [63] to explain why offspring of diabetic mothers exhibit relatively higher birthweight [64, 65]. Maternal overnutrition produces maternal hyperglycemia, which increases fetal insulin secretion in a way similar to that observed in gestational diabetes [64-66]. Therefore, secondary fetal hyperinsulinemia is believed to be involved in the intrauterine programming of obesity and diabetes [41]. Prospective studies indicate that, at 6 years of age, as at birth, the greatest increase in weightto-height ratio (relative obesity) was seen in children who experienced the greatest exposures to insulin in the uterus (as judged by amniotic fluid insulin concentration) [59]. Furthermore, animal studies show that systematic insulin administration to rats during pregnancy produces increased fetal growth [67], hyperinsulinemia, and impaired glucose tolerance [68].

Leptin may be implicated in the metabolic impairment observed in the offspring of MO and diabetes, as elevated circulating levels of this hormone are found in maternal and neonatal serum in association with these conditions [69]. However, in spite of the fact that placental transfer of leptin has been demonstrated *in vivo* [70], it is believed that umbilical levels of this circulating peptide are a marker of neonatal adiposity more than a modulator of fetal growth [69]. Several inflammatory cytokines are elevated in obese pregnant women [71] and have been postulated to be potential mediators of metabolic programming.

Consequently, the literature strongly suggests that altered metabolic phenotypes such as obesity and IR observed in the offspring of obese mothers could be partially explained by multiple mediators. It is likely that a model encompassing the multifactorial contributions of nutrient (such as glucose, fatty acid, and amino acid) and hormone (such as insulin and leptin) signals between the obese mother and the developing fetus would best describe the true mechanisms involved. The general question addressed in this review is how these factors induced by maternal obesity could modify insulin-dependent metabolic homeostasis in the offspring.

3. Insulin Resistance Mechanisms

Insulin is a key endocrine hormone that controls whole-body glucose, lipid, and protein homeostasis [72]. It also controls several other important processes such as cell growth, cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation [73]. Insulin mediates its biological effects via activation of insulin receptors A (IR-A) and B (IR-B) [74, 75] in major insulin target tissues [76], including human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) [64] and human placenta microvascular endothelium (hPMEC) [65]. Subsequently, binding of insulin to IR-A and/or IR-B promotes its autophosphorylation and activation of the insulin receptor substrate family 1–4 (IRS1-4) [77, 78]. Phosphorylated IRS-1 (P-IRS-1) can bind adaptor proteins by linking its Src Homology 2 domain (SH2), such as p85 (regulatory subunit of phosphatidylinositol-3 or PI₃K) and growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 (Grb-2). Thus, when the SH2 domain of p85 binds to IRS-1-P, the catalytic subunit p110 of PI₃K is activated. In the same way, binding of SH2 domain of Grb-2 to P-IRS-1 activates the associated factor Son of sevenless (SOS). Next, activation of PI₃K generates lipid mediators such as inositol triphosphate (IP₃), which in turn initiates a cascade of signaling events dependent on protein kinases. These protein effectors include the IP₃dependent kinase 1 (PDK-1) and protein kinase B (Akt) [79]. Depending on the cell type, the insulin signaling pathway culminates in a series of different effects, such as glucose transporter that mediates the uptake in mediated uptake in liver cells [79] or activation of nitric oxide (NO) production in HUVEC [64] and hPMEC [65] in normal pregnancies. In a similar phosphorylation pathway cascade, activation of Grb-2/SOS involves activation of GTP-binding proteins Ras/Raf and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) [77]. Because both MO [27] and gestational diabetes [80] have been associated with decreased insulin sensitivity and increased IR status in the offspring, we will analyze how those insulin signaling mechanisms could be impaired in pregnancy.

IR is defined as a pathophysiological condition of underresponsiveness to normal insulin concentrations in target tissues such as adipose, muscle, liver, or cardiovascular tissues. Impaired insulin action is caused by reduced expression and/or function of its complex cellular response machinery [78]. Postreceptor defects in the intracellular insulin signaling pathway at different levels (such as in the mitochondria) may explain IR [81]. Whereas the insulin pathway branch dependent on PI₃K has been thought of as being responsible for the metabolic and vasodilator effects in response to insulin stimulation, the Grb-2/SOS branch has been associated with the mitogen and vasoconstrictor actions of insulin [73, 78, 82]. Hence, abnormal predominance of the insulin derived from Grb-2/SOS signaling branch over the PI₃K pathway has been associated with altered insulin effects on multiple tissues (such as liver, muscle, fat, and blood vessels). Interestingly, stress-activated protein kinases that phosphorylate IR or IRS-1 in serine or threonine residues are associated with inhibition of PI₃K signaling and promotion of IR at metabolic and vascular levels [78].

In overweight and obese individuals, nutrient excess is associated with a chronic inflammatory and cellular stress signaling network involved in the adaptive response to persistent overload of glucose, amino acids, and FFA [11, 83, 84]. Circulating levels of adipokines (such as leptin, adiponectin, and resistin) and inflammatory mediators (such as IL-6 and TNF- α) are directly related to total body fat [12, 85]. These adipokines in turn are associated with autocrine and paracrine cell signaling alterations in response to obesity. All of these circulating products are implicated in the etiology of IR mediated by activation of stress-responsive proteins such us JNK, IKK, PKR, and PKC [12, 83, 85]. In fact, TNF α and FFA are potent activators of JNK, and increased concentrations of these mediators could explain the elevated function of this stress cascade in HFD and genetically obese mouse models [86]. Research which focused on the metabolic consequences of cellular stress in the context of IR development in obese individuals involves a crucial role for the ER stress response [15-20].

4. Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) Stress Response

The ER is a complex intracellular membranous network that is essential for the synthesis and processing of secretory and membrane proteins [87]. It is highly sensitive to alterations in cellular environmental changes. It works as a quality control station that allows for transit of correctly folded proteins to the Golgi apparatus and retains unfolded or misfolded proteins [88]. Consequently, ER plays a key role in the general cellular response to altered environmental conditions, such as nutrient overload or deprivation, abnormal increase in synthesis of secretory proteins, expression of mutant or misfolded proteins, and microbial infections [88, 89]. All of these "stressor signals" can lead to disruption of ER homeostasis and accumulation of unfolded proteins in the lumen, a condition called ER stress. In order to adapt ER function to this stress, a highly conserved signaling pathway called the unfolded protein response (UPR), or the ER stress response, is activated [87, 89-91]. The activated UPR reduces the translocation of new proteins into the ER lumen and increases retrotranslocation and degradation of misfolded proteins, recovering the folding capacity of the ER. This integrated ER
stress response is characterized by transcriptional activation of multiple UPR-responsive genes mediated by inositolrequiring enzyme 1 alpha (IRE1 α) and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), promoting a general decrease in translation initiation and a selective translation of several specific mRNAs mediated by PKR-like ER-associated kinase (PERK) [87]. IRE1α, PERK, and ATF6, transmembrane proteins localized on ER surface, are referred to as UPR sensors. These proteins are normally bound by the ER chaperone immunoglobulin binding protein BiP/GRP-78 at intraluminal domains. When immature proteins (also bound by BiP) exceed ER folding capacity, less BiP is available for binding to the UPR sensors. As a consequence, without BiP binding, PERK and IRE-1 α autooligomerize and undergo autophosphorylation, leading to the activation of downstream signaling. A key mediator of the UPR is the mRNA encoding to X-box DNA binding protein 1 (XBP1), which is cleaved by the cytosolic endoribonuclease motif of activated IRE-1 α , allowing for translation of its mRNA and consequently the generation of XBP1, a potent transcription factor. Moreover, activated PERK leads to an attenuation of general protein synthesis through inhibitory serine phosphorylation of eukaryotic translational initiation factor 2α (eIF 2α). Interestingly, serine phosphorylation of eIF2 α also results in specific translation of ATF4, another nuclear UPR mediator. Moreover, the release of ATF-6 from BiP binding frees this UPR sensor to be translocated to the Golgi, where it completes its activation as a functional transcription factor. All of these transcription factors (XBP1, ATF4, and ATF6) are translocated to the nucleus where they are able to stimulate the expression of multiple genes implicated in the final adaptive effects of UPR. In this context, it has been reported that transcriptional stimulation of adaptive genes depends on availability of specific ER stress response elements (ERSE), unfolded protein response elements (UPRE), or amino acid response elements (AARE) in the promoter region. Under normal conditions, the UPR pathway functions as a physiological adaptive mechanism. In contrast, when the primary stimulus is too persistent or severe, the ER stress response can lead to irreversible cell damage and programmed death through stimulation of proapoptotic transcription factor growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible gene 153 (GADD153, also called C/EBP homologous protein or CHOP) [87, 89–91].

The UPR is considered an efficient cellular mechanism of adaptation to multiple physiological conditions, but it has also been implicated in the physiopathology of various diseases [86, 88–90]. Despite the fact that first descriptions of UPR elements (such as BiP and IRE1) were associated with genes upregulated by glucose starvation, the ER stress response pathway is also evoked by the nutrient overload observed in diabetes mellitus and obesity. Currently, it is widely accepted that UPR plays a key role in the pathogenesis of diabetes due to its participation in pancreatic β -cell loss and peripheral IR [17, 18, 20, 92]. Moreover, the UPR stimulates the transcription of glucose-regulated proteins that may provide a protective function by increasing cellular capacity related to uptake and use of glucose. Nonetheless, during chronic hyperglycemia or nutrient excess, β -cells are exposed to high levels of immature insulin accumulated in the ER

lumen, which may induce cell death through UPR-related mechanisms [17]. Hence, the ER stress response would play a dual role, acting as a beneficial regulator under physiological conditions or triggering β -cell dysfunction and apoptosis under a chronic stress environment.

Interestingly, it has been reported that HFD and obesity induce ER stress in the liver, which suppresses insulin signaling via JNK activation, establishing a potential link between obesity and IR [15, 88]. Moreover, liver cells exposed to pharmacological triggers of ER stress response show IR profiles characterized by serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and suppression of insulin-induced Akt phosphorylation. Since these alterations in the insulin pathway are blocked by inhibition of JNK, ER stress may promote a JNK-dependent serine phosphorylation of IRS-1, which in turn inhibits insulin receptor signaling. Further experiments confirm crucial roles for IRE1 as a promoter and XBP1 as an inhibitor of ER stress-associated insulin resistance in obesity [15, 93]. In addition, it has been reported that preventing ER stress in obese and diabetic mice with chemical chaperones (such as 4phenyl butyric acid and taurine-conjugated ursodeoxycholic acid, TUDCA) was associated with restoration of insulin sensitivity at systemic and tissue levels (liver, muscle, and fat) [15, 94]. All of these results suggest that treating individuals exposed to an obesity-related condition with ER stressalleviating compounds could be used as a new therapeutic tool to prevent or reverse the deleterious effects of obesity, insulin resistance, and pro-inflammatory markers.

5. Link between Inflammation and ER Stress-Related Insulin Resistance

The classic function of the immune system is defense against infections by detecting pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as bacterial and viral components. However, immune cells are also able to sense damage associated with damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as extracellular nucleotides and cytoplasmic and nuclear components [95]. After activation, immune cells use different mechanisms for cell-to-cell communication, including cytokines, which are mainly soluble proteins that can promote pro- or anti-inflammatory responses [96]. Cytokines are produced not only by immune cells but also by almost all cells and activate immune response during injury or infection. Abnormal release of cytokines can promote development and progression of various pathological conditions with diverse etiologies [96]. Moreover, obese individuals exhibit high levels of several pro-inflammatory cytokines, which promote an inflammatory state related to tissue damage [97, 98]. Currently, there is a rising interest regarding the role of inflammation during obesity, especially in cases where exercise and dietary treatment are insufficient to restore the nutritional state [99]. This situation is likely due to a chronic pro-inflammatory response, mediated by various pro-inflammatory cytokines that promote modulation of T cell function toward the Th1 phenotype and macrophage differentiation toward a deleterious M1 phenotype. In contrast to this effect, the predominance of anti-inflammatory cytokines in healthy nonobese individuals shifts T cell and macrophage polarization toward Th2 and M2 phenotypes, respectively [100]. After TNF- α was described as a major pro-inflammatory cytokine expressed in adipose tissue and with a relationship to IR in murine models of obesity [101], a rising number of studies showed that the immune system contributes to the sensing of metabolites and nutritional status in the whole body [84].

Inflammation has been related to ER stress development; nevertheless, controversy remains as to whether this cellular stress response promotes or prevents progression of several diseases [102]. Under obesity conditions, ER stress may have a deleterious effect associated with the pro-inflammatory state and induction of IR [20]. Interestingly, other proinflammatory cytokines directly affect both function and viability of β -pancreatic insulin-producing cells [103]. The adverse effects of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and interferon γ (IFN- γ) are prevented when β -cells are treated with anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13), showing that these molecules may modulate insulin serum levels, which in turn affect metabolic control at different levels. In addition, pro-inflammatory cytokines induce upregulation of ATF4 mRNA in β -pancreatic cells by disrupting Ca²⁺ signaling [104, 105]. Thus, because ATF4 is a classical effector of the PERK signaling cascade, a direct link between ER stress and inflammation has been proposed.

Indeed, ER stress is linked to cytokines because activation of ATF6 and cAMP-responsive element-binding protein hepatocyte specific (CREBH) is the main factor responsible for release of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 [102]. Adipose tissues from murine obesity models show increased mRNA levels of proinflammatory cytokines, which are restored to normal levels after treatment with TUDCA, a chemical chaperone that inhibits ER stress [106]. In addition, activation of ER stressrelated protein PKR has been described in cells exposed to TNF- α [107], showing a direct induction of ER stress through this cytokine. In the same way, it has been suggested that IFN- γ may directly induce ER stress, because IFN- γ also activates PKR [108]. Furthermore, interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF-7) was found to be a positive regulator of weight gain in a murine model [109], suggesting an obesityrelated negative feedback cycle, depending on the interferon pathway. Moreover, PKR is involved in secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18 [110], although the latter cytokine seems to prevent obesity and IR in mice [111]. We hypothesize that the final effect on insulin signaling may depend on the interaction among different pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines and ER stress proteins at the systemic or microenvironmental level. Surprisingly, recent evidence has shown that insulin may increase ER stress markers in adipose tissue [112]. Therefore, this interesting new evidence suggests that ER stress may occur after development of IR, reinforcing the hypothesis regarding an obesity-inflammation-ER stress vicious cycle.

Unlike pro-inflammatory cytokines, anti-inflammatory molecules have been linked with prevention of ER stress development. Indeed, the major anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 has been related to impaired ATF6 nuclear translocation induced by both TNF- α [113] and tunicamycin [114], suggesting that mechanisms involved in ER stress inhibition by IL-10 may be independent of stress response. Thus, whether

other anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-4 or IL-13, are able to inhibit or prevent ER stress should be addressed. For example, it has been reported that IL-6 also inhibits obesity-induced ER stress in the rat hypothalamus [115]. Similarly, other anti-inflammatory agents, such as omega-3 fatty acids, may also produce insulin sensitization and antidiabetic effects (such as restoration of Akt signaling) through G protein-coupled receptor 120 (GPR120) [116]. Accordingly, it is possible that omega-3 fatty acids or other fatty acids may also inhibit ER stress.

Unexpectedly, a pro-inflammatory cytokine named resistin showed chaperone activity and was able to inhibit ER stress. Interestingly, this study demonstrated that resistin was retained inside the cell to inhibit ER stress, suggesting that soluble and cellular resistin may have different effects and cellular targets [117]. Klotho protein also promotes differential cellular effects in terms of insulin function and inflammation depending on the circulating or intracellular fraction of this aging suppressor protein [118, 119]. Intravenous administration of the soluble extracellular domain of Klotho, which is also found in the blood, binds to its putative receptor and inhibits the insulin pathway [120]. Furthermore, intracellular but not the secreted form of Klotho protein has an antiinflammatory effect over retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) signaling and inhibits IL-6 and IL-8 release [121]. Recent evidence has also shown that overexpression of Klotho is able to inhibit chemically-induced ER stress [122]. The hypothesis of differential action depending on target location opens a new field for the study of cytokines, showing that soluble or intracellular cytokines may differentially modulate cellular responses in both physiological and pathophysiological conditions.

In the context of pregnancy, cytokines may significantly affect the metabolic state, which in turn promotes IR and a pro-inflammation condition associated with MO. Importantly, cytokine-induced fetal programming has been proposed in rats after maternal exposure to both TNF- α and IL-6 treatment, associated with increased fetal growth and IR in the offspring [123]. Moreover, IL-6 seems to play a pivotal role in the transference of a pro-inflammatory state from the mother to the fetus, as umbilical cord blood levels of IL-6 from obese mothers are higher than those from normal pregnancies [40]. This finding is also related to increased macrophage infiltration of placental tissue, associated with elevated pro-inflammatory markers in response to MO [124]. Interestingly, while pro-inflammatory cytokines can induce ER stress in placental tissue, an anti-inflammatory response may restore normal insulin sensitivity. Accordingly, administering an anti-inflammatory flavonoid named quercetin [125] during pregnancy and lactation significantly decreases ER stress activation in the offspring [126], suggesting that it may be possible to modulate the prenatal environment, preventing ER stress and its deleterious consequences.

Additional mechanisms related to cellular stress and/or inflammatory responses (such as maternal psychological environment, dietary behavior, and infections) could affect intrauterine development, highlighting the role of new players in obesity and immune system abnormalities associated with deleterious metabolic outcomes, both at the maternal



FIGURE 1: Balance of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the development of ER stress and insulin resistance. In this scheme we highlight the role of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (a) and anti-inflammatory cytokines (b). These models integrate information from animal and cellular different models, which can be extrapolated to other systems. Cytokines or other molecules with pro-inflammatory effects have a tendency to induce the ER stress and produce insulin resistance. Interestingly, cytokines or other molecules with anti-inflammatory effects, such as TUDCA, omega 3 fatty acids, or quercetin, prevent the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, inhibit the development of ER stress, and induce insulin sensitizing, improving glucose metabolism (icResistin = intracellular resistin; sKlotho = soluble Klotho; icKlotho = intracellular Klotho; ipIL-6 = intraperitoneally injected IL-6; ihIL-6 = intrahypothalamically injected IL-6).

and at the fetal levels. For example, PKR, which is an ER stress-dependent protein kinase, is also activated by viral infections and is characterized by inflammatory, IR, and ER stress responses [107]. In fact, inhibition of PKR has been associated with decreased expression of ER stress markers and improved insulin sensitivity in obese/diabetic mice, involving reduction of inflammation [127]. This finding suggests that PKR may play a key role as a pharmacological target in metabolic diseases under obesity conditions. Mental stress during pregnancy should also be considered as an initial risk factor related to obesity and IR development [128]. Neuroendocrine interactions with important roles in depression and sickness [129] are associated with impaired anorexigenic signaling and obesity tendencies in fetuses from mothers with MO [130]. Thus, it may be relevant to also consider inflammation-related processes, such as infection or mental stress during pregnancy, as potential risk factors contributing to fetal programming of metabolic diseases.

The balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory immune cell phenotypes may be modulated to avoid the deleterious immune imbalance that provokes metabolic alterations in pregnancies complicated by obesity. The complex interactions among multiple inflammatory mediators and the ER stress response should be considered in the study of fetal IR development attributable to MO (Figure 1).

6. Fetal Programming of Insulin Resistance by Maternal Obesity-Dependent ER Stress

As compared to normal pregnancy, MO is associated with an exaggerated lipid mobilization (increased plasma cholesterol

and triacylglycerol) and abnormal accumulation of fat in the liver, pancreas, and placenta [40, 131]. In addition, obesity in pregnancy is related to increased IR [132], higher levels of inflammatory markers, and impaired endothelial function [71, 124, 133]. Moreover, maternal metabolic abnormalities associated with overnutrition during pregnancy may be transmitted to the fetal circulation, since fetal offspring from HFD-fed pregnant nonhuman primates showed increased markers of metabolic disorders associated with obesity, such as hepatic oxidative stress and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) [134]. In this study, offspring of HFD pregnant animals also exhibited elevated hepatic expression of gluconeogenic enzymes and transcription factors, in addition to increased levels of plasma glycerol and liver triglycerides [134]. Consequently, these results suggest that stressor effects related to nutrient excess from maternal overfeeding are mimicked in fetal plasma and can produce fat-related liver disease in the offspring. Nevertheless, although ER stress has been implicated in conditions from hepatic steatosis to NAFLD [135], there is no evidence regarding the potential role of the endoplasmic reticulum in the pathological process described in the fetal liver from murine MO models. On the other hand, increasing epidemiological evidence has suggested intrauterine programming of IR in offspring from obese pregnant woman, evaluated both at an early neonatal stage and in young adulthood. Nevertheless, the mechanistic link between MO and offspring IR remains unclear. Since IR has been described as a keystone in physiopathology pathways associated with metabolic diseases such as diabetes and cardiovascular complications, the potential therapeutic target of ER stress during the early neonatal period or during pregnancy may be relevant to obstetric



FIGURE 2: Proposed model of interaction among maternal obesity, ER stress, and insulin resistance. Maternal obesity is related to ER stress response in HUVEC, involving activation of ER stress proteins PERK and ATF6. ATF6 is released from ER membranes and then processed in the Golgi by proteolytic cleavage promoting its nuclear translocation. On the other hand, PERK is autophosphorylated (grey circles) and is able to phosphorylate eIF2 α , leading to induction of ATF4. Moreover, eIF2 α can also be phosphorylated by PKR, which is also an ER stressdependent protein. Hence, both ATF6 and ATF4 nuclear translocations may be able to alter insulin signaling and lead to insulin resistance in HUVEC through reduction of AKT and MAPK phosphorylation. In parallel, PKR activation may cause insulin signaling inactivation through IRS-1 inhibitory phosphorylation (red circles). Solid lines represent previously established processes; dashed lines and question marks indicate hypothetical and unknown mechanisms in our model.

and postnatal outcomes. Accordingly, potential crosstalk between insulin signaling and ER stress pathways on human fetal cells exposed to maternal obesity is proposed (Figure 2).

Regarding the nutritional programming hypothesis, significant data have shown increased cardiometabolic risk in offspring from both under- and overnutrition in pregnancy. In overfed pregnant mouse models, fetal liver shows excessive lipid and fatty acid accumulation associated with activation of JNK, an oxidative stress, inflammatory, and apoptosis marker [134]. Hence, JNK activation and apoptosis are described as part of the ER stress pathway related to both IR and diabetes in response to obesity in various models. Therefore, it is possible that future interventions focused on preventing obesityderived ER stress in pregnancy may target avoidance of IR development in fetal tissues. Although McCurdy et al. showed that prepregnancy diet normalization partially attenuated development of fatty liver disease in fetal offspring, there is no evidence regarding the potential beneficial effect of this nutritional intervention on fetal UPR or insulin sensitivity. Specific therapeutic interventions with chemical chaperones such as bile acids have shown improved hepatic insulin response in obese individuals [136]. However, although some bile acids are currently used in cases of icteric cholestasis of pregnancy [137], it remains unclear whether this treatment will be useful in preventing insulin resistance in the offspring of pregnancies with MO.

7. Conclusions

MO and neonatal IR are associated with long-term development of obesity, diabetes mellitus, and increased global cardiovascular risk in the offspring, involving deleterious mechanisms of intrauterine programming. Nevertheless, the entire signaling link among these conditions has not been fully elucidated. Recent evidence suggests that obesity-related ER stress may play an important role in the development of IR, associated with unfolded protein response (UPR) and inflammatory mediators. We propose a potential mechanism of MO-dependent ER stress response on human fetal cells, involving inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and/or IFN- γ , and activation of PERK, eIF2 α , PKR, ATF4, and ATF6. Understanding this phenomenon may provide crucial information that would clarify the potential beneficial effects of new therapeutic tools to prevent the deleterious consequences associated with MO, inflammatory markers, and IR in the offspring.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

Authors thank members of the Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory (CMPL) at the Division of Obstetrics

and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, for excellent secretarial and technical assistance, and the personnel of the Maternity Ward at Hospital Clínico Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile for the supply of placenta and cord samples. The authors also thank Roberto Bravo-Sagua from the Advanced Center for Chronic Diseases (ACCDiS), Faculty of Chemical & Pharmaceutical Sciences, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, for help with our proposed model design. This study was funded by the following Grants: Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico (FONDECYT) 1121145, 1130801, 1110977, 11100192, 3130583 and 3140532; Programa de Investigación Interdisciplinario (PIA) from Comisión Nacional de Investigación en Ciencia y Tecnología (CONI-CYT), Anillos ACT-73; International NETWORK Program from CONICYT 130102; and Project 2013-0020-I from Universidad San Sebastian, Santiago, Chile.

References

- WHO, "Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases," WHO Technical Report 916, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2003.
- [2] WHO, WHO Global Database on Body Mass Index, World Health Organization, 2011.
- [3] S. Triunfo and A. Lanzone, "Impact of overweight and obesity on obstetric outcomes," *Journal of Endocrinological Investigation*, 2014.
- [4] ACOG, "ACOG Committee Opinion number 315, September 2005. Obesity in pregnancy," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 106, no. 3, pp. 671–675, 2005.
- [5] V. Flenady, L. Koopmans, P. Middleton et al., "Major risk factors for stillbirth in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *The Lancet*, vol. 377, no. 9774, pp. 1331–1340, 2011.
- [6] P. D. Taylor, A. M. Samuelsson, and L. Poston, "Maternal obesity and the developmental programming of hypertension: a role for leptin," *Acta Physiologica*, vol. 2010, no. 3, pp. 508–523, 2014.
- [7] M. Dong, Q. Zheng, S. P. Ford, P. W. Nathanielsz, and J. Ren, "Maternal obesity, lipotoxicity and cardiovascular diseases in offspring," *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 111–116, 2013.
- [8] T. Deng, C. J. Lyon, L. J. Minze et al., "Class II major histocompatibility complex plays an essential role in obesity-induced adipose inflammation," *Cell Metabolism*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 411–422, 2013.
- [9] M. S. Han, D. Y. Jung, C. Morel et al., "JNK expression by macrophages promotes obesity-induced insulin resistance and inflammation," *Science*, vol. 339, no. 6116, pp. 218–222, 2013.
- [10] M. Matsuda and I. Shimomura, "Increased oxidative stress in obesity: implications for metabolic syndrome, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, atherosclerosis, and cancer," *Obesity Research and Clinical Practice*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. e330–e341, 2013.
- [11] W. P. Cawthorn and J. K. Sethi, "TNF-α and adipocyte biology," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 582, no. 1, pp. 117–131, 2008.
- [12] N. Ouchi, J. L. Parker, J. J. Lugus, and K. Walsh, "Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease," *Nature Reviews Immunol*ogy, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 85–97, 2011.
- [13] H. Cao, "Adipocytokines in obesity and metabolic disease," *Journal of Endocrinology*, vol. 220, no. 2, pp. 47–59, 2014.

- [14] M. Flamment, E. Hajduch, P. Ferré, and F. Foufelle, "New insights into ER stress-induced insulin resistance," *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 381–390, 2012.
- [15] U. Özcan, Q. Cao, E. Yilmaz et al., "Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes," *Science*, vol. 306, no. 5695, pp. 457–461, 2004.
- [16] P. A. Hansen, A. Waheed, and J. A. Corbett, "Chemically chaperoning the actions of insulin," *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 1–3, 2007.
- [17] D. L. Eizirik, A. K. Cardozo, and M. Cnop, "The role for endoplasmic reticulum stress in diabetes mellitus," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 42–61, 2008.
- [18] S. Schenk, M. Saberi, and J. M. Olefsky, "Insulin sensitivity: Modulation by nutrients and inflammation," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 118, no. 9, pp. 2992–3002, 2008.
- [19] M. Zeyda and T. M. Stulnig, "Obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance—a mini-review," *Gerontology*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 379– 386, 2009.
- [20] G. S. Hotamisligil, "Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and the Inflammatory Basis of Metabolic Disease," *Cell*, vol. 140, no. 6, pp. 900–917, 2010.
- [21] A. Yalcin and G. S. Hotamisligil, "Impact of ER protein homeostasis on metabolism," *Diabetes*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 691–693, 2013.
- [22] J. Lee and U. Ozcan, "Unfolded protein response signaling and metabolic diseases," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 289, no. 3, pp. 1203–1211, 2014.
- [23] K. Tenenbaum-Gavish and M. Hod, "Impact of maternal obesity on fetal health," *Fetal Diagnosis and Therapy*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2013.
- [24] IOM, Institute of Medicine, and National Academy of Sciences, *Nutrition during Pregnancy*, National Academy Press, Washington, Wash, USA, 1990.
- [25] E. Papachatzi, G. Dimitriou, K. Dimitropoulos, and A. Vantarakis, "Pre-pregnancy obesity: maternal, neonatal and childhood outcomes," *Journal of Neonatal- Perinatal Medicine*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 203–216, 2013.
- [26] P. M. Catalano, "Obesity and pregnancy—the propagation of a viscous cycle?" *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 88, no. 8, pp. 3505–3506, 2003.
- [27] P. M. Catalano, L. Mele, M. B. Landon et al., "Inadequate weight gain in overweight and obese pregnant women: what is the effect on fetal growth?" *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 2014.
- [28] G. C. Curhan, W. C. Willett, E. B. Rimm, D. Spiegelman, A. L. Ascherio, and M. J. Stampfer, "Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men," *Circulation*, vol. 94, no. 12, pp. 3246–3250, 1996.
- [29] E. Öken, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, A. E. Field, A. L. Frazier, and M. W. Gillman, "Maternal gestational weight gain and offspring weight in adolescence," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 112, no. 5, pp. 999–1006, 2008.
- [30] M. Birbilis, G. Moschonis, V. Mougios, and Y. Manios, "Obesity in adolescence is associated with perinatal risk factors, parental BMI and sociodemographic characteristics," *European Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 115–121, 2013.
- [31] E. Oken, E. M. Taveras, K. P. Kleinman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, and M. W. Gillman, "Gestational weight gain and child adiposity at age 3 years," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 196, no. 4, pp. 322.e1–322.e8, 2007.

- [32] B. H. Wrotniak, J. Shults, S. Butts, and N. Stettler, "Gestational weight gain and risk of overweight in the offspring at age 7 y in a multicenter, multiethnic cohort study," *The American Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 1818–1824, 2008.
- [33] A. Fraser, K. Tilling, C. MacDonald-Wallis et al., "Association of maternal weight gain in pregnancy with offspring obesity and metabolic and vascular traits in childhood," *Circulation*, vol. 121, no. 23, pp. 2557–2564, 2010.
- [34] A. A. Mamun, M. O'Callaghan, L. Callaway, G. Williams, J. Najman, and D. A. Lawlor, "Associations of gestational weight gain with offspring body mass index and blood pressure at 21 years of ageevidence from a birth cohort study," *Circulation*, vol. 119, no. 13, pp. 1720–1727, 2009.
- [35] B. M. Margetts, M. G. M. Rowland, F. A. Foord, A. M. Cruddas, T. J. Cole, and D. J. P. Barker, "The relation of maternal weight to the blood pressures of Gambian children," *International Journal* of Epidemiology, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 938–943, 1991.
- [36] A. Laor, D. K. Stevenson, J. Shemer, R. Gale, and D. S. Seidman, "Size at birth, maternal nutritional status in pregnancy, and blood pressure at age 17: population based analysis," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 315, no. 7106, pp. 449–453, 1997.
- [37] R. Gaillard, E. A. Steegers, L. Duijts et al., "Childhood cardiometabolic outcomes of maternal obesity during pregnancy: The Generation R Study," *Hypertension*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 683– 691, 2014.
- [38] A. M. Stuebe, M. B. Landon, Y. Lai et al., "Maternal BMI, glucose tolerance, and adverse pregnancy outcomes," *American Journal* of Obstetrics & Gynecology, vol. 207, no. 1, pp. 62.e1–62.e7, 2012.
- [39] M. F. Sewell, L. Huston-Presley, D. M. Super, and P. Catalano, "Increased neonatal fat mass, not lean body mass, is associated with maternal obesity," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 195, no. 4, pp. 1100–1103, 2006.
- [40] P. M. Catalano, L. Presley, J. Minium, and S. Hauguel-de Mouzon, "Fetuses of obese mothers develop insulin resistance in utero," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 1076–1080, 2009.
- [41] E. Öken and M. W. Gillman, "Fetal origins of obesity," *Obesity Research*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 496–506, 2003.
- [42] H. M. Ehrenberg, B. M. Mercer, and P. M. Catalano, "The influence of obesity and diabetes on the prevalence of macrosomia," *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 191, no. 3, pp. 964–968, 2004.
- [43] G. Dörner and A. Plagemann, "Perinatal hyperinsulinism as possible predisposing factor for diabetes mellitus, obesity and enhanced cardiovascular risk in later life," *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 213–221, 1994.
- [44] J. R. O'Reilly and R. M. Reynolds, "The risk of maternal obesity to the long-term health of the offspring," *Clinical Endocrinology*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 9–16, 2013.
- [45] K. M. Godfrey, T. Forrester, D. J. P. Barker et al., "Maternal nutritional status in pregnancy and blood pressure in childhood," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 398–403, 1994.
- [46] P. M. Clark, C. Atton, C. M. Law, A. Shiell, K. Godfrey, and D. J. P. Barker, "Weight gain in pregnancy, triceps skinfold thickness, and blood pressure, in offspring," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 103–107, 1998.
- [47] K. K. Ryckman, K. S. Borowski, N. I. Parikh, and A. F. Saftlas, "Pregnancy complications and the risk of metabolic syndrome for the offspring," *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 217–223, 2013.

- [48] A. M. Magarey, L. A. Daniels, T. J. Boulton, and R. A. Cockington, "Predicting obesity in early adulthood from childhood and parental obesity," *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 505–513, 2003.
- [49] S. Danielzik, M. Czerwinski-Mast, K. Langnäse, B. Dilba, and M. J. Müller, "Parental overweight, socioeconomic status and high birth weight are the major determinants of overweight and obesity in 5-7 y-old children: baseline data of the Kiel Obesity Prevention Study (KOPS)," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 28, no. 11, pp. 1494–1502, 2004.
- [50] P. J. Salsberry and P. B. Reagan, "Dynamics of early childhood overweight," *Pediatrics*, vol. 116, no. 6, pp. 1329–1338, 2005.
- [51] K. B. Adamo, Z. M. Ferraro, G. Goldfield et al., "The Maternal Obesity Management (MOM) Trial Protocol: a lifestyle intervention during pregnancy to minimize downstream obesity," *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 87–96, 2013.
- [52] H. Ainge, C. Thompson, S. E. Ozanne, and K. B. Rooney, "A systematic review on animal models of maternal high fat feeding and offspring glycaemic control," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 325–335, 2011.
- [53] M. Li, D. M. Sloboda, and M. H. Vickers, "Maternal obesity and developmental programming of metabolic disorders in offspring: Evidence from animal models," *Experimental Diabetes Research*, vol. 2011, Article ID 592408, 9 pages, 2011.
- [54] F. Guo and K.-L. C. Jen, "High-fat feeding during pregnancy and lactation affects offspring metabolism in rats," *Physiology and Behavior*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 681–686, 1995.
- [55] A. Samuelsson, P. A. Matthews, M. Argenton et al., "Dietinduced obesity in female mice leads to offspring hyperphagia, adiposity, hypertension, and insulin resistance: a novel murine model of developmental programming," *Hypertension*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 383–392, 2008.
- [56] J. A. Oben, A. Mouralidarane, A. M. Samuelsson et al., "Maternal obesity during pregnancy and lactation programs the development of offspring non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice," *Journal of Hepatology*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 913–920, 2010.
- [57] J. Han, J. Xu, P. N. Epstein, and Y. Q. Liu, "Long-term effect of maternal obesity on pancreatic beta cells of offspring: reduced beta cell adaptation to high glucose and high-fat diet challenges in adult female mouse offspring," *Diabetologia*, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 1810–1818, 2005.
- [58] H. Yamashita, J. Shao, L. Qiao, M. Pagliassotti, and J. E. Friedman, "Effect of spontaneous gestational diabetes on fetal and postnatal hepatic insulin resistance in Leprdb/+ mice," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 411–418, 2003.
- [59] B. E. Metzger, B. L. Silverman, N. Freinkel, S. L. Dooley, E. S. Ogata, and O. C. Green, "Amniotic fluid insulin concentration as a predictor of obesity," *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 1050–1052, 1990.
- [60] R. Boskovic, D. S. Feig, L. Derewlany, B. Knie, G. Portnoi, and G. Koren, "Transfer of insulin lispro across the human placenta: in vitro perfusion studies," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1390–1394, 2003.
- [61] G. Holcberg, M. Tsadkin-Tamir, O. Sapir et al., "Transfer of insulin lispro across the human placenta," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 115, no. 1, pp. 117–118, 2004.
- [62] G. J. Burton and A. L. Fowden, "Review: the placenta and developmental programming: Balancing fetal nutrient demands with maternal resource allocation," *Placenta*, vol. 33, pp. S23–S27, 2012.

- [63] J. Pedersen, *The Pregnant Diabetic and Her Newborn*, Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, Md, USA, 2nd edition, 1977.
- [64] F. Westermeier, C. Salomón, M. González et al., "Insulin restores gestational diabetes mellitus-reduced adenosine transport involving differential expression of insulin receptor isoforms in human umbilical vein endothelium," *Diabetes*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 1677–1687, 2011.
- [65] C. Salomón, F. Westermeier, C. Puebla et al., "Gestational diabetes reduces adenosine transport in human placental microvascular endothelium, an effect reversed by insulin," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 7, Article ID e40578, 2012.
- [66] T. W. Leung and T. T. Lao, "Placental size and large-for-gestational-age infants in women with abnormal glucose tolerance in pregnancy," *Diabetic Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 48–52, 2000.
- [67] A. P. Jones, E. N. Pothos, P. Rada, D. H. Olster, and B. G. Hoebel, "Maternal hormonal manipulations in rats cause obesity and increase medial hypothalamic norepinephrine release in male offspring," *Developmental Brain Research*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 127– 131, 1995.
- [68] A. Plagemann, I. Heidrich, F. Götz, W. Rohde, and G. Dorner, "Lifelong enhanced diabetes susceptibility and obesity after temporary intrahypothalamic hyperinsulinism during brain organization," *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 91–95, 1992.
- [69] S. Hauguel-de Mouzon, J. Lepercq, and P. Catalano, "The known and unknown of leptin in pregnancy," *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 194, no. 6, pp. 1537–1545, 2006.
- [70] J. T. Smith and B. J. Waddell, "Leptin distribution and metabolism in the pregnant rat: transplacental leptin passage increases in late gestation but is reduced by excess glucocorticoids," *Endocrinology*, vol. 144, no. 7, pp. 3024–3030, 2003.
- [71] F. M. Stewart, D. J. Freeman, J. E. Ramsay, I. A. Greer, M. Caslake, and W. R. Ferrell, "Longitudinal assessment of maternal endothelial function and markers of inflammation and placental function throughout pregnancy in lean and obese mothers," *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 969–975, 2007.
- [72] R. Meshkani and K. Adeli, "Hepatic insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 42, no. 13-14, pp. 1331–1346, 2009.
- [73] R. Muniyappa, M. Montagnani, K. K. Koh, and M. J. Quon, "Cardiovascular actions of insulin," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 463–491, 2007.
- [74] A. Ullrich, J. R. Bell, E. Y. Chen et al., "Human insulin receptor and its relationship to the tyrosine kinase family of oncogenes," *Nature*, vol. 313, no. 6005, pp. 756–761, 1985.
- [75] Y. Ebina, M. Edery, L. Ellis et al., "Expression of a functional human insulin receptor from a cloned cDNA in Chinese hamster ovary cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 82, no. 23, pp. 8014– 8018, 1985.
- [76] A. Belfiore, F. Frasca, G. Pandini, L. Sciacca, and R. Vigneri, "Insulin receptor isoforms and insulin receptor/insulin-like growth factor receptor hybrids in physiology and disease," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 586–623, 2009.
- [77] A. R. Saltiel and C. R. Kahn, "Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism," *Nature*, vol. 414, no. 6865, pp. 799–806, 2001.
- [78] J.-A. Kim, M. Montagnani, K. K. Kwang, and M. J. Quon, "Reciprocal relationships between insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction: molecular and pathophysiological mechanisms," *Circulation*, vol. 113, no. 15, pp. 1888–1904, 2006.

- [79] C. M. Taniguchi, B. Emanuelli, and C. R. Kahn, "Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action," *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 85–96, 2006.
- [80] G. Desoye and S. Hauguel-de Mouzon, "The human placenta in gestational diabetes mellitus: the insulin and cytokine network," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 30, supplement 2, pp. S120–S126, 2007.
- [81] B. H. Goodpaster, "Mitochondrial deficiency is associated with insulin resistance," *Diabetes*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1032–1035, 2013.
- [82] E. C. Eringa, C. D. A. Stehouwer, G. P. van Nieuw Amerongen, L. Ouwehand, N. Westerhof, and P. Sipkema, "Vasoconstrictor effects of insulin in skeletal muscle arterioles are mediated by ERK1/2 activation in endothelium," *American Journal of Phy*siology—Heart and Circulatory Physiology, vol. 287, no. 5, pp. H2043–H2048, 2004.
- [83] M. J. Czaja, "JNK regulation of hepatic manifestations of the metabolic syndrome," *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 707–713, 2010.
- [84] J. I. Odegaard and A. Chawla, "The immune system as a sensor of the metabolic state," *Immunity*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 644–654, 2013.
- [85] I. L. M. H. Aye, T. L. Powell, and T. Jansson, "Review: adiponectin—The missing link between maternal adiposity, placental transport and fetal growth?" *Placenta*, vol. 34, pp. S40–S45, 2013.
- [86] J. Hirosumi, G. Tuncman, L. Chang et al., "A central, role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance," *Nature*, vol. 420, no. 6913, pp. 333–336, 2002.
- [87] S. J. Marciniak and D. Ron, "Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling in disease," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 86, no. 4, pp. 1133–1149, 2006.
- [88] M. Cnop, F. Foufelle, and L. A. Velloso, "Endoplasmic reticulum stress, obesity and diabetes," *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 59–68, 2012.
- [89] D. Ron and P. Walter, "Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response," *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 519–529, 2007.
- [90] K. Zhang and R. J. Kaufman, "Protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum and the unfolded protein response," *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, no. 172, pp. 69–91, 2006.
- [91] C. Hetz, "The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond," *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 89–102, 2012.
- [92] J. Y. Chan, J. Luzuriaga, M. Bensellam, T. J. Biden, and D. R. Laybutt, "Failure of the adaptive unfolded protein response in islets of obese mice is linked with abnormalities in β-cell gene expression and progression to diabetes," *Diabetes*, vol. 62, no. 5, pp. 1557–1568, 2013.
- [93] Y. Zhou, J. Lee, C. M. Reno et al., "Regulation of glucose homeostasis through a XBP-1-FoxO1 interaction," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 356–365, 2011.
- [94] B. H. Cha, J. S. Kim, J. C. Ahn et al., "The role of tauroursodeoxycholic acid on adipogenesis of human adipose-derived stem cells by modulation of ER stress," *Biomaterials*, vol. 35, no. 9, pp. 2851–2858, 2014.
- [95] H. Kono and K. L. Rock, "How dying cells alert the immune system to danger," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 279–289, 2008.
- [96] C. A. Dinarello, "Historical insights into cytokines," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 37, supplement 1, pp. S34–S45, 2007.
- [97] G. S. Hotamisligil and E. Erbay, "Nutrient sensing and inflammation in metabolic diseases," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 923–934, 2008.

- [98] C. N. Lumeng and A. R. Saltiel, "Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease," *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 2111–2117, 2011.
- [99] J. E. Snyder-Cappione and B. S. Nikolajczyk, "When diet and exercise are not enough, think immunomodulation," *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 30–38, 2013.
- [100] S. Hummasti and G. S. Hotamisligil, "Endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation in obesity and diabetes," *Circulation Research*, vol. 107, no. 5, pp. 579–591, 2010.
- [101] G. S. Hotamisligil, N. S. Shargill, and B. M. Spiegelman, "Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-α: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance," *Science*, vol. 259, no. 5091, pp. 87– 91, 1993.
- [102] A. D. Garg, A. Kaczmarek, O. Krysko, P. Vandenabeele, D. V. Krysko, and P. Agostinis, "ER stress-induced inflammation: does it aid or impede disease progression?" *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 589–598, 2012.
- [103] K. L. A. Souza, E. Gurgul-Convey, M. Elsner, and S. Lenzen, "Interaction between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in insulin-producing cells," *The Journal of Endocrinol*ogy, vol. 197, no. 1, pp. 139–150, 2008.
- [104] A. K. Cardozo, F. Ortis, J. Storling et al., "Cytokines downregulate the sarcoendoplasmic reticulum pump Ca²⁺ ATPase 2b and deplete endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺, leading to induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress in pancreatic β -cells," *Diabetes*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 452–461, 2005.
- [105] C. M. O'Neill, C. Lu, K. L. Corbin et al., "Circulating levels of IL-1B+IL-6 cause ER stress and dysfunction in islets from prediabetic male mice," *Endocrinology*, vol. 154, no. 9, pp. 3077–3088, 2013.
- [106] N. Kawasaki, R. Asada, A. Saito, S. Kanemoto, and K. Imaizumi, "Obesity-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress causes chronic inflammation in adipose tissue," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 2, article 799, 2012.
- [107] T. Nakamura, M. Furuhashi, P. Li et al., "Double-stranded RNAdependent protein kinase links pathogen sensing with stress and metabolic homeostasis," *Cell*, vol. 140, no. 3, pp. 338–348, 2010.
- [108] B. Sharma, J. K. Altman, D. J. Goussetis, A. K. Verma, and L. C. Platanias, "Protein kinase R as mediator of the effects of interferon (IFN) *γ* and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) *α* on normal and dysplastic hematopoiesis," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 286, no. 31, pp. 27506–27514, 2011.
- [109] X. Wang, R. Zhang, S. Zhang et al., "Interferon regulatory factor 7 deficiency prevents diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance," *American Journal of Physiology—Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 305, no. 4, pp. E485–E495, 2013.
- [110] B. Lu, T. Nakamura, K. Inouye et al., "Novel role of PKR in inflammasome activation and HMGB1 release," *Nature*, vol. 488, no. 7413, pp. 670–674, 2012.
- [111] M. G. Netea, L. A. Joosten, E. Lewis et al., "Deficiency of interleukin-18 in mice leads to hyperphagia, obesity and insulin resistance," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 650–656, 2006.
- [112] G. Boden, P. Cheung, S. Salehi et al., "Insulin regulates the unfolded protein response in human adipose tissue," *Diabetes*, vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 912–922, 2014.
- [113] A. Shkoda, P. A. Ruiz, H. Daniel et al., "Interleukin-10 blocked endoplasmic reticulum stress in intestinal epithelial cells: impact on chronic inflammation," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 132, no. 1, pp. 190–207, 2007.

- [114] S. Z. Hasnain, S. Tauro, I. Das et al., "IL-10 promotes production of intestinal mucus by suppressing protein misfolding and endoplasmic reticulum stress in goblet cells," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 144, no. 2, pp. 357.e9–368.e9, 2013.
- [115] E. R. Ropelle, M. B. Flores, D. E. Cintra et al., "IL-6 and IL-10 anti-inflammatory activity links exercise to hypothalamic insulin and leptin sensitivity through IKK β and ER stress inhibition," *PLoS Biology*, vol. 8, no. 8, 2010.
- [116] D. Y. Oh, S. Talukdar, E. J. Bae et al., "GPR120 is an omega-3 fatty acid receptor mediating potent anti-inflammatory and insulinsensitizing effects," *Cell*, vol. 142, no. 5, pp. 687–698, 2010.
- [117] M. Suragani, V. D. Aadinarayana, A. B. Pinjari et al., "Human resistin, a proinflammatory cytokine, shows chaperone-like activity," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 110, no. 51, pp. 20467–20472, 2013.
- [118] M. Kuro-o, Y. Matsumura, H. Aizawa et al., "Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing," *Nature*, vol. 390, no. 6655, pp. 45–51, 1997.
- [119] M. S. Razzaque, "The role of Klotho in energy metabolism," *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 579–587, 2012.
- [120] H. Kurosu, M. Yamamoto, J. D. Clark et al., "Physiology: suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho," *Science*, vol. 309, no. 5742, pp. 1829–1833, 2005.
- [121] F. Liu, S. Wu, H. Ren, and J. Gu, "Klotho suppresses RIG-I-mediated senescence-associated inflammation," *Nature Cell Biology*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 254–262, 2011.
- [122] S. Banerjee, Y. Zhao, P. S. Sarkar, K. P. Rosenblatt, R. G. Tilton, and S. Choudhary, "Klotho ameliorates chemically induced endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress signaling," *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, vol. 31, no. 4-5, pp. 659–672, 2013.
- [123] J. Dahlgren, C. Nilsson, E. Jennische et al., "Prenatal cytokine exposure results in obesity and gender-specific programming," *American Journal of Physiology—Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 281, no. 2, pp. E326–E334, 2001.
- [124] J. C. Challier, S. Basu, T. Bintein et al., "Obesity in pregnancy stimulates macrophage accumulation and inflammation in the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 274–281, 2008.
- [125] M. R. Indra, S. Karyono, R. Ratnawati, and S. G. Malik, "Quercetin suppresses inflammation by reducing ERK1/2 phosphorylation and NF kappa B activation in Leptin-induced human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs)," *BMC Research Notes*, vol. 6, no. 1, article 275, 2013.
- [126] Z. Wu, J. Zhao, H. Xu et al., "Maternal quercetin administration during gestation and lactation decrease endoplasmic reticulum stress and related inflammation in the adult offspring of obese female rats," *Europe Journal of Nutrition*, 2014.
- [127] T. Nakamura, A. Arduini, B. Baccaro, M. Furuhashi, and G. S. Hotamisligil, "Small-molecule inhibitors of PKR improve glucose homeostasis in obese diabetic mice," *Diabetes*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 526–534, 2014.
- [128] S. Entringer, C. Buss, J. M. Swanson et al., "Fetal programming of body composition, obesity, and metabolic function: the role of intrauterine stress and stress biology," *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 2012, Article ID 632548, 16 pages, 2012.
- [129] R. Dantzer, J. C. O'Connor, G. G. Freund, R. W. Johnson, and K. W. Kelley, "From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 46–56, 2008.
- [130] R. E. Fisher, M. Steele, and N. A. Karrow, "Fetal programming of the neuroendocrine-immune system and metabolic disease," *Journal of Pregnancy*, vol. 2012, Article ID 792934, 10 pages, 2012.

- [131] E. Jarvie, S. Hauguel-de-Mouzon, S. M. Nelson, N. Sattar, P. M. Catalano, and D. J. Freeman, "Lipotoxicity in obese pregnancy and its potential role in adverse pregnancy outcome and obesity in the offspring," *Clinical Science*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 123–129, 2010.
- [132] P. M. Catalano and H. M. Ehrenberg, "The short- and longterm implications of maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 1126–1133, 2006.
- [133] K. A. Roberts, S. C. Riley, R. M. Reynolds et al., "Placental structure and inflammation in pregnancies associated with obesity," *Placenta*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 247–254, 2011.
- [134] C. E. McCurdy, J. M. Bishop, S. M. Williams et al., "Maternal high-fat diet triggers lipotoxicity in the fetal livers of nonhuman primates," *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 119, no. 2, pp. 323–335, 2009.
- [135] N. Anderson and J. Borlak, "Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic targets in steatosis and steatohepatitis," *Pharmacological Reviews*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 311–357, 2008.
- [136] M. Kars, L. Yang, M. F. Gregor et al., "Tauroursodeoxycholic acid may improve liver and muscle but not adipose tissue insulin sensitivity in obese men and women," *Diabetes*, vol. 59, no. 8, pp. 1899–1905, 2010.
- [137] M. G. Roma, F. D. Toledo, A. C. Boaglio et al., "Ursodeoxycholic acid in cholestasis: linking action mechanisms to therapeutic applications," *Clinical Science*, vol. 121, no. 12, pp. 523–544, 2011.

Research Article

Associations of Prenatal Growth with Metabolic Syndrome, Insulin Resistance, and Nutritional Status in Chilean Children

Francisco Mardones,¹ Pilar Arnaiz,² Paz Pacheco,³ Angelica Dominguez,¹ Luis Villarroel,¹ Johan G. Eriksson,^{4,5,6} Salesa Barja,² Marcelo Farías,⁷ and Oscar Castillo⁸

¹ Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

⁸ School of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Correspondence should be addressed to Francisco Mardones; mardones@med.puc.cl

Received 10 April 2014; Accepted 19 May 2014; Published 15 June 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Francisco Mardones et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Introduction. The association of prenatal growth with nutritional status, metabolic syndrome (MS), and insulin resistance (IR) was studied in school-age children. *Methods.* A retrospective cohort study was designed linking present data of children with perinatal records. 3325 subjects were enrolled. Anthropometry, blood pressure (BP), and pubertal status were assessed. Blood lipids, glucose, and insulin were measured. Linear associations were assessed using the Cochran-Armitage test. Odds ratios and nonlinear associations were computed. *Results.* 3290 children (52% females, mean age of 11.4 ± 1 years) were analyzed. Prevalence of obesity, stunting, MS, and IR was 16.0%, 3.6%, 7.3%, and 25.5%, respectively. The strongest positive association was between birth weight (BW) and obesity (OR 2.97 (95% CI 2.01–4.40) at BW ≥ 4,000 g compared to BW 2,500–2,999). The strongest inverse association was between birth length (BL) and stunting (OR 8.70 (95% CI 3.66–20.67) at BL < 48 cm compared to BL 52-53 cm). A U-shaped association between BL and BP ≥ 90th percentile was observed. Significant ORs were also found for MS and IR. Adjustments for present fat mass increased or maintained the most prenatal growth influences. *Conclusions*. Prenatal growth influences MS, IR, and nutritional status. Prenatal growth was more important than present body composition in determining these outcomes.

1. Introduction

Nutritional conditions during pregnancy, infancy, and childhood have been proposed to have a major impact on the development of obesity and related metabolic traits such as metabolic syndrome (MS) and insulin resistance (IR) [1–4].

Birth weight (BW), placental weight, and measures of size at birth have all been related to risk factors for chronic disease in adult life [2, 5]. Birth length (BL) has consistently been associated with adolescent and adult height [6–8]. Shorter than average adults are at a higher risk for obesity and are also more susceptible to diabetes and CVD, independent of BMI; in contrast, taller children have a higher risk for obesity [2, 9]. Obesity in childhood has consistently been related in young adults to blood pressure (BP), insulin resistance (IR), and lower high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C) concentration; cardiovascular risk profile may be especially unfavorable in children with increased waist circumference (WC) [2]. A recent report based upon the same sample of children as the present study has confirmed strong associations between obesity and BP, IR, HDL, WC, triglycerides (TG), and the MS [10]. Gestational age (GA) is an important factor and

² Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

³ Department of Nutrition, Diabetes and Metabolism, Magister of Nutrition Program, Faculty of Medicine,

Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

⁴ Unit of General Practice, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

⁵ Department of General Practice and Primary Health Care, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

⁶ Folkhalsan Research Centre, Helsinki, Finland

⁷ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

premature births have been associated with increased BP and IR [11]; the incidence of prematurity is increasing worldwide [12].

The MS is a set of risk factors that may appear during childhood and have been closely linked to IR [13]. Obesity, especially of the abdominal type, and a sedentary lifestyle are important contributors to the development of IR.

We recently studied 2,152 Chilean schoolchildren aged 10–15 years, assessing possible associations between MS and IR to prenatal growth; however, nutritional status indicators were not included in those analyses [14]. The main results of that study showed that nonoptimal prenatal growth seemed to predispose to IR, high WC, and elevated BP in children.

This study aimed to investigate the associations of prenatal growth with MS and IR, including indicators of nutritional status, using a larger sample size than the previously reported.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Design. A retrospective cohort study of school-aged children, from 20 public schools managed by the Municipality of Puente Alto, Santiago, Chile, was designed. The public schools reach nearly 40% of all primary schools in Chile [15]. All children attending 5th and 6th grade of primary education were asked to participate in the study during the years 2009– 2011. The national individual identification number was used to link information gathered at school with perinatal data collected by the civil registry and subsequently published by the National Institute of Statistics [16].

2.2. Perinatal Variables. In addition to sex, perinatal data used in this study were birth weight (BW), birth length (BL), and GA. They were determined at the maternity hospitals immediately after delivery by trained personnel [17, 18]. Infants were weighed using a 1583 Tanita electronic scale (Tanita Corporation, Arlington Heights, IL) with an accuracy of 10 g or an electronic scale, Seca 345, the accuracy being 20 g (Secacorp, Hamburg, Germany). Crown-heel length was measured using an infantometer, to the nearest 1mm. GA was estimated as completed weeks of gestation using the date of the last menstrual period; when this data was inaccurate an early obstetric ultrasound was used. This ultrasound examination is available for most women before 20 weeks of pregnancy in Chile and most of these scans are performed with a Voluson 730 ultrasound system (GE Healthcare, Chalfont St. Giles, UK) or a Acuson 120XP (Acuson Inc., Mountain View, CA) [17]. When ultrasound examinations were not available before 20 weeks of pregnancy, GA was usually estimated by a postnatal clinical examination of the newborns performed by the physician in charge. Preterm delivery was defined as $GA \le 37$ weeks [19].

2.3. Metabolic Syndrome. The criteria of Cook et al. were used to define MS in the children, when at least three out of five of its components were present, as defined by the following cut-off points [20]: WC \geq 90th percentile [21], BP, either systolic (SBP) or diastolic (DBP) \geq 90th percentile [22], low HDL-C \leq 40 mg/dL, TG \geq 110 mg/dL, and glucose (GLU) \geq 100 mg/dL. Recently proposed local cut-off points of homeostasis model

assessment index (HOMA), according to sex and pubertal maturation, were used to classify IR [23].

2.4. Anthropometry. The evaluations at each school were performed by a trained nurse and a nutritionist. Height and weight were measured using a stadiometer and a beam-scale Seca, with an accuracy of 50 g, while being barefoot and lightly clothed. The final height and weight were the respective averages of three measurements. We calculated body mass index (BMI = weight in kg/height² in m) expressed in percentiles and z-scores [24]. Nutritional status was classified according to BMI percentiles as normal: 5 to 84, overweight: 85 to 94, obese: ≥95, and underweight: <5; short stature, or stunting, was defined as stature-for-age <5th percentile [24]. WC was measured with an inextensible tape on the upper lateral border of the right ilium in the midaxillary line at the end of an exhalation [25]; two measurements were averaged and we used the \geq 90th percentile as cut-off value [21]. The triceps and subscapular skin folds were measured with a Harpenden caliper using a standard technique [25]; both were used to calculate the percentage of fat mass (%FM) using Slaughter equations [26], previously validated in Chilean children [27, 28]. A Critikon Dinamap Pro 100 blood pressure monitor was used according to international norms and the averages of three measurements of SBP and DBP were obtained and classified as abnormal using the \geq 90 percentile of the same reference [22]. A voluntary private self-report of pubertal status was requested by observation of standardized photos of breast development in girls and genitalia in boys, including the presence of pubic hair [29].

2.5. Blood Samples. Subjects were instructed to fast (water was allowed) for 12 hours prior to drawing of blood; non-compliers were asked to return another day for the blood sampling. A single laboratory at our university was used for all blood analyses. This laboratory has been credited by the standard ISO 15189 for medical laboratories [30].

Venous blood samples were collected for determination of glucose (Gluco-quant method, glucose/hexokinase, Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) and insulin (immunoassay direct luminometer chemotherapy, ADVIA Centaur XP. Bayer HealthCare LLC, Kyowa Medex Co., Japan); this method measures concentrations of insulin from 0.5 to 300 mUI/mL (sensitivity of 0.5 mUI/mL) with a coefficient of variation of 3.48% and 6.17% for concentrations of 23.51 mUI/mL and 62.49 mUI/mL, respectively. The formula developed by Matthews et al. [31] was used to calculate HOMA = (glucose [mmol/liter] × insulin [mUI/mL]/22.5) and to estimate IR [23]. TG and HDL-C were analyzed on the Modular Analytics P-800 platform (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany).

2.6. Socioeconomic Status. Socioeconomic status was estimated using as a proxy the number of maternal years of formal education as collected at birth by the civil registry [16]. This indicator has been considered closely related to the actual socioeconomic status and the access to health services in many studies [15, 32, 33]. Maternal level of education was classified in the following way: (a) basic: 0–8 years of

TABLE 1: Anthropometric and perinatal characteristics (n	nean \pm SD) by sex in 3290 children from Puente Alto, Chile, 2009–2011.
--	--

Variable	Total	Girls	Boys	<i>P</i> value
variable	(n = 3290)	(n = 1711)	(n = 1579)	
Age (years)	11.4 ± 1.0	11.4 ± 1.0	11.5 ± 1.0	< 0.001
Weight (kg)	43.9 ± 11.2	44.4 ± 11.1	43.4 ± 11.3	0.018
Height (cm)	146.5 ± 8.1	146.8 ± 7.7	146.2 ± 8.5	0.042
BMI (kg/m ²)	20.3 ± 3.9	20.4 ± 3.9	20.1 ± 3.9	0.038
z-BMI	0.59 ± 1.1	0.59 ± 1.0	0.58 ± 1.1	ns
%FM	25.0 ± 11.4	27.0 ± 12.2	22.8 ± 10.1	< 0.001
BW (g)	3350 ± 524	3292 ± 512	3412 ± 529	< 0.001
BL (cm)	49.6 ± 2.4	49.2 ± 2.3	49.98 ± 2.4	< 0.001
GA (w)	38.9 ± 1.8	38.9 ± 1.9	38.8 ± 1.7	ns

BMI, body mass index; %FM, percentage of fat mass; BW, birth weight; BL, birth length; GA, gestational age; ns, nonsignificant; SD, standard deviation.

education; (b) medium: 9–12 years of education; and (c) upper: 13 and more years of education.

2.7. Statistical Analysis. The prevalence of MS and its components were described as number of cases and percentage, while perinatal variables used mean and standard deviation (SD). To assess differences by sex, Pearson's chi-square test for proportions and independent samples Student's t-test for averages were used. Prevalence of MS and its components was computed at each category of the perinatal variables. The presences of linear trends in this prevalence were assessed using the Cochran-Armitage test, while nonlinear associations were evaluated allowing quadratic terms in a logistic regression. Multivariate analysis was performed using logistic regression allowing specific adjustments for sex, Tanner stage, and %FM; those factors could be confounders which potentially influence the dependent variables [13, 15, 23, 34]. Crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) were computed, with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI).

All data analyses were performed using 2-sided P values and values ≤ 0.05 were considered statistically significant. SAS software version 9.1 was used to compute statistical analysis.

2.8. *Ethics.* Parents or their representatives signed an informed consent form and boys/girls an informed acceptance form. The study was approved by the Ethics Committees of the School of Medicine (Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile) and the National Fund for Science and Technology (FONDECYT).

3. Results

Initially 5,614 subjects were eligible for the study, 2,616 females and 2,998 males. A total of 3,325 children and adolescents who presented the signed informed consent forms were evaluated and 2289 refused to participate; from the latter 34.5% were females and 47.4% males (P < 0.001). Complete information on studied perinatal variables was obtained for 3290 children (98.9%), of whom 52% were females. There were no significant differences between those who participated or those who did not in terms of age, years of maternal education, BW, and BL.

Based on maternal education attainment, the socioeconomic status distribution in the total group of eligible subjects was medium 60.1%, basic 33.0%, and superior 6.9%. Proportions in the actually studied subjects were similar: 60.9%, 32.5%, and 6.6%, respectively. There were no major associations observed with the study outcomes except for short stature which was slightly more frequent for basic education than the other categories of maternal education (P = 0.039) (data not presented).

In the studied sample, mean age was 11.4 ± 1 years (range 10–15 years) being higher in males than in females. Most anthropometric characteristics assessed were slightly higher among females; only BMI (*z*-score) did not differ by sex. Among boys, mean BW and BL were higher than in females (Table 1).

Prevalence of obesity, stunting, MS, and IR was 16.0%, 3.6%, 7.3%, and 25.5%, respectively (Table 2). Obesity was more frequent in males but stunting was more frequent in females. The prevalence of MS was higher in females; IR did not differ between the genders. In the study cohort TG \geq 110 mg/dL was the most common component of the MS, followed by WC \geq 90th percentile. Interestingly, 99% of cases having BP \geq 90th percentile came from SBP \geq 90th percentile.

Several associations were observed between perinatal variables and the outcome variables studied (Figure 1). Positive trends were observed between BW and obesity and between BW and WC \geq 90th percentile; BL was also positively associated with obesity. Negative associations were observed between BW and stunting and between BW and BP \geq 90th percentile. GA was negatively associated with MS, BP \geq 90th percentile, and TG \geq 110 mg/dL; two other negative associations were almost significant: GA with IR (*P* for trend of 0.0893) and GA with WC \geq 90th percentile (*P* for trend of 0.0733). In addition, a U-shaped association between BL and BP \geq 90th percentile was observed. Another association was found between BL and stunting (*P* for trend < 0.0001); this association was not included in Figure 1.

Table 3 presents crude ORs for the associations described above; bold numbers correspond to significant OR values. Adjusted ORs for %FM and adjusted ORs for %FM, sex, and Tanner stage are also presented.

Variabla	Total	Girls	Boys	Dyrahua
Variable	(n = 3290)	(n = 1711)	(n = 1579)	r value
Obesity (BMI \ge 95 percentile)	527 (16.0)	227 (13.3)	300 (19.0)	0.002
Stunting (stature-for-age < 5th percentile)	120 (3.6)	63 (3.7)	57 (3.1)	0.049
MS (≥3 components)	239 (7.3)	150 (8.8)	89 (5.6)	0.001
$HDL-C \le 40 \text{ mg/dL}$	555 (16.9)	324 (18.9)	231 (14.6)	0.001
$TG \ge 110 \text{ mg/dL}$	878 (26.7)	530 (31.0)	348 (22.0)	< 0.001
SBP (mm Hg) \geq 90th percentile	349 (10.6)	199 (11.6)	150 (9.5)	ns
DBP (mm Hg) \geq 90th percentile	24 (0.73)	17 (1.0)	7 (0.4)	ns
BP (mm Hg) \ge 90th percentile	354 (10.8)	201 (11.7)	153 (9.7)	ns
WC (cm) \ge 90th percentile	697 (21.2)	405 (23.7)	292 (18.5)	< 0.001
Glucose (mg/dL) \geq 100 mg/dL	235 (7.1)	96 (5.6)	139 (8.8)	< 0.001
IR (HOMA \geq 90th percentile)	838 (25.5)	424 (25.2)	414 (26.4)	ns

TABLE 2: Anthropometric and perinatal characteristics [n (%)] by sex in 3290 children from Puente Alto, Chile, 2009–2011.

BMI, body mass index; MS, metabolic syndrome; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein; TG, triglycerides; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; BP, blood pressure; WC, waist circumference; HOMA, homeostasis model assessment; IR, insulin resistance; ns, nonsignificant.

The lowest prevalence of obesity and WC \geq 90th percentile at school-age was observed within the 2500–2999 g BW category and was therefore considered as the reference level. This prevalence increased with BW categories, almost tripling the odds for obesity and almost doubling the odds for WC \geq 90th percentile at the highest category of BW. Adjustments for %FM increased most ORs. Adjustment for %FM, sex, and Tanner stage for obesity maintained similar values. Adjustments for %FM and for %FM, sex, and Tanner stage showed a slight increase of OR values for WC \geq 90th percentile in the <2500 g BW category.

BW had an inverse association with the prevalence of stunting. Crude ORs in the 3500 g and over categories were protective; those values did not change after adjustments for %FM but disappeared after further adjustment for sex and Tanner stage.

BW did not show an influence on BP \geq 90th percentile when assuming the 2500–2999 g BW category as reference (Table 3). However, when selecting the BW category with the lowest prevalence of BP \geq 90th percentile as reference, that is, 3500–3999 g, the lowest BW category, that is, <2500 g, presented a higher risk for BP \geq 90th percentile: OR 1.80 (95CI: 1.12–2.90); no changes were observed after adjustments.

BW had an inverse influence on IR prevalence. Crude ORs in the 3000 g and over categories were protective; those values were stable after adjustments.

52-53 cm BL was the category with the lowest prevalence of BP \geq 90th percentile at school-age and was considered as the reference level. Both, the lowest and highest categories of BL doubled the risk of BP \geq 90th percentile, depicting a Ushaped behavior. Adjustments for %FM and for %FM, sex, and Tanner stage maintained these ORs only for BL < 48 cm.

BL categories below 50 cm were protective for obesity. ORs declined and were more protective when adjusting for %FM. These associations disappeared when further adjusting for sex and Tanner stage.

52-53 cm BL was the category with the lowest prevalence of stunting at school-age; $BL \ge 54$ cm category did not present stunted children. OR values < 50 cm showed a risk of at least 5

times the observed in the reference category. Adjustments for %FM and for %FM, sex, and Tanner stage maintained these ORs.

One BL category, that is, 48-49 cm, increased the risk for HOMA-IR just when adjusting for %FM, sex, and Tanner stage.

 $GA \ge 41$ weeks was the category with the lowest prevalence of BP \ge 90th percentile, MS, and TG \ge 110 mg/dL at school-age and was considered the baseline level. Both, crude and adjusted ORs of prematurity, defined as GA \le 37 weeks, behaved in a similar way showing the highest figures for BP \ge 90th percentile, MS, and TG \ge 110 mg/dL. No associations were found for GA and IR.

4. Discussion

This is the first study focusing upon associations between perinatal factors and nutritional status, MS, and IR in Chilean children. We observed that prenatal growth influences obesity characteristics, MS, IR, and stunting. In general, prenatal growth seemed to be more important in predicting these associations than present body composition because adjustments for present fat mass increased or maintained the most prenatal growth influences. Small body size at birth was associated with elevated BP, IR, and MS, while a large body size at birth was associated with measurements of obesity. The undeniable role of prenatal growth on metabolic outcomes appears, even in school-aged children, whose metabolic damages are only developing.

The finding of a U-shaped association between BL and $BP \ge 90$ th percentile is consistent with the well-documented associations between both low and high values of BW and BL with many perinatal health indicators in previous reports [19, 35].

The associations of BW with a higher prevalence of obesity or increased adiposity have been observed in previous studies [18, 36]. In our report there was also a nonsignificant tendency towards a J-shaped association which according to other studies may be stronger and significant at later ages.



FIGURE 1: Association of perinatal variables and outcomes at 10–15 years of age, Puente Alto, Chile, 2009–2011. Association of BW with obesity ((a) *P* for trend <0.0001), stunting ((b) *P* for trend <0.0001), WC \geq 90th percentile ((c) *P* for trend =0.0069), and BP \geq 90th percentile ((d) *P* for trend =0.0176). Associations of BL with obesity ((e) *P* for trend =0.0027) and BP \geq 90th percentile ((f) *P* = 0.0002 linear term, *P* = 0.0029 quadratic term). Associations of GA at birth with MS ((g) *P* for trend =0.0083), BP \geq 90th percentile ((h) *P* for trend =0.0255), and TG > 110 mg/dL ((i) *P* for trend =0.0435). Panels (a), (c), and (e) show that, as the value of the perinatal variable increases, it also increases the prevalence of obesity or WC \geq 90th percentile at 10–14 years of age. (b), (d), (g), (h), and (i) behave inversely; as the value of the perinatal variable increases, prevalence of stunting, BP \geq 90th percentile, MS, or TG > 110 mg/dL decreases. Panel (f) shows a U-shaped behavior, denoting that the lowest and highest values of BL have the highest prevalence of BP \geq 90th percentile, Puente Alto, Chile, 2009–2011. BW, birth weight; BL, birth length; GA, gestational age; WC, waist circumference; BP, blood pressure; MS: metabolic syndrome; TG, triglycerides; perc, percentile.

For example, the 1958 British birth cohort study showed that the association between BW and BMI was positive and weak becoming more J-shaped with increasing age; BMI was assessed at 7, 11, 16, 23, and 33 years in that study [37]. This inverse association between low BW and obesity and WC > 90th percentiles has been explained by Hales and Barker with the "thrifty phenotype" hypothesis. This proposes a greater susceptibility of the newborns with low BW to develop IR in order to survive intrauterine malnutrition and determine adaptive responses as diet preference to high-fat, hyperphagia, decreased muscle development, and large deposit of visceral adipose tissue [38].

BL was positively associated with obesity, probably reflecting the well-known previously reported finding that

weight and height are positively correlated during adolescence but not during adulthood [9].

GA was inversely associated with important metabolic risk factors, BP \geq 90th percentile, TG \geq 110 mg/dL, WC \geq 90th percentile, and MS as a whole, in these children. As previously mentioned prematurity was defined in this study as \leq 37 weeks following recent national recommendations [35]. This fact leads to estimating a higher proportion of risky premature births at the national level; live births with 37 weeks, estimated to be in 6%, would add the proportion traditionally defined as premature births with GA < 37 w, which are now reaching 6.13% for 2011 [16, 35]. The incidence of preterm is increasing worldwide and, as previously mentioned, has been associated with increased BP and IR [11, 12]. A lower GA necessarily

TABLE 3: Trends of the main outcomes in school-age children with perinatal variables. Prevalence and crude ORs and ORs adjusted by %FM, Puente Alto, Chile, 2009–2011.

BW (g)	п	Obesity (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<2500	161	11.8	1.20	0.69-2.11	1.81	0.81-4.05	2.11	0.89-4.98
2500-2999	500	10.0	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
3000-3499	1335	14.0	1.47	1.05-2.04	2.00	1.28-3.13	2.06	1.27-3.35
3500-3999	992	19.8	2.22	1.59-3.09	3.55	2.26-5.58	3.07	1.87-5.04
≥4000	302	24.8	2.97	2.01-4.40	3.94	2.26-6.87	2.81	1.52-5.20
BW (g)	п	WC \geq 90th percentile (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<2500	161	19.9	1.18	0.75-1.85	2.64	1.29-5.39	2.65	1.29-5.45
2500-2999	500	17.4	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
3000-3499	1335	19.7	1.17	0.89-1.52	1.53	1.03-2.29	1.49	0.99-2.23
3500-3999	992	23.5	1.46	1.11-1.92	1.94	1.29-2.93	1.79	1.18-2.72
≥4000	302	27.2	1.77	1.26-2.49	1.75	1.03-2.98	1.54	0.89-2.65
BW (g)	п	Stunting (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<2500	161	6.8	1.11	0.54-2.26	1.02	0.5-2.08	0.65	0.37-1.13
2500-2999	500	6.2	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
3000-3499	1335	4.3	0.68	0.43-1.06	0.67	0.42-1.05	0.75	0.47-1.18
3500-3999	992	1.7	0.26	0.15-0.48	0.27	0.15-0.50	1.08	0.71-1.63
≥4000	302	1.3	0.20	0.07-0.58	0.22	0.08-0.63	1.29	0.54-3.12
BW (g)	п	BP \geq 90th percentile (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<2500	161	15.5	1.35	0.81-2.23	1.41	0.85-2.34	1.42	0.85-2.35
2500-2999	500	12.0	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
3000-3499	1335	10.9	0.89	0.65-1.23	0.90	0.65-1.24	0.90	0.65-1.25
3500-3999	992	9.3	0.75	0.53-1.06	0.73	0.52-1.03	0.74	0.52-1.05
≥4000	302	10.6	0.87	0.55-1.37	0.80	0.51-1.27	0.82	0.52-1.30
BW (g)	п	IR	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<2500	161	24.8	0.75	0.5-1.12	0.83	0.53-1.30	0.82	0.52-1.29
2500-2999	500	30.6	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
3000-3499	1335	24.5	0.74	0.59-0.92	0.70	0.55-0.90	0.66	0.51-0.85
3500-3999	992	25.3	0.77	0.61-0.98	0.67	0.51-0.87	0.60	0.46-0.78
≥4000	302	28.2	0.89	0.65-1.22	0.67	0.47-0.95	0.57	0.40-0.82
BL (cm)	п	BP \ge 90th percentile (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<48	457	16.6	2.22	1.49-3.31	2.25	1.51-3.35	2.22	1.48-3.33
48-49	976	10.9	1.36	0.94-1.97	1.34	0.93-1.95	1.33	0.91-1.94
50-51	1264	9.3	1.15	0.80-1.65	1.12	0.78-1.62	1.12	0.77-1.61
52-53	522	8.2	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
≥54	71	15.5	2.04	1.00-4.17	1.93	0.94-3.96	1.93	0.94-3.96
BL (cm)	п	Obesity (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<48	457	12.3	0.64	0.45-0.92	0.38	0.23-0.62	0.65	0.37-1.13
48-49	976	13.3	0.71	0.53-0.95	0.43	0.29-0.66	0.75	0.47-1.18
50-51	1264	18.2	1.03	0.79-1.34	0.81	0.56-1.18	1.08	0.71-1.63
52-53	522	17.8	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
≥54	71	25.4	1.57	0.88-2.80	1.29	0.56-2.96	1.29	0.54-3.12
BL (cm)	п	Stunting (%)	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<48	457	9.2	8.70	3.66-20.67	8.64	3.63-20.57	8.74	3.65-20.94
48-49	976	5.2	4.74	2.02-11.12	4.86	2.07-11.42	4.98	2.11-11.75
50-51	1264	1.2	1.45	0.58-3.62	1.51	0.6-3.76	1.52	0.61-3.79
52-53	522	1.2	1.00	Reference	1.00	Reference	1.00	Reference
≥54	71	0.0	_		_		_	

BL (cm)	п	IR	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
<48	457	25.8	1.12	0.84-1.49	1.15	0.83-1.58	1.38	0.99–1.91
48-49	976	27.4	1.21	0.95-1.55	1.19	0.91-1.56	1.40	1.06-1.84
50-51	1264	25.9	1.12	0.88-1.42	1.05	0.81-1.36	1.13	0.87 - 1.48
52-53	522	23.8	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
≥54	71	28.2	1.26	0.72-2.19	1.04	0.56-1.94	1.00	0.53-1.85
GA (w)	п	$BP \ge 90$ th percentile	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
≤37	431	13.7	1.73	1.09-2.75	1.74	1.09-2.78	1.77	1.11-2.82
38	685	11.5	1.42	0.91-2.21	1.42	0.91-2.21	1.43	0.92-2.22
39	928	10.9	1.33	0.87-2.04	1.36	0.88-2.08	1.37	0.89-2.10
40	889	9.6	1.15	0.75-1.78	1.17	0.76-1.82	1.18	0.76-1.83
≥41	357	8.4	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
GA (w)	п	MS (%)	OR	95% CI	OR^*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
≤37	431	10.2	2.14	1.21-3.78	2.37	1.28-4.39	2.46	1.33-4.55
38	685	8.2	1.68	0.97-2.90	1.76	0.97-3.17	1.78	0.99-3.22
39	928	6.5	1.30	0.76-2.24	1.51	0.84 - 2.70	1.56	0.87-2.79
40	889	6.9	1.39	0.81-2.38	1.55	0.86-2.77	1.58	0.88 - 2.84
≥41	357	5.0	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline
GA (w)	п	$TG \ge 110 \text{ mg/dL} (\%)$	OR	95% CI	OR*	95% CI	OR**	95% CI
≤37	431	30.6	1.41	1.03-1.94	1.48	1.06-2.07	1.52	1.09-2.13
38	685	27.0	1.18	0.88-1.59	1.19	0.87-1.63	1.21	0.88-1.65
39	928	25.2	1.08	0.81-1.44	1.14	0.85-1.54	1.16	0.86-1.57
40	889	27.2	1.20	0.90-1.59	1.28	0.95-1.73	1.30	0.96-1.75
≥41	357	23.8	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline	1.00	Baseline

TABLE 3: Continued.

* OR adjusted by %FM.

** OR adjusted by %FM, sex, and Tanner stage.

WC, waist circumference; BP, blood pressure; MS, metabolic syndrome; TG, triglycerides; BP, blood pressure; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment indexinsulin resistance; BW, birth weight; BL, birth length; GA, gestational age; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval, %FM: percentage of fat mass.

implies a lower fetal growth as estimated by BW and BL; much more attention should be given to its prevention.

National proportions of BL < 50 cm and \geq 54 cm are now reaching 44% and 2.5%, respectively, meanwhile national proportions of BW < 3000 g and \geq 4000 g are now reaching 21.8% and 9%, respectively [16, 18, 19, 35]. It can be inferred that BL < 50 cm is the most frequent factor of risk in this study. Anyway, there is a clear need to avoid extreme values of perinatal variables.

Most of these results confirmed observations of a previous study [6]. However, this is the first Chilean sample that shows U- or J-shaped nature of some of the associations [39– 46]. All previous studies had a lower sample size than the present study and also less power to detect J- or U-shaped associations between BL and BP. Besides, the other seven quoted reports apparently did not search for the possible Ushaped associations of BW with obesity or WC; anyway, in most of them infants or children were too young to show that kind of associations as discussed previously [37].

There are some weaknesses in our study that need to be addressed. The sample comes from all public schools in Puente Alto, the county with the highest number of inhabitants in Chile reaching more than 600,000 [16]. Cases that did not sign the informed consent were mostly boys. However the final study sample consisted of 52% females and 48% males, with a similar sex distribution to all live births at the national level [16]. No significant differences were found between the students who signed and did not sign the informed consent with respect to their prenatal and maternal characteristics. These findings suggest that there was not a biased selection of study subjects due to follow-up losses. Another limitation of this study is the lack of consensus on the diagnostic classifications of MS in children older than 6 years [18, 47, 48]; this difficulty is due to the possible influences of growth and puberty [49].

Body composition at school-age would need to be associated with the same information at birth and also during pregnancy [50]. Moreover, other maternal data could provide light on the role of nutritional status and certain pathologies on the observed results of this study. Although there is a known association between nutrition during pregnancy, infancy, and childhood with metabolic disorders, specific studies in different settings are needed [1–4].

5. Conclusions

Prenatal growth is related to MS, IR, and nutritional status in this large sample of 3290 Chilean children. Fetal growth seemed to be generally more important in these associations than in present body composition because adjustments for present fat mass increased or maintained the most prenatal growth influences.

The most significant results may include association of anthropometry at birth with MS, obesity, BP \geq 90th percentile, and stunting. Other results confirmed previous observations regarding high risk of obesity and high risk of WC \geq 90th percentile in newborns who weighed \geq 4000 g at delivery. BW had a strong negative association with BP \geq 90th percentile as previously reported. Interestingly, BL < 50 cm was associated with at least ~30% reduction in the risk of obesity and at least five times increase in the OR of stunting. The lowest and highest categories of BL were associated with a 2-fold increase in the risk of high BP. On the other hand, children who were born \leq 37 weeks exhibited higher risk for BP \geq 90th percentile, hypertriglyceridemia, and MS.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the support of the National Fund for Science and Technology (FONDECYT), Chile, throughout Project no. 1090594. Other two partial sources of funding were (a) Project 1898 from the Research Vice-Rectory of the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile which supported final statistical analyses and (b) Ferrero LADM, a company which is part of Ferrero Group, which donated the total amount of US\$ 1,750 to pay to Biomed Research International Journal the fees charged for publication of this paper. None of the funding sources put any conditions or requirements regarding the final results of this report.

References

- D. J. P. Barker, "Past obstacles and future promiseeds," in Developmental Origins of Health and Disease, P. Gluckman and M. Hanson, Eds., pp. 481–495, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2006.
- [2] A. Prentice, "Impact of early nutrition on later chronic disease outcomes epidemiological studies," in *The Influence of Maternal*, *Fetal and Child Nutrition on the Development of Chronic Disease in Later Life*, A. Prentice, Ed., pp. 57–79, Stationery Office Limited, London, UK, 2011, www.sacn.gov.uk.
- [3] P. Gluckman and M. Hanson, Mismatch. Why Our World No Longer Fits Our Bodies, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 2006.
- [4] P. Gluckman, A. Beedle, and M. Hanson, *Principles of Evolution-ary Medicine*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 2009.
- [5] J. G. Eriksson, T. Forsén, J. Tuomilehto, C. Osmond, and D. J. P. Barker, "Early growth and coronary heart disease in later life: longitudinal study," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 322, no. 7292, pp. 949–953, 2001.
- [6] C. L. P. Araújo, P. C. Hallal, G. A. Nader, A. M. B. Menezes, and C. G. Victora, "Size at birth and height in early adolescence: a prospective birth cohort study," *Cadernos de Saude Publica*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 871–878, 2008.

- [7] H. T. Sørensen, S. Sabroe, K. J. Rothman et al., "Birth weight and length as predictors for adult height," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 149, no. 8, pp. 726–729, 1999.
- [8] M. G. Eide, N. Øyen, R. Skjærven, S. T. Nilsen, T. Bjerkedal, and G. S. Tell, "Size at birth and gestational age as predictors of adult height and weight," *Epidemiology*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 175– 181, 2005.
- [9] A. Bosy-Westphal, S. Plachta-Danielzik, R.-P. Dörhöfer, and M. J. Müller, "Short stature and obesity: positive association in adults but inverse association in children and adolescents," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 102, no. 3, pp. 453–461, 2009.
- [10] F. Mardones, P. Arnaiz, S. Barja, C. Giadach, L. Villarroel, A. Dominguez et al., "Nutritional status, metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance in children from Santiago (Chile)," *Nutrición Hospitalaria*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1587–1593, 2013.
- [11] S. R. Dalziel, V. Parag, A. Rodgers, and J. E. Harding, "Cardiovascular risk factors at age 30 following pre-term birth," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 907– 915, 2007.
- [12] J. E. Harding, "The nutritional basis of the fetal origins of adult disease," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 15–23, 2001.
- [13] J. I. Cleeman, "Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (adult treatment panel III)," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 285, no. 19, pp. 2486–2497, 2001.
- [14] F. Mardones, L. Villarroel, P. Arnaiz et al. et al., "Prenatal growth and metabolic syndrome components among Chilean children," *Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 237–244, 2012.
- [15] L. Villarroel, L. Karzulovic, J. Manzi, J. G. Eriksson, and F. Mardones, "Association of perinatal factors and school performance in primary school Chilean children," *Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 232–238, 2013.
- [16] Instituto Nacional de Estadística, Chile, "Estadísticas Vitales, Informe Anual 2008," 2008, http://www.ine.cl/canales/menu/ publicaciones/calendario_de_publicaciones/pdf/21_12_10/vit_ 08211210.pdf.
- [17] F. Mardones, M.-T. Urrutia, L. Villarroel et al., "Effects of a dairy product fortified with multiple micronutrients and omega-3 fatty acids on birth weight and gestation duration in pregnant Chilean women," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 30– 40, 2008.
- [18] F. Mardones, L. Villarroel, L. Karzulovic et al., "Association of perinatal factors and obesity in 6- to 8-year-old Chilean children," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 902–910, 2008.
- [19] F. Mardones, A. González, and F. Mardones-Restat, "Mortalidad neonatal, definición de conceptos perinatales," in *Manual de Neonatología*, J.-L. Tapia and A. González, Eds., pp. 19–28, Mediterráneo, Santiago, Chile, 3rd edition, 2008.
- [20] S. Cook, M. Weitzman, P. Auinger, M. Nguyen, and W. H. Dietz, "Prevalence of a metabolic syndrome phenotype in adolescents: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination survey, 1988–1994," *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, vol. 157, no. 8, pp. 821–827, 2003.
- [21] J. R. Fernández, D. T. Redden, A. Pietrobelli, and D. B. Allison, "Waist circumference percentiles in nationally representative samples of African-American, European-American,

and Mexican-American children and adolescents," Journal of Pediatrics, vol. 145, no. 4, pp. 439–444, 2004.

- [22] National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group on High Blood Pressure in Children and Adolescents, "The fourth report on the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure in children and adolescents," *Pediatrics*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 555–576, 2004.
- [23] S. Barja, P. Arnaiz, A. Domínguez et al., "Normal plasma insulin and HOMA values among chilean children and adolescents," *Revista Medica de Chile*, vol. 139, no. 11, pp. 1435–1443, 2011.
- [24] "NHANES-2000 CDC Clinical Growth Charts for the United States," 2008, http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/growthcharts/ training/modules/module2/text/page6b.htm.
- [25] "NHANES—Anthropometry Procedures Manual," 2004, http:// www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes_03_04/BM.pdf.
- [26] M. H. Slaughter, T. G. Lohman, R. A. Boileau et al., "Skinfold equations for estimations of body fatness in children and youth," *Human Biology*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 709–723, 1988.
- [27] P. Urrejola, M. Hodgson, and M. Icaza, "Evaluación de la composición corporal en niñas usando impedanciometría bioeléctrica y pliegues subcutáneos," *Revista Chilena de Pediatría*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 26–33, 2001.
- [28] Y. Liberona, O. Castillo, V. Engler, L. Villarroel, and J. Rozowski, "Nutritional profile of schoolchildren from different socioeconomic levels in Santiago, Chile," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 142–149, 2011.
- [29] J. Tanner, Growth at Adolescence, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, 2nd edition, 1962.
- [30] International Organization for Standardization, "ISO 15189; Medical laboratories—Requirements for quality and competences," 2012, http://www.iso.org/iso/home.html.
- [31] D. R. Matthews, J. P. Hosker, A. S. Rudenski, B. A. Naylor, D. F. Treacher, and R. C. Turner, "Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and β-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man," *Diabetologia*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 412–419, 1985.
- [32] F. Mardones-Restat, G. Jones, F. Mardones-Santander, N. Dachs, J.-P. Habicht, and M. Diaz, "Growth failure prediction in Chile," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 18, supplement 2, pp. S44–S49, 1989.
- [33] J. G. Cleland and J. K. van Ginneken, "Maternal education and child survival in developing countries: the search for pathways of influence," *Social Science and Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 1357–1368, 1988.
- [34] A. W. Gardner, D. E. Parker, S. Krishnan, and L. J. Chalmers, "Metabolic syndrome and daily ambulation in children, adolescents, and young adults," *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 163–169, 2013.
- [35] P. O. López and G. Bréart, "Trends in gestational age and birth weight in Chile, 1991–2008. A descriptive epidemiological study," *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, vol. 12, article 121, 2012.
- [36] J. J. Reilly, J. Armstrong, A. R. Dorosty et al., "Early life risk factors for obesity in childhood: cohort study," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 330, no. 7504, pp. 1357–1359, 2005.
- [37] T. J. Parsons, C. Power, and O. Manor, "Fetal and early life growth and body mass index from birth to early adulthood in 1958 British cohort: longitudinal," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 323, no. 7325, pp. 1331–1335, 2001.
- [38] C. N. Hales and D. J. P. Barker, "The thrifty phenotype hypothesis," *British Medical Bulletin*, vol. 60, pp. 5–20, 2001.

- [39] M. Molina, V. Casanueva, X. Cid et al., "Serum lipids in newborns with intrauterine growth retardation," *Revista Medica de Chile*, vol. 128, no. 7, pp. 741–748, 2000.
- [40] C. M. Law, P. Egger, O. Dada et al., "Body size at birth and blood pressure among children in developing countries," *International Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 52–57, 2001.
- [41] R. A. Bazaes, T. E. Salazar, E. Pittaluga et al., "Glucose and lipid metabolism in small for gestational age infants at 48 hours of age," *Pediatrics*, vol. 111, no. 4, part 1, pp. 804–809, 2003.
- [42] V. Mericq, K. K. Ong, R. Bazaes et al., "Longitudinal changes in insulin sensitivity and secretion from birth to age three years in small- and appropriate-for-gestational-age children," *Diabetologia*, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 2609–2614, 2005.
- [43] H. Amigo, P. Bustos, M. E. Alvarado et al., "Size at birth and lipoprotein concentrations in adulthood: two prospective studies in Latin American cities," *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 855–859, 2010.
- [44] S. Loaiza, A. Coustasse, X. Urrutia-Rojas, and E. Atalah, "Birth weight and obesity risk at first grade in a cohort of Chilean children," *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 214–219, 2011.
- [45] F. Eyzaguirre, R. Bancalari, R. Román et al., "Prevalence of components of the metabolic syndrome according to birthweight among overweight and obese children and adolescents," *Journal* of *Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 25, no. 1-2, pp. 51– 56, 2012.
- [46] A. Martinez-Aguayo, M. Aglony, R. Bancalari et al., "Birth weight is inversely associated with blood pressure and serum aldosterone and cortisol levels in children," *Clinical Endocrinol*ogy, vol. 76, no. 5, pp. 713–718, 2012.
- [47] P. Zimmet, G. K. M. M. Alberti, F. Kaufman et al., "The metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents—an IDF consensus report," *Pediatric Diabetes*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 299–306, 2007.
- [48] S. D. de Ferranti, K. Gauvreau, D. S. Ludwig, E. J. Neufeld, J. W. Newburger, and N. Rifai, "Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in American adolescents: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination survey," *Circulation*, vol. 110, no. 16, pp. 2494–2497, 2004.
- [49] D. S. Freedman, M. K. Serdula, S. R. Srinivasan, and G. S. Berenson, "Relation of circumferences and skinfold thicknesses to lipid and insulin concentrations in children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart study," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 308–317, 1999.
- [50] F. Mardones-Santander, G. Salazar, P. Rosso, and L. Villarroel, "Maternal body composition near term and birth weight," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 873–877, 1998.

Review Article

Docosahexaenoic Acid Supplementation Early in Pregnancy May Prevent Deep Placentation Disorders

Jorge A. Carvajal^{1,2}

¹ Unidad de Medicina Materno Fetal, División de Obstetricia y Ginecología, Escuela de Medicina, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, 8330024 Santiago, Chile

² Centro de Investigaciones Médicas, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Marcoleta 391, 8330024 Santiago, Chile

Correspondence should be addressed to Jorge A. Carvajal; jccjccjcc@vtr.net

Received 10 March 2014; Accepted 3 June 2014; Published 12 June 2014

Academic Editor: Leslie Myatt

Copyright © 2014 Jorge A. Carvajal. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Uteroplacental ischemia may cause preterm birth, either due to preterm labor, preterm premature rupture of membranes, or medical indication (in the presence of preeclampsia or fetal growth restriction). Uteroplacental ischemia is the product of defective deep placentation, a failure of invasion, and transformation of the spiral arteries by the trophoblast. The failure of normal placentation generates a series of clinical abnormalities nowadays called "deep placentation disorders"; they include preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction, preterm labor, preterm premature rupture of membranes, in utero fetal death, and placental abruption. Early reports suggested that a LC-PUFAs (long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids) rich diet reduces the incidence of deep placentation disorders. Recent randomized controlled trials are inconsistent to show the benefit of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) supplementation during pregnancy to prevent deep placentation disorders, but most of them showed that DHA supplementation was associated with lower risk of early preterm birth. We postulate that DHA supplementation, early in pregnancy, may reduce the incidence of deep placentation disorders. If our hypothesis is correct, DHA supplementation, early in pregnancy, will become a safe and effective strategy for primary prevention of highly relevant pregnancy diseases, such as preterm birth, preeclampsia, and fetal growth restriction.

1. Introduction

Preterm birth is the one that occurs after 22 and before 37 weeks of gestation [1]. Its incidence ranges from 8 to 10% of all births, although with significant regional variations, with an incidence as high as 10–12% in the US, or as low as 5% in Chile and the European Union [2]. Excluding congenital malformations, 75% of perinatal deaths and 50% of childhood neurological disabilities are directly attributable to prematurity [2].

Preterm birth can be originated by (1) preterm labor, (2) preterm premature rupture of membranes, and (3) indicated preterm birth (premature medical termination of pregnancy due to maternal or fetal problems) [2–4]. Each of these three groups corresponds roughly to a third of all premature births; the data generated in our center confirms this universal trend [5]. Although many etiologies underlie any of these clinical

groups, uteroplacental ischemia originated in disorders of deep placentation may be a common cause [6-13].

2. Uteroplacental Ischemia and Preterm Birth

An emerging hypothesis correlates by etiology idiopathic preterm labor with the phenomena of reduced blood flow to the uterus and placenta: uteroplacental ischemia. This hypothesis is supported by clinical and experimental evidence; for example, pregnant women at high altitude (>4,000 meters above sea level) have triple chance of premature delivery than women living at sea level (12 versus 4%) [14]. Clinical conditions that are a reflection of placental ischemia, such as preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction, are frequently associated with premature onset of labor [5, 15]. The anatomical-clinical correlation between preterm birth and placental morphology (histology) indicating uteroplacental ischemia has also been demonstrated [7, 16–18].

Decreased uteroplacental blood flow can be estimated by studying vascular resistance in the uterine artery by Doppler. In pregnant women without risk factors for preterm labor, increased vascular resistance in the uterine artery increases by 5 times the risk of preterm birth [19]. Moreover, in women in spontaneous preterm labor, increased vascular resistance in the uterine arteries is associated with double risk of premature birth [20–22].

The first clinical series, investigating the different etiologies of preterm labor in 50 women, including placental histology and uterine artery Doppler velocimetry, concluded that 30% of patients with preterm labor show uteroplacental ischemia [17]. Our group conducted a controlled clinical trial in a group of 145 patients admitted to our hospital in preterm labor. In each of these patients and in a control group, we assessed the presence of uteroplacental ischemia (uterine artery Doppler, birth weight, placental histology, and placental weight) and infection (placental histology and amniotic fluid cultures). We reported that 30% of patients with idiopathic preterm labor have clinical and/or laboratory evidences of uteroplacental ischemia [7]. The group with uteroplacental ischemia as the etiology of preterm birth has larger neonatal morbidity than the group with neither infection nor ischemia [7].

Our group proposed that ischemia in any of the components of the uteroplacental unit (trophoblast, decidua, fetal membranes, or myometrium) generates paracrine mediators that trigger the premature onset of myometrial contractile activity. We have reported the role of fetal membranes derived B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) in maintaining myometrial quiescence during pregnancy, and that the premature decrease of BNP production may cause preterm labor and preterm birth [23–25]. We postulate that uteroplacental ischemia, induced by abnormal placentation, may produce a premature decline in BNP production, being responsible for the premature activation of the myometrium. We studied the effect of hypoxia on BNP production by trophoblast explants; we found that hypoxia decreases by 50% the BNP production (unpublished).

To completely understand uteroplacental ischemia as a cause of premature birth, the series of events between ischemia and increased myometrial contractility remain to be determined. However what causes uteroplacental ischemia is already known: defective deep placentation.

3. Deep Placentation

Implantation and placentation establish a physical contact of the embryo/fetus and the mother, with two main objectives: (A) to establish a structural support of the embryo to the uterus and (B) to bring maternal and fetal circulation close enough to allow an adequate transfer of gases, nutrients, and waste products. Placentation begins with the implantation of the blastocyst; the outermost cells of the blastocyst (extra-embryonic cells) give rise to the trophoblast, a specialized epithelium that during implantation invades the decidua (maternal tissue originated in the endometrium prepared to receive the embryo) and the inner myometrium, developing the placenta. The embryoblast is surrounded by a "trophoblastic shell" of syncytiotrophoblast, through which columns of proliferating cytotrophoblast penetrate to invade the uterine stroma. Cytotrophoblast that penetrates beyond the syncytiotrophoblast shell assumes the extravillous cytotrophoblast lineage. The trophoblast forms two types of chorionic villi: floating and anchoring. The floating villi occupy the intervillous space ("gaps" filled with maternal blood) allowing the transport of gases and nutrients. Anchoring villi penetrate the uterine wall to provide physical support to the fetus and ensure adequate placental perfusion [26]. The columns of trophoblast are penetrated by extraembryonic mesoderm, in which fetoplacental blood vessels form by vasculogenesis, contributing to placental formation [27].

During the process of placentation, trophoblast cells attach to the basal membrane surrounding the stroma of these two types of villi. In the villi, the trophoblast cells fuse to create an external layer called syncytiotrophoblast; at the distal end of the anchoring villi, the trophoblast breaks the basal membrane and forms "trophoblast cell columns." The cell columns are formed by a subpopulation of cytotrophoblast cells called extravillous trophoblast that proliferates, invades the decidua and superficial layer of myometrium, and transforms the spiral arteries (a terminal branch of the uterine arteries that reach the endometrial surface) [26, 28]. Complete transformation of spiral arteries is required for a successful pregnancy since the transformed spiral arteries become low resistance vessels allowing a normal blood flow to the fetoplacental unit [10].

The mechanisms underlying extravillous trophoblast proliferation and invasion have not been fully established, but it is known that many molecular pathways are involved: (a) cellular interaction systems, whether cell-cell (cadherins) or cellextracellular matrix (integrins), (b) proteolysis systems such as urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA)/plasminogen activator inhibitor type-2 (PAI-2) and matrix metalloproteinase type 9 (MMP-9)/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP-3), and (c) growth factors/vascular growth factors such as insulin growth factor II (IGF II) and its binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors (Flt-1), and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β) and its receptor (endoglin) among others [28–30].

The trophoblast-associated remodeling of the spiral arteries is a process of profound changes of the arterial wall of these vessels, mainly characterized by (a) replacement of the vessel wall (media and endothelium) by endovascular trophoblast and (b) replacement of the muscular and elastic arterial wall by interstitial trophoblast and fibrinoid material [31–34]. To transform the spiral arteries, the trophoblast invades the maternal tissue (decidua, myometrium, and arteries) via two different routes: interstitial and endovascular. In the interstitial invasion, the trophoblastic cells migrate towards the arterial wall replacing the musculoelastic wall [31, 32]. The interstitial trophoblast may also be originated from extravasation of the intraluminal trophoblast [34]. In the endovascular invasion the endovascular trophoblastic cells infiltrate the lumens and walls of the arteries replacing the endothelium [31, 32, 34]; the endovascular trophoblast results from intravasation of interstitial trophoblast or by intraluminal migration of trophoblast [34].

The molecular basis of trophoblast-associated remodeling of the spiral arteries have not been fully established but integrins such as $\alpha v\beta 3$, $\alpha 1\beta 1$, and VE-cadherin (vascular endothelial cadherin); adhesion molecules like VCAM type-1 (vascular endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1), PECAM-1 (platelet cell adhesion molecule 1), and NCAM-1 (nerve cell adhesion molecule 1); and protease/anti-type protease systems such as MMP-9 and PAI-1/PAI-2 play a key role [35-40]. In knockout models for these factors, the more clearly linked to a severe abnormality of placentation is the αV - $\beta 3$ integrin knockout mouse; αV - $\beta 3$ integrin deficiency is associated with a 50% reduction in litter size and fetal mortality of 10% and is accompanied by a clear reduction in placental perfusion [35]. PAI-1 is produced by endothelial cells and is a marker of endothelial activation; PAI-1 level increases during pregnancy, but the increase is larger in the presence of endothelial dysfunction and abnormal placentation [41]. PAI-2 is produced by the cytotrophoblast; its production increases in normal pregnancy but is reduced in abnormal placentation [42]. In normal pregnancy PAI-1/PAI-2 reason is progressively reduced with increasing placental mass, but in the presence of abnormal placentation the PAI-1/PAI-2 ratio has been used as a marker of placental insufficiency and high risk of developing preeclampsia or fetal growth restriction [43-47].

A key question is how the trophoblast invasion is directed to the blood vessel to proceed to its transformation. Attention has been focused on two areas: (a) biological effects of oxygen partial pressure on the trophoblast and (b) maternal endothelium-derived factors. Oxygen partial pressure: it has been suggested that extravillous trophoblast proliferation and invasion is modulated by the interstitial partial pressure of oxygen [34]. At low partial pressures $(2\% O_2)$, as is the case at the start of the trophoblast cell column, the trophoblast proliferates intensively but does not express the integrins $\alpha v\beta 3$ and $\alpha 1\beta 1$, needed for invasion. In the presence of higher oxygen partial pressures (8% O2, closer to the blood vessel) the trophoblast exhibits an invasive phenotype, showing that oxygen modifies cell proliferation and differentiation [48]. The underlying mechanism involves the transcription factor HIF-1 α (hypoxia inducible factor-1 α) that modulates the secretion of transforming growth factor β 3 (TGF β 3), $\alpha 1\beta 1$ integrin expression, and production of MMP-9 [49]. Endothelium-derived factors: they play a primary role in (a) trophoblast chemotaxis, (b) trophoblast primary interaction with the endothelium (adhesion molecules), and (c) maintenance of arteriolar vasodilation [50-53]. It is known that in vitro VEGF plays a chemotactic role in trophoblast migration [53]; VEGF and PGF (placental growth factor) are produced by the cyto- and syncytiotrophoblast and their secretion is modulated by hypoxia (VEGF increase and PGF decrease in response to hypoxia) [52]. VEGF upregulates the production by endothelial cells of proinvasive integrins ($\alpha v \beta 3$ and $\alpha 1 \beta 1$) and upregulates the expression of the intracellular adhesion

3

molecule-1 (ICAM-1) that participates in the process of trophoblast-endothelium interaction, a key event in vascular transformation [50, 51].

4. Timing of Trophoblast Invasion and Spiral Arteries Transformation

The classical view is that this process occurs in two stages: (1) the transformation of the decidual segment of the spiral arteries by a "first wave" of endovascular trophoblast migration in the first trimester; and (2) the transformation of the myometrial segments of the spiral arteries in the second trimester by a "second wave" of trophoblast [54]. However, more recent studies have suggested that trophoblast invasion of the spiral arteries is a continuous process [55]. Anyway, deep transformation of the spiral arteries, reaching the myometrial segment of the spiral arteries, is required for successful placentation and normal pregnancy progression [10] while deep placentation failure may cause clinically relevant pregnancy disorders [6]. The earlier in pregnancy impaired placentation starts, the larger deep placentation defect and the greater clinical consequences will be observed. Similarly, those interventions to improve placentation will be more successful the earlier in pregnancy they are started [56, 57].

5. Defective Deep Placentation and Pregnancy Diseases

The failure of normal placentation generates a series of clinical abnormalities nowadays called "deep placentation disorders" [8, 10, 31]. Originally deep placentation disorders were considered preeclampsia (PE) and fetal growth restriction (FGR) [6]; however, it has been shown that deep placentation disorders also included preterm labor (PL) and preterm premature rupture of membranes (PPROM), in utero fetal death and placental abruption [9, 11, 12]. Considering that all these deep placentation disorders are the main problems of modern obstetrics, generating enormous adverse impact on maternal and perinatal health, great efforts have been invested in strategies to prevent deep placentation disorders [58-64]. We should observe that most of these strategies are based on secondary prevention, that is, prevention of recurrence, guiding prediction strategies, and/or treatments to high risk pregnancies.

Some of the strategies to prevent deep placentation disorders have shown benefit: aspirin for prevention of PE and FGR [65, 66] or the use of progesterone for prevention of PL and PPROM [67]. It is important to observe that the preventive effect is stronger when the intervention starts earlier in pregnancy [68, 69]. Probably the need of using these drugs early in pregnancy reflects the effect they have on improving placentation, avoiding deep placentation disorders [6]. Since these strategies to prevent deep placentation disorders are aimed to high risk pregnancies, we observe two problems: an early identification of population at risk is required (to start treatment) and the opportunity for primary prevention is lost



FIGURE 1: Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is an essential fatty acid of the family of long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) or omega-3 fatty acids. In humans, DHA can be consumed (mainly fish or fish oil) or converted from EPA.

(low-risk population is not considered). Strategies of deep placentation disorders prevention are required to implement at the population level, that is, drugs or supplements that can be administered to the general population to prevent the occurrence of deep placentation disorders (primary prevention); unfortunately studies of primary prevention have failed to be effective [70–72].

6. Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is an essential fatty acid of the family of long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) or omega-3 fatty acids [73]. To this family eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and alpha-linolenic acid (α -LA) also belong (Figure 1). These fatty acids are considered essential because our body cannot synthesize them; thus the LC-PUFAs must be acquired through food [74, 75]. The LC-PUFAs are essential components of phospholipids present in all our tissues and actively involved in the functional regulation of cellular and subcellular membranes [74-76]. Early reports, mainly observational, suggested that LC-PUFAs rich diet reduces the incidence of deep placentation disorders (preeclampsia, intrauterine growth restriction, and preterm delivery) [77-79]. We recently submitted a critical review of the safety and efficacy of DHA supplementation during pregnancy to improve pregnancy outcome in general population of pregnant women; we conclude that the evidence currently available does not support or completely rule out this intervention during pregnancy [80].

7. Effect of DHA Supplementation on Pregnancy Duration

Three recent randomized studies have reported the effect of DHA supplementation on pregnancy duration in general population of pregnant women: one of them showed a significant reduction in the proportion of preterm birth before 34 weeks (1.09% versus 2.25%, DHA versus placebo, resp., RR 0.49, 95% CI 0.25-0.94, P = 0.03 [81]. The second study did not find differences in gestational age at delivery (39.1 ± 1.7) versus 39.0 \pm 1.9 weeks, DHA versus placebo, resp., mean \pm standard deviation, P > 0.05) or the proportion birth before 37 weeks (10.1% versus 8.3%, DHA versus placebo, resp., RR 1.2, 95% CI 0.8–1.8, P = 0.33) [82]. Finally, a more recent study demonstrated a significant prolongation of pregnancy and a reduction in the rate of delivery before 34 weeks (0.6% versus 4.8%, P < 0.05, DHA versus placebo, resp.) [83]. A randomized controlled trial in high risk population (women with a history of prior spontaneous singleton preterm birth) failed to demonstrated benefit of DHA supplementation to prevent preterm birth (37.8% versus 41.6%; RR 0.91, 95% CI 0.77-1.07, DHA versus placebo, resp.) [84]. The systematic Cochrane review studying the effect of marine oil (70%) DHA; 30% EPA) supplementation during pregnancy failed to demonstrate a significant reduction of preterm birth but suggested a significant reduction of birth before 34 weeks (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.49-0.99), including two trials [85]. A recent meta-analysis of LC-PUFAs supplementation during pregnancy shows that women receiving LC-PUFA had a 26% lower risk of early preterm delivery (<34 weeks) (RR = 0.74; 95% CI 0.58-0.94) and no difference in the risk of preterm delivery (<37 weeks) (RR = 0.91; 95% CI 0.82–1.01) [86]. Because of the heterogeneity of the studies and the great variability in the observational studies, they conclude that more studies are needed to confirm the findings, especially in undeveloped countries [86].

8. Effect of DHA Supplementation on Birth Weight

The newborn weight was presented as a secondary analysis of two randomized studies [81, 82] showing that average birth weight significantly increased in women who received DHA. The first study reported a lower proportion of infants weighing less than 2500 g in the group of women receiving DHA supplementation compared to the control group (3.41% versus 5.27%, resp., RR 0.65, 95% CI 0.44–0.96, P = 0.03) [81]. The other study showed that DHA supplementation reduced the risk of intrauterine growth restriction (weight below the 10th percentile for gestational age), only in primiparous women (7.1% versus 14%, DHA versus placebo, resp., RR 0.5, 95% CI 0.3–1.0, P = 0.03) [82]. The meta-analysis failed to demonstrate a reduction in the rate of low birth weight in response to LC-PUFAs supplementation [85–87].

9. Effect of DHA Supplementation on the Incidence of Preeclampsia

Observational studies have suggested that increased intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids reduces the risk of preeclampsia [88–90]. Furthermore lower concentration of polyunsaturated fatty acids has been shown in placentas of women with PE compared with normotensive pregnant women [91], in addition to an inverse relationship between LC-PUFAs and sFLT-1 (a marker of defective vasculogenesis) in patients with PE [92, 93]. However, two meta-analyses failed to demonstrate reduced risk of PE associated with higher intake of LC-PUFAs [86, 87] and the same goes for the systematic review of marine oil [85]; these two meta-analyses do not differentiate between early or late PE.

10. Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Placentation

The effect of fatty acids in extravillous trophoblast cell lines (HTR8/SVneo cells) has been studied, showing that DHA, EPA, and AA (arachidonic acid) have a proangiogenic effect, expressed by an increase in the development of capillary sprouts [94]. In the same model, it has been demonstrated that linoleic acid supplementation in vitro stimulates the production of proangiogenic factors and the formation of capillary sprouts [95]. The comparative analysis showed that DHA is more powerful in stimulating extravillous trophoblast vasculogenesis [94, 96].

Another line of research using immortalized trophoblast cells of neoplastic origin (BeWo cells) demonstrated that DHA reduces oxidative stress [97]. Similarly, DHA supplementation during pregnancy in the rat reduces placental oxidative stress [98]. This is important since placental oxidative stress may play a key role in the pathophysiology of deep placentation disorders [99]. Also, defective deep placentation induces oxidative stress that may cause the clinical disorders related to defective placentation [100, 101].

Additionally, DHA supplementation is associated with elevated markers of trophoblast proliferation, measured in placentas obtained at term of pregnancy [102]. The direct effect of DHA supplementation during pregnancy on placentation, for example, using placental bed biopsies, has not been studied. However, in the rat it was shown that LC-PUFAs supplementation early in pregnancy increased fetal and placental size [98].

11. Conclusions

Considering these antecedents we propose that maternal supplementation with LC-PUFAs, especially DHA, reduces deep placentation disorders, by improving deep placentation. We consider that more information is needed to get a final conclusion about the therapeutic role of DHA supplementation during pregnancy; we have recently obtained ethical approval and financial support for a randomized placebo controlled trial of DHA supplementation from early pregnancy to prevent deep placentation disorders.

We need such a new trial, since there are still doubts about the efficacy of DHA to improve perinatal outcome. The difference among studies may be explained, at least partially, by the timing of supplementation and the main outcome measured. Regarding the timing of supplementation we postulate that the effect of DHA, which improves the clinical outcome, is to prevent defective deep placentation. Therefore, the more early in pregnancy DHA starts, the greater the effect on improving placentation is, making it possible to achieve a significant improvement in clinical outcomes. In fact, many of the studies failing to demonstrate the effect of DHA started supplementation after 16 weeks of pregnancy [82, 84]. Concerning the main outcome of the study, we must observe that early preterm (<34 weeks) and late preterm (>36 weeks) are probably two different diseases with different etiologies; the same happens for early and late preeclampsia and early or late fetal growth restriction [103-105]. Current evidence suggests that early prematurity (preterm labor or preterm premature rupture of membranes), early fetal growth restriction, and early preeclampsia share deep placentation defects as common etiology [6]. Thus, deep placentation disorders are the main outcome perhaps clinically modifiable with DHA supplementation early in pregnancy.

LC-PUFAs, including DHA, supplementation in pregnant women, breastfeeding mothers, and infants, have been well tolerated (more than 90% adherence to the protocol) and did not generate any serious adverse events [81, 83, 85–87]. Minor potential side effects are nausea, intestinal gas, bruising, and prolonged bleeding, fishy taste, belching, nosebleeds, and loose stools. Taking DHA with meals can often decrease these side effects [81, 83, 106]. Consuming large amounts of fish oil from some dietary sources is possibly unsafe. Some fish meats (especially shark, king mackerel, and farm-raised salmon) can be contaminated with mercury and other industrial and environmental chemicals, but fish oil supplements typically do not contain these contaminants [107, 108]. The maternal intake of LC-PUFA during pregnancy and lactation is considered very important, since the LC-PUFAs are provided during perinatal development through placental transfer and maternal milk [80, 109]; thus DHA or LC-PUFAs intake during pregnancy is encouraged [110].

Although a precise DHA intake level for pregnant women has not been fully established [111], the worldwide recommendation for DHA intake during pregnancy is 200 mg/day [112]. In Chile there is not a local recommendation, but powdered milk supplied to pregnant women in the public health system (Purita Mamá) contains DHA 240 mg + EPA 76 mg per 100 g; this taken to 200 mL provides 60 mg DHA and 19 mg of EPA per day. Beyond the nutritional recommendation (eating fish), and the contribution of milk, in Chile there is no national standard for the indication of DHA in capsules during pregnancy. While there are products on the market containing DHA with other vitamins, for pregnant women, their use is not a regular practice among obstetricians in our country. Thus, it seems possible and ethically plausible to conduct a randomized study in which one arm of the study received a placebo containing no DHA.

Most of the intervention trials have included few participants and provided fish oil supplements that contain large and varying doses of DHA (100 mg to 5 gr/day) [106]. The two trials that demonstrate benefit of DHA supplementation to prevent preterm birth use either 600 [83] or 800 mg DHA per day [81]; thus a new trial must use a dose of 600 or 800 mg DHA per day.

Studies have also measured cognitive development or visual accuracy of children in the long term [113–118]. Thus, children monitoring, about visual or neurocognitive development, would be also important in a clinical DHA trial.

Conflict of Interests

The author declares that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico de Chile (FONDECYT 1141207) and Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Facultad de Medicina Interdepartamental 2013.

References

- J. A. Carvajal, "Parto prematuro," in *Obstetricia*, A. Pérez Sánchez and E. Donoso, Eds., pp. 717–744, Editorial Mediterráneo, Santiago, Chile, 2011.
- [2] R. L. Goldenberg, J. F. Culhane, J. D. Iams, and R. Romero, "Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth," *The Lancet*, vol. 371, no. 9606, pp. 75–84, 2008.
- [3] F. Gotsch, R. Romero, O. Erez et al., "The preterm parturition syndrome and its implications for understanding the biology,

risk assessment, diagnosis, treatment and prevention of preterm birth," *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 5–23, 2009.

- [4] R. Romero, M. Mazor, H. Munoz, R. Gomez, M. Galasso, and D. M. Sherer, "The preterm labor syndrome," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 734, pp. 414–429, 1994.
- [5] J. Carvajal, Y. Morales, and A. Germain, "Restricción de crecimiento fetal: un hallazgo frecuente entre los recién nacidos prematuros," *Revista Chilena de Obstetricia y Ginecología*, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 463–471, 2001.
- [6] I. Brosens, R. Pijnenborg, L. Vercruysse, and R. Romero, "The "great obstetrical syndromes" are associated with disorders of deep placentation," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecol*ogy, vol. 204, no. 3, pp. 193–201, 2011.
- [7] A. M. Germain, J. Carvajal, M. Sanchez, G. J. Valenzuela, H. Tsunekawa, and B. Chuaqui, "Preterm labor: placental pathology and clinical correlation," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 94, no. 2, pp. 284–289, 1999.
- [8] Y. Khong and I. Brosens, "Defective deep placentation," Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 301–311, 2011.
- [9] Y. M. Kim, E. Bujold, T. Chaiworapongsa et al., "Failure of physiologic transformation of the spiral arteries in patients with preterm labor and intact membranes," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 189, no. 4, pp. 1063–1069, 2003.
- [10] R. Pijnenborg, L. Vercruysse, and I. Brosens, "Deep placentation," Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 273–285, 2011.
- [11] R. Romero, J. P. Kusanovic, T. Chaiworapongsa, and S. S. Hassan, "Placental bed disorders in preterm labor, preterm PROM, spontaneous abortion and abruptio placentae," *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 313–327, 2011.
- [12] Y. M. Kim, T. Chaiworapongsa, R. Gomez et al., "Failure of physiologic transformation of the spiral arteries in the placental bed in preterm premature rupture of membranes," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 187, no. 5, pp. 1137– 1142, 2002.
- [13] D. A. Savitz, "Invited commentary: disaggregating preterm birth to determine etiology," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 168, no. 9, pp. 990–994, 2008.
- [14] K. Z. Ali, M. E. Ali, and M. E. Khalid, "High altitude and spontaneous preterm birth," *International Journal of Gynecology* and Obstetrics, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 11–15, 1996.
- [15] F. M. Severi, C. Bocchi, A. Imperatore et al., "Ultrasound estimated fetal weight slightly below the median is associated with increased risk of spontaneous preterm birth," *Prenatal Diagnosis*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 588–591, 2012.
- [16] M. L. Hediger, T. O. Scholl, J. I. Schall, L. W. Miller, and R. L. Fischer, "Fetal growth and the etiology of preterm delivery," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 175–182, 1995.
- [17] L. Lettieri, A. M. Vintzileos, J. F. Rodis, S. M. Albini, and C. M. Salafia, "Does "idiopathic" preterm labor resulting in preterm birth exist?" *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 168, no. 5, pp. 1480–1485, 1993.
- [18] F. Arias, L. Rodriquez, S. C. Rayne, and F. T. Kraus, "Maternal placental vasculopathy and infection: two distinct subgroups among patients with preterm labor and preterm ruptured membranes," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 168, no. 2, pp. 585–591, 1993.

- [19] S. Bower, K. Schuchter, and S. Campbell, "Doppler ultrasound screening as part of routine antenatal scanning: prediction of pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth retardation," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 100, no. 11, pp. 989– 994, 1993.
- [20] H. S. Brar, A. L. Medearis, G. R. DeVore, and L. D. Platt, "Maternal and fetal blood flow velocity waveforms in patients with preterm labor: prediction of successful tocolysis," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 159, no. 4, pp. 947– 950, 1988.
- [21] H. S. Brar, A. L. Medearis, G. R. DeVore, and L. D. Platt, "Maternal and fetal blood flow velocity waveforms in patients with preterm labor: effect of tocolytics," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 209–214, 1988.
- [22] H. S. Brar, A. L. Medearis, G. R. DeVore, and L. D. Platt, "Maternal and fetal blood flow velocity waveforms in patients with preterm labor: relationship to outcome," *American Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynecology, vol. 161, no. 6, pp. 1519–1522, 1989.
- [23] J. A. Carvajal, A. M. Delpiano, M. A. Cuello et al., "Brain Natriuretic Peptide (BNP) produced by the human chorioamnion may mediate pregnancy myometrial quiescence," *Reproductive Sciences*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 32–42, 2009.
- [24] J. A. Carvajal, R. J. Vidal, M. A. Cuello, J. A. Poblete, and C. P. Weiner, "Mechanisms of paracrine regulation by fetal membranes of human uterine quiescence," *Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 343–349, 2006.
- [25] J. A. Carvajal, "The role of brain natriuretic peptide in maintaining myometrial quiescence during pregnancy," *Experimental Physiology*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 489–494, 2014.
- [26] J. C. Cross, Z. Werb, and S. J. Fisher, "Implantation and the placenta: key pieces of the development puzzle," *Science*, vol. 266, no. 5190, pp. 1508–1518, 1994.
- [27] V. Chaddha, S. Viero, B. Huppertz, and J. Kingdom, "Developmental biology of the placenta and the origins of placental insufficiency," *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 357–369, 2004.
- [28] C. H. Damsky and S. J. Fisher, "Trophoblast pseudovasculogenesis: faking it with endothelial adhesion receptors," *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 660–666, 1998.
- [29] D. P. Sundrani, U. S. Reddy, A. A. Joshi et al., "Differential placental methylation and expression of VEGF, FLT-1 and KDR genes in human term and preterm preeclampsia," *Clinical Epigenetics*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 6, 2013.
- [30] D. S. Tannetta, R. A. Dragovic, C. Gardiner, C. W. Redman, and I. L. Sargent, "Characterisation of syncytiotrophoblast vesicles in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: expression of Flt-1 and endoglin," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 2, Article ID e56754, 2013.
- [31] J. Espinoza, R. Romero, M. K. Yeon et al., "Normal and abnormal transformation of the spiral arteries during pregnancy," *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 447–458, 2006.
- [32] A. Malassiné, J.-L. Frendo, and D. Evain-Brion, "A comparison of placental development and endocrine functions between the human and mouse model," *Human Reproduction Update*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 531–539, 2003.
- [33] L. Carbillon, J. C. Challier, S. Alouini, M. Uzan, and S. Uzan, "Uteroplacental circulation development: doppler assessment and clinical importance," *Placenta*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 795–799, 2001.
- [34] R. Pijnenborg, L. Vercruysse, and M. Hanssens, "The uterine spiral arteries in human pregnancy: facts and controversies," *Placenta*, vol. 27, no. 9-10, pp. 939–958, 2006.

- [35] K. M. Hodivala-Dilke, K. P. McHugh, D. A. Tsakiris et al., "β3integrin-deficient mice are a model for Glanzmann thrombasthenia showing placental defects and reduced survival," *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, vol. 103, no. 2, pp. 229–238, 1999.
- [36] G. Coukos, A. Makrigiannakis, K. Amin, S. M. Albelda, and C. Coutifaris, "Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 is expressed by a subpopulation of human trophoblasts: a possible mechanism for trophoblast- endothelial interaction during haemochorial placentation," *Molecular Human Reproduction*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 357–367, 1998.
- [37] G. C. Gurtner, V. Davis, H. Li, M. J. McCoy, A. Sharpe, and M. I. Cybulsky, "Targeted disruption of the murine VCAM1 gene: essential role of VCAM-1 in chorioallantoic fusion and placentation," *Genes and Development*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 1995.
- [38] M. I. Kokkinos, P. Murthi, R. Wafai, E. W. Thompson, and D. F. Newgreen, "Cadherins in the human placenta—epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) and placental development," *Placenta*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 747–755, 2010.
- [39] J. E. Cartwright and G. Balarajah, "Trophoblast interactions with endothelial cells are increased by interleukin-1 β and tumour necrosis factor α and involve vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and $\alpha 4\beta$ 1," *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 304, no. 1, pp. 328–336, 2005.
- [40] J. Luo, F. Qiao, and X. Yin, "Impact of silencing MMP9 gene on the biological behaviors of trophoblasts," *Journal of Huazhong University of Science and Technology-Medical Science*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 241–245, 2011.
- [41] A. Reith, N. A. Booth, N. R. Moore, D. J. Cruickshank, and B. Bennett, "Plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAI-1 and PAI-2) in normal pregnancies, pre-eclampsia and hydatidiform mole," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 100, no. 4, pp. 370–374, 1993.
- [42] M. Coolman, S. Timmermans, C. J. M. De Groot et al., "Angiogenic and fibrinolytic factors in blood during the first half of pregnancy and adverse pregnancy outcomes," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 119, no. 6, pp. 1190–1200, 2012.
- [43] M. Parra, R. Rodrigo, P. Barja et al., "Screening test for preeclampsia through assessment of uteroplacental blood flow and biochemical markers of oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 193, no. 4, pp. 1486–1491, 2005.
- [44] S. Guller, Z. Tang, Y. Y. Ma, S. Di Santo, R. Sager, and H. Schneider, "Protein composition of microparticles shed from human placenta during placental perfusion: potential role in angiogenesis and fibrinolysis in preeclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 63–69, 2011.
- [45] A. K. Wikström, P. Nash, U. J. Eriksson, and M. H. Olovsson, "Evidence of increased oxidative stress and a change in the plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 to PAI-2 ratio in earlyonset but not late-onset preeclampsia," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 201, no. 6, pp. 597e1–597e8, 2009.
- [46] S. Guller, Y. Ma, A. Malek, S. Di Santo, and H. Schneider, "Differential release of plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAIs) during dual perfusion of human placenta: implications in preeclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 278–285, 2007.
- [47] A. Estellés, J. Gilabert, M. Keeton et al., "Altered expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 in placentas from pregnant women with preeclampsia and/or intrauterine fetal growth retardation," *Blood*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 143–150, 1994.

- [48] O. Genbacev, Y. Zhou, J. W. Ludlow, and S. J. Fisher, "Regulation of human placental development by oxygen tension," *Science*, vol. 277, no. 5332, pp. 1669–1672, 1997.
- [49] I. Caniggia, H. Mostachfi, J. Winter et al., "Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 mediates the biological effects of oxygen on human trophoblast differentiation through TGFβ3," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 105, no. 5, pp. 577–587, 2000.
- [50] T. Murohara, B. Witzenbichler, I. Spyridopoulos et al., "Role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cell migration," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 1156–1161, 1999.
- [51] Z. Radisavljevic, H. Avraham, and S. Avraham, "Vascular endothelial growth factor up-regulates ICAM-1 expression via the phosphatidylinositol 3 OH-kinase/AKT/nitric oxide pathway and modulates migration of brain microvascular endothelial cells," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 275, no. 27, pp. 20770–20774, 2000.
- [52] V. H. Shore, T.-H. Wang, C.-L. Wang, R. J. Torry, M. R. Caudle, and D. S. Torry, "Vascular endothelial growth factor, placenta growth factor and their receptors in isolated human trophoblast," *Placenta*, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 657–665, 1997.
- [53] A. J. Trew, G. E. Lash, and P. N. Baker, "Investigation of an in vitro model of trophoblast invasion," *Early Pregnancy*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 176–190, 2000.
- [54] R. Pijnenborg, J. M. Bland, W. B. Robertson, and I. Brosens, "Uteroplacental arterial changes related to interstitial trophoblast migration in early human pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 397–413, 1983.
- [55] F. Lyall, "Priming and remodelling of human placental bed spiral arteries during pregnancy—a review," *Placenta*, vol. 26, pp. S31–S36, 2005.
- [56] A. M. Friedman and K. L. Cleary, "Prediction and prevention of ischemic placental disease," *Seminars in Perinatology*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 177–182, 2014.
- [57] E. Bujold, S. Roberge, and K. H. Nicolaides, "Low dose aspirin for prevention of adverse outcomes related to abnormal placentation," *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 2014.
- [58] V. Berghella, "Prevention of recurrent fetal growth restriction," Obstetrics and Gynecology, vol. 110, no. 4, pp. 904–912, 2007.
- [59] E. H. M. S. Bezerra Maia, L. Marques Lopes, P. Murthi, and F. Da Silva Costa, "Prevention of preeclampsia," *Journal of Pregnancy*, vol. 2012, Article ID 435090, 9 pages, 2012.
- [60] P. Gazaway and C. L. Mullins, "Prevention of preterm labor and premature rupture of the membranes," *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 835–849, 1986.
- [61] R. Grivell, J. Dodd, and J. Robinson, "The prevention and treatment of intrauterine growth restriction," *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 795–807, 2009.
- [62] Y. Jacquemyn, R. Lamont, J. Cornette, and H. Helmer, "Prevention and management of preterm birth," *Journal of Pregnancy*, vol. 2012, Article ID 610364, 1 page, 2012.
- [63] A. Ness, "Prevention of preterm birth based on short cervix: symptomatic women with preterm labor or premature prelabor rupture of membranes," *Seminars in Perinatology*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 343–351, 2009.
- [64] J. E. Norman and A. H. Shennan, "Prevention of preterm birthwhy can't we do any better?" *The Lancet*, vol. 381, no. 9862, pp. 184–185, 2013.
- [65] J. P. Newnham, M. Godfrey, B. J. N. Walters, J. Phillips, and S. F. Evans, "Low dose aspirin for the treatment of fetal growth

restriction: a randomized controlled trial," *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 370–374, 1995.

- [66] S. Wiwanitkit and V. Wiwanitkit, "Low-dose aspirin and preeclampsia prevention," *Journal of Postgraduate Medicine*, vol. 57, no. 4, p. 350, 2011.
- [67] C. E. Ransom and A. P. Murtha, "Progesterone for preterm birth prevention," *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 1–16, 2012.
- [68] E. Bujold, S. Roberge, Y. Lacasse et al., "Prevention of preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction with aspirin started in early pregnancy: a meta-analysis," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 116, no. 2, pp. 402–414, 2010.
- [69] S. Roberge, Y. Giguère, P. Villa et al., "Early administration of low-dose aspirin for the prevention of severe and mild preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *American Journal of Perinatology*, vol. 29, no. 7, pp. 551–556, 2012.
- [70] A. Conde-Agudelo, R. Romero, J. P. Kusanovic, and S. S. Hassan, "Supplementation with vitamins C and e during pregnancy for the prevention of preeclampsia and other adverse maternal and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 204, no. 6, pp. 503e1–503e12, 2011.
- [71] M. R. Parrish, J. N. Martin, B. B. Lamarca et al., "Randomized, placebo controlled, double blind trial evaluating early pregnancy phytonutrient supplementation in the prevention of preeclampsia," *Journal of Perinatology*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 593– 599, 2013.
- [72] T. S. Patrelli, A. Dall'Asta, S. Gizzo et al., "Calcium supplementation and prevention of preeclampsia: a meta-analysis," *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 2570– 2574, 2012.
- [73] W. M. Ratnayake and C. Galli, "Fat and fatty acid terminology, methods of analysis and fat digestion and metabolism: a background review paper," *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 55, no. 1–3, pp. 8–43, 2009.
- [74] J. J. Un, C. Torrejon, A. P. Tighe, and R. J. Deckelbaum, "n-3 Fatty acids and cardiovascular disease: mechanisms underlying beneficial effects," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 87, supplement 6, pp. 2003S–2009S, 2008.
- [75] R. Uauy and A. D. Dangour, "Fat and fatty acid requirements and recommendations for infants of 0-2 years and children of 2-18 years," *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 55, no. 1–3, pp. 76–96, 2009.
- [76] S. M. Innis, "Essential fatty acid transfer and fetal development," *Placenta*, vol. 26, pp. S70–S75, 2005.
- [77] T. I. Halldorsson, H. M. Meltzer, I. Thorsdottir, V. Knudsen, and S. F. Olsen, "Is high consumption of fatty fish during pregnancy a risk factor for fetal growth retardation? A study of 44,824 Danish pregnant women," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 166, no. 6, pp. 687–696, 2007.
- [78] E. Oken, Y. Ning, S. L. Rifas-Shiman, J. W. Rich-Edwards, S. F. Olsen, and M. W. Gillman, "Diet during pregnancy and risk of preeclampsia or gestational hypertension," *Annals of Epidemiology*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 663–668, 2007.
- [79] S. F. Olsen, M. L. Østerdal, J. D. Salvig et al., "Duration of pregnancy in relation to seafood intake during early and mid pregnancy: prospective cohort," *European Journal of Epidemiol*ogy, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 749–758, 2006.
- [80] M. E. Farías, J. A. Poblete, and J. A. Carvajal, "La suplementación materna con ácido docosahexaenoico (DHA) carece

de beneficio clínicamente significativo," *Revista Chilena de Obstetricia y Ginecología*, vol. 77, no. 5, pp. 355–366, 2012.

- [81] M. Makrides, R. A. Gibson, A. J. McPhee, L. Yelland, J. Quinlivan, and P. Ryan, "Effect of DHA supplementation during pregnancy on maternal depression and neurodevelopment of young children: a randomized controlled trial," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 304, no. 15, pp. 1675–1683, 2010.
- [82] U. Ramakrishnan, A. D. Stein, S. Parra-Cabrera et al., "Effects of docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during pregnancy on gestational age and size at birth: randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in Mexico," *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, vol. 31, supplement 2, pp. S108–S116, 2010.
- [83] S. E. Carlson, J. Colombo, B. J. Gajewski et al., "DHA supplementation and pregnancy outcomes," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 97, no. 4, pp. 808–815, 2013.
- [84] M. Harper, E. Thom, M. A. Klebanoff et al., "Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation to prevent recurrent preterm birth: a randomized controlled trial," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 115, no. 2, part 1, pp. 234–242, 2010.
- [85] M. Makrides, L. Duley, and S. F. Olsen, "Marine oil, and other prostaglandin precursor, supplementation for pregnancy uncomplicated by pre-eclampsia or intrauterine growth restriction," *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol. 3, Article ID CD003402, 2006.
- [86] B. Imhoff-Kunsch, V. Briggs, T. Goldenberg, and U. Ramakrishnan, "Effect of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid intake during pregnancy on maternal, infant, and child health outcomes: a systematic review," *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 91–107, 2012.
- [87] G. A. Lewin, H. M. Schachter, D. Yuen, P. Merchant, V. Mamaladze, and A. Tsertsvadze, "Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on child and maternal health," *Evidence Report/Technology Assessment*, no. 118, pp. 1–11, 2005.
- [88] J. Gerrard, D. Popeski, L. Ebbeling, P. Brown, and G. Hornstra, "Dietary omega 3 fatty acids and gestational hypertension in the Inuit," *Arctic Medical Research*, pp. 763–767, 1991.
- [89] D. Popeski, L. R. Ebbeling, P. B. Brown, G. Hornstra, and J. M. Gerrard, "Blood pressure during pregnancy in Canadian inuit: community differences related to diet," *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, vol. 145, no. 5, pp. 445–454, 1991.
- [90] S. F. Olsen, N. J. Secher, A. Tabor, T. Weber, J. J. Walker, and C. Gluud, "Randomised clinical trials of fish oil supplementation in high risk pregnancies," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 107, no. 3, pp. 382–395, 2000.
- [91] Y. Wang, S. W. Walsh, and H. H. Kay, "Placental tissue levels of nonesterified polyunsaturated fatty acids in normal and preeclamptic pregnancies," *Hypertension in Pregnancy*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 235–245, 2005.
- [92] A. V. Kulkarni, S. S. Mehendale, H. R. Yadav, and S. R. Joshi, "Reduced placental docosahexaenoic acid levels associated with increased levels of sFlt-1 in preeclampsia," *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids*, vol. 84, no. 1-2, pp. 51– 55, 2011.
- [93] A. V. Kulkarni, S. S. Mehendale, H. R. Yadav, A. S. Kilari, V. S. Taralekar, and S. R. Joshi, "Circulating angiogenic factors and their association with birth outcomes in preeclampsia," *Hypertension Research*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 561–567, 2010.
- [94] S. Basak and A. K. Duttaroy, "Effects of fatty acids on angiogenic activity in the placental extravillious trophoblast cells," *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 155–162, 2013.

- [95] S. Basak and A. K. Duttaroy, "Cis-9,trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid stimulates expression of angiopoietin like-4 in the placental extravillous trophoblast cells," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, vol. 1831, no. 4, pp. 834–843, 2013.
- [96] G. M. Johnsen, S. Basak, M. S. Weedon-Fekjær, A. C. Staff, and A. K. Duttaroy, "Docosahexaenoic acid stimulates tube formation in first trimester trophoblast cells, HTR8/SVneo," *Placenta*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 626–632, 2011.
- [97] H. Shoji, C. Franke, H. Demmelmair, and B. Koletzko, "Effect of docosahexaenoic acid on oxidative stress in placental trophoblast cells," *Early Human Development*, vol. 85, no. 7, pp. 433–437, 2009.
- [98] M. L. Jones, P. J. Mark, T. A. Mori, J. A. Keelan, and B. J. Waddell, "Maternal dietary omega-3 fatty acid supplementation reduces placental oxidative stress and increases fetal and placental growth in the rat," *Biology of Reproduction*, vol. 88, no. 2, Article ID Article 37, p. 73, 2013.
- [99] R. N. Spencer, D. J. Carr, and A. L. David, "Treatment of poor placentation and the prevention of associated adverse outcomes—what does the future hold?" *Prenatal Diagnosis*, 2014.
- [100] G. J. Burton, A. W. Woods, E. Jauniaux, and J. C. P. Kingdom, "Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 473–482, 2009.
- [101] C. W. Redman, I. L. Sargent, and A. C. Staff, "IFPA Senior Award Lecture: making sense of pre-eclampsia-two placental causes of preeclampsia?" *Placenta*, vol. 35, pp. S20–S25, 2014.
- [102] M. Klingler, A. Blaschitz, C. Campoy et al., "The effect of docosahexaenoic acid and folic acid supplementation on placental apoptosis and proliferation," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 96, no. 1, pp. 182–190, 2006.
- [103] M. Kovo, L. Schreiber, and J. Bar, "Placental vascular pathology as a mechanism of disease in pregnancy complications," *Thrombosis Research*, vol. 131, no. 1, pp. S18–S21, 2013.
- [104] D. Raymond and E. Peterson, "A critical review of early-onset and late-onset preeclampsia," *Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 497–506, 2011.
- [105] A. A. Baschat, "Fetal growth restriction-from observation to intervention," *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 239–246, 2010.
- [106] "Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). Monograph," Alternative Medicine Review, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 391–399, 2009.
- [107] J. A. Greenberg, S. J. Bell, and W. V. Ausdal, "Omega-3 Fatty Acid supplementation during pregnancy," *Reviews in Obstetrics* and Gynecology, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 162–169, 2008.
- [108] M. J. Sigman-Grant, "Food choice: balancing benefits and risks," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 108, no. 5, pp. 778–780, 2008.
- [109] P. Guesnet and J. Alessandri, "Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and the developing central nervous system (CNS)-implications for dietary recommendations," *Biochimie*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 7–12, 2011.
- [110] J. T. Brenna and A. Lapillonne, "Background paper on fat and fatty acid requirements during pregnancy and lactation," *Annals* of Nutrition and Metabolism, vol. 55, no. 1–3, pp. 97–122, 2009.
- [111] J. Whelan, L. Jahns, and K. Kavanagh, "Docosahexaenoic acid: measurements in food and dietary exposure," *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids*, vol. 81, no. 2-3, pp. 133–136, 2009.

- [112] B. Koletzko, E. Lien, C. Agostoni et al., "The roles of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in pregnancy, lactation and infancy: review of current knowledge and consensus recommendations," *Journal of Perinatal Medicine*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 5–14, 2008.
- [113] I. B. Helland, O. D. Saugstad, K. Saarem, A. C. Van Houwelingen, G. Nylander, and C. A. Drevon, "Supplementation of n-3 fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation reduces maternal plasma lipid levels and provides DHA to the infants," *Journal* of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 397– 406, 2006.
- [114] I. B. Helland, L. Smith, B. Blomen, K. Saarem, O. D. Saugstad, and C. A. Drevon, "Effect of supplementing pregnant and lactating mothers with n-3 very-long-chain fatty acids on children's iq and body mass index at 7 years of age," *Pediatrics*, vol. 122, no. 2, pp. e472–e479, 2008.
- [115] I. B. Helland, L. Smith, K. Saarem, O. D. Saugstad, and C. A. Drevon, "Maternal supplementation with very-long-chain n-3 fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation augments children's IQ at 4 years of age," *Pediatrics*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. e39–e44, 2003.
- [116] C. A. Malcolm, D. L. McCulloch, C. Montgomery, A. Shepherd, and L. T. Weaver, "Maternal docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during pregnancy and visual evoked potential development in term infants: a double blind, prospective, randomised trial," *Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal and Neonatal Edition*, vol. 88, no. 5, pp. F383–F390, 2003.
- [117] C. A. Malcolm, R. Hamilton, D. L. McCulloch, C. Montgomery, and L. T. Weaver, "Scotopic electroretinogram in term infants born of mothers supplemented with docosahexaenoic acid during pregnancy," *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, vol. 44, no. 8, pp. 3685–3691, 2003.
- [118] L. G. Smithers, R. A. Gibson, and M. Makrides, "Maternal supplementation with docosahexaenoic acid during pregnancy does not affect early visual development in the infant: a randomized controlled trial," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 93, no. 6, pp. 1293–1299, 2011.

Research Article

The Influence of Hypoxia during Different Pregnancy Stages on Cardiac Collagen Accumulation in the Adult Offspring

Lingxing Wang,¹ Meimei Li,² Ziyang Huang,² and Zhenhua Wang²

¹ Department of Neurology, Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Quanzhou, Fujian 362000, China ² Department of Cardiology, Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Quanzhou, Fujian 362000, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Ziyang Huang; ziyanghuang502@gmail.com

Received 13 March 2014; Revised 3 May 2014; Accepted 19 May 2014; Published 11 June 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Lingxing Wang et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We evaluated whether the timing of maternal hypoxia during pregnancy influenced cardiac extracellular matrix accumulation in the adult offspring. Rats in different periods of pregnancy were assigned to maternal hypoxia or control groups. Maternal hypoxia from day 3 to 21 of pregnancy or day 9 to 21 of pregnancy increased collagen I and collagen III expression in the left ventricle of adult offspring (both P < 0.05). Maternal hypoxia from day 15 to 21 of pregnancy had no effect on adult collagen levels. Our results indicate that maternal hypoxia at critical windows of cardiovascular development can induce pathological cardiac remodeling in the adult rat offspring.

1. Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of death in developed countries [1]. Several risk factors, including smoking, hypertension, and high body mass index have been identified. These risk factors, however, are not sufficient to explain the prevalence of disease. Recently, the concept of fetal origins of adult disease has emerged as a possibility to explain the high incidence of cardiovascular disease. This concept hypothesizes that an adverse intrauterine environment during a critical window of fetal or infant development can exert longterm effects on adult tissue structure or function [2–4].

Maternal hypoxia during pregnancy in rats leads to changes in cardiac structure and function in adult male offspring [5]. Other animal models indicate that timing and severity of the fetal insult are critical to the programming of adult disease [6, 7]. In this report, we elucidate the influence of maternal hypoxia during different periods of pregnancy on cardiac collagen accumulation in adult offspring.

2. Methods

2.1. Animals and Hypoxic Protocol. All experimental procedures were in accordance with the National Institutes of Health guidelines and were approved by the Standing Committee on Ethics and Animal Experimentation at the Fujian Medical University (China). Virgin female Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats (250-280 g in body weight) were obtained from the Shanghai Experimental Animal Center, Shanghai, China. They were housed individually in standard rat cages under controlled temperature $(22 \pm 1^{\circ}C)$ with lights on from 07.00 to 19.00 h. Food and water were provided ad libitum. The female rats were mated within the animal facility, and the vaginal smears were checked every morning. Pregnancy was confirmed by the presence of sperm-positive vaginal smears (day 0). The 24 pregnant rats were randomized to one of four groups: a hypoxia group from day 3 to day 21 of pregnancy (G3-21; n = 6), a hypoxia group from day 9 to day 21 of pregnancy (G9–21; n = 6), a hypoxia group from day 15 to day 21 of pregnancy (G15–21; n = 6), and a control group (G0; n = 6).

Maternal hypoxia was induced by the method described by Wang and colleagues [8]. Briefly, the pregnant rats assigned to the hypoxia groups were placed inside a plexiglass chamber (140 L) for 3 h per day during the light cycle. Nitrogen gas and compressed air were continuously infused into the chamber to maintain an oxygen concentration of $10 \pm$ 1%. The oxygen concentration in the chamber was monitored using a portable gas analyzer that was calibrated daily (S-450; IST-AIM).

After birth, litters were reduced to 8 pups per dam to standardize the nutrient supply. Offspring were weaned at 3 weeks and housed in the animal facilities of Fujian Medical University (China). Experimental models have shown that male offspring are more susceptible to the adverse fetal environment [9, 10]; accordingly, only male offspring (2 or 3 rats per litter) were evaluated in this experiment.

2.2. Blood Pressure Measurements. The systolic blood pressure of the male offspring was determined 3 months (n = 12 in each group) and 5 months (n = 6 in each group) of age using the tail cuff method (RBP-1B, Clinical Medical Instrument Institute of Beijing Sino-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China). For the rats that were evaluated at 5 months of age, blood pressure was also measured at 3 months of age. The male offspring were trained for one week before the blood pressure measurements were taken. The average measurements from each animal on three separate days were taken to determine the individual mean blood pressure for that animal.

2.3. Tissue Collection. After being anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of pelltobarbitalum natricum (20 mg/kg), hearts were removed from male offspring at the age of 3 months (n = 6) and 5 months (n = 6). After determination of heart weight (HW), the left ventricle was carefully separated from the atria and the right ventricle and weighed. The wet weight of the left ventricle (LV) was recorded, normalized for body weight (BW), and expressed as the ventricular mass index. The LV tissue was divided into 2 sections. One section was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for histological analysis and the other section was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen for protein analysis.

2.4. Histopathology. Tissues were dehydrated through graded alcohols and xylene and then embedded in paraffin. Sections were cut at 5μ m thickness and stained with haematoxylin and eosin. The diameter of cardiomyocytes was determined by measuring the shortest transverse diameter of myocytes that were cut transversely with an intact membrane and a centrally located nucleus. The measurements were performed using ImageJ software.

2.5. Immunoblot Analyses. Immunoblotting was performed as described previously [5]. Briefly, LV tissue was homogenized in ice-cold lysis buffer. Crude homogenates were centrifuged for 5 min at 10000 g, and protein concentration of the supernatants was determined by the BCA method (Pierce Chemical Co). Supernatants were added to loading buffer and heat denatured by boiling for 3 min. Protein (25 ug) was electrophoresed in separate lanes on 8% SDS-PAGE. After electrophoresis, proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes and blocked in a 5% nonfat dried milk solution at room temperature. The blot was incubated with antibodies against collagen I or collagen III (1:100 dilution; Beijing

TABLE 1: Systolic blood pressure of male offspring.

Group	3 months $(n = 12)$	5 months $(n = 6)$
G3-21	$122 \pm 3^{*}$	$129 \pm 3^{*}$
G9-21	116 ± 4	117 ± 3
G15-21	112 ± 3	117 ± 3
G0	108 ± 3	115 ± 4

Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM mm Hg, **P* < 0.05 compared with the control group. At 3 months of age, *n* = 12 for each group; at 5 months of age, *n* = 6 for each group.

Biosynthesis Biotechnology Company, China). A peroxidaseconjugated avidin secondary antibody was applied for visualization (1:5000 dilution; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA). The blots were stripped and reprobed with a β -actin antibody (1:2000; Beijing Biosynthesis Biotechnology Company, China) to normalize for protein loading. The integrative grayscale pixel area-density was captured with a CCD camera and quantified using Quantity One software.

2.6. Data Analysis. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. A one-way ANOVA, followed by an SNK post hoc test, was performed to compare groups. A value of P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Systolic Blood Pressure of Male Offspring. At the age of 3 months and 5 months, we found significantly higher systolic blood pressure in male offspring from the G3–21 group compared with the G0 group (three months: G3–21 122 \pm 3 mmHg versus G0 108 \pm 3 mmHg, P < 0.05; five months: G3–21 129 \pm 3 mmHg versus G0 115 \pm 4 mmHg, P < 0.05). There were no significant differences in systolic blood pressure between the G9–21, G15–21, and G0 groups (three months: G9–21 116 \pm 4 mmHg, G15–21 112 \pm 3 mmHg, n = 12; five months: G9–21 117 \pm 3 mmHg, G15–21 117 \pm 3 mmHg; Table 1).

3.2. Body Weight and Left Ventricular Weight of Male Offspring. At 3 months of age, the HW/BW ratio and the LVW/BW ratio were significantly increased in the G9-21 male offspring compared with the G0 male offspring (HW/BW: G9–21 2.92 \pm 0.06 versus control 2.67 \pm 0.06, P < 0.05; LVW/BW: G9-21 2.15 \pm 0.05 versus control 1.98 \pm 0.02, P < 0.05, n = 6), while there was no significant difference between the G3-21, G15-21 and G0 groups (HW/BW: G3-21 2.86 ± 0.08 , G15–21 2.69 ± 0.05 , n = 6; LVW/BW: G3–21 2.07 \pm 0.02, G15–21 2.06 \pm 0.04, n = 6; Figure 1(a)). At 5 months, the HW/BW ratio and LVW/BW ratio remained higher in the G9-21 male offspring compared with G0 rats (HW/BW: G9- $21\ 2.64 \pm 0.06$ versus control 2.39 ± 0.03 , P < 0.05, n = 6; LVW/BW: G9–21 1.96 \pm 0.05 versus control 1.80 \pm 0.02, P < 0.05, n = 6). In addition, there was a significantly increased HW/BW ratio and LVW/BW ratio in male offspring from the G3-21 group compared with the G0 and G15-21 group (HW/BW: G3–21 2.68 \pm 0.05 versus control 2.39 \pm 0.03 or



FIGURE 1: HW/BW ratios and LVW/BW ratios of rat male offspring at 3 months of age (a) and 5 months of age (b). All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, n = 6. HW, heart weight; BW, body weight; LVW, left ventricle weight. G3–21, maternal hypoxia group from day 3 to day 21 of pregnancy; G9–21, maternal hypoxia group from day 9 to day 21 of pregnancy; G15–21, maternal hypoxia group from day 15 to day 21 of pregnancy; G0, control group. *P < 0.05 compared to control group, *P < 0.05 compared to G15–21.

G15–21 2.47 ± 0.11, P < 0.05, n = 6; LVW/BW: G3–21 1.99 ± 0.03 versus control 1.80 ± 0.02 or G15–21 1.83 ± 0.08, P < 0.05, n = 6). The HW/BW ratio and the LVW/BW ratio in offspring from G15–21 group were not significantly higher compared with the G0 group (HW/BW: G15–21 2.47 ± 0.11, n = 6; LVW/BW: G15–21 1.83 ± 0.08, n = 6; Figure 1(b)).

3.3. Diameter of Cardiomyocytes from Male Offspring. The transverse diameter of the cardiomyocytes from the male offspring was not significantly different in the G3–21, G9–21, G15–21, and G0 groups at either 3 or 5 months (three months: G3–21 13.1 ± 0.4 μ m, G9–21 12.5 ± 0.3 μ m, G15–21 12.2 ± 0.3 μ m, G0 12.2 ± 0.1 μ m, n = 6; five months: G3–21 15.1 ± 0.2 μ m, G9–21 14.8 ± 0.3 μ m, G15–21 14.6 ± 0.3 μ m, G0 14.3 ± 0.2 μ m, n = 6; Figure 2).

3.4. Expression of Collagen I and Collagen III Protein. Collagen I protein expression was significantly greater in the LV tissue from the G9–21 male offspring at 3 months compared with the G0 male offspring (collagen I/ β -actin: G9–21 0.98 ± 0.02 versus G0 0.87 ± 0.02, P < 0.05). The collagen III/ β -actin ratio was also significantly higher in the G9–21 male offspring compared to either the G0 or G15–21 offspring (collagen III/ β -actin: G9–21 0.87 ± 0.01 versus G0 0.82 ± 0.01 or G15–21 0.79 ± 0.02, P < 0.05, n = 6). There was no significant difference in the expression of collagen I and collagen III between the G3–21, G15–21, and G0 groups (collagen III/ β -actin: G3–21 0.94 ± 0.04, G15–21 0.93 ± 0.03; collagen III/ β -actin: G3–21 0.85 ± 0.02, n = 6; Figures 3(a) and 3(c)).

In the 5-month-old offspring, expression of collagen I and collagen III was significantly increased in the LV tissue from both the G3–21 and G9–21 male offspring compared with the G0 or G15–21 male offspring (collagen I/ β -actin: G3–21 1.76 ± 0.07 or G9–21 1.61 ± 0.05 versus G0 0.48 ± 0.04 or G15–21 0.63 ± 0.07, *P* < 0.05, *n* = 6; collagen III/ β -actin: G3–21 0.68 ± 0.05 or G9–21 0.61 ± 0.04 versus G0 0.34 ± 0.03 or G15–21 0.41 ± 0.03, *P* < 0.05, *n* = 6), but there was no significant difference in collagen expression between the G15–21 and G0 groups (Figures 3(b) and 3(d)).

4. Discussion

Our previous studies have shown that maternal hypoxia with an oxygen concentration of $10 \pm 1\%$ induces significant hypoxemia without CO₂ retention and acidosis, and a hypoxic duration of 3 h per day reduces neonatal size and organ weight but does not reduce maternal food intake [8, 11]. Our present study demonstrated that maternal hypoxia during different periods of pregnancy differentially altered collagen accumulation in the adult male offspring.

The LVW/BW ratio is an established index of cardiac hypertrophy [12]. Our study showed that maternal hypoxia from days 3 to 21 and from days 9 to 21 of pregnancy, but not from days 15 to 21, resulted in cardiac hypertrophy in the male offspring. Pathologic cardiac remodeling might be characterized by the abnormal accumulation of collagen [13]. In our study, there was no difference in the diameter of cardiomyocytes from the male offspring, and the expression of both collagen I and III dramatically increased in the hypertrophic ventricle. This suggests that the accumulation of collagen may be the primary mechanism for the increased wall thickness. One limitation of this study was that only one index of cardiac hypertrophy was measured, namely, the HW or LV mass to BW ratios. Additional markers of hypertrophy would have confirmed this result.

Not only does cardiac collagen provide a structural framework for cardiomyocytes and the coronary blood vessels, but also collagen determines the physiological performance by modifying myocardial stiffness and tolerance to deformation [14]. The cardiac collagen matrix remodels with age or pathology [15]. This remodeling often includes changes in the quality and quantity of the collagen matrix. The adverse accumulation of collagen fibers will increase cardiac stiffness and affect diastolic function. With further deposition of collagen, the systolic motion, coronary flow reserve, and electrical activity might then be affected and contribute to pathology [16, 17].

Collagen I and collagen III are the major collagen fibers in adult hearts, and pathological remodeling is associated with increased collagen I and collagen III. For these reasons, we focused on detecting the two types of collagen and



FIGURE 2: Representative light micrographs of cardiomyocytes stained with haematoxylin-eosin from male offspring at 3 months (a) and 5 months (b) of age. Examples of myocytes that met the criteria for evaluation are circled. Quantification of myocyte diameter from male offspring (c). All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, n = 6. No significant differences in the transverse diameter of cardiomyocytes from male offspring were seen among the groups. G3–21, maternal hypoxia group from days 3 to 21 of pregnancy; G9–21, maternal hypoxia group from days 15 to 21 of pregnancy; G0, control group. The circles in the picture indicate myocytes which met the criteria. Magnification for all photomicrographs is ×400.

did not detect cross-linked versus noncross-linked collagen. Our study demonstrated that collagen I and collagen III were increased in the hearts exposed to maternal hypoxia started in early or midpregnancy times, compared with the control group. Studies have suggested that prenatal deficiencies of metabolic substrates including oxygen or nutrients will affect postnatal cardiac structure. In our study, maternal hypoxia might have led to abnormal regulation of cardiac collagen by directly influencing metabolism [5, 18]. Moreover, previous studies have shown that the rat cardiovascular system differentiates and develops most from the 9th to 13th embryonic day and that this time period is regarded as a critical window for cardiovascular development in rat embryos [19, 20]. It is interesting to speculate that the changes of internal environment around the critical window of cardiovascular development will have the most influence on the cardiac structure of the rat offspring. That would explain why there was no increase of collagen deposits in the hearts of the G15–21 hypoxia group that was exposed outside the critical development window, from day 15 to day 21. Further studies are necessary to test this hypothesis.



FIGURE 3: Representative immunoblots of collagen I and collagen III in the left ventricle of male offspring from the four experimental groups at 3 months (a) and 5 months (b) of age. Quantification of collagen I and collagen III is depicted for offspring at 3 (c) and 5 months of age (d). All data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, n = 6. G3–21, maternal hypoxia group from days 3 to 21 of pregnancy; G9–21, maternal hypoxia group from days 9 to 21 of pregnancy; G15–21, maternal hypoxia group from days 15 to 21 of pregnancy; G0, control group. *P < 0.05 compared to control group and $^{\#}P < 0.05$ compared to the G15–21 group.

Abnormal collagen accumulation is also associated with hypertensive heart disease, but in the G9–21 maternal hypoxia group there was collagen deposition in the hearts of offspring in the absence of hypertension. This result indicates that collagen deposition caused by maternal hypoxia might be independent of hypertension, which is consistent with previous studies [5, 21].

5. Conclusions

Maternal hypoxia around a critical window of cardiovascular development might have the most important influence on cardiac collagen deposition of the adult rat offspring. Pathology occurs without cardiomyocytes hypertrophy and it appears to be independent of hypertension.

Abbreviations

LV: Left ventricleLVW: Left ventricular weightBW: Body weightHW: Heart weight.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant from Fujian Medical University Significant Research Project (09ZD015) and Quanzhou Technology Projects, China (2012Z35).

References

- R. Casado-Arroyo, F. Bayrak, A. Sarkozy, G. B. Chierchia, C. Asmundis, and P. Brugada, "Role of ASA in the primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular events," *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Gastroenterology*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 113– 123, 2012.
- [2] D. J. Barker, C. Osmond, E. Kajantie, and J. G. Eriksson, "Growth and chronic disease: findings in the Helsinki Birth Cohort," *Annals of Human Biology*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 445–458, 2009.
- [3] S. C. Langley-Evans, "Developmental programming of health and disease," *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 97–105, 2006.

- [4] P. Szitanyi, J. Janda, and R. Poledne, "Intrauterine undernutrition and programming as a new risk of cardiovascular disease in later life," *Physiological Research*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 389–395, 2003.
- [5] Y. Xu, S. J. Williams, D. O'Brien, and S. T. Davidge, "Hypoxia or nutrient restriction during pregnancy in rats leads to progressive cardiac remodeling and impairs postischemic recovery in adult male offspring," *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 1251–1253, 2006.
- [6] S. C. Langley-Evans, S. J. Welham, and A. A. Jackson, "Fetal exposure to a maternal low protein diet impairs nephrogenesis and promotes hypertension in the rat," *Life Sciences*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 965–974, 1999.
- [7] L. L. Woods, J. R. Ingelfinger, and R. Rasch, "Modest maternal protein restriction fails to program adult hypertension in female rats," *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 289, no. 4, pp. R1131–R1136, 2005.
- [8] Z. Wang, Z. Huang, G. Lu, L. Lin, and M. Ferrari, "Hypoxia during pregnancy in rats leads to early morphological changes of atherosclerosis in adult offspring," *American Journal of Physiology: Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 296, no. 5, pp. H1321–H1328, 2009.
- [9] D. Grigore, N. B. Ojeda, and B. T. Alexander, "Sex differences in the fetal programming of hypertension," *Gender Medicine*, vol. 5, supplement 1, pp. S121–S132, 2008.
- [10] D. G. Hemmings, S. J. Williams, and S. T. Davidge, "Increased myogenic tone in 7-month-old adult male but not female offspring from rat dams exposed to hypoxia during pregnancy," *American Journal of Physiology: Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 289, no. 2, pp. H674–H682, 2005.
- [11] L. Wang, R. Cai, G. Lv, Z. Huang, and Z. Wang, "Hypoxia during pregnancy in rats leads to the changes of the cerebral white matter in adult offspring," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 396, no. 2, pp. 445–450, 2010.
- [12] C. I. Pantos, I. S. Mourouzis, S. M. Tzeis et al., "Propranolol diminishes cardiac hypertrophy but does not abolish acceleration of the ischemic contracture in hyperthyroid hearts," *Journal* of Cardiovascular Pharmacology, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 384–389, 2000.
- [13] R. A. Elrashidy, M. E. Asker, and H. E. Mohamed, "Pioglitazone attenuates cardiac fibrosis and hypertrophy in a rat model of diabetic nephropathy," *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* and Therapeutics, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 324–333, 2012.
- [14] A. Palfi, E. Bartha, L. Copf et al., "Alcohol-free red wine inhibits isoproterenol-induced cardiac remodeling in rats by the regulation of Akt1 and protein kinase C α/β II," *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 418–425, 2009.
- [15] D. Jin, S. Takai, T. Sugiyama et al., "Long-term angiotensin II blockade may improve not only hyperglycemia but also ageassociated cardiac fibrosis," *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 275–284, 2009.
- [16] Y. Xia, K. Lee, N. Li, D. Corbett, L. Mendoza, and N. G. Frangogiannis, "Characterization of the inflammatory and fibrotic response in a mouse model of cardiac pressure overload," *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*, vol. 131, no. 4, pp. 471–481, 2009.
- [17] R. Khan and R. Sheppard, "Fibrosis in heart disease: understanding the role of transforming growth factor- β_1 in cardiomyopathy, valvular disease and arrhythmia," *Immunology*, vol. 118, no. 1, pp. 10–24, 2006.
- [18] M. Battista, E. Calvo, A. Chorvatova, B. Comte, J. Corbeil, and M. Brochu, "Intra-uterine growth restriction and the

programming of left ventricular remodelling in female rats," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 565, no. 1, pp. 197–205, 2005.

- [19] H. S. Andersen, L. Gambling, G. Holtrop, and H. J. McArdle, "Maternal iron deficiency identifies critical windows for growth and cardiovascular development in the rat postimplantation embryo," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 136, no. 5, pp. 1171–1177, 2006.
- [20] C. L. Kwik-Uribe, M. S. Golub, and C. L. Keen, "Chronic marginal iron intakes during early development in mice alter brain iron concentrations and behavior despite postnatal iron supplementation," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 130, no. 8, pp. 2040– 2048, 2000.
- [21] E. Velkoska, T. J. Cole, R. G. Dean, L. M. Burrell, and M. J. Morris, "Early undernutrition leads to long-lasting reductions in body weight and adiposity whereas increased intake increases cardiac fibrosis in male rats," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 138, no. 9, pp. 1622–1627, 2008.

Review Article

Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes Models: Pathophysiological Mechanisms and Fetal Outcomes

D. C. Damasceno,^{1,2} A. O. Netto,¹ I. L. Iessi,¹ F. Q. Gallego,¹ S. B. Corvino,¹ B. Dallaqua,¹ Y. K. Sinzato,¹ A. Bueno,¹ I. M. P. Calderon,¹ and M. V. C. Rudge¹

¹ Laboratory of Experimental Research on Gynecology and Obstetrics, Graduate Program in Gynecology, Obstetrics and Mastology, Botucatu Medical School, UNESP-Universidade Estadual Paulista, Distrito de Rubião Júnior S/N, 18618-970 Botucatu, SP, Brazil

² Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Botucatu Medical School, UNESP-Univsidade Estadual Paulista,

Distrito de Rubião Júnior S/N, 18618-970 Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Correspondence should be addressed to D. C. Damasceno; damascenofmb@gmail.com

Received 14 March 2014; Revised 30 April 2014; Accepted 14 May 2014; Published 27 May 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 D. C. Damasceno et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Glucose homeostasis is controlled by endocrine pancreatic cells, and any pancreatic disturbance can result in diabetes. Because 8% to 12% of diabetic pregnant women present with malformed fetuses, there is great interest in understanding the etiology, pathophysiological mechanisms, and treatment of gestational diabetes. Hyperglycemia enhances the production of reactive oxygen species, leading to oxidative stress, which is involved in diabetic teratogenesis. It has also been suggested that maternal diabetes alters embryonic gene expression, which might cause malformations. Due to ethical issues involving human studies that sometimes have invasive aspects and the multiplicity of uncontrolled variables that can alter the uterine environment during clinical studies, it is necessary to use animal models to better understand diabetic pathophysiology. This review aimed to gather information about pathophysiological mechanisms and fetal outcomes in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. To understand the pathophysiological mechanisms and factors involved in diabetes, the use of pancreatic regeneration studies is increasing in an attempt to understand the behavior of pancreatic beta cells. In addition, these studies suggest a new preventive concept as a treatment basis for diabetes, introducing therapeutic efforts to minimize or prevent diabetes-induced oxidative stress, DNA damage, and teratogenesis.

1. Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease characterized by hyperglycemia resulting in insulin resistance and/or insulin secondary deficiency caused by the failure of beta- (β -) pancreatic cells. Diabetes can be classified into four clinical categories, type 1 diabetes (due to autoimmune destruction of the β cells, usually leading to absolute insulin deficiency), type 2 diabetes (due to a progressive insulin secretory defect in the background of insulin resistance), gestational *Diabetes mellitus* (GDM) (diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy that is not clearly overt diabetes), and other specific types of diabetes due to other causes, for example, genetic defects in β cell function or insulin action, drug- or chemical-induced alterations (such as in the treatment of HIV/AIDS or after organ transplantation), and any diseases of the exocrine pancreas characterized by a process that diffusely injures the pancreas can cause diabetes. Diabetes is usually diagnosed based on plasma glucose criteria, either the fasting plasma glucose (FPG) or the 2 h plasma glucose (2 h PG) value after a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Besides, recently, an International Expert Committee added the A1C (threshold \geq 6.5%) as a third option to diagnose diabetes. In type 1 diabetes, patients often present acute symptoms of diabetes and markedly increased glucose levels and in some cases ketoacidosis. Type 2 diabetes is frequently not diagnosed until complications appear. ADA for the first time recommended that all pregnant women not known to have prior diabetes undergo a 75 g OGTT at 24-28 weeks of gestation based on an International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) consensus meeting. In U.S. approximately one-fourth of the population may have undiagnosed diabetes. Acquired processes include pancreatitis, trauma, infection, pancreatectomy, and pancreatic carcinoma (such as cystic fibrosis). However, for the clinician and patient, it is less important to label the particular type of diabetes than it is to understand the pathogenesis of hyperglycemia and to treat it effectively [1].

Research in health has been improving the quality of medical care, influencing health policies and ensuring patient safety. Translational research is an important tool that allows researchers in clinical practices to establish knowledge and implement the results [2]. Translational research covers two areas. One is the process of applying discoveries generated during research in the laboratory and in preclinical studies to the development of trials and studies in humans. The second area of translation concerns research aimed at enhancing the adoption of best practices in the community. The costeffectiveness of prevention and treatment strategies is also an important part of translational science [3]. According to this definition, translational research is part of a unidirectional continuum in which research findings move from the researcher's bench to the patient's bedside and the community. In the continuum, the first stage of translational research (T1) transfers knowledge from basic research to clinical research, while the second stage (T2) transfers findings from clinical studies or clinical trials to practice settings and communities where the findings improve health [4]. Due to ethical issues involving human studies that can require invasive aspects and the multiplicity of uncontrolled variables that can alter the uterine environment during clinical studies [5], it is necessary to use animal models to better understand diabetic pathophysiology [6]. Thus, this review aimed to gather information about pathophysiological mechanisms and fetal outcomes in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats.

2. Pancreatic Islets: Structure and Function

The pancreas is a complex organ that consists of two functionally and morphologically distinct cell populations derived from the endoderm. The exocrine pancreas consists of acinar cells that secret digestive enzymes, such as amylases, lipases, proteases, and nucleases, which are emptied into the pancreatic duct through an elaborately branched network of tubules composed of epithelial cells. Acinar cells also produce bicarbonate ions and electrolytes, which, together with exocrine enzymes, are transported through the main duct into the duodenum, where they contribute to food processing [7, 8].

Groups of endocrine cells called pancreatic islets represent the endocrine portion, which composes only approximately 2% of the pancreas. Each islet is composed of at least five types of cells, including insulin-producing β cells (65–80%) [9], glucagon-releasing α cells (15–20%) [10], somatostatin-producing δ cells (3–10%) [11], pancreatic polypeptide-containing PP cells (1%) [12], and ghrelincontaining ε cells [13]. All of these hormones are involved in the regulation of nutrient metabolism and glucose homeostasis [14]. The cytoarchitecture of rodent and human islets presents notable differences [15, 16]. In islets from mice and other rodents, the β cells are predominately located in the central core with α and δ cells localized in the periphery forming a mantle [17–21]. In human and monkey islets, α cells are not localized in the periphery but rather are dispersed throughout the islet [15, 16, 19, 21, 22].

There are several lines of evidence that pancreatic islets cannot be considered aggregates of cells. It was well established more than 20 years ago that the integrated secretory responses of isolated islets are greater than those of dispersed islet cells, suggesting that cell-to-cell interactions are necessary for the normal secretory function of the endocrine pancreas [23–27].

However, there are no reports regarding the effect endocrine hormones in the diabetic environment. Several studies have emphasized the importance of interactions among the different cells [28, 29] and between cells of the same type [29, 30] in metabolic control. In normal islets, the insulin-producing cells are under the influence of other hormone-secreting islet cells. Glucagon is known to enhance both insulin and somatostatin secretion, while somatostatin exerts an inhibitory effect on insulin and glucagon secretion [31, 32]. Communication among these hormones is important to maintain physiological balance, and any disorder in this system would result in excessive blood glucose levels, for example, damaging the organism.

Hyperglycemia during pregnancy impairs the intrauterine environment, affecting normal fetal development and resulting in long-term effects on the function and structure of fetal pancreatic islets [33, 34]. This status increases the offspring's risk of obesity/adiposity, glucose intolerance, and type 2 diabetes later in life [1, 35–37]. Animal studies have shown that the offspring of diabetic rats can be insulin resistant [38, 39] and diabetic [39, 40]. Studies support the concept that developing organs have critical periods of intense structural and functional reorganization. In the case of the pancreas, this circumstance may render it vulnerable to environmental stimuli [41, 42], which may lead to consequences for the next generation [43] and future studies should consider the hormone interactions involved for this glucose control.

The literature shows that the administration of pancreatic hormones analogs (insulin, glucagon, and somatostatin) in in vitro studies is important to investigate the mechanisms of hormonal synthesis and secretion in an isolated manner [44-46]. In addition, insulin is the most studied hormone in the maternal and fetal organism in an attempt to understand the repercussions of hyperglycemia [47-54]. In our laboratory, we hypothesized that glucoregulatory hormones such as glucagon and somatostatin, in addition to insulin, are relevant for embryo-fetal development and diabetes-derived alterations. We performed an experimental study in rats to evaluate the importance of the endocrine pancreatic hormonal triad in maternal, fetal, and neonatal organisms exposed to a hyperglycemic intrauterine environment. According to our results, somatostatin levels were altered in all developmental points studied, showing that pancreatic alteration in maternal and fetal organisms persisted in the neonatal period. These results suggest that somatostatin might be a predictor of adverse effects in adulthood. In fact, our data show the importance of studying hormonal interactions in the endocrine pancreas to understand the pathophysiological mechanisms
related to glycemic control in maternal and fetal organisms [55].

3. Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Diabetic Disease

The chronic hyperglycemia of diabetes is associated with long-term damage, dysfunction, and failure of different organs, especially the eyes, kidneys, nerves, heart, and blood vessels [1]. Type 1 Diabetes mellitus results from the cellmediated autoimmune destruction of the β -cells of the pancreas. Markers of the immune destruction of the β -cell include islet cell autoantibodies, autoantibodies to insulin, autoantibodies to GAD (GAD65), and autoantibodies to the tyrosine phosphatases IA-2 and IA-2b [1]. Autoimmune destruction of β -cells has multiple genetic predispositions and is also related to environmental factors that are still poorly defined. Individuals who present Type 2 Diabetes mellitus have insulin resistance and usually develop relative (rather than absolute) insulin deficiency. Although the specific etiologies are not known, autoimmune destruction of β cells does not occur. Most patients with this form of diabetes are obese, and obesity itself causes some degree of insulin resistance [1]. Elevations in plasma glucose and free fatty acids are thought to increase reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels [56, 57], which in turn activate inflammation signaling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinases [58] and nuclear factor-kB [59]. The activation of these inflammation cascades is thought to cause insulin resistance [60].

Gestational *Diabetes mellitus* (GDM) has been defined as any degree of glucose intolerance with onset or first recognition during pregnancy (ADA). Glucose intolerance was first introduced in 1979 to replace "borderline" diabetes and other categories of hyperglycemia that did not appear to carry a risk of microvascular complications [61, 62]. It was only in the most recent reports that the category of nondiabetic fasting hyperglycemia was defined and given the name impaired fasting glycemia (IFG) [63, 64]. This indicates glucose concentrations that are clearly above normal but fall short of the diagnostic value for diabetes [65].

4. Diabetes and Pregnancy: Experimental Models

Experimentally induced diabetes through the administration of β -cytotoxic drugs such as streptozotocin (STZ) is well characterized [66]. Streptozotocin is an antimicrobial agent and has also been used as a chemotherapeutic alkylating agent [67]. "Streptozotocin diabetes" [68] is caused by the specific necrosis of the pancreatic β -cells, and this agent is the first choice for diabetes induction in animals [69, 70]. Depending on the animal strain, dose, route of drug administration, and the life period in which STZ is administered in rats, severe diabetes (blood glucose superior to 200/300 mg/dL) [71–77] or mild diabetes (glycemia between 120 and 200/300 mg/dL) are generated [68, 78–81]. For severe diabetes induction, STZ is administered at 40–50 mg/kg body weight intravenously or intraperitoneally during adulthood. After approximately three days, these animals present blood glucose levels greater than 300 mg/dL [79, 82–86]. In our laboratory, to induce mild diabetes, which is characterized by low glycemic intensity, the rats received a STZ injection (dose of 100 mg/kg body weight) subcutaneously at birth. Approximately three days after STZ administration, these animals developed hyperglycemia (>300 mg/dL) and presented low blood glucose levels (120– 200 mg/dL) at adulthood [83, 85–93]. This fact might be explained by the high regenerative capacity of β -cell during the neonatal period [94, 95].

The literature has shown that several organs are able to undergo catch up growth when necessary [96]. In case of severe cell loss or physiological conditions, the pancreatic β cells of rodents can regenerate in the early life period [97]. Cell regeneration can occur through different mechanisms such as neogenesis, proliferation [98, 99], and transdifferentiation [100]. Scaglia et al. [101] showed that during the neonatal period, the pancreas suffers physiological changes, events that can also be identified in other organs, for example, liver, kidneys, and central nervous system [102–105]. This pancreatic remodeling is due to increased replication and apoptosis rates of β -cells between days 13 and 17. These data show that in physiological conditions the organism has a dynamic β -cell mass, maintaining glucose homeostasis [95, 106].

Because β -cells are able to regenerate in physiological conditions, the next step was to develop an experimental model to induce islet injury to study the mechanisms involved in cell regeneration process. Bonner-Weir et al. [97] published some of the first data about pancreatic islet regeneration, administrating STZ on the second postnatal day. Two days after the induction of diabetes, the animals presented high blood glucose levels (>300 mg/dL) and reduced β -cell numbers compared to the control group. At postnatal day 10, the animals became euglycemic, and partial regeneration of pancreatic β -cells was evidenced. The authors suggested cellular proliferation as the mechanism of cell regeneration. After STZ administration, cells that were not affected by STZinduced necrosis showed increased mitotic characteristics. Bonner-Weir et al. [107] showed increased mitosis, apoptosis, and hypertrophic cells and suggested that hypertrophy might be related to increased β -cell mass given that cell death is a mechanism of regulation related to the rate of mitosis, which could maintain an appropriate number of islet cells. Therefore, according to these authors, the increased β -cell mass could be due to replication, individual cell hypertrophy, or islet neogenesis by ductal cell differentiation [108]. Regarding the regeneration mechanisms of β -cells, some authors also suggest cell transdifferentiation from non- β -cells to insulinproducing cells. In contrast, Scaglia et al. [101] concluded that, once cells do not present hormonal co-expression, there is no transdifferentiation, suggesting that non- β -cells are not differentiating into β -cells.

In contrast, other authors defend the idea that α -cells are able to differentiate into β -cells by direct conversion of transcription factors [100, 109–112]. Some of the essential transcription factors involved in pancreatic regeneration have been investigated, such as neurogenin 3 (Ngn3), paired domain homeobox gene 4 (Pax4), and homeobox-containing gene (Arx). Ngn3 is expressed by precursors of the endocrine pancreas, Pax4 has selective expression throughout the pancreatic islet during its development and is then restricted to β -cells [113, 114], and Arx is expressed by pancreatic α -cells [100].

Liang et al. [95] found that β -cells were damaged four days after neonatal STZ induction. At day 8, these authors verified that there was β -cell recuperation, but 20 days after STZ injection the β -cell mass was still reduced, even though blood glucose levels reverted to normal. This study focused on transcription factors, and the authors used double immunofluorescence to stain Ngn3 and insulin or glucagon. By analyzing the coexpression of Ngn3 and glucagon, they observed abundant expression of Ngn3 in the α -cells of STZtreated rats 8 and 12 days after STZ injection. However, in the control rats, few α -cells expressed Ngn3. The results of the diabetic group indicated that α -cells dedifferentiated into precursor cells and may be candidates for β -cell formation. The coexpression of Pax4 and insulin or glucagon was also studied and indicated a relationship between insulin and Pax4 in both the control and STZ groups. However, the coexpression of Pax4 and glucagon was verified 12 and 20 days after STZ administration. Ngn3 expression is necessary for transdifferentiation from α - to β -cells. In addition, Pax4 is an important transcription factor that specifies the β -cell lineage. The same authors observed Pax4 expression in α -cells of both control and STZ-treated rats, but this coexpression increased in the α -cells at day 20. These results demonstrate that α -cells are sources of β -cell regeneration and can undergo transdifferentiation. Another study using STZ showed that Arx inactivation in α -cells results in pancreatic islet hypertrophy and increased number of cells that are phenotypically β -cells. The authors suggest that when α -cells are subjected to Arx inactivation, they undergo transdifferentiation to β -cells. These results show that strategies aiming at inhibiting the expression of Arx may offer new avenues for diabetes treatment [115].

Therefore, the literature includes several mechanisms to explain β -cell regeneration, and most studies suggest that the proliferation of the remaining β -cells is the primary source of regeneration. Nevertheless, current studies have demonstrated the direct participation of α -cells in β -cell regeneration. Thus, we conclude that the regeneration of pancreatic β -cells may be due to different mechanisms, but further studies are needed to precisely elucidate each mechanism and its contribution to the regeneration as a whole.

5. Diabetes-Induced Teratogenesis

Diabetes has been recognized as a disease that increases the risk of birth defects in offspring by 3 to 5 times [116]. A significant improvement has been observed in the evolution of the diabetic pregnancy after the discovery of insulin, reducing the incidence of ketoacidosis, spontaneous abortions, stillbirths, and congenital malformations [117]. A total of 25% of offspring have been reported presenting these complications, and early detection and subsequent strict metabolic control of pregnant women with diabetes should decrease the frequency and severity of some of these complications in offspring [118]. Studies have shown that spontaneous abortions can result from the malformation of structures required for fetal viability, such as the cardiovascular system or the placenta, but could also be attributable to maternal effects, such as endocrinopathies or vascular complications affecting uterine perfusion [119].

The following are the two principal advances that have improved the offspring survival rate during diabetic pregnancy: (1) a good maternal glycemic control to reduce the morbidity and mortality of both the mother and fetus/neonate [120]; (2) availability of surfactant to reduce perinatal mortality from respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) [121]. Uncontrolled diabetic status throughout the pregnancy has been associated with a spectrum of disorders involving neural tube defects (NTDs), including spina bifida, anencephaly, encephalocele, holoprosencephaly, and cardiovascular [122–124] kidney, and skeletal system defects in addition to growth delay and miscarriage [116]. In fact, any organ can be affected, and 8% to 12% of diabetic pregnant women presented malformed fetuses [125].

Experimental studies have also been performed to understand diabetic teratogenesis. Damasceno et al. [126] and Volpato et al. [75] administered STZ (40 mg/kg) to adult virgin female Wistar rats before mating. During pregnancy, these rats presented hyperglycemic levels higher than 200 mg/dL. At term, the fetuses from diabetic dams presented skeletal (nonossified sternebrae and cleft palate) and visceral malformations (microphthalmia and hydronephrosis). Gäreskog et al. [127], using a similar diabetes model, recovered embryos from diabetic rats at day 10 or 11 of pregnancy. These embryos were cultured within their intact visceral yolk sac for 24 or 48 h and presented decreased Bcl-2 levels and increased Bax levels and increased activation of caspase 3. Thus, exposure to diabetes during organogenesis increased cellular apoptosis and embryonic dysmorphogenesis. However, some skeletal defects that can occur in human diabetic pregnancy, particularly caudal regression syndrome, are rarely observed in animal models, making it difficult to study their molecular etiology [119].

Several studies have tried to identify biochemical disturbances associated with malformations in animal models of diabetic pregnancy. Teratogenic processes in embryonic tissues include alterations of metabolic and signaling systems [118] such as metabolism of inositol [128], the polyol pathway [129], arachidonic acid/prostaglandins [130, 131], and reactive oxygen species (ROS) [132]. In the polyol pathway, the aldose reductase enzyme is responsible for catalyzing excess glucose into sorbitol. Sorbitol accumulation has been demonstrated to negatively affect cell function in glucose-permeable tissues. However, aldose reductase inhibitors (ARIs) can diminish some diabetes-related changes in affected tissues without modifying the hyperglycemia. It has been proposed that polyol pathway overactivity is responsible for diabetic nephropathy, neuropathy, and retinopathy due to the depletion of myoinositol, and this could be applied to diabetic congenital malformations [118].

Another theory centers on linoleic acid. It is the precursor of arachidonic acid, an essential fatty acid required throughout gestation [133]. The literature shows that arachidonic acid release from plasma membranes by phospholipase A2 is lower in diabetic rodents. The formation of the palate, the neural tube, the heart, and external genitalia involve the folding and fusion of opposing layers and require phosphatidylinositol turnover and arachidonic acid signaling [131]. Several studies have identified PGE2 as a prostaglandin (PG) derived from arachidonic acid involved in the prevention of malformations in experimental diabetic models [134, 135]. Supporting this idea, one study showed that the concentration of PGE2 decreased during neurulation in embryos from a diabetic mouse [136]. In vitro as well as in vivo results demonstrated that a high glucose concentration causes decreased cyclooxygenase (enzyme catalyzing the synthesis of PGE2 from arachidonic acid) gene expression [137], suggesting that diabetes causes decreased prostaglandin biosynthesis and that the inhibition of the arachidonic cascade may be a cause of diabetic embryopathy [138].

Another hypothesis is that increased glucose metabolism enhances the production of ROS, causing oxidative stress [139]. In the embryo, the energy metabolism is characterized by a high rate of glycolysis and lactic acid production (anaerobic glycolysis) with minimal activity of the Krebs cycle-electron transport system [138]. In accordance with the low activity of the mitochondrial oxidative pathway, scavenging enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) seem to be immature during the period of early organogenesis [140]. A study performed on cultured rat embryos in high glucose (25 and 50 mM glucose) showed increased activity of the free radical scavenging enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD) providing evidence of enhanced ROS production in a hyperglycemic environment [141]. Kinalski et al. [142] verified an increase in malondialdehvde (MDA) levels and reduced glutathione (GSH) and decreased activity of cytoplasmic Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase (Cu/Zn SOD) in the infants of mothers with pregestational and gestational diabetes. These data show increased oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation in these fetuses, which serve as indicators of fetal distress caused by maternal hyperglycemia [143].

Wentzel and Eriksson [144] evaluated embryoneural crest cells recovered from inbred Sprague-Dawley rat exposed to 5.5 or 30 mmol/L glucose for 48 hr on gestational day 10. Cells exposed to 30 mmol glucose/L presented decreased mRNA levels of catalase, Cu/Zn SOD, manganese superoxide dismutase, and extracellular superoxide dismutase. This altered gene expression induced by glucose may be the etiology of malformations in diabetic pregnancy.

6. Diabetes-Induced Oxidative Stress and DNA Damage

In addition to reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, the products of free radicals, which are dependent on fatty acid oxidation, can induce chromosome breaks [145, 146]. Therefore, these products can interact with the embryo chromatin, resulting in congenital malformations [147]. Free

radicals can also react with DNA bases, impairing their structure [148,149] and potentially leading to mutations [148–150]. DNA oxidation is the most common type of damage [151], although the methods used to assess this damage are still controversial. One marker used to study oxidative DNA damage [152, 153] is 8-OHdG or 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodGuo or 8-oxoGua). It is a product of the deoxyguanosine nucleoside oxidation that is directly excreted in urine. Qiu et al. [154] demonstrated that the 8-OHdG urine concentration might be related to increased risk for gestational diabetes mellitus.

To evaluate DNA damage levels, the comet assay presents advantages compared to other methods to detect genotoxic substances. This test is not useful for detecting mutations but can detect genomic lesions, which can result in mutation. In contrast to mutations, the genomic lesions detected by the comet assay can be repaired. The comet assay is fast and sensitive; moreover, it can detect oxidized DNA bases using endonucleases such as endonuclease III (Endo III) and formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosidase (Fpg). Use of Fpg and Endo III allows the identification of both oxidized purine and pyrimidine bases, respectively [155, 156].

Although streptozotocin is an alkylating agent, it is also useful in genotoxicity studies. Some authors have suggested that STZ can irreversibly damage β -cell DNA. To investigate this hypothesis, Mossman et al. [157] performed an in vitro study showing that STZ induces single-strand DNA breaks in rodent cells (RINr 38), and these lesions are repaired 24 hours after STZ exposition. Studying the same cell lineage, Pettepher et al. [158] demonstrated that STZ also induces alkali-labile site breaks in mitochondrial DNA, and even though the formation of this lesion is dose-dependent, it can be repaired as well. After 8 hours of STZ exposition, 55% of the mitochondrial DNA lesions were repaired, rising to 70% in 24 hours. These data confirm that STZ by itself is not responsible for the high levels of DNA damage.

In regard to experimental studies with mild and severe diabetes, Lima et al. [86] evaluated oxidative damage in the lymphocytes of pregnant diabetic rats and whole blood samples of their offspring by the comet assay using repair enzymes (Endo III and Fpg). These authors found that mildly diabetic rats and their offspring presented more sensitive sites to Fpg, reflecting damage related to hyperglycemia. Tats with severe diabetes and their offspring showed oxidative DNA damage detected by Fpg as well as by Endo III, typical general diabetes outcomes. The enzymatic indication of DNA damage suggests that the repercussions of maternal diabetes are associated with oxidative lesions in maternal and fetal DNA. Damasceno et al. [159] demonstrated that severely diabetic rats presented higher DNA damage levels at term pregnancy compared to control rats. In addition, their offspring also showed higher DNA damage levels and increased rate of congenital malformations at term, confirming the interaction between hyperglycemia-induced genotoxicity and teratogenesis. These studies show the relationship among diabetes, oxidative stress, and oxidative DNA damage.

Although many studies have been performed to understand the congenital malformations induced by diabetes, additional research is necessary to identify new markers involved in the regulation of embryogenesis and occurrence of congenital malformations. It is necessary to comprehend DNA damage trigger factors in diabetes to reduce the impairment of gene expression, avoid fetal congenital malformation, and contribute to the normal development of organs during organogenesis.

7. Conclusion

Pancreatic islet loss and reduction of insulin-producing beta cell mass are relevant aspects to diabetic pathogenesis. It is important to study the regeneration of pancreatic beta cells not only to understand the mechanisms and factors involved in this process but also to provide new preventive concepts as a basis for the treatment of diabetes. Thus, these therapeutic efforts might minimize or prevent diabetes-induced oxidative stress, DNA damage, and teratogenesis.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgment

The authors are grateful to FAPESP (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo, Brazil) for financial support of the projects developed in their laboratory.

References

- American Diabetes Association (ADA), "Standards of medical care in diabetes—2014," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 37, supplement 1, pp. S14–S80, 2014.
- [2] S. Bakken and D. A. Jones, "Contributions to translational research for quality health outcomes," *Nursing Research*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. S1–S2, 2006.
- [3] National Institutes of Health, "Definitions under Subsection 1 (Research Objectives), Section I, (Funding Opportunity Description), Part II, (Full Text of Announcement), of RFA-RM-07-007," Institutional Clinical and Translational Science Award (U54), 2007, http://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/rfafiles/RFA-RM-07-007.html.
- [4] D. M. Rubio, E. E. Schoenbaum, L. S. Lee et al., "Defining translational research: implications for training," *Academic Medicine*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 470–475, 2010.
- [5] I. López-Soldado and E. Herrera, "Different diabetogenic response to moderate doses of streptozotocin in pregnant rats, and its long-term consequences in the offspring," *Experimental Diabesity Research*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 107–118, 2003.
- [6] M. V. Rudge, F. Piculo, G. Marini, D. C. Damasceno, I. M. Calderon, and A. P. Barbosa, "Translational research in gestational diabetes mellitus and mild gestational hyperglycemia: current knowledge and our experience," *Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 497–508, 2013.
- [7] J. M. W. Slack, "Developmental biology of the pancreas," *Development*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 1569–1580, 1995.
- [8] F. C. Pan and C. Wright, "Pancreas organogenesis: from bud to plexus to gland," *Developmental Dynamics*, vol. 240, no. 3, pp. 530–565, 2011.

- [9] P. E. Lacy, "Electron microscopy of the beta cell of the pancreas," *The American Journal of Medicine*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 851–859, 1961.
- [10] T. J. Kieffer and J. F. Habener, "The glucagon-like peptides," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 876–913, 1999.
- [11] R. Luft, S. Efendic, T. Hokfelt, O. Johansson, and A. Arimura, "Immunohistochemical evidence for the localization of somatostatin—like immunoreactivity in a cell population of the pancreatic islets," *Medical Biology*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 428–430, 1974.
- [12] E. Ekblad and F. Sundler, "Distribution of pancreatic polypeptide and peptide YY," *Peptides*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 251–261, 2002.
- [13] C. L. Prado, A. E. Pugh-Bernard, L. Elghazi, B. Sosa-Pineda, and L. Sussel, "Ghrelin cells replace insulin-producing β cells in two mouse models of pancreas development," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 101, no. 9, pp. 2924–2929, 2004.
- [14] A. Assmann, C. Hinault, and R. N. Kulkarni, "Growth factor control of pancreatic islet regeneration and function," *Pediatric Diabetes*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 14–32, 2009.
- [15] M. Brissova, M. J. Fowler, W. E. Nicholson et al., "Assessment of human pancreatic islet architecture and composition by laser scanning confocal microscopy," *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 1087–1097, 2005.
- [16] O. Cabrera, D. M. Berman, N. S. Kenyon, C. Ricordi, P. Berggren, and A. Caicedo, "The unique cytoarchitecture of human pancreatic islets has implications for islet cell function," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 103, no. 7, pp. 2334–2339, 2006.
- [17] L. Orci and R. H. Unger, "Functional subdivision of islets of Langerhans and possible role of D cells," *The Lancet*, vol. 2, no. 7947, pp. 1243–1244, 1975.
- [18] E. Samols, S. Bonner-Weir, and G. C. Weir, "Intra-islet insulinglucagon-somatostatin relationships," *Clinics in Endocrinology* and Metabolism, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 33–58, 1986.
- [19] G. Wieczorek, A. Pospischil, and E. Perentes, "A comparative immunohistochemical study of pancreatic islets in laboratory animals (rats, dogs, minipigs, nonhuman primates)," *Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 151–172, 1998.
- [20] M. Yukawa, T. Takeuchi, T. Watanabe, and S. Kitamura, "Proportions of various endocrine cells in the pancreatic islets of wood mice (*Apodemus speciosus*)," *Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 13–16, 1999.
- [21] S. R. Sujatha, A. Pulimood, and S. Gunasekaran, "Comparative immunocytochemistry of isolated rat & monkey pancreatic islet cell types," *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 38–44, 2004.
- [22] A. Sánchez, S. Cenani, and I. von Lawzewitsch, "Pancreatic islets in Platyrrhini monkeys: *Callithrix jacchus, Saimiri boliviensis, Aotus azarae*, and *Cebus apella*. A cytological and immunocytochemical study," *Primates*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 93–103, 1991.
- [23] D. Pipeleers, P. In't Veld, E. Maes, and M. van de Winkel, "Glucose-induced insulin release depends on functional cooperation between islet cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 79, no. 23 I, pp. 7322–7325, 1982.
- [24] D. W. Hopcroft, D. R. Mason, and R. S. Scott, "Structurefunction relationships in pancreatic islets: support for intraislet modulation of insulin secretion," *Endocrinology*, vol. 117, no. 5, pp. 2073–2080, 1985.

- [25] P. A. Halban, S. L. Powers, K. L. George, and S. Bonner-Weir, "Spontaneous reassociation of dispersed adult rat pancreatic islet cells into aggregates with three-dimensional architecture typical of native islets," *Diabetes*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 783–790, 1987.
- [26] D. Bosco, L. Orci, and P. Meda, "Homologous but not heterologous contact increases the insulin secretion of individual pancreatic B-cells," *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 184, no. 1, pp. 72–80, 1989.
- [27] I. Baca, G. E. Feurle, I. Klempa, A. Ziegler, and V. Schusdziarra, "Morphometry and function of islet cells after different forms of drainage at pancreatic transplantation in rats," *European Surgical Research*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 151–159, 1990.
- [28] E. R. Trimble, P. A. Halban, C. B. Wollheim, and A. E. Renold, "Functional differences between rat islets of ventral and dorsal pancreatic origin," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 405–413, 1982.
- [29] A. Jorns, "Immunocytochemical and ultrastructural heterogeneities of normal and glibenclamide stimulated pancreatic beta cells in the rat," *Virchows Archiv*, vol. 425, no. 3, pp. 305–313, 1994.
- [30] P. Meda, J. F. Denef, A. Perrelet, and L. Orci, "Nonrandom distribution of gap junctions between pancreatic beta-cells," *The American Journal of Physiology*, vol. 238, no. 3, pp. C114–C119, 1980.
- [31] A. Wojtusciszyn, M. Armanet, P. Morel, T. Berney, and D. Bosco, "Insulin secretion from human beta cells is heterogeneous and dependent on cell-to-cell contacts," *Diabetologia*, vol. 51, no. 10, pp. 1843–1852, 2008.
- [32] R. Jain and E. Lammert, "Cell-cell interactions in the endocrine pancreas," *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism*, vol. 11, supplement 4, pp. 159–167, 2009.
- [33] A. Edvell and P. Lindström, "Development of insulin secretory function in young obese hyperglycemic mice (Umeå ob/ob)," *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 906– 913, 1995.
- [34] A. L. Fowden and D. J. Hill, "Intra-uterine programming of the endocrine pancreas," *The British Medical Bulletin*, vol. 60, pp. 123–142, 2001.
- [35] D. J. Pettitt, P. H. Bennett, M. F. Saad, M. A. Charles, R. G. Nelson, and W. C. Knowler, "Abnormal glucose tolerance during pregnancy in Pima Indian women: long-term effects on offspring," *Diabetes*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 126–130, 1991.
- [36] G. V. Krishnaveni, S. R. Veena, J. C. Hill, S. Kehoe, S. C. Karat, and C. H. D. Fall, "Intrauterine exposure to maternal diabetes is associated with higher adiposity and insulin resistance and clustering of cardiovascular risk markers in Indian children," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 402–404, 2010.
- [37] B. Portha, A. Chavey, and J. Movassat, "Early-life origins of type 2 diabetes: fetal programming of the beta-cell mass," *Experimental Diabetes Research*, vol. 2011, Article ID 105076, 16 pages, 2011.
- [38] V. Grill, B. Johansson, P. Jalkanen, and U. J. Eriksson, "Influence of severe diabetes mellitus early in pregnancy in the rat: effects on insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion in the offspring," *Diabetologia*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 373–378, 1991.
- [39] J. Boloker, S. J. Gertz, and R. A. Simmons, "Gestational diabetes leads to the development of diabetes in adulthood in the rat," *Diabetes*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 1499–1506, 2002.
- [40] F. A. Van Assche, L. Aerts, and K. Holemans, "The effects of maternal diabetes on the offspring," *Bailliere's Clinical Obstetrics* and Gynaecology, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 485–492, 1991.

- [41] A. Lucas, "Programming by early nutrition: an experimental approach," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 128, no. 2, supplement, pp.
- 401S–406S, 1998.
 [42] C. Aguayo-Mazzucato, C. Sanchez-Soto, V. Godinez-Puig, G. Gutiérrez-Ospina, and M. Hiriart, "Restructuring of pancreatic islets and insulin secretion in a postnatal critical window," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 1, no. 1, article e35, 2006.
- [43] A. L. Fowden, J. W. Ward, F. P. B. Wooding, A. J. Forhead, and M. Constancia, "Programming placental nutrient transport capacity," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 572, part 1, pp. 5–15, 2006.
- [44] S. W. J. Lamberts, J. W. Koper, and J. C. Reubi, "Potential role of somatostatin analogues in the treatment of cancer," *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 281–287, 1987.
- [45] B. Setyono-Han, M. S. Henkelman, J. A. Foekens, and J. G. M. Klijn, "Direct inhibitory effects of somatostatin (analogues) on the growth of human breast cancer cells," *Cancer Research*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 1566–1570, 1987.
- [46] T. Nobuhiko, N. Miho, F. Mitsuko et al., "Octreotide-treated diabetes accompanied by endogenous hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia and protein-losing gastroenteropathy," *Case Reports in Medicine*, vol. 2011, Article ID 381203, 8 pages, 2011.
- [47] L. Aerts and F. A. van Assche, "Islet transplantation in diabetic pregnant rats normalizes glucose homeostasis in their offspring," *Journal of Developmental Physiology*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 283–287, 1992.
- [48] M. de Gasparo and R. D. G. Milner, "The timing of fetal B cell hyperplasia in diabetic rat pregnancy," *Diabetologia*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 54–57, 1980.
- [49] E. A. Ryan, D. Liu, R. C. Bell, D. T. Finegood, and J. Crawford, "Long term consequences in offspring of diabetes in pregnancy: studies with syngeneic islet-transplanted streptozotocindiabetic rats," *Endocrinology*, vol. 136, no. 12, pp. 5587–5592, 1995.
- [50] J. Han, J. Xu, Y. S. Long, P. N. Epstein, and Y. Q. Liu, "Rat maternal diabetes impairs pancreatic β-cell function in the offspring," *The American Journal of Physiology—Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 293, no. 1, pp. E228–E236, 2007.
- [51] C. J. Zeng, L. Zhang, and H. X. Yang, "Effects of severe hyperglycaemia in pregnancy and early overfeeding on islet development and insulin resistance," *Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi*, vol. 45, no. 9, pp. 658–663, 2010.
- [52] K. C. Marchand, E. J. Arany, and D. J. Hill, "Effects of atorvastatin on the regeneration of pancreatic β-cells after streptozotocin treatment in the neonatal rodent," *The American Journal of Physiology—Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 299, no. 1, pp. E92–E100, 2010.
- [53] R. C. S. Branco, J. C. de Oliveira, S. Grassiolli et al., "Maternal protein malnutrition does not impair insulin secretion from pancreatic islets of offspring after transplantation into diabetic rats," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 2, Article ID e30685, 2012.
- [54] A. B. Aref, O. M. Ahmed, L. A. Ali, and M. Semmler, "Maternal rat diabetes mellitus deleteriously affects insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in the offspring," *Journal of Diabetes Research*, vol. 2013, Article ID 429154, 10 pages, 2013.
- [55] I. L. Iessi, Y. K. Sinzato, I. M. P. Calderon, M. V. C. Rudge, and D. C. Damasceno, "Pancreatic islet hormonal triad in diabetic pregnant rats and their offspring," *PLoS ONE*. In press.
- [56] J. L. Evans, B. A. Maddux, and I. D. Goldfine, "The molecular basis for oxidative stress-induced insulin resistance," *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, vol. 7, no. 7-8, pp. 1040–1052, 2005.

- [57] F. Folli, D. Corradi, P. Fanti et al., "The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus micro-and macrovascular complications: avenues for a mechanistic-based therapeutic approach," *Current Diabetes Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 313–324, 2011.
- [58] E. K. Kim and E. J. Choi, "Pathological roles of MAPK signaling pathways in human diseases," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta— Molecular Basis of Disease*, vol. 1802, no. 4, pp. 396–405, 2010.
- [59] I. Sigala, P. Zacharatos, D. Toumpanakis et al., "MAPKs and NFκB differentially regulate cytokine expression in the diaphragm in response to resistive breathing: the role of oxidative stress," *The American Journal of Physiology—Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 300, no. 5, pp. R1152–R1162, 2011.
- [60] G. Muscogiuri, A. B. Salmon, C. Aguayo-Mazzucato et al., "Genetic disruption of SOD1 gene causes glucose intolerance and impairs β-cell function," *Diabetes*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 4201– 4207, 2013.
- [61] National Diabetes Data Group, "Classification and diagnosis of diabetes and other categories of glucose intolerance," *Diabetes*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 1039–1057, 1979.
- [62] WHO Expert Committee on Diabetes Mellitus, *Technical Report Series 646, Second Report*, World Health Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland, 1980.
- [63] R. Kahn, "Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 1183–1197, 1997.
- [64] World Health Organisation, Definition, Diagnosis, and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and Its Complications. Report of a WHO Consultation—Part 1: Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus, World Health Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland, 1999.
- [65] N. Unwin, J. Shaw, P. Zimmet, and K. G. M. M. Alberti, "Impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glycaemia: the current status on definition and intervention," *Diabetic Medicine*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 708–723, 2002.
- [66] D. T. Ward, S. K. Yau, A. P. Mee et al., "Functional, molecular, and biochemical characterization of streptozotocin-induced diabetes," *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 779–790, 2001.
- [67] S. Lenzen, "The mechanisms of alloxan- and streptozotocininduced diabetes," *Diabetologia*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 216–226, 2008.
- [68] B. Portha, C. Levacher, L. Picon, and G. Rosselin, "Diabetogenic effect of streptozotocin in the rat during the perinatal period," *Diabetes*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 889–895, 1974.
- [69] S. Lenzen, M. Tiedge, A. Jörns, and R. Munday, "Alloxan derivatives as a tool for the elucidation of the mechanism of the diabetogenic action of alloxan," in *Lessons from Animal Diabetes*, E. Shafrir, Ed., pp. 113–122, Birkhäuser, Boston, Mass, USA, 1996.
- [70] R. N. Arison, E. I. Ciaccio, M. S. Glitzer, J. A. Cassaro, and M. P. Pruss, "Light and electron microscopy of lesions in rats rendered diabetic with streptozotocin," *Diabetes*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 51–56, 1967.
- [71] U. J. Eriksson, L. A. H. Borg, J. Cederberg et al., "Pathogenesis of diabetes-induced congenital malformations," *Upsala Journal* of Medical Sciences, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 53–84, 2000.
- [72] U. J. Eriksson, J. Cederberg, and P. Wentzel, "Congenital malformations in offspring of diabetic mothers—animal and human studies," *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 79–93, 2003.

- [73] D. C. Damasceno, G. T. Volpato, M. C. Ide, R. Aguilar, and M. V. C. Rudge, "Effect of Bauhinia forficata extract in diabetic pregnant rats: maternal repercussions," *Phytomedicine*, vol. 11, no. 2-3, pp. 196–201, 2004.
- [74] M. V. C. Rudge, D. C. Damasceno, G. T. Volpato, F. C. G. Almeida, I. M. P. Calderon, and I. P. Lemonica, "Effect of Ginkgo biloba on the reproductive outcome and oxidative stress biomarkers of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats," *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 1095–1099, 2007.
- [75] G. T. Volpato, D. C. Damasceno, M. V. C. Rudge, C. R. Padovani, and I. M. P. Calderon, "Effect of Bauhinia forficata aqueous extract on the maternal-fetal outcome and oxidative stress biomarkers of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 116, no. 1, pp. 131–137, 2008.
- [76] S. de Souza Mda, P. H. O. Lima, Y. K. Sinzato, M. V. C. Rudge, O. C. M. Pereira, and D. C. Damasceno, "Effects of cigarette smoke exposure on pregnancy outcome and offspring of diabetic rats," *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 562–567, 2009.
- [77] S. de Souza Mda, Y. K. Sinzato, P. H. O. Lima, I. M. P. Calderon, M. V. C. Rudge, and D. C. Damasceno, "Oxidative stress status and lipid profiles of diabetic pregnant rats exposed to cigarette smoke," *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 547–552, 2010.
- [78] K. Tsuji, T. Taminato, M. Usami et al., "Characteristic features of insulin secretion in the streptozotocin-induced NIDDM rat model," *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, vol. 37, no. 11, pp. 1040–1044, 1988.
- [79] H. Merzouk, S. Madani, D. C. Sari, J. Prost, M. Bouchenak, and J. Belleville, "Time course of changes in serum glucose, insulin, lipids and tissue lipase activities in macrosomic offspring of rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes," *Clinical Science*, vol. 98, no. 1, pp. 21–30, 2000.
- [80] Y. K. Sinzato, P. H. Lima, K. E. de Campos, A. C. I. Kiss, M. V. C. Rudge, and D. C. Damascene, "Neonatally-induced diabetes: lipid profile outcomes and oxidative stress status in adult rats," *Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 384–388, 2009.
- [81] D. C. Damasceno, A. C. I. Kiss, Y. K. Sinzato et al., "Maternalfetal outcome, lipid profile and oxidative stress of diabetic rats neonatally exposed to streptozotocin," *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes*, vol. 119, no. 7, pp. 408–413, 2011.
- [82] J. Y. Uriu-Hare, C. L. Keen, E. A. Applegate, and J. S. Stern, "The influence of moderate exercise in diabetic and normal pregnancy on maternal and fetal outcome in the rat," *Life Sciences*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 647–654, 1989.
- [83] A. Bueno, Y. K. Sinzato, M. J. Sudano et al., "Short and longterm repercussions of the experimental diabetes in embryofetal development," *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 2014.
- [84] D. C. Damasceno, H. P. Silva, G. F. Vaz et al., "Diabetic rats exercised prior to and during pregnancy: maternal reproductive outcome, biochemical profile, and frequency of fetal anomalies," *Reproductive Sciences*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 730–738, 2013.
- [85] F. H. Saito, D. C. Damasceno, B. Dallaqua et al., "Heat shock protein production and immunity and altered fetal development in diabetic pregnant rats," *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 25–33, 2013.
- [86] P. H. O. Lima, Y. K. Sinzato, R. B. Gelaleti, I. M. P. Calderon, M. V. C. Rudge, and D. C. Damasceno, "Genotoxicity evaluation in severe or mild diabetic pregnancy in laboratory animals,"

Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 303–307, 2012.

- [87] F. Piculo, G. Marini, A. M. Barbosa et al., "Urethral striated muscle and extracellular matrix morphological characteristics among mildly diabetic pregnant rats: translational approach," *International Urogynecology Journal*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 403–415, 2014.
- [88] A. C. I. Kiss, B. Woodside, Y. K. Sinzato et al., "Neonatally induced mild diabetes: influence on development, behavior and reproductive function of female Wistar rats," *Diabetology and Metabolic Syndrome*, vol. 5, no. 1, article 61, 2013.
- [89] A. P. Spada, D. C. Damasceno, Y. K. Sinzato et al., "Oxidative stress in maternal blood and placenta from mild diabetic rats," *Reproductive Sciences*, 2014.
- [90] B. Dallaqua, F. H. Saito, T. Rodrigues et al., "Azadirachta indica treatment on the congenital malformations of fetuses from rats," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 150, no. 3, pp. 1109–1113, 2013.
- [91] B. Dallaqua, F. H. Saito, T. Rodrigues et al., "Treatment with Azadirachta indica in diabetic pregnant rats: negative effects on maternal outcome," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 143, no. 3, pp. 805–811, 2012.
- [92] A. C. I. Kiss, B. Woodside, L. F. Felício, J. Anselmo-Franci, and D. C. Damasceno, "Impact of maternal mild hyperglycemia on maternal care and offspring development and behavior of Wistar rats," *Physiology and Behavior*, vol. 107, no. 3, pp. 292– 300, 2012.
- [93] Y. K. Sinzato, G. T. Volpato, I. L. Iessi et al., "Neonatally induced mild diabetes in rats and its effect on maternal, placental, and fetal parameters," *Experimental Diabetes Research*, vol. 2012, Article ID 108163, 7 pages, 2012.
- [94] S. Georgia and A. Bhushan, "β cell replication is the primary mechanism for maintaining postnatal β cell mass," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 114, no. 7, pp. 963–968, 2004.
- [95] X. D. Liang, Y. Y. Guo, M. Sun et al., "Streptozotocin-induced expression of Ngn3 and Pax4 in neonatal rat pancreatic α-cells," *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, vol. 17, no. 23, pp. 2812–2820, 2011.
- [96] R. J. Goss, "Modes of growth and regeneration: mechanisms, regulation, distribution," in *Human Growth: A Comprehensive Treatise*, F. Falkner and J. M. Tanner, Eds., vol. 1, pp. 3–26, Plenum Press, New York, NY, USA, 2nd edition, 1986.
- [97] S. Bonner-Weir, D. F. Trent, R. N. Honey, and G. C. Weir, "Responses of neonatal rat islets to streptozotocin: limited Bcell regeneration and hyperglycemia," *Diabetes*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 64–69, 1981.
- [98] S. Bonner-Weir and G. C. Weir, "New sources of pancreatic βcells," *Nature Biotechnology*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 857–861, 2005.
- [99] K. Minami and S. Seino, "Regeneration of the pancreas," *Nippon Rinsho*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 926–931, 2008.
- [100] P. Collombat, A. Mansouri, J. Hecksher-Sørensen et al., "Opposing actions of Arx and Pax4 in endocrine pancreas development," *Genes and Development*, vol. 17, no. 20, pp. 2591–2603, 2003.
- [101] L. Scaglia, C. J. Cahill, D. T. Finegood, and S. Bonner-Weir, "Apoptosis participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancreas in the neonatal rat," *Endocrinology*, vol. 138, no. 4, pp. 1736–1741, 1997.
- [102] R. W. Oppenheim, "Cell death during development of the nervous system," *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, vol. 14, pp. 453–501, 1991.

- [103] H. S. R. Coles, J. F. Burne, and M. C. Raff, "Large-scale normal cell death in the developing rat kidney and its reduction by epidermal growth factor," *Development*, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 777– 784, 1993.
- [104] T. Terada and Y. Nakanuma, "Detection of apoptosis and expression of apoptosis-related proteins during human intrahepatic bile duct development," *The American Journal of Pathol*ogy, vol. 146, no. 1, pp. 67–74, 1995.
- [105] A. J. Blaschke, K. Staley, and J. Chun, "Widespread programmed cell death in proliferative and postmitotic regions of the fetal cerebral cortex," *Development*, vol. 122, no. 4, pp. 1165–1174, 1996.
- [106] B. Portha, O. Blondel, P. Serradas et al., "The rat models of non-insulin dependent diabetes induced by neonatal streptozotocin," *Diabete et Metabolisme*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 61–75, 1989.
- [107] S. Bonner-Weir, D. Deery, J. L. Leahy, and G. C. Weir, "Compensatory growth of pancreatic β -cells in adult rats after short-term glucose infusion," *Diabetes*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 49–53, 1989.
- [108] S. Bonner-Weir, "Regulation of pancreatic β-cell mass in vivo," *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 91–104, 1994.
- [109] G. Gradwohl, A. Dierich, M. LeMeur, and F. Guillemot, "Neurogenin3 is required for the development of the four endocrine cell lineages of the pancreas," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 97, no. 4, pp. 1607– 1611, 2000.
- [110] M. Jenny, C. Uhl, C. Roche et al., "Neurogenin3 is differentially required for endocrine cell fate specification in the intestinal and gastric epithelium," *The EMBO Journal*, vol. 21, no. 23, pp. 6338–6347, 2002.
- [111] G. Gu, J. R. Brown, and D. A. Melton, "Direct lineage tracing reveals the ontogeny of pancreatic cell fates during mouse embryogenesis," *Mechanisms of Development*, vol. 120, no. 1, pp. 35–43, 2003.
- [112] S. W. Li, V. Koya, Y. Li et al., "Pancreatic duodenal homeobox 1 protein is a novel B-cell-specific autoantigen for type I diabetes," *Laboratory Investigation*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 31–39, 2010.
- [113] S. B. Smith, H. C. Ee, J. R. Conners, and M. S. German, "Pairedhomeodomain transcription factor PAX4 acts as a transcriptional repressor in early pancreatic development," *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 8272–8280, 1999.
- [114] C. Dohrmann, P. Gruss, and L. Lemaire, "Pax genes and the differentiation of hormone-producing endocrine cells in the pancreas," *Mechanisms of Development*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 47–54, 2000.
- [115] M. Courtney, E. Gjernes, N. Druelle et al., "The inactivation of Arx in pancreatic α -cells triggers their neogenesis and conversion into functional β -like cells," *PLoS Genetics*, vol. 9, no. 10, Article ID e1003934, 2013.
- [116] D. G. García and D. R. García, "Avances en la patogénesis de la embriopatía diabética," *Revista Médica de Chile*, vol. 137, no. 12, pp. 1627–1635, 2009.
- [117] T. R. Moore, "Diabetes in pregnancy," in *Maternal Fetal Medicine: Principles and Practice*, R. K. Creasy and R. Resnik, Eds., pp. 964–995, W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia, Pa, USA, 4th edition, 1999.
- [118] U. J. Eriksson, "Congenital anomalies in diabetic pregnancy," Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 85– 93, 2009.
- [119] S. Zabihi and M. R. Loeken, "Understanding diabetic teratogenesis: where are we now and where are we going?" *Birth Defects*

Research A: Clinical and Molecular Teratology, vol. 88, no. 10, pp. 779–790, 2010.

- [120] P. White, "Pregnancy complicating diabetes," *The American Journal of Medicine*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 609–616, 1949.
- [121] N. Freinkel, E. Ogata, and B. E. Metzger, "The offspring of the mother with diabetes," in *Diabetes Mellitus: Theory and Practice*, H. Rifkin and D. Porte Jr., Eds., pp. 651–660, Elsevier Science, New York, NY, USA, 1990.
- [122] K. Fuhrmann, H. Reiher, K. Semmler, and E. Glöckner, "The effect of intensified conventional insulin therapy before and during pregnancy on the malformation rate in offspring of diabetic mothers," *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology*, vol. 83, no. 2, pp. 173–177, 1984.
- [123] M. M. Cohen Jr. and K. Shiota, "Teratogenesis of holoprosencephaly," *The American Journal of Medical Genetics*, vol. 109, no. 1, pp. 1–15, 2002.
- [124] A. Correa, S. M. Gilboa, L. M. Besser et al., "Diabetes mellitus and birth defects," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 199, no. 3, pp. 237.e1–237.e9, 2008.
- [125] C. Calciu, S. Kubow, and H. M. Chan, "Interactive dysmorphogenic effects of toxaphene or toxaphene congeners and hyperglycemia on cultured whole rat embryos during organogenesis," *Toxicology*, vol. 175, no. 1–3, pp. 153–165, 2002.
- [126] D. C. Damasceno, G. T. Volpato, I. M. P. Calderon, and M. V. C. Rudge, "Oxidative stress and diabetes in pregnant rats," *Animal Reproduction Science*, vol. 72, no. 3-4, pp. 235–244, 2002.
- [127] M. Gäreskog, J. Cederberg, U. J. Eriksson, and P. Wentzel, "Maternal diabetes in vivo and high glucose concentration in vitro increases apoptosis in rat embryos," *Reproductive Toxicology*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 63–74, 2007.
- [128] M. Hod, S. Star, J. Passonneau, T. G. Unterman, and N. Freinkel, "Glucose-induced dysmorphogenesis in the cultured rat conceptus: prevention by supplementation with myo-inositol," *Israel Journal of Medical Sciences*, vol. 26, no. 10, pp. 541–544, 1990.
- [129] U. J. Eriksson, P. Naeser, and S. E. Brolin, "Increased accumulation of sorbitol in offspring of manifest diabetic rats," *Diabetes*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 1356–1363, 1986.
- [130] E. Pinter, E. A. Reece, C. Z. Leranth et al., "Yolk sac failure in embryopathy due to hyperglycemia: ultrastructural analysis of yolk sac differentiation associated with embryopathy in rat conceptuses under hyperglycemic conditions," *Teratology*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 73–84, 1986.
- [131] A. S. Goldman and M. P. Goto, "Biochemical basis of the diabetic embryopathy," *Israel Journal of Medical Sciences*, vol. 27, no. 8-9, pp. 469–477, 1991.
- [132] Z. J. Hagay, Y. Weiss, I. Zusman et al., "Prevention of diabetesassociated embryopathy by overexpression of the free radical scavenger copper zinc superoxide dismutase in transgenic mouse embryos," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 173, no. 4, pp. 1036–1041, 1995.
- [133] E. Herrera, "Implications of dietary fatty acids during pregnancy on placental, fetal and postnatal development—a review," *Placenta*, vol. 23, supplement A, no. 1, pp. S9–S19, 2002.
- [134] E. A. Reece, Y. K. Wu, Z. Zhao, and D. Dhanasekaran, "Dietary vitamin and lipid therapy rescues aberrant signaling and apoptosis and prevents hyperglycemia-induced diabetic embryopathy in rats," *The American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 194, no. 2, pp. 580–585, 2006.
- [135] Y. I. Cha, L. Solnica-Krezel, and R. N. DuBois, "Fishing for prostanoids: deciphering the developmental functions of

cyclooxygenase-derived prostaglandins," *Developmental Biology*, vol. 289, no. 2, pp. 263–272, 2006.

- [136] R. Piddington, J. Joyce, P. Dhanasekaran, and L. Baker, "Diabetes mellitus affects prostaglandin E2 levels in mouse embryos during neurulation," *Diabetologia*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 915–920, 1996.
- [137] P. Wentzel, N. Welsh, and U. J. Eriksson, "Developmental damage, increased lipid peroxidation, diminished cyclooxygenase-2 gene expression, and lowered prostaglandin E2 levels in rat embryos exposed to a diabetic environment," *Diabetes*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 813–820, 1999.
- [138] S. Akazawa, "Diabetic embryopathy: studies using a rat embryo culture system and an animal model," *Congenital Anomalies*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 73–79, 2005.
- [139] M. Brownlee, "Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications," *Nature*, vol. 414, no. 6865, pp. 813–820, 2001.
- [140] S. El-Hage and S. M. Singh, "Temporal expression of genes encoding free radical-metabolizing enzymes is associated with higher mRNA levels during in utero development in mice," *Developmental Genetics*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 149–159, 1990.
- [141] U. J. Eriksson and L. A. H. Borg, "Diabetes and embryonic malformations: role of substrate-induced free-oxygen radical production for dysmorphogenesis in cultured rat embryos," *Diabetes*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 411–419, 1993.
- [142] M. Kinalski, A. Sledziewski, B. Telejko, I. Kowalska, A. Kretowski, and I. Kinalska, "Evaluation of lipid peroxidation and acid-base status in cord blood of newborns after diabetes in pregnancy," *Przeglad Lekarski*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 120–123, 2001.
- [143] A. Ornoy, "Biomarkers of maternal diabetes and its complication in pregnancy," *Reproductive Toxicology*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 174–179, 2012.
- [144] P. Wentzel and U. J. Eriksson, "Altered gene expression in rat cranial neural crest cells exposed to a teratogenic glucose concentration in vitro-paradoxical downregulation of antioxidative defense genes," *Birth Defects Research B—Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology*, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 487–497, 2011.
- [145] I. Emerit, "Reactive oxygen species, chromosome mutation, and cancer: possible role of clastogenic factors in carcinogenesis," *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 99–109, 1994.
- [146] I. Emerit, "Clastogenic factors: detection and assay," *Methods in Enzymology*, vol. 186, pp. 555–564, 1990.
- [147] I. D. Young, "Congenital malformations: incidence and genetics of congenital malformations," in *Prenatal Diagnosis and Screening*, D. J. H. Brock, C. H. Rodeck, and M. A. Ferguson-Smith, Eds., pp. 171–188, Churchill Livingstone, London, UK, 1992.
- [148] A. P. Breen and J. A. Murphy, "Reactions of oxyl radicals with DNA," *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1033– 1077, 1995.
- [149] L. J. Marnett, "Oxyradicals and DNA damage," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 361–370, 2000.
- [150] T. G. Newcombe and L. A. Loeb, "Mechanism of mutagenicity of oxidatively-modified bases," in *Molecular Biology of Free Radicals in Human Disease*, O. I. Aruoma and B. Halliwell, Eds., pp. 139–166, OICA International, Paris, France, 1998.
- [151] A. Azqueta, S. Shaposhnikov, and A. R. Collins, "DNA oxidation: investigating its key role in environmental mutagenesis with the comet assay," *Mutation Research—Genetic Toxicology* and Environmental Mutagenesis, vol. 674, no. 1-2, pp. 101–108, 2009.

- [152] S. Loft, K. Vistisen, M. Ewertz, A. Tjonneland, K. Overvad, and H. E. Poulsen, "Oxidative DNA damage estimated by 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine excretion in humans: influence of smoking, gender and body mass index," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 2241–2247, 1992.
- [153] M. Erhola, S. Toyokuni, K. Okada et al., "Biomarker evidence of DNA oxidation in lung cancer patients: association of urinary 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine excretion with radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and response to treatment," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 409, no. 2, pp. 287–291, 1997.
- [154] C. Qiu, K. Hevner, D. Abetew, D. A. Enquobahrie, and M. A. Williams, "Oxidative DNA damage in early pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a pilot study," *Clinical Biochemistry*, vol. 44, no. 10-11, pp. 804–808, 2011.
- [155] A. R. Collins, S. J. Duthie, and V. L. Dobson, "Direct enzymic detection of endogenous oxidative base damage in human lymphocyte DNA," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 1733–1735, 1993.
- [156] A. R. Collins, M. Dušinská, C. M. Gedik, and R. Štětina, "Oxidative damage to DNA: do we have a reliable biomarker?" *Environmental Health Perspectives*, vol. 104, supplement 3, pp. 465–469, 1996.
- [157] B. T. Mossman, C. M. Ireland, M. Filipak, S. LeDoux, and G. L. Wilso, "Comparative interactions of streptozotocin and chlorozotocin with DNA of an insulin-secreting cell line (RINr)," *Diabetologia*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 186–191, 1986.
- [158] C. C. Pettepher, S. P. LeDoux, V. A. Bohr, and G. L. Wilson, "Repair of alkali-labile sites within the mitochondrial DNA of RINr 38 cells after exposure to the nitrosourea streptozotocin," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 266, no. 5, pp. 3113–3117, 1991.
- [159] D. C. Damasceno, G. T. Volpato, Y. K. Sinzato et al., "Genotoxicity and fetal abnormality in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats exposed to cigarette smoke prior to and during pregnancy," *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes*, vol. 119, no. 9, pp. 549–553, 2011.

Review Article Maternal Obesity, Inflammation, and Developmental Programming

Stephanie A. Segovia, Mark H. Vickers, Clint Gray, and Clare M. Reynolds

Liggins Institute and Gravida, National Centre for Growth and Development, University of Auckland, Auckland 1142, New Zealand

Correspondence should be addressed to Clare M. Reynolds; c.reynolds@auckland.ac.nz

Received 14 March 2014; Accepted 30 April 2014; Published 20 May 2014

Academic Editor: Luis Sobrevia

Copyright © 2014 Stephanie A. Segovia et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The prevalence of obesity, especially in women of child-bearing age, is a global health concern. In addition to increasing the immediate risk of gestational complications, there is accumulating evidence that maternal obesity also has long-term consequences for the offspring. The concept of developmental programming describes the process in which an environmental stimulus, including altered nutrition, during critical periods of development can program alterations in organogenesis, tissue development, and metabolism, predisposing offspring to obesity and metabolic and cardiovascular disorders in later life. Although the mechanisms underpinning programming of metabolic disorders remain poorly defined, it has become increasingly clear that low-grade inflammation is associated with obesity and its comorbidities. This review will discuss maternal metainflammation as a mediator of programming in insulin sensitive tissues in offspring. Use of nutritional anti-inflammatories in pregnancy including omega 3 fatty acids, resveratrol, curcumin, and taurine may provide beneficial intervention strategies to ameliorate maternal obesity-induced programming.

1. Introduction

The prevalence of obesity in both developed and developing countries has been steadily increasing over the past 40 years [1-3]. Consequently, obesity and its associated comorbidities are a significant concern, in terms of global public health and public health spending. Depending on the population, the prevalence of obesity (body mass index $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$) in women of reproductive age can be as high as 34% [3]. Obesity during pregnancy is of major concern due to the well-characterized risk factors to both the mother and her offspring. These can include, but are not limited to, maternal and fetal death, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, and congenital abnormalities [4]. In addition, epidemiological evidence and data derived from animal models have demonstrated that maternal obesity has long-term consequences for offspring, predisposing or "programming" them to the development of metabolic disease in adulthood [5]. It has become increasingly clear that metabolic disease is associated with a state of chronic low-grade inflammation [6]. Inflammation has received extensive attention recently because of its association with several diseases, including cancer, diabetes, and obesity--it is a tightly regulated process-deviations from this process present a significant health risk because unresolved inflammation can compromise tissue function. In human pregnancies, maternal obesity is associated with metabolic inflammation, characterized by elevated adipose tissue and systemic proinflammatory cytokine levels and adipose tissue macrophage accumulation [7, 8]. Additionally, these changes extend to the placenta, suggesting that maternal obesity exposes the fetus to an inflammatory environment during development [9]. Thus, in the context of developmental programming, early life exposure to metabolic inflammation may represent a key mechanism by which developmentally programmed phenotypes may manifest later in life. For example, in animal models, maternal obesity has been shown to induce fetal inflammation which can result in promotion of adipogenesis and increased adiposity in offspring [10]. The critical windows of innate immune vulnerability during prenatal and neonatal maturation are when developmental programming and the trajectory for childhood and adult inflammatory responses are largely established. Clearly, there is a need for targeted intervention strategies to ameliorate and reduce the adverse effects of maternal obesity on offspring health outcomes during later life. This review will discuss maternal obesity related inflammation as a mechanism of developmental programming of metabolic disorders in offspring and the potential of intervention strategies.

2. The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease

Barker first suggested that the fetal environment may have an effect on the development of disease in adulthood, known as the fetal origins of adult disease (FOAD) hypothesis [11]. Epidemiological evidence from UK birth records indicated a geographical correlation between high rates of infant mortality and adult ischaemic heart disease [12]. They hypothesized that maternal undernutrition resulted in fetal programming which caused permanent alterations in the structure, function, homeostatic pathways, and/or metabolism of the developing offspring, predisposing them to disease later in life. Since these initial observations, the concept has evolved into the developmental origins of health and disease (DOHaD) hypothesis, which describes the process by which an environmental stimulus, including altered nutrition, during a critical period of development can program alterations in organogenesis, tissue development, and metabolism, predisposing offspring to metabolic and cardiovascular dysfunction during adulthood [13-15]. These effects can be amplified in the setting of a poor postnatal diet [16].

In today's society, maternal obesity is a more prevalent and emerging cause for concern. Considerable epidemiological evidence demonstrates that maternal obesity is a predictor for development of obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease in offspring [17-19]. Mechanistic studies in human cohorts are challenging due to the number of potential postnatal confounders and the time course required for prospective studies and thus remain largely observational. Therefore, animal studies have become the primary tool for investigating the myriad of potential mechanisms underlying the developmental programming paradigm. Maternal obesity-induced developmental programming has been validated in mouse, rat, sheep, and nonhuman primate models and has been shown to affect numerous metabolic pathways culminating in a metabolic syndrome like phenotype [20-23].

There is an increasing body of evidence demonstrating the capability to ameliorate or reverse programming by targeted interventions during specific periods of developmental plasticity [24–26]. A particular focus has been on the adipokine leptin (a proinflammatory signal in adipose tissue) as a mediator of programmed changes in the regulation of appetite and metabolism. Obese individuals exhibit higher circulating levels of leptin, contributing to a state of leptin resistance, which further perpetuates obesity, inflammation, and metabolic disease [27]. Leptin levels are known to be elevated in pregnancies complicated with enhanced inflammatory processes in the placentae [9, 28]. Of note, maintenance of a critical leptin level during early development facilitates the normal maturation of tissues and signaling pathways involved in metabolic homeostasis. In rats, maternal undernutrition results in neonatal hypoleptinemia-leptin administration to these neonates reverses maternal undernutritioninduced metabolic programming in adult female offspring [29]. We have also shown that preweaning growth hormone treatment in a rat model of undernutrition reverses programmed hypertension, obesity, and inflammatory profiles in adult offspring [26, 30]. In rats, supplementation with docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) in the setting of maternal undernutrition has also been shown to protect offspring against later metabolic dysfunction [31], but data in the setting of maternal obesity are less clear. In rat models of protein restriction, dietary cofactors, including folate and glycine, have also been shown to reverse postnatal metabolic and cardiovascular abnormalities in offspring [32-34].

Taken together, these studies suggest that programming effects can be prevented by early intervention strategies. To date, the majority of developmental programming studies are primarily descriptive and the underlying mechanisms, particularly as regards the inflammasome, of how maternal obesity impacts upon early life development and subsequent adult disease phenotypes are not well understood. Elucidating the mechanisms of maternal obesity-induced developmental programming is of utmost importance and may allow for application of therapeutic and/or nutritional interventions to minimize adverse programming effects in offspring.

3. Adipose Tissue Dysfunction in Obesity

Historically, white adipose tissue (WAT) was viewed as an inert energy storage depot. However, it is now appreciated as a major endocrine organ which contributes to metabolic homeostasis. Adipose tissue is composed of not only multiple cell types, mainly adipocytes (fat cells), but also the stromal vascular fraction (SVF), which includes preadipocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and immune cells [35]. Adipose tissue secretes a broad range of bioactive factors, collectively referred to as adipokines [36]. Adipokines have a range of essential physiological roles, including adipocyte differentiation, glucose and lipid metabolism, satiety, immune regulation, cardiovascular function, and neuroendocrine function [37]. Aberrant regulation of adipokine secretion has been shown to mediate cross talk with other organs and contribute to the development of obesity-induced comorbidities such as insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome [38-40]. The complex adipokine profile is still not fully understood, with novel adipokines still being identified [41, 42]. Additionally, it is important to note that the study of adipose tissue dysfunction is confounded by the wide range of etiologies which include genetics, environment, and now early life stressors such as maternal obesity.

In healthy individuals, the adipose tissue is composed of mainly preadipocytes and adipocytes, with few inflammatory leukocytes. With obesity, the composition, phenotype, and function of adipose tissue are disrupted [43–45]. Persistent excess energy intake causes adipocytes to undergo hypertrophy (increased adipocyte volume) in attempt to meet the increased energy storage needs [46]. Adipocyte hypertrophy can contribute to further complications including hypoxia, adipocyte necrosis, chemokine secretion, and compromised regulation of fatty acid flux [47]. Hypertrophied cells alter the balance of adipose tissue-derived cytokines and adipokines to a proinflammatory state, acting as a critical factor linking obesity to the pathogenesis of metabolic disease in both mother and offspring [48, 49]. Inflammatory mediators, including C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1 β , and tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α), are systemically elevated in obesity in animal and human models [50-52]. Additionally, as the adipose tissue expands, the blood supply becomes inadequate and hypoxia occurs [53]. This contributes to further cellular dysfunction in adipocytes, including downregulation of adiponectin mRNA expression and induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress, which can further exacerbate the inflammatory state [35, 53].

A hallmark of adipose tissue inflammation is the infiltration of immune cells including monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, B lymphocytes, and T lymphocytes [54-56]. Macrophages are phagocytic cells, which act to engulf and digest pathogens and cellular debris. Adipose tissue macrophage infiltration has recently emerged as a major contributor of inflammatory mediators contributing to dysfunction in obesity after seminal publications by Xu et al. and Weisburg et al. in 2003. Xu et al. showed that macrophagespecific genes including monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α (MIP-1 α), CD11b, F4/80, and CD68 were upregulated in adipose tissue of diet-induced obese mice. Interestingly, this preceded development of hyperinsulinemia and treatment with the insulin sensitive drug rosiglitazone caused downregulation of these genes. Weisburg et al. analyzed the profile of 1304 body mass related transcripts, finding that 30% of the 100 most significantly correlated genes encoded genes which were characteristic of macrophages. Immunohistochemical analysis of multiple adipose depots showed a significant correlation between the percentage of F4/80 expression and adipocyte size and body mass. These results have since been corroborated in a number of studies [54, 57]. Surgical or dietinduced weight loss in obese individuals results in decreased MCP-1 gene expression and reductions in macrophage infiltration and inflammation [58, 59]. Additionally, macrophage activation appears to shift towards M2 (alternatively activated) over M1 (classically activated) status postgastric bypass surgery in morbidly obese individuals, contributing to a less inflammatory phenotype [60].

4. Metabolic Inflammation as a Programming Mechanism

Interest in the developmental origins of obesity and its associated metabolic sequelae has grown in recent years. There is evidence to support a number of potential mechanisms, including programming of offspring appetite, gene expression, and functional changes to adipose tissue [61]. These conditions are linked by the activation of a number of inflammatory pathways, including the NLR family, pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR) signaling, and nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) pathway [62–64].

Classical inflammation is the body's process of responding to injury or infection to restore homeostasis [65]. However, in obesity, the inflammatory response, which has been coined "metainflammation," is chronic and is on a lower scale than the typical classic inflammatory response. The persistent state of chronic low-grade inflammation induced by obesity is characterized by abnormal cytokine production, an altered adipokine profile, and activation of inflammatory pathways [6]. The role of chronic low-grade inflammation in obese mothers has become an emerging focus in the developmental programming field. Our group have demonstrated that unbalanced maternal nutrition results in metainflammation in the mother and programs inflammation in offspring tissues [30, 66, 67]. However, current understanding of how these pathways are activated in the context of developmental programming remains poorly defined. Of note, most studies have characterised the programmed offspring as adults when the phenotype is already manifested. There is now strong evidence that early changes in inflammatory markers can be predictors of later metabolic and cardiovascular disease; thus evaluation of offspring inflammatory profiles at early stages of development may provide a useful biomarker for later life metabolic adversity [68].

In rodents, maternal immune activation during pregnancy with an immunostimulant such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) has been shown to modify the immune response of offspring [69, 70]. These offspring exhibit a more proinflammatory macrophage (M1) phenotype and enhanced IL- 1β production upon immune challenge in adulthood. Similarly, a state of maternal obesity is linked to an enhanced inflammatory response in offspring. Challier et al. observed macrophage accumulation and increased expression of proinflammatory cytokine expression in placenta from obese women compared to those from lean women [9]. Infiltrating macrophages have the capability to secrete inflammatory cytokines into the maternal or fetal systemic circulation. It is speculated that this is a contributing mechanism for the programmed alterations in offspring metabolism associated with increased adiposity and insulin resistance. The placenta transports free fatty acids from the maternal circulation and transports them for uptake by the fetal liver, where they are esterified and released as triglycerides into the circulation [71]. This has implications for fetal growth in humans, where associations between increased maternal triglycerides and macrosomia (large for gestational age) in offspring have been reported [72]. Zhu et al. observed elevated free fatty acids, cholesterol, and triglycerides in fetal circulation from obese ewes which were accompanied by upregulation of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), NF-kB, and JNK signalling in cotyledonary tissue [73]. These findings suggest greater fatty acid uptake by the placenta, which can cause activation of inflammatory pathways in the placenta. Therefore, the state of chronic low-grade inflammation in pregravid obesity rather th persists in pregnancy and contributes to an inflammatory aberrant

environment for the developing fetus.

5. Programmed Effects of Maternal Obesity on Metabolic Function in Offspring

In animal models of diet-induced obesity, high fat feeding during pregnancy programs features of the metabolic syndrome, independent of environmental factors and postnatal diet [74, 75]. In humans, a high BMI before pregnancy and during early pregnancy is predictive for having a high birth weight baby, with these babies being at higher risk of developing the features of metabolic syndrome [76, 77]. In contrast, maternal obesity is also found to be associated with an increased incidence of intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) in humans, with supporting evidence from animal work, underscoring the complexity of the maternal obesity paradigm [78, 79]. Our group and the work of others have shown that rodent models provide strong evidence for tissue specific impairments in offspring from obese mothers [80-84]. Impairments to metabolically critical or insulin sensitive tissues, especially adipose tissue, pancreas, liver, and skeletal muscle, may have profound effects on the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in offspring.

5.1. Adipose Tissue. Adipogenesis is the process of the development of stem cell precursors into adipocytes and largely occurs during the late gestation and early postnatal life in humans [85]. This process is sensitive to *in utero* conditions, such as a deficient or excess nutrient supply. Turnover of adipose cells in adulthood is low, with adipocyte number leveling off in adulthood [86]. This underscores the importance of the *in utero* environment and early postnatal life in a predisposition to adult onset of obesity. Perturbation of adipogenesis, and therefore the development of the adipose tissue as a whole, can alter its functional metabolic properties. Maternal obesity can promote excess accumulation of body fat in offspring and predispose them to obesity during later life.

In a mouse model of maternal diet-induced obesity, 3month-old offspring from obese dams exhibited adipocyte hypertrophy, reduced mRNA expression of β 2- and β 3adrenoreceptors, and increased mRNA expression of PPAR- γ 2, a key mediator of adipogenesis [21]. In a similar model in rats, offspring displayed increased adiposity in later life despite a normal birth weight, as well as a high percentage of large adipocytes in concomitance with enhanced PPAR- γ expression [20]. In sheep models, maternal overnutrition during the late gestational period programmed increased mRNA expression of PPAR-y, lipoprotein lipase (LPL), adiponectin, and leptin in fetal perirenal fat [87]. These findings suggest maternal overnutrition and subsequent obesity may increase the lipogenic capacity of adipose tissue, promoting a shift from a thermogenic to lipid storage function, which could be a contributing cause of increased adiposity in offspring. While an increased fat mass in offspring may be acting as a compensatory mechanism to promote lipid storage

rather than ectopic fat deposition, excessive adiposity causes aberrant inflammatory cytokine and adipokine regulation of the tissue and subsequently a metabolic syndrome-like phenotype. A recent study in mice by Murabayashi et al. demonstrated that offspring of mothers exposed to a high fat diet displayed increases in expression of TNF α , CD68, and MCP-1 and decreased GLUT4 mRNA expression, suggesting that maternal obesity may affect fetal insulin sensitivity by altering inflammatory processes [88].

5.2. Liver. In humans, the liver is the most metabolically complex organ, playing pivotal roles in whole body metabolism including regulation of glucose homeostasis, lipogenesis, detoxification, protein metabolism, cholesterol production, and bile production [89]. WAT is critical for storage of excess lipids, but in humans WAT development does not occur until the third trimester of pregnancy [90]. Therefore, it is postulated that maternal obesity results in excess exposure of the fetal liver to triglycerides, lipids, adipokines, and other factors, causing alterations in gene expression which upregulate lipogenesis and downregulate lipolysis, contributing to hepatic lipid accumulation and inflammation. In a number of animal models, maternal overnutrition is found to elevate triglyceride levels, increase inflammatory markers, and cause fatty livers in offspring [21, 91, 92]. Although the etiology of liver disease can vary, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) linked to obesity and metabolic syndrome is currently one of the most common causes of adult chronic liver disease [93]. NAFLD refers to a progressive range of stages of pathologies caused by fat buildup within hepatocytes—simple fatty liver, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), fibrosis, and cirrhosis [89]. In humans, NASH is associated with increased gene expression of inflammatory factors both locally in the liver and systemically [94, 95].

McCurdy et al. demonstrated the programming effects in response to a maternal high fat diet in nonhuman primates [23]. Interestingly, not all mothers receiving the high fat diet developed obesity and insulin resistance. However, when examined during the early third trimester of gestation, all offspring of high fat fed mothers demonstrated signs of NAFLD such as hepatic inflammation, triglyceride accumulation, and premature gluconeogenic gene activation. Elevated triglyceride levels were also observed in P30 and P180 offspring, and in addition, offspring had a 2-fold increase in body fat percentage. Collectively, these observations suggest that consumption of a chronic high fat diet can independently increase risk of offspring developing NAFLD. Similar results have been replicated in mice fed high fat diets during gestation and lactation. Increased fat depot weight, increased serum insulin, triglycerides, proinflammatory cytokines, and hepatic I κ B kinase phosphorylation were observed [96, 97]. In offspring of mice fed a high fat diet during only gestation (G), only lactation (L), or both (GL), hepatic steatosis was observed [98]. Expression of sterol regulatory elementbinding protein-lc (SREBP-1c) expression was higher in G and GL offspring, indicating a stimulation of lipogenic gene transcription and fatty acid synthesis. Expression of GLUT-2 was reduced in G offspring, indicating impaired carbohydrate metabolism.

5.3. Skeletal Muscle. Comprising about 40–50% of body mass, skeletal muscle is the chief peripheral insulin responsive tissue, responsible for glucose and fatty acid uptake in response to insulin. Similar to adipose tissue, skeletal muscle displays enhanced inflammation in response to high fat feeding, including increases in proinflammatory macrophages and inflammatory gene expression [99, 100]. Chronic inflammation also occurs in insulin resistant skeletal muscle, displayed by increased macrophage infiltration and increased inflammatory cytokines [101, 102].

Alterations to the development of skeletal muscle can have physiological consequences for the offspring. Proper skeletal muscle development in the fetal period is of critical importance as there is no net increase in muscle fibre number after birth [103]. Skeletal muscle is also sensitive to an adverse *in utero* environment during development as it has a lower priority in nutrient partitioning compared to other organs including the brain, heart, and liver [104]. Additionally, changes to adipogenesis in the fetal skeletal muscle can induce increased number and size of intramuscular adipocytes, which can act in a paracrine fashion to contribute to insulin resistance later in life [64, 105].

In dams fed a cafeteria diet (palatable processed food with high fat and high sugar) during gestation lactation, offspring displayed increased adiposity at weaning, reduced muscle cross-sectional area, fewer muscle fibres, muscle atrophy, and fibre hypoplasia [106]. Functional impairments to muscle included intramuscular fat deposition and preferential fat accretion in muscle fibres. This was accompanied by an increase in muscle PPAR- γ expression, which was suggested as a compensatory response to maintain insulin sensitivity.

Work by Du et al. showed that maternal obesity resulted in low-grade inflammation which altered the commitment of mesenchymal stem cells in fetal muscle through mechanisms including inhibition of AMP-activated protein kinase (which promotes adipogenesis) and inflammation-induced epigenetic modifications via polycomb group proteins [107]. In the offspring of high fat fed ewes Akt phosphorylation (the main downstream insulin signalling pathway) and insulin receptor mRNA expression were reduced [64]. Additionally, inflammation was observed in skeletal muscle with upregulation of TLR2 and TLR4 expression, NF- κ B pathway (IKK phosphorylation), JNK pathway, and increased TNF α expression.

6. Anti-Inflammatory Strategies to Reverse Programming

Despite the evidence demonstrating maternal obesity and effects of inflammation in offspring, knowledge on the effectiveness of anti-inflammatory agents during pregnancy is minimal. Although health care professionals highly recommend weight loss to reduce the risk factors associated with obesity during pregnancy, women are likely to maintain prepregnancy lifestyle habits throughout pregnancy. Therefore, this avenue is of utmost importance as rates of obesity continue to increase and the long-term effects negative to offspring become more apparent.

6.1. Omega 3 Fatty Acids: Eicosapentaenoic Acid (EPA) and Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA). Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are a group of lipids which can modulate the immune system, alter the regulation of pro- and antiinflammatory cells, and affect transcriptional regulation [108]. The two main families of PUFAs are omega 6 (n-6; linoleic acid (LA)) and omega 3 (n-3; alpha linolenic acid (ALA), eicosapentanoic acid (EPA), and docosahexanoic acid (DHA)) fatty acids [109]. EPA and DHA are highly associated with brain function [110]. In general, eicosanoids derived from n-6 PUFAs are more proinflammatory and immunoactive; eicosanoids derived from n-3 PUFAs are therefore considered more anti-inflammatory [108]. PPARs, a group of nuclear receptor proteins that act as transcription factors and are responsible for regulating the expression of genes involved in adipogenesis, inflammation, and lipid metabolism, can be activated by a diverse range of ligands, including omega 3 and 6 fatty acids [111]. The Western diet, which has also become increasingly predominant in developing countries, contains a significantly higher proportion of n-6 PUFA compared to n-3 PUFA [112]. Associations between low n-3 PUFA intake and increases in the incidence of obesity, cardiovascular disease, inflammatory diseases, and cancer have been an area of active research [113]. EPA and DHA have an antiobesogenic effect and can both reduce existing adiposity and prevent high fat induced obesity [114, 115]. The n-3 PUFAs have been documented to exert anti-inflammatory effects in the context of obesity by modulating adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and hepatic function [116]. In vitro, EPA stimulates glucose and fatty acid uptake in skeletal muscle cells by increasing expression of the transporters GLUT1 and CD36/FAT (fatty acid translocase) and increasing glucose oxidation [117]. In the adipose tissue of obese rats, n-3 PUFA modulates the secretion profile of adipokines and cytokines, decreasing secretion of proinflammatory cytokines including TNFa and IL-6 and reducing MCP-1 levels and adipose tissue macrophage infiltration, contributing to anti-inflammatory and insulin sensitizing effects [118]. Upon high fat feeding in rats, n-3 PUFAs increase fatty acid oxidation and inhibit lipogenesis in the liver, causing fatty acids to be preferentially oxidized rather than being stored [119]. The PPAR signalling pathway is implicated as a mechanism for the insulin sensitizing effects of EPA [120]. Neschen et al. conducted a study in which wildtype mice and PPAR- α knockout mice were fed an isocaloric high fat diet with or without additional fish oil [121]. Within wildtype mice, the fish oil supplemented group had improved hepatic insulin sensitivity. These effects were not seen within PPAR- α knockout mice, suggesting the insulin sensitizing effects are attributed to PPAR signalling. Despite the strong support of improvements by EPA and DHA to obesity and related insulin resistance in animal models, results in human clinical trials have been less consistent, as human trials are complicated by composition of n-3 PUFAs used, dosage, duration of administration, dietary and lifestyle habits, and other confounders [122]. Furthermore, the amnion, which surrounds the developing embryo, is sensitive to inflammatory modulation by EPA and DHA, likely partially mediated by PPAR- γ [123]. Explants treated with EPA, DHA, or a mixture had reduced IL-8 and IL-6 concentrations compared to untreated controls. When treated with a PPAR-y agonist, IL-8 secretion was significantly decreased, yet this effect was partially reversed when treated with a PPAR-y antagonist. Short-term supplementation with pioglitazone, an insulin sensitizing agent that stimulates PPAR- γ , to offspring from obese mothers attenuated the programmed obesity and insulin resistance associated with maternal obesity [124]. A study by Heerwagen et al., using Fat-1 transgenic mice (capable of converting endogenous n-6 PUFA to n-3 PUFA), demonstrated the potential to reduce inflammation associated with diet-induced obesity and improve metabolic outcomes in offspring [125]. Fat-1 mice were protected from adverse effects of a high fat diet, including adipose tissue macrophage accumulation and systemic increases in $TNF\alpha$, IL-1 β , IL-6, and MCP-1. Although there were no observed changes in inflammatory markers in the placenta, fetuses from high fat diet mothers showed minor growth restriction compared to mothers on a control diet, which has also been previously reported [79]. Additionally, although high fat fed mothers did not display hyperlipidemia when measured in late pregnancy, their offspring had increased lipid deposition in the fetal liver, which was reduced in offspring from Fat-1 high fat diet mothers. This underscores that birth weight may not be an accurate measure of fetal health, but rather other measures (e.g., hepatic lipid accumulation) may be more accurate. Adult wildtype male offspring from Fat-1 high fat diet mothers displayed less adiposity, hepatic lipid accumulation, adipose tissue macrophages, and insulin resistance, compared to offspring from high fat mothers. Collectively, these findings suggest that targeting inflammatory processes involved in maternal overnutrition and obesity may be beneficial in reversing or mitigating harmful programming effects on offspring in later life.

6.2. Resveratrol. Resveratrol is a stilbenoid (natural phenol) and phytoalexin naturally produced by some plants, such as Japanese knotweed and the skin of red grapes [126]. Resveratrol gained significant interest when it was proposed to be responsible for the beneficial cardiovascular effects of red wine, described as the French paradox [127]. Subsequent studies have shown resveratrol to have a multitude of health benefits, including cancer chemopreventive, antioxidant, antiplatelet, and estrogen modulatory and caloric restriction mimetic activities [128-131]. Resveratrol increases the expression of sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), a nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+)-dependent deacetylase [132]. SIRT1 has been shown to modulate genes which regulate a number of biological processes including cell proliferation, apoptosis, gluconeogenesis, lipolysis, adipogenesis, and inflammation [133-136]. Resveratrol treatment results in activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1 α) by SIRT1, which prevents development of diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance [137]. Resveratrol has been shown to attenuate TNF α induced MCP-1 gene expression and secretion in a dose-dependent manner in 3T3-L1 adipocytes [138]. These effects were not observed when adipocytes were treated with a NF- κ B inhibitor prior to resveratrol exposure, suggesting this effect was mediated by NF- κ B.

Resveratrol's antidiabetic activity, including improving insulin sensitivity and decreasing glucose, dyslipidemia, and adiposity, has been well documented in diet-induced and genetic diabetic animal models [139, 140]. Resveratrol's antidiabetic activity is at least partially mediated by AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which is involved in regulating mitochondrial biogenesis, inducing fatty acid oxidation in the liver and muscle, increasing muscle glucose uptake, and inhibiting lipogenic activity, collectively resulting in increased insulin sensitivity [141]. In mice deficient in either the a1 or a2 catalytic subunit of AMPK, resveratrol does not significantly affect insulin sensitivity or glucose tolerance, implicating AMPK as a mechanism for resveratrol's effects [142]. Long-term intracerebrovascular infusion in high fat fed obese/diabetic mice has been shown to normalize hyperglycemia and improve hypoinsulinemia associated with NF- κ B activation [143]. These effects were independent of changes to body weight and food intake, suggesting a potential role of the central nervous system in resveratrol's antidiabetic activity.

The hypoglycemic effects of resveratrol are critical in avoiding diabetic neuropathies and damaging effects to organs. A consequence of diabetes during pregnancy is diabetic embryopathy, which is associated with oxidative stress and can disrupt normal organogenesis [144]. Embryos from diabetic dams had increased apoptosis and oxidative stress markers, but resveratrol administration to diabetic dams during pregnancy protected against these effects and also improved measures of embryonic development including weight, crown rump length, and somite number [145].

In rats, doses of up to 750 mg/kg/d during gestation did not result in fetal abnormalities or have adverse effects on placenta weight or litter size [146]. A recent study conducted by Roberts et al. assessed the role of resveratrol supplementation during pregnancy in nonhuman primates. Mothers were fed a Western-style diet (36% fat) with or without resveratrol supplementation. Resveratrol improved placental inflammatory markers (IL-1 β and macrophage migration inhibitory factor), maternal and fetal hepatic triglyceride accumulation, uterine blood flow, and insulin sensitivity [147]. Resveratrol was detected in maternal plasma, demonstrating an ability to cross the placental barrier and exert effects on the fetus. Although resveratrol supplementation did not alter fetal body mass, there was a 42% increase in pancreas mass in the fetus, which was confirmed by immunohistochemistry. Furthermore, resveratrol was shown to increase uterine artery blood flow thereby increasing fetal weight in a murine model of fetal growth restriction [148]. There is also evidence that resveratrol improves the metabolic profile of offspring born growth restricted by reversing Akt mediated insulin resistance in liver and skeletal muscle [149]. Taken together, these findings suggest that resveratrol may improve the maternal and offspring metabolic profile in maternal overnutrition, obesity, and diabetic pregnancies. However, as the consequences of resveratrol treatment have significant effects on parameters such as pancreatic mass in offspring with unknown long-term effects, further studies in humans to determine adequate and safe therapeutic dosage and routes and frequency of administration are required.

6.3. Curcumin. Curcumin is a polyphenol responsible for the yellow pigment present in turmeric. Its use in traditional medicine is well known, but research now supports antiinflammatory, antidiabetic, antioxidant, chemopreventive, and cardiovascular protective properties [150, 151]. Curcumin is pleiotropic, with the ability to interact with various targets and exert its effects through several mechanisms of action. Curcumin has been shown to reduce the inflammatory response through NF- κ B, suppressing its activation by inhibiting IκKα kinase (IKK) activation [152, 153]. Curcumin decreases inflammation by acting as an agonist of PPAR-y. In a rodent model of sepsis, intravenous administration of curcumin resulted in downregulation of TNF α and decreased markers of tissue damage. Administration of a PPAR- γ antagonist reversed these effects, confirming the decreased inflammation to be mediated via PPAR-y [154]. Studies have also shown that curcumin may have beneficial antiinflammatory effects for treatment of postoperative inflammation, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and inflammatory bowel disease [155-157]. In mouse models of obesityinduced insulin resistance, oral administration of curcumin has beneficial effects on the inflammatory response and decreased insulin sensitivity associated with high fat feeding [158, 159]. Increased adiponectin, decreased TNFα and MCP-1, reduced macrophage infiltration, attenuation of NF- κ B activation, and inhibition of lipogenic gene expression were also observed.

Although studies of the use of curcumin in pregnancy are lacking, its safety in humans has been demonstrated, with doses of up to 12 g/day being well tolerated and having low toxicity [160-162]. In a two-generation reproductive toxicity study in Wistar rats, there was no observed adverse effect level on reproductive performance in two successive generations, even in high doses of 10000 ppm (equivalent to 847.4 mg/kg body weight in F0 males) [163]. However, in vitro exposure of curcumin to mouse blastocysts during the early postimplantation stages had adverse effects in a dose-dependent manner [164]. Administration of pegylated curcumin (increased solubility) in mice had negative effects to reproductive functions, attributed to estrogen-mimicking or androgen-antagonizing properties [165]. These discrepancies are likely attributed variations in the route of administration. Curcumin is lipophilic and oral administration involves digestion, absorption, and metabolism in the liver, therefore reducing bioavailability at the target organ. Direct administration of curcumin in vitro does not accurately reflect physiologic conditions.

However the anti-inflammatory effects of curcumin have been shown to reverse ethanol-induced cognitive impairments in rat offspring by dampening NF- κ B signalling and proinflammatory cytokine expression [166]. There is further evidence to suggest that the anti-inflammatory properties of curcumin may have cardioprotective effects in cardiac progenitor cells [167] and augment lung maturation in fetal rats via blockade of TGF- β [168]. Therefore, curcumin appears to be an effective anti-inflammatory strategy in the context of obesity; despite its safety, optimal therapeutic dose and

6.4. Taurine. Taurine is a nonessential sulfated amino acid with a range of physiological benefits in heart function, hypertension, neuromodulation of the central nervous system, and retina function [169, 170]. Taurine is found in high amounts in mammalian plasma and cells, with a particularly high concentration in human neutrophils, where it can react with myeloperoxidase and form taurine chloramine (TauCl), which has reported anti-inflammatory effects [171]. In inflammatory conditions, taurine has been shown to decrease inflammation by downregulating NF- κ B [172, 173]. TauCl has been shown to oxidize I κ B- α , preventing the activation of NF- κ B [174].

benefits in the context of obesity during pregnancy have yet

to be validated *in vivo* in animals and humans.

In a human double-blind placebo controlled study, obese individuals had 41% lower plasma taurine levels compared to matched controls at baseline [175]. Eight weeks of taurine supplementation improved inflammation indices, increasing adiponectin and decreasing CRP in obese individuals. In 14 weeks of high fat feeding in mice, treatment with taurine prevented weight gain and hyperglycemia and resulted in decreased TNF α and IL-10 [176]. Additionally, taurine reduced macrophage infiltration and promoted shift in macrophages to an M2-like phenotype in the adipose tissue.

In models of gestational protein restriction in rodents, supplementation of taurine had protective effects on the programmed impairments to the pancreas, liver, and skeletal muscle associated with protein restriction [177-179]. Additionally, taurine was shown to normalize the changes in gene expression associated with protein restriction [177-179]. However, in the context of obesity, less is known of taurine's effect on developmental programming. A study by Li et al. showed conflicting results of taurine supplementation as a potential strategy to reverse maternal obesity-induced developmental programming effects on offspring [67]. Dams were fed an obesogenic diet (high fat: high fructose diet), which led to increased weight, hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, hepatic steatosis, and systemic inflammation. Taurine supplementation attenuated systemic inflammation, yet exacerbated impairments to lipid metabolism and inflammatory markers in the liver. In contrast, the neonates of taurine supplemented obesogenic diet dams demonstrated normalization of the detrimental hepatic proinflammatory effects of maternal obesogenic diet. In control pregnancies, taurine increased neonatal mortality and resulted in significantly lower birth weights in female pup birth weight. Although taurine supplementation did have beneficial effects in reversing programming in some conditions, further investigation is required to elucidate mechanisms of how taurine functions in the context of maternal obesity.

7. Other Avenues for Intervention

There is also accumulating support for the role of epigenetic regulation of gene expression as a mediator of the programming of adult-onset metabolic disease. Epigenetic regulation describes stable and heritable DNA alterations that do not involve DNA mutation including DNA methylation, post-translational histone modifications, and chromatin remodeling [180]. Understanding how these epigenetic changes alter the postnatal phenotype could allow identification of biomarkers to enable early detection of children at risk of developing adult disease from developmental programming.

A cross-sectional study in healthy pregnant women found a positive correlation between maternal BMI and the degree of PGC-1 α (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha) methylation in the umbilical cord of offspring, highlighting a potential role of DNA methylation as a mediator for the programming effects of maternal obesity [181]. Maternal obesity has been shown to induce epigenetic modifications in offspring. For example, offspring from obese mice have enhanced expression of Zfp423, accompanied by reduced methylation in the Zfp423 promoter [182]. Zfp423 is a transcription factor that plays roles in cell commitment to the adipogenic lineage; therefore these changes are likely to contribute to enhanced adipogenic differentiation during fetal development and predisposition to obesity. In a multigenerational mouse model, Ding et al. found that high fat feeding caused a "feed-forward cycle" exacerbating adipose tissue inflammatory processes via DNA hypomethylation, resulting in epigenetic changes to expression of Tlr1 and Tlr2 [183]. Maternal supplementation with methyl donors has been shown to protect offspring against the adverse effects of a maternal obesogenic diet, but whether these changes are mediated in part by alterations in inflammatory profiles is not known [184, 185]. DNA methyltransferase (DNMT3b) plays an important role in regulation of macrophage polarization through epigenetic processes. In obesity, elevations in saturated fatty acids increase DNMT3b expression, leading to DNA methylation at the PPAR-y1 promoter; this may contribute to deregulated adipose tissue macrophage polarisation, inflammation, and insulin resistance [186]. Collectively, these studies demonstrate the potential of epigenetic regulation as another target for intervention to prevent or treat maternal obesity programming effects.

8. Discussion and Conclusion

In recent years, understanding of the developmental programming effects of maternal obesity on offspring metabolic health has expanded. However, deciphering the complex interactions and mechanistic pathways involved in the process still remains a challenge. Studies range in duration, model of obesity (cafeteria diet, high fat, and high salt/high fat), and stage of development of the intervention (i.e., periconception, gestation, lactation, and weaning). The maternalfetal obesity paradigm is extremely complex, with factors related to overnutrition, obesity, and inflammatory processes likely impacting the development of the fetus. Additionally, a majority of studies investigating the programming effects of maternal obesity observe more pronounced impairments in male offspring, and it is not well understood why these sexspecific differences occur. Nutritional intervention remains a promising therapeutic target to minimize complications to fetal development in a poor maternal environment. However, it is unclear whether these compounds are beneficial by directly affecting offspring, or rather improving the metabolic profile in the mother. However, what is clear is that weight loss and specific dietary interventions such as decreased intake of saturated fat in women who intend to become pregnant are the most effective and safe way to improve metabolic outcomes for offspring. In conclusion, evidence from animal and clinical studies provides strong evidence for the developmental origins of obesity and metabolic disorders. Intervention strategies to ameliorate the negative outcomes of maternal obesity on offspring are greatly needed as they present an easy cost effective way of decreasing potential noncommunicable disease risk for future generations to come.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge funding support from the Health Research Council of New Zealand, the Auckland Medical Research Foundation, Lottery Health Research, Marsden Fund of the Royal Society of New Zealand, and Gravida: National Centre for Growth and Development.

References

- N. Heslehurst, L. J. Ells, H. Simpson, A. Batterham, J. Wilkinson, and C. D. Summerbell, "Trends in maternal obesity incidence rates, demographic predictors, and health inequalities in 36,821 women over a 15-year period," *BJOG*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 187–194, 2007.
- [2] N. Heslehurst, N. Sattar, D. Rajasingam, J. Wilkinson, C. D. Summerbell, and J. Rankin, "Existing maternal obesity guidelines may increase inequalities between ethnic groups: a national epidemiological study of 502,474 births in England," *BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth*, vol. 12, no. 1, article 156, 2012.
- [3] K. M. Flegal, M. D. Carroll, C. L. Ogden, and L. R. Curtin, "Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999–2008," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, vol. 303, no. 3, pp. 235–241, 2010.
- [4] P. M. Catalano and H. M. Ehrenberg, "The short- and longterm implications of maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring," *BJOG*, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 1126–1133, 2006.
- [5] M. Z. Alfaradhi and S. E. Ozanne, "Developmental programming in response to maternal overnutrition," *Frontiers in Genetics*, vol. 2, article 27, 2011.
- [6] G. S. Hotamisligil, "Inflammation and metabolic disorders," *Nature*, vol. 444, no. 7121, pp. 860–867, 2006.
- [7] S. Basu, M. Haghiac, P. Surace et al., "Pregravid obesity associates with increased maternal endotoxemia and metabolic inflammation," *Obesity*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 476–482, 2011.

- [8] J. C. Madan, J. M. Davis, W. Y. Craig et al., "Maternal obesity and markers of inflammation in pregnancy," *Cytokine*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 61–64, 2009.
- [9] J. C. Challier, S. Basu, T. Bintein et al., "Obesity in pregnancy stimulates macrophage accumulation and inflammation in the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 274–281, 2008.
- [10] X. Yan, J. F. Tong, M. J. Zhu, S. P. Ford, P. W. Nathanielsz, and M. Du, "Maternal obesity induces inflammation and adipogenesis in late gestation fetal sheep muscle," *Diabetes*, vol. 58, pp. A85–A85, 2009.
- [11] D. J. P. Barker, "In utero programming of chronic disease," *Clinical Science*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 115–128, 1998.
- [12] D. J. P. Barker and C. Osmond, "Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales," *The Lancet*, vol. 1, no. 8489, pp. 1077–1081, 1986.
- [13] D. J. Barker, "The developmental origins of adult disease," *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, vol. 23, supplement 6, pp. 588S–595S, 2004.
- [14] H. A. de Boo and J. E. Harding, "The developmental origins of adult disease (Barker) hypothesis," *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 4–14, 2006.
- [15] P. D. Gluckman, M. A. Hanson, and A. S. Beedle, "Early life events and their consequences for later disease: a life history and evolutionary perspective," *American Journal of Human Biology*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 1–19, 2007.
- [16] M. H. Vickers, B. H. Breier, W. S. Cutfield, P. L. Hofman, and P. D. Gluckman, "Fetal origins of hyperphagia, obesity, and hypertension and postnatal amplification by hypercaloric nutrition," *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 279, no. 1, pp. E83–E87, 2000.
- [17] R. C. Whitaker, J. A. Wright, M. S. Pepe, K. D. Seidel, and W. H. Dietz, "Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 337, no. 13, pp. 869–873, 1997.
- [18] P. M. Catalano, L. Presley, J. Minium, and S. H.-D. Mouzon, "Fetuses of obese mothers develop insulin resistance in utero," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 1076–1080, 2009.
- [19] I. Labayen, J. R. Ruiz, F. B. Ortega et al., "Intergenerational cardiovascular disease risk factors involve both maternal and paternal BMI," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 894–900, 2010.
- [20] K. Shankar, A. Harrell, X. Liu, J. M. Gilchrist, M. J. J. Ronis, and T. M. Badger, "Maternal obesity at conception programs obesity in the offspring," *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 294, no. 2, pp. R528–R538, 2008.
- [21] A.-M. Samuelsson, P. A. Matthews, M. Argenton et al., "Dietinduced obesity in female mice leads to offspring hyperphagia, adiposity, hypertension, and insulin resistance: a novel murine model of developmental programming," *Hypertension*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 383–392, 2008.
- [22] J. Wang, H. Ma, C. Tong et al., "Overnutrition and maternal obesity in sheep pregnancy alter the JNK-IRS-1 signaling cascades and cardiac function in the fetal heart," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 2066–2076, 2010.
- [23] C. E. McCurdy, J. M. Bishop, S. M. Williams et al., "Maternal high-fat diet triggers lipotoxicity in the fetal livers of nonhuman primates," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 119, no. 2, pp. 323–335, 2009.
- [24] E. Zambrano, P. M. Martínez-Samayoa, G. L. Rodríguez-González, and P. W. Nathanielsz, "Dietary intervention prior to

pregnancy reverses metabolic programming in male offspring of obese rats," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 588, part 10, pp. 1791–1799, 2010.

- [25] I. Bringhenti, A. Schultz, T. Rachid, M. A. Bomfim, C. A. Mandarim-de-Lacerda, and M. B. Aguila, "An early fish oil-enriched diet reverses biochemical, liver and adipose tissue alterations in male offspring from maternal protein restriction in mice," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 1009–1014, 2011.
- [26] C. Gray, M. Li, C. M. Reynolds, and M. H. Vickers, "Preweaning growth hormone treatment reverses hypertension and endothelial dysfunction in adult male offspring of mothers undernourished during pregnancy," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 1, Article ID e53505, 2013.
- [27] Y. Zhang and P. J. Scarpace, "The role of leptin in leptin resistance and obesity," *Physiology and Behavior*, vol. 88, no. 3, pp. 249–256, 2006.
- [28] I. Hendler, S. C. Blackwell, S. H. Mehta et al., "The levels of leptin, adiponectin, and resistin in normal weight, overweight, and obese pregnant women with and without preeclampsia," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 193, no. 3, pp. 979–983, 2005.
- [29] M. H. Vickers, P. D. Gluckman, A. H. Coveny et al., "Neonatal leptin treatment reverses developmental programming," *Endocrinology*, vol. 146, no. 10, pp. 4211–4216, 2005.
- [30] C. M. Reynolds, M. Li, C. Gray, and M. H. Vickers, "Preweaning growth hormone treatment ameliorates bone marrow macrophage inflammation in adult male rat offspring following maternal undernutrition," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 7, Article ID e68262, 2013.
- [31] H. N. Bagley, Y. Wang, M. S. Campbell, X. Yu, R. H. Lane, and L. A. Joss-Moore, "Maternal docosahexaenoic acid increases adiponectin and normalizes IUGR-induced changes in rat adipose deposition," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, Article ID 312153, 7 pages, 2013.
- [32] K. A. Lillycrop, E. S. Phillips, A. A. Jackson, M. A. Hanson, and G. C. Burdge, "Dietary protein restriction of pregnant rats induces and folic acid supplementation prevents epigenetic modification of hepatic gene expression in the offspring," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 135, no. 6, pp. 1382–1386, 2005.
- [33] C. Torrens, L. Brawley, F. W. Anthony et al., "Folate supplementation during pregnancy improves offspring cardiovascular dysfunction induced by protein restriction," *Hypertension*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 982–987, 2006.
- [34] L. Brawley, C. Torrens, F. W. Anthony et al., "Glycine rectifies vascular dysfunction induced by dietary protein imbalance during pregnancy," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 554, part 2, pp. 497–504, 2004.
- [35] P. Trayhurn and I. S. Wood, "Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 347–355, 2004.
- [36] N. Ouchi, S. Kihara, T. Funahashi, Y. Matsuzawa, and K. Walsh, "Obesity, adiponectin and vascular inflammatory disease," *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 561–566, 2003.
- [37] O. Gualillo, J. R. González-Juanatey, and F. Lago, "The emerging role of adipokines as mediators of cardiovascular function: physiologic and clinical perspectives," *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 275–283, 2007.
- [38] L. Bahia, L. G. Aguiar, N. Villela et al., "Relationship between adipokines, inflammation, and vascular reactivity in lean controls and obese subjects with metabolic syndrome," *Clinics*, vol. 61, no. 5, pp. 433–440, 2006.

- [39] J. M. Lee, S. R. Kim, S. J. Yoo, O. K. Hong, H. S. Son, and S.-A. Chang, "The relationship between adipokines, metabolic parameters and insulin resistance in patients with metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes," *Journal of International Medical Research*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 1803–1812, 2009.
- [40] H. Sell, D. Dietze-Schroeder, U. Kaiser, and J. Eckel, "Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 is a potential player in the negative crosstalk between adipose tissue and skeletal muscle," *Endocrinology*, vol. 147, no. 5, pp. 2458–2467, 2006.
- [41] D. Lamers, S. Famulla, N. Wronkowitz et al., "Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a novel adipokine potentially linking obesity to the metabolic syndrome," *Diabetes*, vol. 60, no. 7, pp. 1917–1925, 2011.
- [42] Z. Wei, J. M. Peterson, X. Lei et al., "C1q/TNF-related protein-12 (CTRP12), a novel adipokine that improves insulin sensitivity and glycemic control in mouse models of obesity and diabetes," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 287, no. 13, pp. 10301– 10315, 2012.
- [43] P. A. Kern, S. Ranganathan, C. Li, L. Wood, and G. Ranganathan, "Adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 expression in human obesity and insulin resistance," *American Journal* of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism, vol. 280, no. 5, pp. E745–E751, 2001.
- [44] S. P. Weisberg, D. McCann, M. Desai, M. Rosenbaum, R. L. Leibel, and A. W. Ferrante Jr., "Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 112, no. 12, pp. 1796–1808, 2003.
- [45] C. N. Lumeng, J. L. Bodzin, and A. R. Saltiel, "Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 175–184, 2007.
- [46] L. B. Salans, S. W. Cushman, and R. E. Weismann, "Studies of human adipose tissue. Adipose cell size and number in nonobese and obese patients," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 929–941, 1973.
- [47] K. Sun, C. M. Kusminski, and P. E. Scherer, "Adipose tissue remodeling and obesity," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 121, no. 6, pp. 2094–2101, 2011.
- [48] G. S. Hotamisligil, N. S. Shargill, and B. M. Spiegelman, "Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-α: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance," *Science*, vol. 259, no. 5091, pp. 87–91, 1993.
- [49] T. Skurk, C. Alberti-Huber, C. Herder, and H. Hauner, "Relationship between adipocyte size and adipokine expression and secretion," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 1023–1033, 2007.
- [50] H. Xu, G. T. Barnes, Q. Yang et al., "Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 112, no. 12, pp. 1821–1830, 2003.
- [51] M. Gnacińska, S. Małgorzewicz, W. Łysiak-Szydłowska, and K. Sworczak, "The serum profile of adipokines in overweight patients with metabolic syndrome," *Endokrynologia Polska*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 36–41, 2010.
- [52] E. Maury, K. Ehala-Aleksejev, Y. Guiot, R. Detry, A. Vandenhooft, and S. M. Brichard, "Adipokines oversecreted by omental adipose tissue in human obesity," *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 293, no. 3, pp. E656–E665, 2007.
- [53] N. Hosogai, A. Fukuhara, K. Oshima et al., "Adipose tissue hypoxia in obesity and its impact on adipocytokine dysregulation," *Diabetes*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 901–911, 2007.
- [54] H. Kanda, S. Tateya, Y. Tamori et al., "MCP-1 contributes to macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance,

and hepatic steatosis in obesity," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 116, no. 6, pp. 1494–1505, 2006.

- [55] V. Elgazar-Carmon, A. Rudich, N. Hadad, and R. Levy, "Neutrophils transiently infiltrate intra-abdominal fat early in the course of high-fat feeding," *Journal of Lipid Research*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1894–1903, 2008.
- [56] U. Kintscher, M. Hartge, K. Hess et al., "T-lymphocyte infiltration in visceral adipose tissue: a primary event in adipose tissue inflammation and the development of obesity-mediated insulin resistance," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 1304–1310, 2008.
- [57] D. Y. Oh, H. Morinaga, S. Talukdar, E. J. Bae, and J. M. Olefsky, "Increased macrophage migration into adipose tissue in obese mice," *Diabetes*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 346–354, 2012.
- [58] R. Cancello, C. Henegar, N. Viguerie et al., "Reduction of macrophage infiltration and chemoattractant gene expression changes in white adipose tissue of morbidly obese subjects after surgery-induced weight loss," *Diabetes*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 2277– 2286, 2005.
- [59] K. Clément, N. Viguerie, C. Poitou et al., "Weight loss regulates inflammation-related genes in white adipose tissue of obese subjects," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 18, no. 14, pp. 1657–1669, 2004.
- [60] J. Aron-Wisnewsky, J. Tordjman, C. Poitou et al., "Human adipose tissue macrophages: M1 and M2 cell surface markers in subcutaneous and omental depots and after weight loss," *Journal* of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, vol. 94, no. 11, pp. 4619–4623, 2009.
- [61] J. L. Tarry-Adkins and S. E. Ozanne, "Mechanisms of early life programming: current knowledge and future directions," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 94, supplement 6, pp. 1765S–1771S, 2011.
- [62] R. Stienstra, J. A. van Diepen, C. J. Tack et al., "Inflammasome is a central player in the induction of obesity and insulin resistance," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 108, no. 37, pp. 15324–15329, 2011.
- [63] Y. Barak, M. C. Nelson, E. S. Ong et al., "PPARγ is required for placental, cardiac, and adipose tissue development," *Molecular Cell*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 585–595, 1999.
- [64] X. Yan, M. J. Zhu, W. Xu et al., "Up-regulation of tolllike receptor 4/nuclear factor-κB signaling is associated with enhanced adipogenesis and insulin resistance in fetal skeletal muscle of obese sheep at late gestation," *Endocrinology*, vol. 151, no. 1, pp. 380–387, 2010.
- [65] G. L. Larsen and P. M. Henson, "Mediators of inflammation," Annual Review of Immunology, vol. 1, pp. 335–359, 1983.
- [66] G. J. Howie, D. M. Sloboda, C. M. Reynolds, and M. H. Vickers, "Timing of maternal exposure to a high fat diet and development of obesity and hyperinsulinemia in male rat offspring: same metabolic phenotype, different developmental pathways?" *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 2013, Article ID 517384, 11 pages, 2013.
- [67] M. Li, C. M. Reynolds, D. M. Sloboda, C. Gray, and M. H. Vickers, "Effects of taurine supplementation on hepatic markers of inflammation and lipid metabolism in mothers and offspring in the setting of maternal obesity," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 10, Article ID e76961, 2013.
- [68] P. Dandona, A. Aljada, and A. Bandyopadhyay, "Inflammation: the link between insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes," *Trends in Immunology*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 4–7, 2004.
- [69] C. E. Onore, J. J. Schwartzer, M. Careaga, R. F. Berman, and P. Ashwood, "Maternal immune activation leads to activated

inflammatory macrophages in offspring," *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, vol. 38, pp. 220–226, 2014.

- [70] T. B. Kirsten, L. L. Lippi, E. Bevilacqua, and M. M. Bernardi, "LPS exposure increases maternal corticosterone levels, causes placental injury and increases IL-1Beta levels in adult rat offspring: relevance to autism," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 12, Article ID e82244, 2013.
- [71] W. T. Schaiff, F. F. Knapp Jr., Y. Barak, T. Biron-Shental, D. M. Nelson, and Y. Sadovsky, "Ligand-activated peroxisome proliferator activated receptor *γ* alters placental morphology and placental fatty acid uptake in mice," *Endocrinology*, vol. 148, no. 8, pp. 3625–3634, 2007.
- [72] M. Kitajima, S. Oka, I. Yasuhi, M. Fukuda, Y. Rii, and T. Ishimaru, "Maternal serum triglyceride at 24–32 weeks' gestation and newborn weight in nondiabetic women with positive diabetic screens," *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 97, no. 5, part 1, pp. 776–780, 2001.
- [73] M. J. Zhu, M. Du, P. W. Nathanielsz, and S. P. Ford, "Maternal obesity up-regulates inflammatory signaling pathways and enhances cytokine expression in the mid-gestation sheep placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 387–391, 2010.
- [74] K. Chechi and S. K. Cheema, "Maternal diet rich in saturated fats has deleterious effects on plasma lipids of mice," *Experimental and Clinical Cardiology*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 129–135, 2006.
- [75] G. J. Howie, D. M. Sloboda, T. Kamal, and M. H. Vickers, "Maternal nutritional history predicts obesity in adult offspring independent of postnatal diet," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 587, part 4, pp. 905–915, 2009.
- [76] C. M. Boney, A. Verma, R. Tucker, and B. R. Vohr, "Metabolic syndrome in childhood: association with birth weight, maternal obesity, and gestational diabetes mellitus," *Pediatrics*, vol. 115, no. 3, pp. e290–e296, 2005.
- [77] T. Harder, E. Rodekamp, K. Schellong, J. W. Dudenhausen, and A. Plagemann, "Birth weight and subsequent risk of type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 165, no. 8, pp. 849–857, 2007.
- [78] L. Radulescu, O. Munteanu, F. Popa, and M. Cirstoiu, "The implications and consequences of maternal obesity on fetal intrauterine growth restriction," *Journal of Medicine and Life*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 292–298, 2013.
- [79] K. M. Luzzo, Q. Wang, S. H. Purcell et al., "High fat diet induced developmental defects in the mouse: oocyte meiotic aneuploidy and fetal growth retardation/brain defects," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 11, Article ID e49217, 2012.
- [80] S. D. Bilbo and V. Tsang, "Enduring consequences of maternal obesity for brain inflammation and behavior of offspring," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 2104–2115, 2010.
- [81] X. Yan, Y. Huang, H. Wang et al., "Maternal obesity induces sustained inflammation in both fetal and offspring large intestine of sheep," *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 1513– 1522, 2011.
- [82] J. E. Ramsay, W. R. Ferrell, L. Crawford, A. M. Wallace, I. A. Greer, and N. Sattar, "Maternal obesity is associated with dysregulation of metabolic, vascular, and inflammatory pathways," *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, vol. 87, no. 9, pp. 4231–4237, 2002.
- [83] J. Han, J. Xu, P. N. Epstein, and Y. Q. Liu, "Long-term effect of maternal obesity on pancreatic beta cells of offspring: reduced beta cell adaptation to high glucose and high-fat diet challenges in adult female mouse offspring," *Diabetologia*, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 1810–1818, 2005.

- [84] M. Li, D. M. Sloboda, and M. H. Vickers, "Maternal obesity and developmental programming of metabolic disorders in offspring: evidence from animal models," *Experimental Diabetes Research*, vol. 2011, Article ID 592408, 9 pages, 2011.
- [85] G. Ailhaud, P. Grimaldi, and R. Négrel, "Cellular and molecular aspects of adipose tissue development," *Annual Review of Nutrition*, vol. 12, pp. 207–233, 1992.
- [86] K. L. Spalding, E. Arner, P. O. Westermark et al., "Dynamics of fat cell turnover in humans," *Nature*, vol. 453, no. 7196, pp. 783– 787, 2008.
- [87] B. S. Muhlhausler, J. A. Duffield, and I. C. McMillen, "Increased maternal nutrition stimulates peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-γ, adiponectin, and leptin messenger ribonucleic acid expression in adipose tissue before birth," *Endocrinology*, vol. 148, no. 2, pp. 878–885, 2007.
- [88] N. Murabayashi, T. Sugiyama, L. Zhang et al., "Maternal high-fat diets cause insulin resistance through inflammatory changes in fetal adipose tissue," *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 169, no. 1, pp. 39–44, 2013.
- [89] M. S. Stewart, M. J. Heerwagen, and J. E. Friedman, "Developmental programming of pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: redefining the "first hit"," *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 577–590, 2013.
- [90] M. E. Symonds, A. Mostyn, S. Pearce, H. Budge, and T. Stephenson, "Endocrine and nutritional regulation of fetal adipose tissue development," *Journal of Endocrinology*, vol. 179, no. 3, pp. 293–299, 2003.
- [91] J. A. Oben, A. Mouralidarane, A.-M. Samuelsson et al., "Maternal obesity during pregnancy and lactation programs the development of offspring non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice," *Journal of Hepatology*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 913–920, 2010.
- [92] M. G. Pruis, A. Lendvai, V. W. Bloks et al., "Maternal western diet primes non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in adult mouse offspring," *Acta Physiologica*, vol. 210, no. 1, pp. 215–227, 2014.
- [93] Z. M. Younossi, M. Stepanova, M. Afendy et al., "Changes in the prevalence of the most common causes of chronic liver diseases in the united states from 1988 to 2008," *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 524.e1–530.e1, 2011.
- [94] S. Coulon, S. Francque, I. Colle et al., "Evaluation of inflammatory and angiogenic factors in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease," *Cytokine*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 442–449, 2012.
- [95] P. Nigam, S. P. Bhatt, A. Misra, M. Vaidya, J. Dasgupta, and D. S. Chadha, "Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is closely associated with sub-clinical inflammation: a case-control study on Asian Indians in North India," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 1, Article ID e49286, 2013.
- [96] E. J. Park, J. H. Lee, G.-Y. Yu et al., "Dietary and genetic obesity promote liver inflammation and tumorigenesis by enhancing IL-6 and TNF expression," *Cell*, vol. 140, no. 2, pp. 197–208, 2010.
- [97] N. G. Ashino, K. N. Saito, F. D. Souza et al., "Maternal highfat feeding through pregnancy and lactation predisposes mouse offspring to molecular insulin resistance and fatty liver," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 341–348, 2012.
- [98] B. M. Gregorio, V. Souza-Mello, J. J. Carvalho, C. A. Mandarim-De-Lacerda, and M. B. Aguila, "Maternal high-fat intake predisposes nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in C57BL/6 offspring," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 203, no. 5, pp. 495.e1–495.e8, 2010.
- [99] L. N. Fink, S. R. Costford, Y. S. Lee et al., "Pro-Inflammatory macrophages increase in skeletal muscle of high fat-fed mice

and correlate with metabolic risk markers in humans," *Obesity*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 747–757, 2014.

- [100] J. M. Tishinsky, A. A. de Boer, D. J. Dyck, and L. E. Robinson, "Modulation of visceral fat adipokine secretion by dietary fatty acids and ensuing changes in skeletal muscle inflammation," *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 28–37, 2014.
- [101] Y. Wei, K. Chen, A. T. Whaley-Connell, C. S. Stump, J. A. Ibdah, and J. R. Sowers, "Skeletal muscle insulin resistance: role of inflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species," *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 294, no. 3, pp. R673–R680, 2008.
- [102] E. Zoico, A. Rossi, V. di Francesco et al., "Adipose tissue infiltration in skeletal muscle of healthy elderly men: relationships with body composition, insulin resistance, and inflammation at the systemic and tissue level," *Journals of Gerontology A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 295–299, 2010.
- [103] P. M. Nissen, V. O. Danielsen, P. F. Jorgensen, and N. Oksbjerg, "Increased maternal nutrition of sows has no beneficial effects on muscle fiber number or postnatal growth and has no impact on the meat quality of the offspring," *Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 81, no. 12, pp. 3018–3027, 2003.
- [104] M. J. Zhu, S. P. Ford, W. J. Means, B. W. Hess, P. W. Nathanielsz, and M. Du, "Maternal nutrient restriction affects properties of skeletal muscle in offspring," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 575, part 1, pp. 241–250, 2006.
- [105] P. Aguiari, S. Leo, B. Zavan et al., "High glucose induces adipogenic differentiation of muscle-derived stem cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 105, no. 4, pp. 1226–1231, 2008.
- [106] S. A. Bayol, B. H. Simbi, and N. C. Stickland, "A maternal cafeteria diet during gestation and lactation promotes adiposity and impairs skeletal muscle development and metabolism in rat offspring at weaning," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 567, part 3, pp. 951–961, 2005.
- [107] M. Du, X. Yan, J. F. Tong, J. Zhao, and M. J. Zhu, "Maternal obesity, inflammation, and fetal skeletal muscle development," *Biology of Reproduction*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 4–12, 2010.
- [108] P. C. Calder, "n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 83, supplement 6, pp. 1505S–1519S, 2006.
- [109] G. C. Burdge and P. C. Calder, "Conversion of α-linolenic acid to longer-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in human adults," *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 581–597, 2005.
- [110] S. M. Innis, "Dietary (n-3) fatty acids and brain development," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 137, no. 4, pp. 855–859, 2007.
- [111] B. Grygiel-Gorniak, "Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors and their ligands: nutritional and clinical implications—a review," *Nutrition Journal*, vol. 13, no. 1, article 17, 2014.
- [112] A. P. Simopoulos, "The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids," *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 365–379, 2002.
- [113] L. Hooper, R. L. Thompson, R. A. Harrison et al., "Risks and benefits of omega 3 fats for mortality, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 332, no. 7544, pp. 752–755, 2006.
- [114] C. Couet, J. Delarue, P. Ritz, J. M. Antoine, and F. Lamisse, "Effect of dietary fish oil on body fat mass and basal fat oxidation in healthy adults," *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 637–643, 1997.

- [115] N. S. Kalupahana, K. Claycombe, S. J. Newman et al., "Eicosapentaenoic acid prevents and reverses insulin resistance in high-fat diet-induced obese mice via modulation of adipose tissue inflammation," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 140, no. 11, pp. 1915–1922, 2010.
- [116] E. Oliver, F. C. McGillicuddy, K. A. Harford et al., "Docosahexaenoic acid attenuates macrophage-induced inflammation and improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes-specific differential effects between LC n-3 PUFA," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 1192–1200, 2011.
- [117] V. Aas, M. H. Rokling-Andersen, E. T. Kase, G. H. Thoresen, and A. C. Rustan, "Eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5 n-3) increases fatty acid and glucose uptake in cultured human skeletal muscle cells," *Journal of Lipid Research*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 366–374, 2006.
- [118] N. Pérez-Echarri, P. Pérez-Matute, B. Marcos-Gómez et al., "Differential inflammatory status in rats susceptible or resistant to diet-induced obesity: effects of EPA ethyl ester treatment," *European Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 380–386, 2008.
- [119] A. Ferramosca, A. Conte, L. Burri et al., "A krill oil supplemented diet suppresses hepatic steatosis in high-fat fed rats," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 6, Article ID e38797, 2012.
- [120] E. Draper, C. M. Reynolds, M. Canavan, K. H. Mills, C. E. Loscher, and H. M. Roche, "Omega-3 fatty acids attenuate dendritic cell function via NF-κB independent of PPARy," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 22, no. 8, pp. 784–790, 2011.
- [121] S. Neschen, K. Morino, J. Dong et al., "n-3 fatty acids preserve insulin sensitivity in vivo in a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-α-dependent manner," *Diabetes*, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 1034–1041, 2007.
- [122] M. Kratz, J. N. Kuzma, D. K. Hagman et al., "n3 PUFAs do not affect adipose tissue inflammation in overweight to moderately obese men and women," *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 143, no. 8, pp. 1340–1347, 2013.
- [123] L. Frew, N. U. Sugiarto, S. P. Rajagopal et al., "The effect of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on the inflammatory response of the amnion," *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, vol. 89, no. 4, pp. 221–225, 2013.
- [124] A. Kalanderian, N. Abate, I. Patrikeev et al., "Pioglitazone therapy in mouse offspring exposed to maternal obesity," *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, vol. 208, no. 4, pp. 308.el-308.e7, 2013.
- [125] M. J. Heerwagen, M. S. Stewart, B. A. de la Houssaye, R. C. Janssen, and J. E. Friedman, "Transgenic increase in N-3/n-6 fatty acid ratio reduces maternal obesity-associated inflammation and limits adverse developmental programming in mice," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 6, Article ID e67791, 2013.
- [126] E. H. Siemann and L. L. Creasy, "Concentration of the phytoalexin resveratrol in wine," *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 49–52, 1992.
- [127] S. Renaud and M. de Lorgeril, "Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease," *The Lancet*, vol. 339, no. 8808, pp. 1523–1526, 1992.
- [128] S.-J. Lin, P.-A. Defossez, and L. Guarente, "Requirement of NAD and SIR2 for life-span extension by calorie restriction in saccharomyces cerevisiae," *Science*, vol. 289, no. 5487, pp. 2126– 2128, 2000.
- [129] L. Frémont, "Minireview: biological effects of resveratrol," *Life Sciences*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 663–673, 2000.

- [130] Y. Yang, X. Wang, L. Zhang, H. An, and Z. Zao, "Inhibitory effects of resveratrol on platelet activation induced by thromboxane A₂ receptor agonist in human platelets," *American Journal of Chinese Medicine*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 145–159, 2011.
- [131] M. C. Saleh, B. J. Connell, and T. M. Saleh, "Resveratrol induced neuroprotection is mediated via both estrogen receptor subtypes, ER alpha, and ER beta," *Neuroscience Letters*, vol. 548, pp. 217–221, 2013.
- [132] K. T. Howitz, K. J. Bitterman, H. Y. Cohen et al., "Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* lifespan," *Nature*, vol. 425, no. 6954, pp. 191–196, 2003.
- [133] S. Banerjee, C. Bueso-Ramos, and B. B. Aggarwal, "Suppression of 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene-induced mammary carcinogenesis in rats by resveratrol: role of nuclear factorκB, cyclooxygenase 2, and matrix metalloprotease 9," *Cancer Research*, vol. 62, no. 17, pp. 4945–4954, 2002.
- [134] F. Pellegatta, A. A. E. Bertelli, B. Staels, C. Duhem, A. Fulgenzi, and M. E. Ferrero, "Different short- and long-term effects of resveratrol on nuclear factor-κB phosphorylation and nuclear appearance in human endothelial cells," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 77, no. 5, pp. 1220–1228, 2003.
- [135] F. Picard, M. Kurtev, N. Chung et al., "Sirt1 promotes fat mobilization in white adipocytes by repressing PPAR-y," *Nature*, vol. 429, no. 6993, pp. 771–776, Erratum in "Sirt1 promotes fat mobilization in white adipocytes by repressing PPAR-y", *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 7002, p. 921, 2004.
- [136] S. Ulrich, S. M. Loitsch, O. Rau et al., "Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor γ as a molecular target of resveratrol-induced modulation of polyamine metabolism," *Cancer Research*, vol. 66, no. 14, pp. 7348–7354, 2006.
- [137] M. Lagouge, C. Argmann, Z. Gerhart-Hines et al., "Resveratrol improves mitochondrial function and protects against metabolic disease by activating SIRT1 and PGC-1alpha," *Cell*, vol. 127, no. 6, pp. 1109–1122, 2006.
- [138] J. Zhu, W. Yong, X. Wu et al., "Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on TNF-α-induced MCP-1 expression in adipocytes," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 369, no. 2, pp. 471–477, 2008.
- [139] P. Palsamy and S. Subramanian, "Resveratrol, a natural phytoalexin, normalizes hyperglycemia in streptozotocinnicotinamide induced experimental diabetic rats," *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 598–605, 2008.
- [140] S. Sharma, C. S. Misra, S. Arumugam et al., "Antidiabetic activity of resveratrol, a known SIRT1 activator in a genetic model for type-2 diabetes," *Phytotherapy Research*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 67–73, 2011.
- [141] J. A. Baur, K. J. Pearson, N. L. Price et al., "Resveratrol improves health and survival of mice on a high-calorie diet," *Nature*, vol. 444, no. 7117, pp. 337–342, 2006.
- [142] J.-H. Um, S.-J. Park, H. Kang et al., "AMP-activated protein kinase-deficient mice are resistant to the metabolic effects of resveratrol," *Diabetes*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 554–563, 2010.
- [143] G. Ramadori, L. Gautron, T. Fujikawa, C. R. Vianna, J. K. Elmquist, and R. Coppari, "Central administration of resveratrol improves diet-induced diabetes," *Endocrinology*, vol. 150, no. 12, pp. 5326–5333, 2009.
- [144] A. Ornoy, "Embryonic oxidative stress as a mechanism of teratogenesis with special emphasis on diabetic embryopathy," *Reproductive Toxicology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 31–41, 2007.
- [145] C. K. Singh, A. Kumar, D. B. Hitchcock et al., "Resveratrol prevents embryonic oxidative stress and apoptosis associated

with diabetic embryopathy and improves glucose and lipid profile of diabetic dam," *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 1186–1196, 2011.

- [146] L. D. Williams, G. A. Burdock, J. A. Edwards, M. Beck, and J. Bausch, "Safety studies conducted on high-purity transresveratrol in experimental animals," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 2170–2182, 2009.
- [147] V. H. Roberts, L. D. Pound, S. R. Thorn et al., "Beneficial and cautionary outcomes of resveratrol supplementation in pregnant nonhuman primates," *FASEB Journal*, 2014.
- [148] R. Poudel, J. L. Stanley, C. F. Rueda-Clausen et al., "Effects of resveratrol in pregnancy using murine models with reduced blood supply to the uterus," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 5, Article ID e64401, 2013.
- [149] V. W. Dolinsky, C. F. Rueda-Clausen, J. S. Morton, S. T. Davidge, and J. R. B. Dyck, "Continued postnatal administration of resveratrol prevents diet-induced metabolic syndrome in rat offspring born growth restricted," *Diabetes*, vol. 60, no. 9, pp. 2274–2284, 2011.
- [150] S. Singh and A. Khar, "Biological effects of curcumin and its role in cancer chemoprevention and therapy," *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 259–270, 2006.
- [151] B. Joe, M. Vijaykumar, and B. R. Lokesh, "Biological properties of curcumin-cellular and molecular mechanisms of action," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 97–111, 2004.
- [152] S. Singh and B. B. Aggarwal, "Activation of transcription factor NF-kappa B is suppressed by curcumin (diferuloylmethane) [corrected]," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 270, no. 42, pp. 24995–25000, 1995.
- [153] C. Jobin, C. A. Bradham, M. P. Russo et al., "Curcumin blocks cytokine-mediated NF-κB activation and proinflammatory gene expression by inhibiting inhibitory factor I-κB kinase activity," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 163, no. 6, pp. 3474–3483, 1999.
- [154] A. Jacob, R. Wu, M. Zhou, and P. Wang, "Mechanism of the antiinflammatory effect of curcumin: PPAR-γ activation," *PPAR Research*, vol. 2007, Article ID 89369, 5 pages, 2007.
- [155] C.-H. Yeh, T.-P. Chen, Y.-C. Wu, Y.-M. Lin, and P. J. Lin, "Inhibition of NF κ B activation with curcumin attenuates plasma inflammatory cytokines surge and cardiomyocytic apoptosis following cardiac ischemia/reperfusion," *Journal of Surgical Research*, vol. 125, no. 1, pp. 109–116, 2005.
- [156] S. Avasarala, F. Zhang, G. Liu, R. Wang, S. D. London, and L. London, "Curcumin modulates the inflammatory response and inhibits subsequent fibrosis in a mouse model of viral-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 2, Article ID e57285, 2013.
- [157] P. R. Holt, S. Katz, and R. Kirshoff, "Curcumin therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: a pilot study," *Digestive Diseases* and Sciences, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 2191–2193, 2005.
- [158] S. P. Weisberg, R. Leibel, and D. V. Tortoriello, "Dietary curcumin significantly improves obesity-associated inflammation and diabetes in mouse models of diabesity," *Endocrinology*, vol. 149, no. 7, pp. 3549–3558, 2008.
- [159] W. Shao, Z. Yu, Y. Chiang et al., "Curcumin prevents high fat diet induced insulin resistance and obesity via attenuating lipogenesis in liver and inflammatory pathway in adipocytes," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 1, Article ID e28784, 2012.
- [160] A.-L. Chen, C.-H. Hsu, J.-K. Lin et al., "Phase I clinical trial of curcumin, a chemopreventive agent, in patients with high-risk

or pre-malignant lesions," *Anticancer Research*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 2895–2900, 2001.

- [161] N. Chainani-Wu, "Safety and anti-inflammatory activity of curcumin: a component of tumeric (*Curcuma longa*)," *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 161– 168, 2003.
- [162] C. D. Lao, M. T. Ruffin IV, D. Normolle et al., "Dose escalation of a curcuminoid formulation," *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 6, article 10, 2006.
- [163] S. Ganiger, H. N. Malleshappa, H. Krishnappa, G. Rajashekhar, V. R. Rao, and F. Sullivan, "A two generation reproductive toxicity study with curcumin, turmeric yellow, in Wistar rats," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 64–69, 2007.
- [164] F. J. Huang, K. C. Lan, H. Y. Kang et al., "Effect of curcumin on in vitro early post-implantation stages of mouse embryo development," *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 166, no. 1, pp. 47–51, 2013.
- [165] C. J. Murphy, H. Tang, E. A. van Kirk, Y. Shen, and W. J. Murdoch, "Reproductive effects of a pegylated curcumin," *Reproductive Toxicology*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 120–124, 2012.
- [166] V. Tiwari and K. Chopra, "Attenuation of oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and apoptosis by curcumin prevents cognitive deficits in rats postnatally exposed to ethanol," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 224, no. 4, pp. 519–535, 2012.
- [167] N. P. Wang, Z. F. Wang, S. Tootle, T. Philip, and Z. Q. Zhao, "Curcumin promotes cardiac repair and ameliorates cardiac dysfunction following myocardial infarction," *British Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 167, no. 7, pp. 1550–1562, 2012.
- [168] R. Sakurai, Y. Li, J. S. Torday, and V. K. Rehan, "Curcumin augments lung maturation, preventing neonatal lung injury by inhibiting TGF-β signaling," *American Journal of Physiology: Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, vol. 301, no. 5, pp. L721– L730, 2011.
- [169] R. Lourenço and M. E. Camilo, "Taurine: a conditionally essential amino acid in humans? An overview in health and disease," *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 262–270, 2002.
- [170] Y. Yamori, T. Taguchi, A. Hamada, K. Kunimasa, H. Mori, and M. Mori, "Taurine in health and diseases: consistent evidence from experimental and epidemiological studies," *Journal of Biomedical Science*, vol. 17, supplement 1, article S6, 2010.
- [171] R. J. Huxtable, "Physiological actions of taurine," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 101–164, 1992.
- [172] M. Barua, Y. Liu, and M. R. Quinn, "Taurine chloramine inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase and TNF- α gene expression in activated alveolar macrophages: decreased NF- κ B activation and I κ B kinase activity," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 167, no. 4, pp. 2275–2281, 2001.
- [173] M. Sun, Y. M. Zhao, Y. Gu, and C. Xu, "Anti-inflammatory mechanism of taurine against ischemic stroke is related to down-regulation of PARP and NF-kappa B," *Amino Acids*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1735–1747, 2012.
- [174] G. B. Schuller-Levis and E. Park, "Taurine and its chloramine: modulators of immunity," *Neurochemical Research*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 117–126, 2004.
- [175] F. T. Rosa, E. C. Freitas, R. Deminice, A. A. Jordao, and J. S. Marchini, "Oxidative stress and inflammation in obesity after taurine supplementation: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study," *European Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 823–830, 2014.

- [176] S. Lin, S. Hirai, Y. Yamaguchi et al., "Taurine improves obesityinduced inflammatory responses and modulates the unbalanced phenotype of adipose tissue macrophages," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 2155–2165, 2013.
- [177] S. Boujendar, B. Reusens, S. Merezak et al., "Taurine supplementation to a low protein diet during foetal and early postnatal life restores a normal proliferation and apoptosis of rat pancreatic islets," *Diabetologia*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 856–866, 2002.
- [178] B. Reusens, T. Sparre, L. Kalbe et al., "The intrauterine metabolic environment modulates the gene expression pattern in fetal rat islets: prevention by maternal taurine supplementation," *Diabetologia*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 836–845, 2008.
- [179] O. H. Mortensen, H. L. Olsen, L. Frandsen et al., "Gestational protein restriction in mice has pronounced effects on gene expression in newborn offspring's liver and skeletal muscle; protective effect of taurine," *Pediatric Research*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 47–53, 2010.
- [180] R. Jaenisch and A. Bird, "Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 33, pp. 245–254, 2003.
- [181] C. Gemma, S. Sookoian, J. Alvarías et al., "Maternal pregestational BMI is associated with methylation of the PPARGC1A promoter in newborns," *Obesity*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 1032–1039, 2009.
- [182] Q. Y. Yang, J. F. Liang, C. J. Rogers, J. X. Zhao, M. J. Zhu, and M. Du, "Maternal obesity induces epigenetic modifications to facilitate Zfp423 expression and enhance adipogenic differentiation in fetal mice," *Diabetes*, vol. 62, no. 11, pp. 3727–3735, 2013.
- [183] Y. Ding, J. Li, S. Liu et al., "DNA hypomethylation of inflammation-associated genes in adipose tissue of female mice after multigenerational high fat diet feeding," *International Journal of Obesity*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 198–204, 2014.
- [184] J. Carlin, R. George, and T. M. Reyes, "Methyl donor supplementation blocks the adverse effects of maternal high fat diet on offspring physiology," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 5, Article ID e63549, 2013.
- [185] P. Cordero, F. I. Milagro, J. Campion, and J. A. Martinez, "Maternal methyl donors supplementation during lactation prevents the hyperhomocysteinemia induced by a high-fatsucrose intake by dams," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 24422–24437, 2013.
- [186] X. Yang, X. Wang, D. Liu, L. Yu, B. Xue, and H. Shi, "Epigenetic regulation of macrophage polarization by DNA methyltransferase 3b," *Molecular Endocrinology*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 565–574, 2014.

Research Article

Potential Role of A_{2B} Adenosine Receptors on Proliferation/Migration of Fetal Endothelium Derived from Preeclamptic Pregnancies

Jesenia Acurio,¹ Felipe Troncoso,¹ Patricio Bertoglia,^{1,2} Carlos Salomon,³ Claudio Aguayo,⁴ Luis Sobrevia,^{3,5} and Carlos Escudero¹

¹ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT), Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Department of Basic Sciences, Faculty of Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile

² Obstetrics and Gynecology Department, Herminda Martin Clinical Hospital, Chillan, Chile

³ University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research (UQCCR), Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University of Queensland, Herston, QLD 4006, Australia

⁴ Department of Clinical Biochemistry and Immunology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Concepción, Chile

 ⁵ Cellular and Molecular Physiology Laboratory (CMPL), Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, School of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Correspondence should be addressed to Carlos Escudero; cescudero@ubiobio.cl

Received 13 December 2013; Accepted 1 April 2014; Published 28 April 2014

Academic Editor: Gregory Rice

Copyright © 2014 Jesenia Acurio et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

To investigate the functionality of A_{2B} adenosine receptor ($A_{2B}AR$) and the nitric oxide (NO) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling pathway in the endothelial cell proliferation/migration during preeclampsia, we used human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) isolated from normal pregnancies (n = 15) or pregnancies with preeclampsia (n = 15). Experiments were performed in presence or absence of the nonselective adenosine receptor agonist NECA, the $A_{2B}AR$ selective antagonist MRS-1754, and the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor L-NAME. Results indicated that cells from preeclampsia exhibited a significant higher protein level of $A_{2B}AR$ and $\log EC_{50}$ for NECA-mediated proliferation than normotensive pregnancies. The stimulatory effect of NECA (10 μ M, 24 h) on cell proliferation was prevented by MRS-1754 (5 nM) coincubation only in cells from normotensive pregnancies. Nevertheless, L-NAME (100 μ M, 24 h) reduced the NECA-induced cell proliferation/migration in HUVEC from normal pregnancy; however in preeclampsia only NECA-induced cell proliferation was reduced by L-NAME. Moreover, NECA increased protein nitration and abundance of VEGF in cells from normal pregnancy and effect prevented by MRS-1754 coincubation. Nevertheless, in preeclampsia NECA did not affect the protein level of VEGF. In conclusion HUVECs from preeclampsia exhibit elevated protein level of $A_{2B}AR$ and impairment of $A_{2B}AR$ -mediated NO/VEGF signaling pathway.

1. Introduction

Preeclampsia is the leading cause for maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality worldwide [1]. The pathophysiology of the fetal complications in preeclampsia is still unclear, but it has been associated with placental alterations compatible with under perfusion [2, 3] and reduced placental blood flow [4], which in turn may limit the delivery of nutrients to the fetus. Since placental and proximal umbilical vessels lack innervation [5], the regulation of vascular blood flow depends on the synthesis and release of endothelial vasoactive molecules, such as nitric oxide (NO) and adenosine [6–8]. In this regard, several evidences suggest that preeclampsia is characterized by endothelial dysfunction in both maternal [9, 10] and fetoplacental circulation [11–14], which may impair not only vascular tone regulation but also angiogenesis.

Adenosine is a naturally occurring nucleoside, which controls several physiological processes including vascular

tone regulation and angiogenesis [15, 16], via activation of G-protein-coupled adenosine receptors (AR) [16]. Four types of AR have been identified: A_1AR , $A_{2A}AR$, $A_{2B}AR$, and A_3AR [16, 17]. At the physiological nanomolar range, adenosine mainly activates A_1AR , $A_{2A}AR$, and A_3AR , whereas $A_{2B}AR$ requires micromolar concentrations [18]. Nevertheless, exposure of any AR to agonists for shorter or longer times generally leads to the attenuation of the agonist response. In this regard, desensitization of A_{2B} receptor has been described in different cell lines (see details in [18]), but little is known regarding $A_{2B}AR$ desensitization during human diseases.

In the fetoplacental circulation from preeclampsia, elevated level of adenosine has been reported in umbilical vein (1.7 versus $0.5 \,\mu \text{mol/L}$, preeclampsia versus normal pregnancy, resp.) [19, 20] and in culture medium of human placental microvascular endothelial cells (hPMEC) (2.7 versus 0.6 μ mol/L, preeclampsia versus normal pregnancy, resp.) [7], suggesting that under this pathological condition all subtypes of adenosine receptor would be activated [18]. However, little is known regarding the potential role of adenosine receptors in the regulation of placental homeostasis during preeclamptic pregnancies. In particular, regarding A_{2B}AR, high levels of this receptor have been reported in total placental homogenate [21], but no changes in hPMEC [7] derived from preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancy. Interestingly, elevated adenosine uptake seen in hPMEC from preeclampsia reverted by A2AR/A2BAR inhibitors, suggest a tonic activation of adenosine transport by these receptors in preeclamptic pregnancies [7]. Nevertheless, other groups have reported that activation of $A_{2B}AR$ in HUVEC exposed to hypoxia [22] or not is associated with upregulation of proangiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [23-26] and NO [27]. Stimulation of A2BAR increases proliferation of several cell types including porcine, rat endothelium [28], and human retinal endothelial cell [15]. Notwithstanding, in HUVEC from preeclampsia occurring before 34 weeks of gestation, we have described reduced cell proliferation associated with decreased activation of A_{2A}AR/NO signaling pathway compared to controls [29]. Despite these evidences, it is unknown whether preeclampsia may affect the proangiogenic role of A_{2B}AR in fetal endothelium.

We propose that HUVECs isolated from preeclamptic pregnancies exhibit reduced activation of $A_{2B}AR$ compared to normal pregnancy.

2. Patients and Methods

2.1. Reagents. Unless otherwise indicated, all reagents were purchased form Sigma-Aldrich (MO, USA): nonselective agonist for adenosine receptors, NECA, 5'-(N-ethylcarboxamido) adenosine; selective $A_{2B}AR$ antagonist, MRS-1754, 8-{4-{((4-cyanophenyl) carbamoylmethyl)oxy}phenyl}-1,3di(n-propyl) xanthine hydrate; nonselective inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase, L-NAME, N_{ω}-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride; antibodies: anti- $A_{2B}AR$ (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA); antinitrotyrosine (Merck Millipore, MA, USA); anti-eNOS (Transduction Laboratories, NJ, USA), anti-VEGF (Cell Signaling, MA, USA), and anti- β -actin (Sigma Aldrich, MO, USA).

2.2. Patients. The Ethical Committee from the Universidad del Bío-Bío approved this cohort study and the informed consent was obtained from each participant. Pregnant women who attended to the Obstetrics and Gynecology Department of the Herminda Martin Clinical Hospital, Chillan, Chile, for their delivery were included in this study. Exclusion criteria included chronic hypertension, altered renal function, diabetes, chronic diseases, twin pregnancies, recurrent miscarriages, and abruption placenta. Women were classified into normal pregnancy (maternal blood pressure < 140/90 mmHg, absence of proteinuria, and no medical complications) and preeclampsia (new onset hypertension defined as blood pressure \geq 140/90 mmHg, with at least 2 measurements 6 h apart, and proteinuria > 300 mg/24 hours after 20 weeks of gestation). The gestational age was defined as the period of time from the first day of the mother's last menstrual period and the delivery date, confirming this age by a first trimester ultrasound. Moreover, according to the standard protocol, all patients with preeclampsia received antihypertensive treatment and magnesium sulfate to prevent convulsions in case of severe preeclampsia. Diagnosis of small gestational age was performed when the newborn weight was <10th percentile to Chilean population [30].

2.3. HUVEC Culture. Endothelial cells were isolated from the human umbilical vein by digestion with collagenase (0.25 mg/mL) and then cultured $(37^{\circ}\text{C}, 5\% \text{ CO}_2)$ in medium 199 (M199) as previously described [31]. All experiments were performed in duplicate, after overnight serum deprivation and in presence of adenosine deaminase (ADA 11U/mL) (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany). Cells were used in passage 2.

2.4. Cell Proliferation and Migration. Cell proliferation was analyzed after treatment (24 h) with NECA (10 μ M) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM) or L-NAME (100 μ M) by using 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (MTS) assay following the manufacture instruction (Promega, WI, USA) as described previously [29]. Moreover, in parallel experiments, cell migration was analyzed by transwell chambers assay as described elsewhere. In brief, HUVECs were trypsinized and seeded in the upper compartment of the transwell (Corning, NY, USA) at a density of 150×10^3 cells/well in M199. The lower compartments were loaded with culture medium (control) or AR agonist and/or antagonist. After 24 hours, cells that had migrated to the bottom of the transwell membrane $(8 \,\mu m)$ were stained using hematoxylin (Winkler, Santiago, Chile). Membranes were observed at 40x magnification using a light microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) and 3 photos were taken from each preparation [29]. In addition, both cell proliferation and migration were measured in a concentration-response curve in presence of NECA.

2.5. Immunocytochemistry. The presence of $A_{2B}AR$ in HUVECs was evidenced by immunocytology following the manufacturers protocol (Vector Laboratories, CA, USA), as described previously [29]. Briefly, HUVECs were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde prepared in phosphate buffer (PBS (mM): NaCl 13.7, KCl 2.7, Na $_2\mathrm{HPO}_4$ 0.9, KH $_2\mathrm{PO}_4$ 1.8, pH 7.4, 4°C) for 20 minutes. After blocking unspecific binding, cell preparations were incubated overnight with primary $A_{2B}AR$ antibody (1:200 v/v) followed by incubation with respective secondary antibody (1:500 v/v) diluted in PBS with 5% serum. Antigen-antibody reaction was further revealed by diaminobenzidine reaction (DAB). Analysis was blinded and performed using a bright field microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). For densitometric analysis three random pictures from each preparation were taken using a digital camera (Guangzhou Micro-shot Technology Co., Ltd, Guangdong, China). Estimation of the intensity of staining in the pictures was analyzed using ImageJ software (NIH, MD, USA) after light calibration and color deconvolution as previously described [32]. Values are expressed as the ratio of the area of positive brown stain divided by the total area of the reference field.

2.6. Western Blot. Cell, protein extracts (70 μ g) were separated by SDS-PAGE (10%) transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and probed with primary anti-A_{2B}AR (1:2000 v/v), anti-initrotyrosine (1:3000 v/v), anti-eNOS (1:2000 v/v), anti-VEGF (1:3000 v/v), and anti- β -actin (1:10000 v/v) antibodies diluted in PBS with 0.1% Tween (pH 7.4) and 5% milk. Then, a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody was used for visualization [29]. Secondary antibody was selected according to respective primary antibody. Dilution range of secondary antibody was 1:2000 to 1:150000 v/v in PBS/Tween buffer (pH 7.4) with 5% milk.

2.7. Nitrite Measurement. Nitrite levels were measured by the Griess reaction using a commercially available kit (Promega, WI, USA). In brief, confluent cells were incubated (30 min) in the presence or absence of NECA (10 μ M) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM); and then, 100 μ L of M199 was collected for nitrite quantification in a spectrophotometer (Autobio, Zhengzhou, China) using a 540 nm filter [29].

2.8. Statistical Analysis. Comparisons between groups were performed by the Mann-Whitney test. We used X^2 test to analyze proportions. Values are mean \pm S.E.M., where *n* indicates number of different cell cultures (in duplicate). *P* < 0.05 is considered statistically significant. The statistical software GraphPad Instat 3.01 and GraphPad Prism 5.00 (GraphPad Software Inc., California, USA) were used for data analysis.

3. Results

3.1. Clinical Characteristics of Patients. Thirty women were included in the study divided into normal pregnancies (n = 15) and preeclampsia (n = 15). Compatible with diagnostic criteria, women with preeclampsia exhibited higher

TABLE 1: Characteristics of the included women.

	Normal	Preeclampsia
	(<i>n</i> = 15)	(<i>n</i> = 15)
Age (years)	25.1 ± 1.6	26.5 ± 1.7
BMI at delivery (kg/m ²)	31.4 ± 1.3	33.5 ± 1.4
GA at delivery (wk)	39.4 ± 0.3	$37.4 \pm 0.3^{*}$
SBP (mmHg)	115.2 ± 1.5	$161.9 \pm 4.8^{*}$
DBP (mmHg)	72.7 ± 1.7	$102.1 \pm 2.3^{*}$
Proteinuria, g/24 h	0	$2.2\pm1.0^{*}$
Newborn		
Male/female	7/8	7/8
Weight (g)	3333 ± 111.3	$2726 \pm 178.8^{*}$
Height (cm)	48.8 ± 0.4	$46.3\pm0.7^*$
SGA, <i>n</i> (%)	0	$4(27)^{*}$
Cephalic perimeter (cm)	34.1 ± 0.2	33.3 ± 0.6
Placenta		
Weight (g)	542.7 ± 33.5	490.0 ± 34.6
Area (m ²)	3.3 ± 0.3	2.8 ± 0.2
NBW/PlW (g/g)	6.3 ± 0.3	5.7 ± 0.2

BMI: body mass index; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; SGA: small for gestational age (<10th percentile according to gestational age); NBW: newborn weight; GA: gestational age; PIW: placental weight. *P < 0.05 versus normal pregnancy. Values are mean \pm SEM.

systolic and diastolic blood pressure than normal pregnancy (Table 1). Gestational age at delivery, newborn weight, and height were lower in preeclampsia than normal pregnancy. 27% of pre-eclamptic women had small for gestational age babies. Despite the trend to lower placental weight in preeclampsia, it was not statistically significant compared to controls (Table 1).

3.2. Functional Characterization of $A_{2B}AR$. Western blot and immunocytology showed significantly higher (1.6 and 1.7, resp.) $A_{2B}AR$ protein levels in HUVEC from preeclampsia than those from normal pregnancy (Figure 1). In the presence of NECA (10 μ M, 24 h), it was observed a significant elevation in both proliferation (Figure 2(a)) and migration (Figure 2(b)) of HUVEC from normal and preeclamptic pregnancies. Moreover, NECA-induced cell proliferation was not observed when cells derived from normal pregnancies were coincubated with MRS-1754. However, in cells from preeclampsia, coincubation with NECA and MRS-1754 exhibited similar response to NECA alone. In addition, MRS-1754 did not affect cell proliferation in normal or preeclamptic pregnancies.

The effect of NECA on cell proliferation was also tested in a concentration-response curve in both normal and preeclamptic derived cells (Figure 3). The calculated logarithmic EC₅₀ (LogEC₅₀) for NECA was significantly higher (-7.7 ± 0.5 and -9.6 ± 0.7 M, resp.; P < 0.05) in preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancy.

Regarding cell migration, despite the stimulatory effect observed after NECA incubation was similar in both normal and preeclamptic cells compared to its respective basal condition (1.5- and 1.4-fold, resp.), it was observed that cells



FIGURE 1: Protein levels of $A_{2B}AR$ in both normal and preeclamptic cells. (a) Cells derived from normal (NP) or preeclamptic pregnancies (PE) were used for estimating protein abundance of $A_{2B}AR$ by western blot. Upper panel shows representative images of $A_{2B}AR$ protein (55 kDa) and β -actin (43 kDa). Bottom panel shows densitometry of $A_{2B}AR/\beta$ -actin ratio. (b) Upper panel shows representative images of immunocytochemistry for $A_{2B}AR$. Bottom panel included the ratio of the digital analysis of the stained area by $A_{2B}AR$ divided by total area as described in Section 2. Line in the photos represents 5 μM . *P < 0.05 versus respective value in normal pregnancy. C– is negative control without primary antibody. Values are mean ± SEM. Respective *n* is indicated in each bar. All experiments were performed in duplicate.



FIGURE 2: Cell proliferation and migration induced by $A_{2B}AR$. HUVECs were isolated from normal (white bars) and preeclamptic pregnancies (grey bars) and used for (a) analysis of cell proliferation by MTS assay in presence (+) or absence (-) of NECA (10 μ M, 24 h) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM, 24 h) or (b) cell migration as described in (a). **P* < 0.05 versus basal condition in normal pregnancy. **P* < 0.05 versus basal condition in preeclampsia. **P* < 0.05 versus respective value in normal pregnancy. Values are mean ± SEM. Values in respective control column indicate *n*. All experiments were performed in duplicate.

from preeclampsia do not reach similar response compared to normal pregnancy (Figure 2(b)). In fact, migratory response was $29 \pm 3\%$ less in cells from preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancy. NECA-mediated cell migration was not affected by MRS-1754 co-incubation in cell from normal or pre-eclamptic pregnancies. Yet, cells from preeclampsia exposed to MRS-1754 alone exhibit a significant increase (1.3-fold) in cell migration compared to its basal condition without any treatment, whereas no effect was observed in cells from normal pregnancy incubated with this antagonist.



FIGURE 3: Cell proliferation induced by NECA in a concentrationresponse curve. HUVEC was isolated from normal (open circles, n = 6) and preeclamptic pregnancies (closed circles, n = 3) and used for cell proliferation in presence of NECA (10^{-9} to 10^{-4} M, 24 h). *P < 0.05 versus respective low NECA concentration. Values are mean ± SEM. All experiments were performed in duplicate.

3.3. $A_{2B}AR$ Stimulation and NO. There were no differences in the protein abundance of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) between preeclampsia and normal pregnancies (Figures 4(a) and 4(b)). Moreover, neither NECA (10 μ M) nor MRS-1754 incubation (5 nM, 12 h) changed the protein abundance of eNOS in either preeclampsia or normal pregnancy.

Nevertheless, during short incubations (30 min), NECA induce nonstatistically significant reduction in the nitrite levels measured in culture medium (Figure 4(c)), as well as a significant elevation in the intracellular nitrotyrosine formation (Figure 4(d)) in HUVEC from both preeclampsia and normal pregnancy. Moreover, coincubation of NECA + MRS-1754 was associated with reduction in the nitrite level only in preeclamptic cells. Furthermore, NECA-mediated nitrotyrosine formation observed in cells from normal or preeclamptic pregnancies was not blocked by MRS-1754.

In addition, increase in cell proliferation induced by NECA in normal or pre-eclamptic pregnancies (1.9 and 1.7 fold, resp.) (Figure 5(a)) was partially reduced by coincubation with L-NAME (100 μ M). Furthermore, when the percentage of reduction mediated by L-NAME coincubation was calculated, it was observed that normal pregnancy derived cells exhibited a higher percentage (38 ± 2%) than preeclampsia (18 ± 1%) (χ^2 = 8.9, *P* < 0.05). Nevertheless, combination of L-NAME and MRS-1754 reduced in 43±1% and 29±1% the NECA-mediated augmentation in cell proliferation in normal and preeclamptic HUVEC, respectively (data not shown). On the other hand, L-NAME induces a partial reduction (27±4%) in the stimulatory effect of NECA on cell migration, whereas no affect was observed in preeclampsia (Figure 5(b)).

3.4. $A_{2B}AR$ Stimulation and VEGF. There were no significant differences in the protein level of VEGF in HUVEC derived from normal and preeclampsia. After stimulation with NECA (10 μ M, 12 h), cells from normal pregnancies exhibited

an increase (1.7-fold) in the VEGF protein abundance compared to corresponding controls without any treatment. The latter effect of NECA was not observed in cells coincubated with MRS-1754 (5 nM). Contrarily, neither NECA nor MRS-1754 alone or in combination affected the VEGF protein level in preeclampsia (Figures 6(a) and 6(b)).

3.5. NO and VEGF Expression. The stimulatory effect of NECA (10μ M, 12h) on VEGF protein levels was partially blocked by L-NAME or MRS-1754 (Figures 6(c) and 6(d)). Interestingly, the reductive effect of these last two inhibitors upon NECA effect was more than additive since cell coincubated with L-NAME, MRS-1754, and NECA exhibited reduced VEGF levels even below control condition without any treatment.

4. Discussion

Results presented in this work describe that HUVEC from preeclampsia exhibits elevated protein level of A2BAR compared to normal pregnancy. However, functionality of this receptor may be reduced in preeclampsia. This is supported by results showing a shift in the concentration-response curve to NECA during cell proliferation, where logEC₅₀ is higher in preeclampsia than normotensive pregnancies. In addition, a reduced migratory response to NECA was seen in preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancy; and contrary to cell from normal pregnancy, in pre-eclampsia the expression of VEGF associated with A_{2B}AR stimulation was absent. Results from coincubation of agonist and antagonists suggest that activation of A_{2B}AR triggers intracellular pathways involving protein nitration, which may participate in cell proliferation/migration and VEGF protein expression in HUVEC from normal pregnancies. However, in preeclampsia only cell proliferation seems to be associated with protein nitration induced by A2BAR. In conclusion, HUVECs from preeclampsia exhibit elevated protein level of A_{2B}AR. Moreover, tyrosine nitration and VEGF protein expression mediated by A_{2B} are associated with cell proliferation/migration in normal cells, but this cell signaling is impaired in preeclampsia.

4.1. Clinical Context. Preeclamptic placenta exhibits reduced fetoplacental blood flow [4], generated by placental under perfusion [2, 3] associated with limited placental invasion into maternal spiral arteries [33] and impaired remodeling process of those vessels [34]. Furthermore, hemodynamic changes generated by those alterations in the maternalplacental interphase may generate a turbulent blood flow that hits the placenta and leads to impaired placental villi architecture [35], then compromising the fetoplacental circulation in preeclampsia [4]. All these alterations have been associated with generation of oxidative and nitrative stress within the placenta [36, 37], leading to endothelial dysfunction in the fetoplacental circulation [11-14]. Others and we believe that part of this endothelial dysfunction present in the preeclamptic placenta may include alteration in the angiogenesis process [3, 4, 14, 29, 38], which in turn



FIGURE 4: Stimulation of $A_{2B}AR$ generates nitrotyrosine formation. (a) Representative images of western blots for endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS, 130 kDa) and β -actin (43 kDa) in absence (–) or presence (+) of NECA (10 μ M) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM) during 12 hours in cells from normal (N) or preeclamptic pregnancies (PE). (b) Densitometry of the eNOS/ β -actin ratio as showed in (a). (c) Nitrite concentrations in homogenate of cell after incubation (30 min) with NECA (10 μ M) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM). (d) Upper panel, representative images of western blots for nitration of tyrosine residues (Nitro-Y) in protein(s) at 55 kDa and β -actin (43 kDa). Bottom panel presents the densitometry of the nitrotyrosine/ β -actin ratio in the analyzed groups as showed in the upper panel. In (c) and (d), *P < 0.05 and [†]P < 0.05 versus value in basal condition (i.e., without any treatment) of normal pregnancy or preeclampsia, respectively. Values are mean \pm SEM. Values in respective column indicate *n*. All experiments were performed in duplicate.

could explain the elevated risk for short and long term complications observed in children exposed to preeclampsia intrauterine. Regarding short-term complication associated to preeclampsia, clinical data presented in this study, showing that preeclamptic women exhibited high blood pressure (mean value 161/102 mmHg), associated with reduced gestational age and 4 of 15 preeclamptic women had a baby small for gestation age. Although we did not analyze the data according to the severity of the disease or gestation age of presentation, our study describes major differences in the $A_{2B}AR/NO/VEGF$ signaling pathway when cells from preeclampsia are compared with those derived from normotensive pregnancies. However, the impact of confounding variables including degree of severity of the disease, gestational age at onset, treatment received, and children sex should be addressed in future studies.

4.2. Adenosine and HUVEC Proliferation/Migration. Adenosine promoted angiogenesis. The underling mechanisms are



FIGURE 5: Effects of NOS inhibitor on NECA-mediated cell proliferation/migration. (a) Cell proliferation in presence (+) or absence (–) of NECA (10 μ M) and/or L-NAME (100 μ M) during 24 hours in normal (white bars) or preeclamptic pregnancies (grey bars). (b) Cell migration as in (a). **P* < 0.05 versus respective value in basal conditions. [†]*P* < 0.05 versus respective value in normal pregnancy. Values are expressed in fold of change considering respective basal condition (i.e., without any treatment) in normal or preeclamptic cells. Values in mean ± SEM. Values in respective control column indicate *n*. All experiments were performed in duplicate.



FIGURE 6: Effect of $A_{2B}AR$ stimulation in the VEGF protein level. (a) Representative images of western blot for VEGF (55 kDa) and β -actin (43 kDa) in HUVEC from normal or preeclamptic pregnancies incubated in absence (–) or presence of NECA (10 μ M) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM) during 12 hours. (b) Densitometry of the VEGF/ β -actin ratio as showed in (a). (c) Representative images of VEGF (55 kDa) and β -actin (43 kDa) in HUVEC from normal pregnancies treated with NECA (10 μ M) and/or MRS-1754 (5 nM) and/or L-NAME (100 μ M) during 12 hours. (d) Densitometry of the VEGF/ β -actin ratio as showed in (c). *P < 0.05 versus basal condition in normal pregnancy. Values are mean ± SEM. Values in respective control column indicate *n*. All experiments were performed in duplicate.

under investigation and include direct and indirect actions on several different cell types and practically all adenosine receptors may be involved [23, 39]. Focusing on endothelial cells, either $A_{2A}AR$ or $A_{2B}AR$ has been shown to mediate the proliferative actions of adenosine in human retinal microvascular endothelial cells [15, 40], HUVEC [22, 29], or porcine coronary artery and rat aortic endothelial cells [28], while it remains still unclear if A_1AR and A_3AR are functionally expressed, and what role, if any, they play in endothelial cells.

Particularly, expression of A2BAR in HUVEC and its participation in angiogenesis have been well characterized in the literature [22, 27, 39, 41–43], which is also supported by our results. Moreover, functional presence of A_{2B}AR leading to activation of NO/VEGF signaling pathway in cells derived from normal pregnancy is suggested because the NECAmediated augmentation in cell proliferation, nitrotyrosine formation, and VEGF protein abundance is inhibited by MRS-1754 coincubation. These results agree with previous observations regarding induction of NO production after A2AR/A2BAR stimulation in porcine carotid artery endothelial cells (PCAEC) [44], human iliac arterial endothelial cells (HIAEC) [45], and HUVEC [27, 29, 46, 47], as well as with others indicating adenosine mediated augmentation in the VEGF expression in many endothelial cells [29, 40, 41, 48-53].

Moreover, our results in HUVEC derived from normal pregnancy suggest that $A_{2B}AR$ -mediated activation of NO synthesis would not be the unique pathway involved in the cell proliferation/migration in HUVEC. This is because NECA-mediated increase in cell proliferation/migration and VEGF protein abundance was only partially reverted by the NOS inhibitor, L-NAME, whereas coincubation with both inhibitors MRS-1754 ($A_{2B}AR$ antagonist) and L-NAME has additive effects upon these two NECA-mediated effects. It is unknown how NO/protein nitration may control cell proliferation and VEGF expression in HUVEC. However, potential mechanism might include activation of hypoxia inducible factor mediated by nitration [54].

In our study, we used the unspecific inhibitor of NOS, L-NAME, in a concentration (100 μ M) that should be inhibiting all the isoforms of NOS according to the estimated value of Ki (neuronal NOS (nNOS, 15 nM), eNOS (39 nM), and inducible NOS (iNOS, 65μ M)). Although our cell model expresses constitutively eNOS, we could not roll out the participation of other isoforms in our experimental data. Another limitation regarding importance of NO in our study is the use of nitrite measurements and nitrotyrosine formation as indirect markers for NO synthesis. Although both techniques have several advantages and disadvantages for estimating NO synthesis, it is clear that more direct measurement is required in order to elucidate participation of NO in the A_{2B}AR signaling pathway. Therefore, future studies should consider the use of more specific inhibitors for eNOS, or molecular biology techniques for suppressing or overexpressing eNOS.

4.3. Preeclampsia, Adenosine, and HUVEC Proliferation/ Migration. In the preeclampsia field, elevated level of plasma adenosine has been reported in the fetoplacental circulation [7, 19, 20], which reaches the micromolar range in umbilical vein; therefore it is feasible that under these conditions all adenosine receptors would be stimulated [18, 55]. Moreover, elevation of adenosine in the fetal circulation of preeclamptic pregnancies seems to be a phenomenon depending on the severity of the disease, since only children with alteration in the Doppler velocimetry of umbilical artery exhibit elevation in the adenosine level compared to normal pregnancy [20]. Causes and consequences of elevated extracellular adenosine concentration in preeclampsia are unclear.

We have previously documented that HUVECs isolated from late-onset preeclampsia exhibit high cell proliferation/migration, while in early onset preeclampsia these parameters were reduced in relation to women with normal pregnancy [29]. Interestingly, activation of $A_{2A}AR$ was heterogeneous between late-onset preeclampsia and early onset preeclampsia. Thus, whereas late-onset preeclampsia was associated with a "basal" activation of the adenosine/NO/VEGF pathway, early onset preeclampsia exhibited a downregulation of this particularly via [29], suggesting that changes in cell proliferation/migration observed between late-onset preeclampsia and early onset preeclampsia may be explained by changes in the $A_{2A}AR/NO/VEGF$ signaling pathway activation.

In the actual report, although we did not classify the women in late-onset or early onset preeclampsia, due to sample size, most of the preeclamptic women belong to group with early onset preeclampsia, as indicated by reduced gestational age at delivery. In addition, in order to avoid potential "basal" effect of high extracellular level of adenosine, we have performed all experiments in presence of adenosine deaminase. Under these experimental conditions, an increased protein abundance of A_{2B}AR associated with reduction in its function is present in HUVEC from preeclampsia. These results allow speculating the following. (1) Elevation in the A_{2B}AR observed in preeclampsia may be associated with activation of hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α) [56], since the A_{2B}AR promoter contains a functional binding site for HIF-1 α [57], which promotes A_{2B}AR expression in HUVEC [22]. (2) The reduced activation of A_{2B}AR observed in preeclampsia may be related to reduced availability of the receptor in the cell membrane. Indirect evidences for this hypothesis are elevated logEC₅₀ for NECA-mediated proliferation observed in HUVEC from preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancy. Clearly, more studies are required to elucidate the mechanisms linked with A_{2B}AR expression and activation in preeclampsia.

Result in this study suggests that $A_{2B}AR/NO/VEGF$ pathway observed in normal pregnancy would be dysfunctional in HUVEC from preeclampsia. This idea is supported by the fact that although activation of $A_{2B}AR$ is associated with nitration and cell proliferation, it was not related to VEGF protein expression. In this regard, Feoktistov and colleagues [22] have reported that hypoxia-mediated upregulation of $A_{2B}AR$ in HUVEC has a functional impact, since only under this condition the $A_{2B}AR$ was coupled to upregulation of VEGF. Our results partially agree with this concept, with respect to upregulation of $A_{2B}AR$ in preeclampsia, a condition characterized by placental under perfusion [2, 3] and HIF-1 α activation [56]. Contrarily, we did not find an A_{2B}AR-mediated VEGF expression in preeclampsia, whereas it was evidenced in cell from normal pregnancy. Apparent discrepancy may be related to experimental condition, since in the Feokstitov's report [22] they use a HUVEC cell line, rather than primary culture as we reported; and hypoxia was defined as 4.6% oxygen, which is considered normoxia for primary culture of HUVEC [58].

There are some intriguing results in our study that we would like to discuss. For instance, A2BAR activation might not be associated with cell migration in either normal pregnancy or preeclampsia, because MRS-1754 was unable to block the stimulatory effect of NECA upon cell migration. Although we did not analyze the participation of other adenosine receptors in this particular study, it has been described previously that activation of A_{2A}AR increases cell migration in HUVEC from either normal or preeclamptic pregnancies [29]. Then, $A_{2A}AR$, rather than $A_{2B}AR$, may be involved in the cell migration during normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Another intriguing result is the reduction in the nitrite levels (i.e., NO metabolites) in the culture medium of preeclamptic cells induced by coincubation with NECA and MRS-1754 (Figure 4(c)). As stated above, we could not roll out the participation of other adenosine receptors (except $A_{2B}AR$) in this response.

5. Conclusion

HUVECs from normal pregnancies exhibit a functional presence of $A_{2B}AR$, whose activation is associated with cell proliferation, mediated at least partially, via intracellular protein nitration and VEGF synthesis. On the other hand, cells from preeclampsia are characterized by upregulation in the $A_{2B}AR$ protein expression, but its activity is diminished and might not be involved in the control of VEGF expression.

Abbreviations

NO:	Nitric oxide
NOS:	Nitric oxide synthase
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
A _{2A} AR:	A_{2A} adenosine receptor
A _{2B} AR:	A_{2B} adenosine receptor
L-NAME:	NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester
NO:	Nitric oxide
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
HUVECs:	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
hPMEC:	Human placental microvascular
	endothelial cells.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests.

Authors' Contribution

The work was carried out in collaboration between all authors. Jesenia Acurio and Carlos Escudero defined the

research topic. Patricio Bertoglia defined diagnosis and included patients. Jesenia Acurio, Felipe Troncoso, and Carlos Escudero designed methods and performed experiments. Jesenia Acurio, Felipe Troncoso, and Carlos Escudero analyzed the data; Jesenia Acurio, Claudio Aguayo, Carlos Salomon, Luis Sobrevia, and Carlos Escudero interpreted the results and co-wrote the paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors are deeply grateful to midwives and medical staff in the Obstetrics and Gynecology Department of Hospital Clinico Herminda Martin, Chillan, Chile. They would like to thank all research staff at Vascular Physiology Laboratory and the Group of Investigation of Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT) belonging to Universidad del Bío-Bío, as well as the Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health, for their technical support. This study was financed by Fondecyt Regular 1100684, 1110977, CONICYT 79112027, Anillos ACT-73, DIUBB 122109 GI/EF.

References

- L. Duley, "The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia," Seminars in Perinatology, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 130–137, 2009.
- [2] E. Soto, R. Romero, J. P. Kusanovic et al., "Late-onset preeclampsia is associated with an imbalance of angiogenic and antiangiogenic factors in patients with and without placental lesions consistent with maternal underperfusion," *Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 498–507, 2012.
- [3] G. Ogge, T. Chaiworapongsa, R. Romero et al., "Placental lesions associated with maternal underperfusion are more frequent in early-onset than in late-onset preeclampsia," *Journal* of *Perinatal Medicine*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 641–652, 2011.
- [4] S. Di Paolo, P. Volpe, G. Grandaliano et al., "Increased placental expression of tissue factor is associated with abnormal uterine and umbilical Doppler waveforms in severe preeclampsia with fetal growth restriction," *Journal of Nephrology*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 650–657, 2003.
- [5] D. Marzioni, L. Tamagnone, L. Capparuccia et al., "Restricted innervation of uterus and placenta during pregnancy: evidence for a role of the repelling signal semaphorin 3A," *Developmental Dynamics*, vol. 231, no. 4, pp. 839–848, 2004.
- [6] L. Carbillon, M. Uzan, and S. Uzan, "Pregnancy, vascular tone, and maternal hemodynamics: a crucial adaptation," *Obstetrical* and Gynecological Survey, vol. 55, no. 9, pp. 574–581, 2000.
- [7] C. Escudero, P. Casanello, and L. Sobrevia, "Human equilibrative nucleoside transporters 1 and 2 may be differentially modulated by A2B adenosine receptors in placenta microvascular endothelial cells from pre-eclampsia," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 816–825, 2008.
- [8] E. Sobrevia, F. Westermeier, C. Saloman et al., "Fetoplacental vascular pathophysiology in preeclampsia," in *Recent Research Developments in Physiology*, L. Sobrevia, Ed., vol. 1, pp. 105–158, Research Signpost, Kerala, India, 2012.
- [9] J. M. Roberts, R. N. Taylor, T. J. Musci, G. M. Rodgers, C. A. Hubel, and M. K. McLaughlin, "Preeclampsia: an endothelial cell disorder," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 161, no. 5, pp. 1200–1204, 1989.
- [10] J. M. Roberts, R. N. Taylor, and A. Goldfien, "Clinical and biochemical evidence of endothelial cell dysfunction in

the pregnancy syndrome preeclampsia," American Journal of Hypertension, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 700–708, 1991.

- [11] A. C. Staff, K. Braekke, N. K. Harsem, T. Lyberg, and M. R. Holthe, "Circulating concentrations of sFlt1 (soluble fmslike tyrosine kinase 1) in fetal and maternal serum during pre-eclampsia," *European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 122, no. 1, pp. 33–39, 2005.
- [12] L. Myatt, "Role of placenta in preeclampsia," *Endocrine*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 103–111, 2002.
- [13] A. S. Kvehaugen, R. Dechend, H. B. Ramstad, R. Troisi, D. Fugelseth, and A. C. Staff, "Endothelial function and circulating biomarkers are disturbed in women and children after preeclampsia," *Hypertension*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 63–69, 2011.
- [14] C. Escudero, C. Puebla, F. Westermeier, and L. Sobrevia, "Potential cell signalling mechanisms involved in differential placental angiogenesis in mild and severe pre-eclampsia," *Current Vascular Pharmacology*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 475–485, 2009.
- [15] M. B. Grant, M. I. Davis, S. Caballero, I. Feoktistov, I. Biaggioni, and L. Belardinelli, "Proliferation, migration, and ERK activation in human retinal endothelial cells through A2B adenosine receptor stimulation," *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 2068–2073, 2001.
- [16] M. E. Olah and G. L. Stiles, "The role of receptor structure in determining adenosine receptor activity," *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 55–75, 2000.
- [17] K. A. Jacobson and Z. Gao, "Adenosine receptors as therapeutic targets," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 247– 264, 2006.
- [18] B. B. Fredholm, A. P. Ijzerman, K. A. Jacobson, K.-N. Klotz, and J. Linden, "International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors," *Pharmacological Reviews*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 527–552, 2001.
- [19] Y. Yoneyama, R. Sawa, S. Suzuki, S. Shin, G. G. Power, and T. Araki, "The relationship between uterine artery Doppler velocimetry and umbilical venous adenosine levels in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 174, no. 1, part 1, pp. 267–271, 1996.
- [20] J. Espinoza, A. F. Espinoza, and G. G. Power, "High fetal plasma adenosine concentration: a role for the fetus in preeclampsia?" *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 205, no. 5, pp. 485–487, 2011.
- [21] F. von Versen-Höynck, A. Rajakumar, S. A. Bainbridge, M. J. Gallaher, J. M. Roberts, and R. W. Powers, "Human placental adenosine receptor expression is elevated in preeclampsia and hypoxia increases expression of the A2A receptor," *Placenta*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 434–442, 2009.
- [22] I. Feoktistov, S. Ryzhov, H. Zhong et al., "Hypoxia modulates adenosine receptors in human endothelial and smooth muscle cells toward an A2B angiogenic phenotype," *Hypertension*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 649–654, 2004.
- [23] T. H. Adair, "Growth regulation of the vascular system: an emerging role for adenosine," *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 289, no. 2, pp. R283–R296, 2005.
- [24] S. Koch and L. Claesson-Welsh, "Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors," *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, vol. 437, no. 2, pp. 169–183, 2011.
- [25] S. E. Maynard and S. A. Karumanchi, "Angiogenic factors and preeclampsia," *Seminars in Nephrology*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 33–46, 2011.

- [26] E. Poniedzialek-Czajkowska, B. Marciniak, Z. Kimber-Trojnar, B. Leszczyńska-Gorzelak, and J. Oleszczuk, "Nitric oxide in normal and preeclamptic pregnancy," *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 743–749, 2011.
- [27] A. W. Wyatt, J. R. Steinert, C. P. D. Wheeler-Jones et al., "Early activation of the p42/p44MAPK pathway mediates adenosineinduced nitric oxide production in human endothelial cells: a novel calcium-insensitive mechanism," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 1584–1594, 2002.
- [28] R. K. Dubey, D. G. Gillespie, and E. K. Jackson, "A2B adenosine receptors stimulate growth of porcine and rat arterial endothelial cells," *Hypertension*, vol. 39, no. 2, part 2, pp. 530–535, 2002.
- [29] C. Escudero, P. Bertoglia, M. Hernadez et al., "Impaired A(2A) adenosine receptor/nitric oxide/VEGF signaling pathway in fetal endothelium during late- and early-onset preeclampsia," *Purinergic Signalling*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 215–226, 2013.
- [30] R. González P, R. Gómez M, R. Castro S et al., "A national birth weight distribution curve according to gestational age in Chile from 1993 to 2000," *Revista Medica de Chile*, vol. 132, no. 10, pp. 1155–1165, 2004.
- [31] P. Casanello, A. Torres, F. Sanhueza et al., "Equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 expression is downregulated by hypoxia in human umbilical vein endothelium," *Circulation Research*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 16–24, 2005.
- [32] S. Rey, R. Del Rio, and R. Iturriaga, "Contribution of endothelin-1 to the enhanced carotid body chemosensory responses induced by chronic intermittent hypoxia," *Brain Research*, vol. 1086, no. 1, pp. 152–159, 2006.
- [33] T. Y. Khong, F. De Wolf, W. B. Robertson, and I. Brosens, "Inadequate maternal vascular response to placentation in pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia and by small-for-gestational age infants," *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, vol. 93, no. 10, pp. 1049–1059, 1986.
- [34] J. M. Roberts and C. A. Hubel, "The two stage model of preeclampsia: variations on the theme," *Placenta*, vol. 30, pp. 32– 37, 2009.
- [35] G. J. Burton, A. W. Woods, E. Jauniaux, and J. C. P. Kingdom, "Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy," *Placenta*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 473–482, 2009.
- [36] L. Myatt, "Review: reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and functional adaptation of the placenta," *Placenta*, vol. 31, pp. S66– S69, 2010.
- [37] L. Myatt and X. Cui, "Oxidative stress in the placenta," *Histo-chemistry and Cell Biology*, vol. 122, no. 4, pp. 369–382, 2004.
- [38] C. Escudero and L. Sobrevia, "A hypothesis for preeclampsia: adenosine and inducible nitric oxide synthase in human placental microvascular endothelium," *Placenta*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 469–483, 2008.
- [39] I. Feoktistov, I. Biaggioni, and B. N. Cronstein, "Adenosine receptors in wound healing, fibrosis and angiogenesis," *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, vol. 193, pp. 383–397, 2009.
- [40] M. B. Grant, R. W. Tarnuzzer, S. Caballero et al., "Adenosine receptor activation induces vascular endothelial growth factor in human retinal endothelial cells," *Circulation Research*, vol. 85, no. 8, pp. 699–706, 1999.
- [41] I. Feoktistov, A. E. Goldstein, S. Ryzhov et al., "Differential expression of adenosine receptors in human endothelial cells: role of A2B receptors in angiogenic factor regulation," *Circulation Research*, vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 531–538, 2002.

- [42] Y. Fang and M. E. Olah, "Cyclic AMP-dependent, protein kinase A-independent activation of extracellular signalregulated kinase 1/2 following adenosine receptor stimulation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells: role of exchange protein activated by cAMP 1 (Epac1)," *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, vol. 322, no. 3, pp. 1189–1200, 2007.
- [43] H. Li, S. Y. Jin, H. J. Son, J. H. Seo, and G. B. Jeong, "Caffeine-induced endothelial cell death and the inhibition of angiogenesis," *Anatomy & Cell Biology*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 57–67, 2013.
- [44] J.-M. Li, R. A. Fenton, B. S. Cutler, and J. G. Dobson Jr., "Adenosine enhances nitric oxide production by vascular endothelial cells," *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, vol. 269, no. 2, part 1, pp. C519–C523, 1995.
- [45] J. Li, R. A. Fenton, H. B. Wheeler et al., "Adenosine A(2a) receptors increase arterial endothelial cell nritric oxide," *Journal* of Surgical Research, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 357–364, 1998.
- [46] L. Sobrevia, A. Nadal, D. L. Yudilevich, and G. E. Mann, "Activation of L-arginine transport (system y+) and nitric oxide synthase by elevated glucose and insulin in human endothelial cells," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 490, part 3, pp. 775–781, 1996.
- [47] G. Vásquez, F. Sanhueza, R. Vásquez et al., "Role of adenosine transport in gestational diabetes-induced L-arginine transport and nitric oxide synthesis in human umbilical vein endothelium," *Journal of Physiology*, vol. 560, part 1, pp. 111–122, 2004.
- [48] E. M. George, K. Cockrell, T. H. Adair, and J. P. Granger, "Regulation of sFlt-1 and VEGF secretion by adenosine under hypoxic conditions in rat placental villous explants," *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, vol. 299, no. 6, pp. R1629–R1633, 2010.
- [49] S. Gessi, E. Fogli, V. Sacchetto et al., "Adenosine modulates HIF-1α, VEGF, IL-8, and foam cell formation in a human model of hypoxic foam cells," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 90–97, 2010.
- [50] J. Gu, B. R. Ito, A. Sartin, N. Frascogna, M. Moore, and T. H. Adair, "Inhibition of adenosine kinase induces expression of VEGF mRNA and protein in myocardial myoblasts," *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 279, no. 5, pp. H2116–H2123, 2000.
- [51] M. E. Olah and F. L. Roudabush, "Down-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression after A(2A) adenosine receptor activation in PC12 pheochromocytoma cells," *Journal* of *Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, vol. 293, no. 3, pp. 779–787, 2000.
- [52] S. Ryzhov, J. L. McCaleb, A. E. Goldstein, I. Biaggioni, and I. Feoktistov, "Role of adenosine receptors in the regulation of angiogenic factors and neovascularization in hypoxia," *Journal* of *Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, vol. 320, no. 2, pp. 565–572, 2007.
- [53] D. Valladares, C. Quezada, P. Montecinos et al., "Adenosine A2B receptor mediates an increase on VEGF-A production in rat kidney glomeruli," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 366, no. 1, pp. 180–185, 2008.
- [54] A. Riaño, D. Ortiz-Masià, M. Velázquez, S. Calatayud, J. V. Esplugues, and M. D. Barrachina, "Nitric oxide induces HIF-1α stabilization and expression of intestinal trefoil factor in the damaged rat jejunum and modulates ulcer healing," *Journal of Gastroenterology*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 565–576, 2011.
- [55] B. B. Fredholm, E. Irenius, B. Kull, and G. Schulte, "Comparison of the potency of adenosine as an agonist at human adenosine receptors expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 443–448, 2001.

11

- [56] R. Tal, "The role of hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factor-lalpha in preeclampsia pathogenesis," *Biology of Reproduction*, vol. 87, no. 6, p. 134, 2012.
- [57] T. Kong, K. A. Westerman, M. Faigle, H. K. Eltzschig, and S. P. Colgan, "HIF-dependent induction of adenosine A2B receptor in hypoxia," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 20, no. 13, pp. 2242–2250, 2006.
- [58] P. Casanello, B. Krause, E. Torres et al., "Reduced l-arginine transport and nitric oxide synthesis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells from intrauterine growth restriction pregnancies is not further altered by hypoxia," *Placenta*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 625–633, 2009.